As Bid Set No.	
----------------	--

TOWN OF MANCHESTER BY THE SEA

DOCUMENTS AND SPECIFICATIONS FOR THE CONSTRUCTION OF THE HEATING SYSTEM REPLACEMENT CONTRACT NO. 2018-5



TATA & HOWARD, INC.

CONSULTING ENGINEERS

67 FOREST STREET

MARLBOROUGH, MASSACHUSETTS

SEPTEMBER 2019

TOWN OF MANCHESTER BY THE SEA

DOCUMENTS AND SPECIFICATIONS FOR THE CONSTRUCTION OF THE HEATING SYSTEM REPLACEMENT CONTRACT NO. 2018-5

TATA & HOWARD, INC.

CONSULTING ENGINEERS

67 FOREST STREET

MARLBOROUGH, MASSACHUSETTS

SEPTEMBER 2019

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Section	Title
·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

<u>DIVISION 0 - CONTRACT DOCUMENTS</u>

00030	Advertisement For Bids
00100	Instructions To Bidders
00300	Form For General Bid
00305	Form For Sub-Bid - Electrical
00410	Bid Bond Form
00411	Certificate Of Non-Collusion
00412	Certificate Of Tax Compliance
00500	Notice Of Award
00510	Contract Agreement
00520	Notice To Proceed
00610	Performance Bond
00615	Payment Bond
00700	General Conditions
00800	Supplementary Conditions
00820	Commonwealth of Massachusetts Special Conditions
00820A	Wage Rates
00820B	Excerpts From Chapters 30 & 82 of the Mass. General Laws
00820C	Change Orders

<u>DIVISION 1 - GENERAL REQUIREMENTS</u>

01010	Summary of Work
01013	Facility Interference with Proposed Work
01019	Drawings
01025	Measurement and Payment
01026	Schedule of Values
01027	Application for Payment
01045	Cutting and Patching
01050	Field Engineering
01092	Abbreviations
01100	Special Project Procedures
01200	Project Meetings
01300	Submittals
01310	Construction Schedules
01505	Mobilization
01610	Product Handling
01700	Contract Closeout
01730	Operations & Maintenance Data

DIVISION 15 - MECHANICAL

15500 Heating, Ventilating, and Air Conditioning

TC-1 5621

DIVISION 16 - ELECTRICAL

16000	Electrical Filed Sub-Bids
16050	General Requirements for Electrical Work
16100	Grounding Équipment
16150	Raceway and Fittings
16200	600 Volt Wire
16420	Panelboards
16460	Motor Controllers
16480	Safety Switches

TC-2 5621

INDEX

DIVISION 0 CONTRACT DOCUMENTS

SECTION	SUBJECT	PAGES
00030	Advertisement For Bids	00030-1 thru 00030-2
00100	Instructions To Bidders	00100-0 thru 00100-9
00300	Bid Form For General Bid	00300-1 thru 00300-7
00305	Form for Sub-Bid - Electrical	00305-1 thru 00305-4
00410	Bid Bond Form	00410-1 thru 00410-2
00411	Certificate of Non-Collusion	00411-1
00412	Certificate of Tax Compliance	00412-1
00500	Notice Of Award	00500-1 thru 00500-2
00510	Contract Agreement	00510-1 thru 00510-5
00520	Notice To Proceed	00520-1
00610	Performance Bond	00610-1 thru 00610-2
00615	Payment Bond	00620-1 thru 00620-2
00700	General Conditions	00700-1 thru 00700-65
00800	Supplementary Conditions	00800-1 thru 00800-12
00820	Commonwealth of Mass. Special Conditions	00820-1
00820A	Wage Rates	00820A-1
00820B	Excerpts From Chapters 30 & 82 of the MGL	00820B-1 thru 00820B-15
00820C	Change Orders	00820C-1

ADVERTISEMENT FOR BIDS

The Town of Manchester by the Sea, shall receive General Bids at the Town Hall, DPW Office – Attn: Nate Desrosiers, 10 Central Street, Town of Manchester by the Sea, Massachusetts for the Construction of the Heating System Replacement project, Contract No. 2018-5, until 1:00 pm prevailing time, Wednesday, October 9, 2019, at which time bids will be opened and publicly read aloud. Bids submitted after this time will not be accepted. A pre-bid conference will be held on Wednesday, September 25, 2019 at 10:00 am at the Gravelly Pond Water Treatment Facility, 597 Chebacco Rd, South Hamilton, MA 01982. General Contractors and electrical Sub-Contractors are encouraged to attend.

Sub-Bids shall be received at the Town Hall, DPW Office – Attn: Nate Desrosiers, 10 Central Street, Town of Manchester by the Sea, Massachusetts, until 1:00 PM prevailing time, October 2, 2019, at which time Sub-Bids will be publicly opened and read aloud. Sub-Bids submitted after this time will not be accepted. Sub-Bids will be required for the following work category:

Category	Reference Specification Section
Electrical	Division 16

The Work of this Contract generally consists of heating system repairs at the Manchester-by-the-Sea Wastewater Treatment Plant (WWTF), Water Treatment Plant (WTP), Department of Public Works (DPW) Garage, and the installation of a new VRF HVAC system at Town Hall.

Contract Documents may be obtained electronically through Tata & Howard, Inc. by contacting Allison Shivers at ashivers@tataandhoward.com

The Contract Documents may be examined at the following locations:

Town of Manchester by the Sea Town Hall 10 Central Street Manchester by the Sea, Massachusetts 01944

Tata & Howard, Inc. 67 Forest Street Marlborough, Massachusetts 01752

Tata & Howard, Inc. 10 Riverside Drive, Suite 105 Lakeville, Massachusetts 02347

Each bid shall be accompanied by a bid security in the amount of 5% of the total bid amount and in the form described in the Instructions to Bidders. A Performance Bond and Labor and Materials Payment Bond each in the amount of 100 percent of the contract price will be required in the form described in the Instructions to Bidders.

Each General Bidder shall submit a DCAM Certificate of Eligibility and Update Statement for Heating, Ventilation, and Air Conditioning Systems or General Building Construction with the bid. Each Sub-

Bidder shall submit a DCAM Certificate of Eligibility and Update Statement with the Sub-Bid for Electrical with the bid.

Each bid shall be accompanied by a Certificate of Non-Collusion and Certificate of Tax Compliance included in specification Sections 00411 and 00412, respectively.

Bids for this Contract are subject to the provisions of Massachusetts General Law, Chapter 149, Sections 44A-44J (MGL C.149,ss.44A-44J). No Bidder may withdraw his bid within 30 days (Saturdays, Sundays and legal holidays excluded) after the actual date of the opening of the General Bids.

Minimum wage rates as determined by the Commissioner of Department of Labor and Industries under the provision of the Massachusetts General Laws, Chapter 149, Sections 26 to 27H, as amended, apply to this project.

If the bidder views/obtains the plans and specifications from a source other than those noted in this Advertisement for Bids, the accuracy and/or completeness of the bid documents cannot be guaranteed, and the bidder assumes the responsibility for obtaining any additional information regarding the project, including addenda, that may be required for bidding. Failure to acknowledge addenda issued during bidding shall designate a bid as non-responsive.

A copy of this advertisement is available on the Massachusetts Newspaper Publishers Association (MNPA) website (http://masspublicnotices.org/).

The Owner reserves the right to reject any or all bids, to accept any bid, to waive any informality on bids received, to omit any item or items deemed advisable for the best interests of the Owner or to limit the extent of the Work to keep within the limits of available funds

TOWN OF MANCHESTER BY THE SEA

END OF ADVERTISEMENT FOR BIDS

INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE 1	DEFINED TERMS	1
ARTICLE 2	BIDDING DOCUMENTS	1
ARTICLE 3	QUALIFICATIONS OF BIDDERS	1
ARTICLE 4	EXAMINATION OF CONTRACT DOCUMENTS & SITE	2
ARTICLE 5	PRE-BID CONFERENCE	3
ARTICLE 6	AVAILABILITY OF LANDS FOR WORK, ETC.	3
ARTICLE 7	INTERPRETATIONS AND ADDENDA	3
ARTICLE 8	BID SECURITY	4
ARTICLE 9	CONTRACT TIMES	4
ARTICLE 10	LIQUIDATED DAMAGES	4
ARTICLE 11	SUBSTITUTE AND "OR EQUAL" ITEMS	4
ARTICLE 12	MANUFACTURER'S EXPERIENCE	5
ARTICLE 13	PREPARATION OF BID	5
ARTICLE 14	MODIFICATIONS AND WITHDRAWAL OF BIDS	6
ARTICLE 15	SUBMISSION OF BIDS	6
ARTICLE 16	OPENING OF BIDS	6
ARTICLE 17	BIDS TO REMAIN SUBJECT TO ACCEPTANCE	6
ARTICLE 18	BASIS OF AWARD AND AWARD OF CONTRACT	6
ARTICLE 19	FILED SUB-BIDS	7
ARTICLE 20	CONTRACT SECURITY AND INSURANCE	7
ARTICLE 21	COMMONWEALTH OF MA SPECIAL CONDITIONS	7
ARTICLE 22	EXECUTION OF AGREEMENT	7
ARTICLE 23	SALES AND USE TAX	8
ARTICLE 24	SAFETY AND HEALTH REGULATIONS	8
ARTICLE 25	GUARANTEE	8

SECTION 00100 INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS

ARTICLE 1 DEFINED TERMS

1.01 Terms used in these Instructions to Bidders which are defined in the Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract (C-700) (2013 Edition) have the meanings assigned to them in the General Conditions.

Certain additional terms used in these Instructions to Bidders have the meaning indicated below which are applicable to both the singular and plural thereof, and are gender inclusive.

- A. BIDDER One who submits a Bid directly to Owner for all the work described in the Contract Documents, including the filed sub-bids.
- B. APPARENT LOW BIDDER That Bidder whose Bid as offered in the Bid Form for General Bid represents the lowest total as determined by the Proposed Contract Price.
- C. PROPOSED CONTRACT PRICE The sum of all Bid Items on the Bid Form for General Bid.
- D. SUCCESSFUL BIDDER The lowest responsible and responsive Bidder to whom Owner (on the basis of Owner's evaluation as herein provided) makes an award.

ARTICLE 2 BIDDING DOCUMENTS

- 2.01 Complete sets of the Bidding Documents can be obtained in electronic format through Tata & Howard, Inc. by contacting Allison Shivers at ashivers@tataandhoward.com.
- 2.02 Complete sets of Bidding Documents must be used in preparing Bids; neither Owner nor Engineer assume any responsibility for errors or misinterpretations resulting from the use of incomplete sets of Bidding Documents.
- 2.03 Owner and Engineer in making copies of Bidding Documents available on the above terms do so only for the purpose of obtaining Bids for the Work and do not confer a license or grant for any other use.

ARTICLE 3 QUALIFICATIONS OF BIDDERS

- 3.01 To demonstrate qualifications to perform the Work, each Bidder must be prepared to submit within five days after Bid opening, upon Owner's request, detailed written evidence such as financial data, previous experience, present commitments and other such data as may be called for below. Each Bid must contain evidence of Bidder's qualifications to do business in the state where the project is located or covenant to obtain such qualification prior to award of contract.
- 3.02 Owner and/or Engineer may make such investigation as deemed necessary to determine the ability of Bidder to perform the work and Bidder shall furnish to Owner all such information for this purpose as Owner may request.

- A. No award will be made to any Bidder who cannot meet all of the following requirements. Bidder:
 - 1. Shall not have defaulted on any contract within three years prior to the bid date.
 - 2. Shall maintain a permanent place of business.
 - 3. Shall have adequate personnel and equipment to perform the work expeditiously.
 - 4. Shall have suitable financial status to meet obligations incident to the work.
 - 5. Shall have appropriate technical experience satisfactory to Owner in the class of work involved.
 - 6. Shall be registered with the Secretary of State of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts to do business in Massachusetts.
 - 7. Shall not have failed to perform satisfactorily on contracts of a similar nature.
 - 8. Shall not have failed to complete previous contracts on time.
- 3.03 Owner reserves the right to reject any bid or sub-bid if the foregoing requirements are not satisfied or if any other evidence fails to satisfy Owner that such Bidder or sub-bidder is properly qualified to carry out the obligations of the Contract and to complete the work contemplated.
- 3.04 Nothing indicated herein will prejudice Owner's right to seek additional pertinent information as is provided in Article 18 BASIS OF AWARD AND AWARD OF CONTRACT.

ARTICLE 4 EXAMINATION OF CONTRACT DOCUMENTS AND SITE

- 4.01 It is the responsibility of each Bidder before submitting a Bid;
 - A. To examine thoroughly the Contract Documents and other related data identified in the Bidding Documents.
 - B. To visit the site to become familiar with and satisfy Bidder as to the general, local and site conditions that may affect cost, progress, performance or furnishing of the Work.
 - C. To consider federal, state, and local Laws and Regulations that may affect cost, progress, performance or furnishing of the Work.
 - D. To study and carefully correlate Bidder's knowledge and observations with the Contract Documents and such other related documents.
 - E. To promptly notify Engineer of all conflicts, errors, ambiguities or discrepancies which Bidder has discovered in or between the Contract Documents and such other related documents.
- 4.02 Provisions concerning responsibilities for the adequacy of data furnished to prospective Bidders on subsurface conditions, other physical conditions and Underground Facilities, and possible changes in the Contract Documents due to differing or unanticipated conditions appear in paragraphs 5.03. and 5.04 of the General Conditions.
- 4.03 Information and data shown or indicated in the Contract Documents with respect to existing Underground Facilities at or contiguous to the site is based upon information and data furnished to Owner and Engineer by owners of such Underground Facilities or others, and Owner and Engineer do not assume responsibility for the accuracy or completeness thereof.

- 4.04 On request, Owner will provide each Bidder access to the site to conduct such examinations, investigations, explorations, tests and studies as each Bidder deems necessary for submission of a Bid. Bidder must fill all holes and clean up and restore the site to its former conditions upon completion of such explorations, investigations, tests, and studies.
- 4.05 The submission of a Bid will constitute an incontrovertible representation by Bidder that Bidder has complied with every requirement of this Article 4, that without exception the Bid is premised upon performing and furnishing the Work required by the Contract Documents and applying the specific means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures of construction (if any) that may be shown or indicated or expressly required by the Contract Documents, that Bidder has given Engineer written notice of all conflicts, errors, ambiguities and discrepancies that Bidder has discovered in the Contract Documents and the written resolutions thereof by Engineer is acceptable to Bidder and that the Contract Documents are generally sufficient to indicate and convey understanding of all terms and conditions for performing and furnishing the Work.

ARTICLE 5 PRE-BID CONFERENCE

5.01 There will be a pre-bid conference held for this Contract. The conference will be held at 10:00 AM on September 25, 2019 at the Gravelly Pond Water Treatment Facility, 597 Chebacco Rd, South Hamilton, MA 01982."

ARTICLE 6 AVAILABILITY OF LANDS FOR WORK, ETC.

6.01 The lands upon which the Work is to be performed, rights-of-way and easements for access thereto and other lands designated for use by Contractor in performing the Work are identified in the Contract Documents. All additional lands and access thereto required for temporary construction facilities, construction equipment, or storage of materials and equipment to be incorporated in the Work are to be obtained and paid for by the Contractor. Easements for permanent structures or permanent changes in existing facilities are to be obtained and paid for by Owner unless otherwise provided in the Contract Documents.

ARTICLE 7 INTERPRETATIONS AND ADDENDA

- 7.01 All questions about the meaning or intent of the Bidding Documents are to be directed to Engineer. Interpretations or clarifications considered necessary by Engineer in response to such questions will be issued by Addenda mailed or delivered to all parties recorded by Engineer as having received the Bidding Documents. Questions received less than five business days prior to the date for opening of Bids may not be answered. Only questions answered by formal written Addenda will be binding. Oral and other interpretations or clarifications will be without legal effect.
- 7.02 Addenda may also be issued to modify the Bidding Documents as deemed advisable by Owner or Engineer.

ARTICLE 8 BID SECURITY

- 8.01 Each Bid and sub-bid must be accompanied by Bid security made payable to Owner in an amount of five percent of Bidder's maximum Proposed Contract Price and in the form of cash, a certified or cashier check, or a Bid Bond, issued by a surety authorized to do business in the Commonwealth of Massachusetts.
- 8.02 The Bid Security shall be in the amount stated in the Advertisement For Bids. Bid Security shall be sealed in a separate envelope from the bid or sub-bid and then attached to the envelope containing the bid. All Bid Securities of General Bidder except those of the three lowest responsible and eligible General Bidders will be returned within five days, (Saturdays, Sundays and legal holidays excluded) after the opening of General Bids. All Bid Securities of Sub-Bidders, except those of the Sub-Bidders named in the General Bids of the lowest three responsible and eligible General Bidders and those of the three lowest responsible and eligible Sub-Bidders for each subtrade, will be returned within five days, (Saturdays, Sundays and legal holidays excluded), after the opening of the General Bids. All Bid Securities will be returned on the execution of the Agreement or if no award is made, within thirty days, (Saturdays, Sundays and legal holidays excluded), after the actual date of opening of the General Bids, unless forfeited under the conditions herein stipulated.
- 8.03 In the case a party to whom a contract is awarded shall fail or neglect to execute the Agreement and furnish the satisfactory bonds within the time specified, Owner may determine that the Bidder has abandoned the Contract, and thereupon the Bid Forms and acceptance shall be null and void and the Bid Security accompanying the Bid Form shall be forfeited to Owner as liquidated damages for such failure or neglect and to indemnify said Owner for any loss which may be sustained by failure of the bidder to execute the Agreement and furnish the bonds as aforesaid, provided that the amount forfeited to Owner shall not exceed the difference between the Proposed Contract Price of said Bidder and that of the next lowest responsible and eligible bidder and provided further that, in case of death, disability, or other unforeseen circumstances affecting the Bidder, such Bid Security may be returned to them. After execution of the Agreement and acceptance of the bonds by Owner, the Bid Security accompanying the Bid Form of the successful bidder will be returned.

ARTICLE 9 CONTRACT TIMES.

9.01 The number of days within which, or the dates by which the Work is to be Substantially Completed, and Completed and ready for final payment are set forth in the Bid Form and the Agreement.

ARTICLE 10 LIQUIDATED DAMAGES.

10.01 Provisions for liquidated damages are set forth in the Bid Form and the Agreement.

ARTICLE 11 SUBSTITUTE AND "OR-EQUAL" ITEMS.

11.01 The Contract, if awarded, will be on the basis of materials and equipment specified or described in the Bidding Documents without consideration of possible substitute or "or-equal" items. Whenever it is specified or described in the Bidding Documents that a substitute or "or-equal" item of material or equipment may be furnished or used by Contractor, if acceptable to Engineer, application for such acceptance will not be considered by Engineer until after the Effective Date

of the Agreement. The procedure for submission of any such application by Contractor and consideration by Engineer is set forth in paragraphs 7.04 and 7.05 of the General Conditions.

ARTICLE 12 MANUFACTURER'S EXPERIENCE

12.01 Whenever it is written that an equipment manufacturer must have a specified period of experience with their product, equipment which does not meet the specified experience period may be considered if the equipment supplier or manufacturer is willing to provide an "Efficiency Guarantee Bond" or cash deposit for the duration of the specified time period which will guarantee replacement of that equipment in the event of failure.

ARTICLE 13 PREPARATION OF BID

- 13.01 The Bid Form For General Bid and Form For Sub-bid and other attachments are included with the Bidding Documents. No substitution of forms will be allowed.
- 13.02 All blanks on the Bid Form For General Bid and Form For Sub-bid must be completed by typing or printing figures where required. No substitution shall be made in the phraseology of the forms.
- 13.03 Bids and sub-bids by corporations must be executed in the corporate name by the president or a vice-president (or other corporate officer accompanied by evidence of authority to sign) and the corporate seal must be affixed and attested by the secretary or an assistant secretary. The corporate address and state of incorporation must be shown above the signature.
- 13.04 Bids and sub-bids by partnerships must be executed in the partnership name and signed by a partner, whose title must appear on the line below the signature.
- 13.05 All names must be typed or printed in black ink below the signature.
- 13.06 The Bid Form For General Bid and Form For Sub-bid shall contain an acknowledgment of receipt of all Addenda (the numbers of which must be filled in on the Bid Form For General Bid and Form For Sub-bid).
- 13.07 The address and telephone number for communications regarding the bid and sub-bid must be shown.
- The bidding and the award of the Contract shall be in full compliance with Chapter 149, Sections 44A to 44J inclusive of the General Laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts as last revised. Bids from General Contractors shall be for the complete project as specified in the Bid Form, and the General Contractor shall be selected on the basis of such Bid.

ARTICLE 14 MODIFICATIONS AND WITHDRAWAL OF BIDS

- 14.01 Bids and sub-bids may be modified or withdrawn by an appropriate document duly executed (in the manner that a Bid must be executed) and delivered to the place where Bids are to be submitted at any time prior to the opening of Bids.
- 14.02 If within twenty-four hours after bids or sub-bids are opened, any bidder files a duly signed, written notice with Owner and promptly thereafter demonstrates to the reasonable satisfaction of Owner that there was a material and substantial mistake in the preparation of its Bid, that Bidder may withdraw its Bid and the Bid security will be returned. Thereafter, that Bidder will be disqualified from further bidding on the Work to be provided under the Contract Documents.

ARTICLE 15 SUBMISSION OF BIDS

- 15.01 Bids shall be submitted at the time and place, and in the manner set forth in the Advertisement For Bids. Enclose Bids in an opaque sealed envelope, marked with the Project Title (and, if applicable, the designated portion of the Project for which Bid is submitted) and name and address of Bidder and accompanied by the Bid security and other required documents. If the Bid is sent through the mail or other delivery system the sealed envelope shall be enclosed in a separate envelope with the notation "BID ENCLOSED" on the face of it.
- 15.02 Each sub-bid shall be submitted as specified in Paragraph 15.01 above, on the Form For Sub-bid, and in addition, the notation "SUB-BID" and the name of the sub-trade for which the sub-bid is submitted shall be placed on the outside of the sealed envelope containing the sub-bid.
- 15.03 Only one Bid or sub-bid from any individual, firm, partnership, or corporation, under the same or different names, will be considered. Should it appear to the Owner that any bidder or sub-bidder is interested in more than one bid or sub-bid for Work contemplated, all bids or sub-bids in which such bidder or sub-bidder is interested will be rejected.

ARTICLE 16 OPENING OF BIDS

- 16.01 Contract is being bid under Chapter 149 of the Massachusetts General Law as applicable.
- 16.02 Bids will be opened and (unless obviously non responsive) read aloud publicly at the place where bids are to be submitted. An abstract of the amounts of the base bids and major alternates (if any) will be made available to Bidders within seven days after the date of Bid opening.

ARTICLE 17 BIDS TO REMAIN SUBJECT TO ACCEPTANCE

17.01 The time period for holding bids is thirty days, (Saturdays, Sundays, and legal holidays excluded), after the opening of bids.

ARTICLE 18 BASIS OF AWARD AND AWARD OF CONTRACT

18.01 If the Contract is to be awarded, Owner will give Successful Bidder a Notice of Award within thirty days after the day of the Bid opening, Saturdays, Sundays and legal holidays excluded.

- 18.02 Owner reserves the right to reject any or all bids and sub-bids, including without limitation, the rights to reject any or all nonconforming, nonresponsive, unbalanced or conditional Bids and to reject the bid or sub-bid of any Bidder if Owner believes that it would not be in the best interest of the Project to make an award to that Bidder, whether because the sub-bid is not responsive or the Bidder is unqualified or of doubtful financial ability or fails to meet any other pertinent standards or criteria established by Owner. Owner also reserves the right to waive all informalities not involving price, time or changes in the Work. Discrepancies between the multiplication of units of Work and unit prices will be resolved in favor of the unit prices. Discrepancies between the indicated sum of any column of figures and the correct sum thereof will be resolved in favor of the correct sum. Discrepancies between words and figures will be resolved in favor of the words.
- 18.03 In evaluating Bids, Owner will consider the qualifications of Bidders, whether or not the Bids comply with the prescribed requirements, and such alternates, unit prices and other data, as may be requested in the Bid Form prior to the Notice of Award.
- 18.04 Owner may conduct such investigations as Owner deems necessary to assist in the evaluation of any Bid and to establish the responsibility, qualifications and financial ability of Bidders and other persons and organizations to perform and furnish the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents to Owner's satisfaction within the prescribed time.
- 18.05 If the Contract is to be awarded, it will be awarded to lowest Bidder whose evaluation by Owner indicates to Owner that the award will be in the best interests of the Owner.
- 18.06 In the event of failure of the Successful Bidder to sign the Agreement and provide an acceptable Performance and Payment Bond(s), insurance certificate(s), and other required documents, the Owner may award the contract to the next lowest, responsive, responsible Bidder.

ARTICLE 19 FILED SUB-BIDS

19.01 As required by law, Filed Sub-Bids for the following classes of work will be received at the time and place stated in the Advertisement for Bids.

CLASS OF WORK

SECTION

1. Electrical

Division 16

ARTICLE 20 CONTRACT SECURITY AND INSURANCE

20.01 Article 6 of the General Conditions, as may be modified by the Supplementary Conditions, sets forth Owner's requirements as to performance and payment bonds and insurance. When the successful Bidder delivers the executed Agreement to Owner, it must be accompanied by such bonds.

ARTICLE 21 COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS SPECIAL CONDITIONS

21.01 The Contractor and all Subcontractors shall comply with all of the requirements of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts Supplemental Equal Employment Opportunity, Anti-Discrimination and Affirmative Action Program including the certifications attached thereto. A copy of these requirements and the certification forms are included in Section 00820.

ARTICLE 22 EXECUTION OF AGREEMENT

22.01 When Owner gives a Notice of Award to Successful Bidder, it will be accompanied by unsigned copies of the Agreement and other appropriate documents. Within five days thereafter, (Saturdays, Sundays and legal holidays excluded) Bidder shall sign and deliver the copies of the Agreement and attached documents to Owner with the required Bonds. Within ten days thereafter, Owner shall deliver two fully executed copies to Contractor.

ARTICLE 23 SALES AND USE TAX

23.01 Materials and supplies used in the construction of this project will be exempt from the Commonwealth of Massachusetts sales and use tax. Owner shall provide a Certificate of Exemption Number. Bidders shall take this exemption into account in preparing their bid.

ARTICLE 24 SAFETY AND HEALTH REGULATIONS

- 24.01 This Project is subject to all of the Safety and Health regulations (CFR 29, Part 1926 and all subsequent amendments) as promulgated by the U. S. department of Labor on June 24, 1974 and CFR 29, Part 1910, General Industry safety and Health regulations Identified as Applicable to Construction
- 24.02 The Successful Bidder shall comply with the Department of Labor Safety and Health Regulations for Construction promulgated under the Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970 (PL-91-596) and under Section 107 of the Contract Work Hours and safety Standards Act (PL-91-54).

ARTICLE 25 GUARANTEE

25.01 The Contractor shall guarantee all materials and equipment furnished and Work performed for a period of one year from the date of Substantial Completion except where a longer guarantee period is required in the Contract Documents or such longer time as Owner is permitted to the maximum extent of applicable law. The Contractor warrants and guarantees for a period of one year, or for the longer guarantee period, from the date of Substantial Completion of the system, that the completed system is free from all defects due to faulty materials or workmanship and the Contractor shall promptly make such corrections as may be necessary by reason of such defects including the repairs of any damage to other parts of the system resulting from such defects. The Owner will give notice of observed defects with reasonable promptness. In the event that the Contractor should fail to make such repairs, adjustments, or other work that may be necessary by such defects, within five days from the receipt of such notice the Owner may do so and charge the Contractor the cost thereby incurred. The performance bond shall remain in full force and effect through the guarantee period.

25.02 The Contractor guarantees that the Work and Services to be performed under the Contract, and all workmanship, materials and equipment performed, furnished, used or installed in the construction of the same shall be free from defects and flaws, and shall be performed and furnished in strict accordance with the Drawings, Specifications, and other Contract Documents, that the strength of all parts of all manufactured equipment shall be adequate and as specified and that the performance test requirements of the Contract shall be fulfilled. This guarantee shall be for a period of at least one year from and after the date of Substantial Completion and acceptance of the Work as stated in the final estimate and be applicable to the maximum amount of time allowed by law. If part of the Work is accepted in accordance with that subsection of this AGREEMENT titled "Partial Acceptance", the guarantee for that part of the Work shall be for a period of one year from the date fixed for such acceptance or such longer time as Owner is permitted to the maximum extent of applicable law.

If at any time within the said period of guarantee any part of the Work requires repairing, correction or replacement, the Owner may notify the Contractor in writing to make the required repairs, correction or replacements. If the Contractor neglects to commence making such repairs, corrections or replacements to the satisfaction of the Owner within seven days from the date of receipt of such notice, or having commenced fails to prosecute such Work with due diligence, the Owner may employ other persons to make said repairs, correction or replacements, and charge the costs, including compensation for additional professional services, to the Contractor. This remedy is in addition to any other remedy that Owner may have pursuant to the terms of the Contract Documents and the payment and performance bonds provided by the Contractor.

END OF SECTION

BID FORM FOR GENERAL BID

The bid of		(hereinafter called "Bidder")
organized and exis	sting under the laws of the State of	
doing business as		
	(Insert "corporation", "partnership," of	or "individual," as applicable)

Town of Manchester by the Sea (hereinafter called "OWNER")

In compliance with your Advertisement for Bids, BIDDER hereby proposes to perform all work for the Heating System Replacement project, Contract No. 2018-5 in strict accordance with the Contract Documents, within the time set forth therein, and at the prices stated below. By submission of this Bid Form, each Bidder certifies, and in the case of a joint Bid, each party thereto certifies as to his own organization, that this Bid Form has been arrived at independently, without consultation communication, or agreement, as to any matter relating to this Bid Form with any other Bidder or with any competitor. Bidder hereby agrees to commence work under this contract on or before a date to be specified in the Notice To Proceed. Bidder hereby agrees to fully complete the work at the Wastewater Treatment Plant within 120 consecutive calendar days, and fully complete the work of the Town Hall Additive Alternates No. A1 and A2 within 240 consecutive calendar days, and to fully complete the work of the Town Hall Additive Alternates No. A3 and A4 within 270 consecutive calendar days thereafter. Bidder further agrees to pay as liquidated damages, the sum of \$1,300 for each consecutive calendar day thereafter.

To the Awarding Authority:

The undersigned proposes to furnish all labor and materials required for the Heating System Replacement project, Contract No. 2018-5, in accordance with the accompanying Contract Documents dated, September 2019, prepared by Tata & Howard, Inc., for the Proposed Contract Price specified below, subject to additions and deductions according to the terms of the Contract Documents.

Bidder acknowledges receipt of the following Addenda:

Addendum #	Dated:	Addendum #	Dated:	
Addendum #	Dated:	Addendum #	Dated:	

The following bid items are defined in the Contract Documents and the unit prices and extensions shall be completed in ink or typewritten. All unit prices must be entered in both words and figures and extended by the bidder. In cases of discrepancy between words and figures, the amount shown in words will govern. In case there is a discrepancy between the total amount of bid and the correct extension and sum of the amounts for each bid item, the unit prices and their correct extension will govern.

The unit and lump sum prices shall include all labor, equipment, materials, overhead, profit, insurance, bond, etc. to cover the finished work of the several kinds called for.

The bidder's attention is directed to the fact that information relative to existing structures, piping or buried cables, apparent and latent conditions and natural phenomena as furnished to him in the Contract Documents, carries no guarantee expressed or implied as to its completeness or accuracy and he has made all due allowance therefore.

The bidder understands that the quantities of work tabulated in this Form for General Bid or indicated in the Contract Documents are only approximate and are subject to increase or decrease.

The total bid price for the Contract, correctly calculated in this Section is to be used for the comparison of bids to determine the Apparent Low Bidder.

The following unit prices as defined in the Contract Documents are designated for items of work on the basis of quantities estimated by the Engineer. The unit or lump sum price shall be entered in both words and figures in the appropriate space for each item description. Actual payment for unit price items will be for actual quantity of each item, approved by the Engineer, at the unit price bid.

THE PROPOSED CONTRACT PRICE BEING THE SUM OF ITEMS 1 THRU 11 FOR BASIS OF AWARD, FOR COMPARISON OF BIDS IS (BASE BID):

		Dollars
	(Words)	
(\$)	
(Fig	gures)	

The subdivision of the Proposed Contract Price is as follows:

<u>ITEM</u> <u>NO</u>	ESTIMATED QUANTITY	ITEM DESCRIPTION AND UNIT AND LUMP SUM PRICES IN WORDS	UNIT PRICES DOLLARS/CENTS IN FIGURES	EXTENDED AMOUNT DOLLARS/CENTS
1	LS	Clean, Service, and Inspection of Heating System -WWTP		<u>IN FIGURES</u>
		Lump Sum in Words	\$	\$
2	LS	Clean, Service, and Inspection of Heating System -WTP		
		Lump Sum in Words	\$	\$
3	LS	DPW Garage Heating System Improvements		
		Lump Sum in Words	\$	\$

ITEM NO	ESTIMATED QUANTITY	ITEM DESCRIPTION AND UNIT AND LUMP SUM PRICES IN WORDS	UNIT PRICES DOLLARS/CENTS IN FIGURES	EXTENDED AMOUNT DOLLARS/CENTS IN FIGURES
4	26	Unit Heater		
		Per Each in Words	\$	\$
5	1	Cabinet Unit Heater		
		Per Each in Words	\$	\$
6	4	Hot Water Coils		
		Per Each in Words	\$	\$
7	27	Wall Mounted Thermostats		
		Per Each in Words	\$	\$
8	1	Air Handling Unit		
		Per Each in Words	\$	\$
9	50 LF	Insulation		
		Per Linear Foot in Words	\$	\$
10	50 LF	Supply/Return Piping		
			\$	\$
		Per Linear Foot in Words		

Item 11. (Work of the Sub-Bidders)

Division or Section	Name of Sub-Bidder	Sub-Bid	Amount	Bond	Req'd?
				Yes or	· No
Section 16		\$			
Electrical					

							Do	llars
			(Words)					
(\$) (Figures)				
			ADD ALTERNATE	BID ITEM	S			
<u>ITEM</u> <u>NO</u>	ESTIMA QUANT		ITEM DESCRIPTION AND UNIT AND LUMP SUM PRICES IN WORDS		RS/CENTS	AN <u>DC</u>		/CENTS
A1	LS		Town Hall Heating and Ventilation System Improvements – HP1, HP3, HP4, HP5			<u>IN</u>	<u>FIGURI</u>	<u>ES</u>
				\$		\$_		
Item A2	. (Work of HP3, HI		b-Bidders) -Town Hall Heating	g and Ventil	ation System	Improveme	ents – Hl	P1,
vision or Se	ction	Name	e of Sub-Bidder		Sub-Bid	Amount	Bond Yes o	Req'd r No
ction 16 ectrical					\$			
			Work of all the Sub-Bidders) 3, HP4, HP5, including all Add				ered by	Item
			(Words)				Do	llars

	Improvements – HP2				
		\$		\$_	
Item A4 . (Work	of the Sub-Bidders) -Town Hall H	eating and Ventilat	ion System	Improvem	ents – HP2
vision or Section	Name of Sub-Bidder		Sub-Bid	Amount	Bond Req Yes or No
ection 16			\$		
	(Words)				Dollars
(\$) (Fi	gures)			
	Bid Items are included at the reques available. The value provided forbidder.				
TOTAL AMOUN	NT OF ALTERNATE BID ITEM I	NO. A1 THRU A4	IS:		
		Dollars)
Price in Words				Figures	

Town Hall Heating System

A3

LS

The undersigned agrees that each of the above name sub-bidders will be used for the work indicated at the amount stated, unless a substitution is made.

The undersigned agrees that if he is selected as general contractor, he will promptly confer with the Awarding Authority on the question of sub-bidders; and that the Awarding Authority may substitute for any sub-bid listed above a sub-bid filed with the Awarding Authority by another sub-bidder for the sub-trade against whose standing and ability the undersigned makes no objection; and that the undersigned will use all such finally selected sub-bidders at the amounts named in their respective sub-bids and be in every way as responsible for them and their work as if they had been originally named in this general bid, the total contract price being adjusted to conform thereto.

E. The undersigned agrees that, if he is selected as general contractor, he will within five days, Saturdays, Sundays, and legal holidays excluded, after presentation thereof by the awarding authority, execute a contract in accordance with the terms of this bid and furnish a performance bond and also a labor and materials or payment bond, each of a surety company qualified to do business under the laws of the Commonwealth and satisfactory to the Awarding Authority and each in the sum of the contract price, the

premiums for which are to be paid by the general contractor and are included in the contract price; provided, however that if there is more than 1 surety company, the surety companies shall be jointly and severally liable.

The undersigned hereby certified that he is able to furnish labor that can work in harmony with all other elements of labor employed or to be employed on the work; that all employees to be employed at the worksite will have successfully completed a course in construction safety and health approved by the United States Occupational Safety and Health Administration that is at least 10 hours in duration at the time the employee begins work and who shall furnish documentation of successful completion of said course with the first certified payroll report for each employee, and that he will comply fully with all laws and regulations applicable to awards made subject to section 44A.

Bidder understands that Owner reserves the right to reject any or all bids, to waive any informalities in the bidding or to reduce the scope of the Work to stay within budget restraints. Bid security in the form of a bid bond, cash, certified check, treasurer's or cashier's check payable to Owner, in a dollar amount of five percent (5%) of the total bid, in accordance with the conditions in the Instructions to Bidders, has been attached to this bid. Bidder may not withdraw his bid within 30 days (Saturdays, Sundays, and legal holidays excluded) after the actual date of the opening of the General Bids.

Upon receipt of written notice of the acceptance of this bid, Bidder will execute the formal contract attached within five (5) days (Saturdays, Sundays, and legal holidays excluded) and deliver a Surety Bond or Bonds as required by ARTICLE 6 of the General Conditions. The Bid Security attached is to become the property of Owner, in the event the Contract and Bond are not executed within the time above set forth, as liquidated damages for the delay and additional expense to the Owner caused thereby.

The undersigned further certifies under the penalties of perjury that this bid is in all respects bona fide, fair and made without collusion or fraud with any other person. As used in this subsection the word "person" shall mean any natural person, joint venture, partnership, corporation or other business or legal entity. The undersigned further certifies under penalty of perjury that the said undersigned is not presently debarred from doing public construction work in the Commonwealth under the provisions of Section twenty-nine (29) F of Chapter twenty-nine (29) or any other applicable debarment provisions of any other Chapter of the General Law or any rule or regulation promulgated thereunder M.G.L. c.149, ss. 44E(2) and 44F(2). Pursuant to MGL 62C, Section 49A, I certify under the penalties of perjury that I, to my best knowledge and belief, have filed all State Tax Returns and paid all State Taxes required under Massachusetts General Laws.

(Name of Bidder)	By: (Name of Person Signing Bid and Title)
(Business Address)	(Title)
(City and State)	(Date)

If the Bidder is a corporation, indicate State of incorporation, and affix corporate seal.

Bidders shall submit the following with their bid:

- 1. DCAM Certificate of Eligibility
- 2. Bid Bond
- 3. Certificate of Non-Collusion
- 4. Certificate of Tax Compliance

Failure to submit the Bid Bond and the DCAM Certificate of Eligibility with the Bid Form shall be cause for rejection of the Bid Form.

END OF SECTION

FORM FOR SUB-BID

ELECTRICAL

Work, in accord Section 16000 Sections, prepar Construction of	proposes to furnish all labor and materials required for completing the Bance with the hereinafter described Contract Documents, all the work specintitled ELECTRICAL FILED SUB-BIDS, and any plans specified in by Tata & Howard, Inc., 67 Forest Street, Marlborough, Massachusetts, the Heating System Replacement, Contract No. 2018-5, dated September 20	rified in such for the
the Town of Ma	chester-by-the-Sea, Massachusetts, for the Contract Sum of,	
		Dollars
	(Figures)	
(\$).	
Add Alternate –	.2	
Alternate Work HP5, in accorda Section 16000 Sections, prepar Construction of	proposes to furnish all labor and materials required for completing the Town Hall Heating and Ventilation System Improvements – HP1, HP3 ce with the hereinafter described Contract Documents, all the work specintitled ELECTRICAL FILED SUB-BIDS, and any plans specified in by Tata & Howard, Inc., 67 Forest Street, Marlborough, Massachusetts, he Heating System Replacement, Contract No. 2018-5, dated September 20 chester-by-the-Sea, Massachusetts, for the Contract Sum of,	3, HP4 ified in such for the
		Dollars
	(Figures)	
(\$).	
Alternate Work hereinafter desc ELECTRICAL Howard, Inc., 6 System Replace	proposes to furnish all labor and materials required for completing the Town Hall Heating System Improvements – HP2, in accordance we bed Contract Documents, all the work specified in Section 16000 (LED SUB-BIDS, and any plans specified in such Sections, prepared by Forest Street, Marlborough, Massachusetts, for the Construction of the Ident, Contract No. 2018-5, dated September 2019, for the Town of Mandachusetts, for the Contract Sum of,	vith the entitled Tata & Heating
		Dollars
	(Figures)	
(\$).	
This sub-bid inc	des addenda numbered through inclusive.	

This sub-bid	conoral hidden execut:	
() may be used by any	general oldder except.	
() may only be used b	y the following general bidders:	
(To exclude general bide not answer C if no general	lers, insert "X" in one box only and all bidders are excluded.)	fill in blank following that box.
	to fully comply with all laws and re on 44F of the Mass. General Laws.	egulations applicable to awards ma
Sundays and legal holic selected as general contr the terms of this sub-b requested so to do in the furnish a performance an	that, if he is selected as sub-bidder, ays excluded, after presentation of actor, execute with such general bidder, and contingent upon the execut general bid by such general bidder and payment bond of a surety comparalth and satisfactory to the awarding	a subcontract by the general bidder a subcontract in accordance we tion of the general contract and, who shall pay the premiums therefory qualified to do business under
materials for the class or the specifications for this customarily furnished by	s, firms and corporations furnishing to classes or part thereof of work for vote sub-trade require a listing in this part persons on his own payroll and in the me of each such class of work or part thereof are:	which the provisions of the section tragraph, including the undersigned he absence of a contrary provision
<u>Name</u>	Class of Work	Bid Price

	(Do no	ot give bid price for any class or part thereof furnished by undersigned).
I.	based award	ndersigned agrees that the above list of bids to the undersigned represents bona fide bids on hereinbefore described plans, specifications and addenda and that, if the undersigned is ed the contract, they will be used for the work indicated at the amounts stated, if satisfactory awarding authority.
J.	herein	indersigned further agrees to be bound to the general contractor by the terms of the before described Contract Documents, and to assume toward him all the obligations and isibilities that he, by those documents, assumes toward the owner.
K.		ndersigned offers the following information as evidence of his qualifications to perform the as bid upon according to all requirements of the Contract Documents:
	1.	Have been in business under present business name years.
	2.	Ever failed to complete any work awarded?
	3.	List one or more recent buildings with names of general contractor and engineer or architect on which you served as subcontractor for work of similar character as required for the above-named building.
	(a)	Project:
		Engineer or Architect
		General Contractor:
		Amount of Contract:
	(b)	Project:
		Engineer or Architect:
		General Contractor:
		Amount of Contract:
	(c)	Project:
		Engineer or Architect:
		General Contractor:
		Amount of Contract:

4. Bank Reference:	(Name of Bank)
Dank Danracantativa	,
Telephone No	
The undersigned hereby certifies other elements of labor employed	that he is able to furnish labor that can work in harmony with all or to be employed on the work.
	bond, cash certified check, treasurer's or cashier's check, payable of 5 percent of the total bid, in accordance with the conditions in been attached to this bid.
	all be good and may not be withdrawn for a period of 30 days, idays excluded, after the opening of bids.
fide, fair and made without collust word "person" shall mean any business or legal entity. The un said undersigned is not prese Commonwealth under the prov	under the penalties of perjury that this bid is in all respects bonds sion or fraud with any other person. As used in this subsection the natural person, joint venture, partnership, corporation or other dersigned further certifies under the penalties of perjury that the ently debarred from doing public construction work in the isions of Section 29F of Chapter 29, or any other applicable other chapter of the General Laws or any rule or regulation
If the sub-bidder is a corporatio	gnature of the sub-bidder or an authorized agent of the sub-bidder n or a partnership, the bid must be signed by a duly authorized a partner and the title of such officer must be stated.
	Ву:
(Name of Sub-bidder)	(Name of Person Signing Bid and Title)
(Business Address)	(Title)
(City and State)	(Date)
	Telephone No The undersigned hereby certifies other elements of labor employed. Bid security in the form of a bid to the Owner, in a dollar amount the Instructions To Bidders, has been the Instructions To Bidders, has been the bidder agrees that this bid she Saturdays, Sundays and legal hole. The undersigned further certifies fide, fair and made without collust word "person" shall mean any business or legal entity. The unsaid undersigned is not presed Commonwealth under the providebarment provisions of any opportunity of the sub-bidder is a corporation of ficer of such corporation or by (Name of Sub-bidder) (Name of Sub-bidder)

END OF SECTION

BID BOND FORM

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that v	we, the undersigned,
	as Principal,
and	as Surety,
are hereby held and firmly bound unto the Town of	f Manchester by the Sea, Massachusetts, as
Owner in the penal sum of	Dollars
for the payment of which, well and truly to be mad	e, we hereby jointly severally bind
ourselves, successors, and assigns.	
Signed, this day of	, 20
Manchester by the Sea, Massachusetts, a certain	whereas the Principal has submitted to the Town of Form For General Bid, attached hereto and hereby writing for the Construction of Heating System

NOW, THEREFORE,

Improvements project, Contract No. 2018-5.

- (a) If said Form For General Bid shall be rejected, or
- (b) If said Form For General Bid shall be accepted and the Principal shall execute and deliver a contract in the Form of Contract attached hereto (properly completed in accordance with said Bid Form) and shall furnish a Bond for his faithful performance of said contract, and for the payment of all persons performing labor or for furnishing materials in connection therewith, and shall in all other respects perform the agreement created by the acceptance of said Bid Form, then this obligation shall be void, otherwise the same shall remain in force and effect; it being expressly understood and agreed that the liability of the Surety for any and all claims hereunder shall in no event, exceed the penal amount of this obligation, as herein stated.

The Surety, for value received, hereby stipulates and agrees that the obligations of said Surety and its Bond shall be in no way impaired or affected by any extension of the time within which the OWNER may accept such Bid Form, and said Surety does hereby waive notice of any such extension.

N WITNESS WHEREOF, the Principal and the Surety have hereunto set their hands and seals, and uch of them as are corporations have caused their corporate seals to be hereto affixed and these presents to be signed by their proper officers, the day and year first set forth above.
(L.S.)
Principal
Surety
$\mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{M}^*}$

IMPORTANT - Surety companies executing Bonds must appear on the Treasury Department's most current list (Circular 570 as amended) and be authorized to transact business in the Commonwealth of Massachusetts.

END OF SECTION

CERTIFICATE OF NON-COLLUSION

The undersigned certifies under penalties of perjury that this has been made and submitted in good faith and without collusion or fraud with any other person. As used in this certification, the word "person" shall mean any natural person, business, partnership, corporation, union, committee, club, or other organization, entity or group of individuals.

Name o	of Individual
Signatu	re of Individual (Represent Company)
Name of	f Company
Date	

END OF SECTION

CERTIFICATE OF TAX COMPLIANCE

I certify under the pains and penalties of perjury th	Name of individual/Company
has complied with all the laws of the Commonwea	alth of Massachusetts relating to taxes.
	Name of Individual
	Signature of Individual (Represent Company)
	Name of Company
	Date

END OF SECTION

CERTIFICATE OF TAX COMPLIANCE 00412-1

NOTICE OF AWARD

DATED:

TO:		
TO:(Bidder) ADDRESS:		
OWNER: Town of Manchester by the Sea, Massachusetts		
ADDRESS: Town Hall, 10 Central Street, Manchester by the Sea, Massa	achusetts 01944	
CONTRACT NUMBER 2018-5		
FOR CONSTRUCTION OF THE HEATING SYSTEM REPLACEMEN	NT PROJECT	
Owner has considered the Bid Form submitted by you for the above desc	ribed Work in	
response to its Advertisement for Bids dated	_, 20	
and Instructions to Bidders.		
The Contract Price of your contract is:		
	Dollars	
(\$).		

You must comply with the following conditions precedent within five (5) days, Saturdays, Sundays and legal holidays excluded, of the date of this Notice Of Award.

Six (6) copies of the proposed Contract Documents accompany this Notice of Award.

- 1. You must deliver to the Owner six (6) fully executed counterparts of the Agreement including all the Contract Documents. Each of the Contract Documents must bear your signature on the cover page.
- 2. You must deliver with the executed Contract Documents, the Contract Security (Bonds, and Certificates of Insurance) as specified in the Instructions to Bidders, General Conditions and Supplementary Conditions.

If you fail to execute said Agreement and to furnish said Bonds within five (5) days (Saturdays, Sundays and legal holidays excluded) from the date of this notice, said Owner will be entitled to consider all your rights arising out of the Owner's acceptance of your Bid Form as abandoned and as a forfeiture of your Bid Bond. The Owner will be entitled to such other rights as may be granted by law.

You are required to return an ac	knowledged copy of this Notice	of Award to the Owner.
Dated this	day of	, 20
OWNER:		
By(Authorized Signature)		(Title)
	ACCEPTANCE OF NOT	TICE
Receipt of the above NOTICE C	OF AWARD is hereby acknowle	edged this the
day of		, 20
By(Authorized Signature)		Title)

END OF SECTION

CONTRACT AGREEMENT

THIS AGREEMENT made as of the day of	, in the year 20
by and between the Town of Manchester by the Sea, Massachusetts	s hereinafter called Owner and
with legal ac	ddress and principal
place of business at	
hereinafter called Contractor. Owner and Contractor in considerati	ion of the
mutual covenants hereinafter set forth, agree as follows:	

ARTICLE 1-WORK

1.01 Contractor shall complete all Work as specified in the Contract Documents. The Work of this Contract generally consists of heating system repairs at the Manchester-by-the-Sea Wastewater Treatment Plant (WWTF), Water Treatment Plant (WTP), Department of Public Works (DPW) Garage, and the Town Hall.

ARTICLE 2-ENGINEER

2.01 The Project has been designed by Tata and Howard Inc., 67 Forest Street, Marlborough, MA 01752, who is hereinafter called Engineer and who is to act as Owner's representative, assume all duties and responsibilities and have the rights and authority assigned to Engineer in the Contract Documents in connection with the completion of the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents.

ARTICLE 3-CONTRACT TIME

3.01 The Work of the Wastewater Treatment Plant will be substantially completed within 90 days after the date when the Contract Times commence to run as provided in paragraph 4.01 of the General Conditions, and completed and ready for final payment in accordance with paragraph 15.06 of the General Conditions within 120 days after the date when the Contract Times commence to run. The Work at the Water Treatment Plant and DPW Garage will be substantially completed within 120 days after the date when the Contract Times commence to run as provided in paragraph 4.01 of the General Conditions, and completed and ready for final payment in accordance with paragraph 15.06 of the General Conditions within 150 days after the date when the Contract Times commence to run. The Work of the Town Hall Additive Alternate No. A1 and A2 will be substantially completed within 210 days after the date when the Contract Times commence to run as provided in paragraph 4.01 of the General Conditions, and completed and ready for final payment in accordance with paragraph 15.06 of the General Conditions within 240 days after the date when the Contract Times commence to run. The Work of the Town Hall Additive Alternate No. A3 and A4 will be substantially completed within 240 days after the date when the Contract Times commence to run as provided in paragraph 4.01 of the General Conditions, and completed

- and ready for final payment in accordance with paragraph 15.06 of the General Conditions within 270 days after the date when the Contract Times commence to run.
- 3.02 Contractor and Owner recognize that time is of the essence of this Agreement and that Owner will suffer financial loss if the Work is not completed within the times specified in Paragraph 3.01 above, plus any extensions thereof allowed in accordance with Article 11 of the General Conditions. The parties also recognize the delays, expense, and difficulties involved in providing in a legal or arbitration proceeding the actual loss suffered by Owner if the Work is not completed on time. Accordingly, instead of requiring any such proof, Owner and Contractor agree that as liquidated damages for delay (but not as a penalty), Contractor shall pay OWNER \$1,300 for each calendar day of delay until the Work is complete.
- 3.03 Provided that Contractor shall not be charged with liquidated damages or any excess cost when the delay in completion of the Work is for reasons included in Paragraph 4.05 of the General Conditions.
- 3.04 Provided further, that Contractor shall furnish Owner the required notification of such delays in accordance with Paragraph 11.05 of the General Conditions.

ARTICLE 4-CONTRACT PRICE

- 4.01 Owner shall pay Contractor for completion of the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents an amount in current funds equal to the sum of the amounts determined pursuant to paragraph 4.01A below.
 - 4.01A For the complete Work, at the price stated in Contractor's Bid Form, attached hereto as an exhibit

ARTICLE 5-PAYMENT PROCEDURES

- 5.01 Contractor shall submit Applications for Payment in accordance with Article 15 of the General Conditions. Applications for Payment will be processed by Engineer as provided in the General Conditions.
- 5.02 Owner shall make progress payments on account of the Contract Price on the basis of Contractor's Application for Payment as recommended by Engineer, monthly during construction as provided below. All progress payments will be on the basis of the progress of the Work measured by the schedule of values provided for in Paragraph 15.01 of the General Conditions.
- 5.03 Owner will make progress and final payments as provided in Article 15 of the General Conditions of the Contract and in accordance with the applicable Massachusetts General Law. Owner will withhold a retainage of 5-percent of the approved amount in each progress payment.

ARTICLE 6-CONTRACTOR'S REPRESENTATIONS

6.01 Contractor has examined and carefully studied the Contract Documents and the other related data identified in the Bidding Documents.

- 6.02 Contractor has visited the Site and become familiar with and is satisfied as to the general, local, and Site conditions that may affect cost, progress, and performance of the Work.
- 6.03 Contractor is familiar with and is satisfied as to all federal, state, and local Laws and Regulations that may affect cost, progress, and performance of the Work.
- 6.04 Contractor has obtained and carefully studied (or assumes responsibility for having done so) all additional or supplementary examinations, investigations, explorations, tests, studies, and date concerning conditions (surface, subsurface, and Underground Facilities) at or contiguous to the Site which may affect cost, progress, or performance of the Work or which relate to any aspect of the means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction to be employed by Contractor, and safety precautions and programs incident thereto.
- 6.05 Contractor has correlated the information known to contractor, information and observations obtained from visits to the Site, reports and drawings identified in the Contract Documents, and all additional examinations, investigations, explorations, tests, studies, and data with the Contract Documents.
- 6.06 Contractor has given Engineer written notice of all conflicts, errors, ambiguities, or discrepancies that Contractor has discovered in the Contract Documents, and the written resolution thereof by Engineer is acceptable to Contractor.
- 6.07 The Contract Documents are generally sufficient to indicate and convey understanding of all terms and conditions for performance and furnishing of the Work.

ARTICLE-7 CONTRACT DOCUMENTS

- 7.01 The Contract Documents which comprise the Contract between Owner and Contractor are attached hereto and made a part hereof and consist of the following:
 - 7.01.1 Advertisement For Bids.
 - 7.01.2 Instructions To Bidders.
 - 7.01.3 Bid Form.
 - 7.01.4 Sub-Bid Forms.
 - 7.01.5 This Agreement.
 - 7.01.6 Performance Bond, EJCDC Document (C-610 2013 Edition).
 - 7.01.7 Payment Bond, EJCDC Document (C-615 2013 Edition).
 - 7.01.8 General Conditions, EJCDC Document (C-700 2013 Edition).
 - 7.01.9 Supplementary Conditions.
 - 7.01.10 Commonwealth of Massachusetts Special Conditions.
 - 7.01.11 Specifications (as listed in Table of Contents).
 - 7.01.12 Drawings numbered: <u>WWTP-M1 thru WWTP-M4, WTP-M1 thru WTP-M4, DPW-M1, TH-M1 thru TH-M5, E1.0 thru E1.4</u>
 - 7.01.13 Addenda numbers ______ to , inclusive.
 - 7.01.14 Any modifications, including Change Orders, duly delivered after execution of Agreement.
- 7.02 The Contract Documents may only be amended, modified, or supplemented as provided in Paragraph 11.01 of the General Conditions.

ARTICLE 8-MISCELLANEOUS

- 8.01 Terms used in this Agreement will have the meanings indicated in the General Conditions.
- 8.02 No assignment by a party hereto of any rights under or interests in the Contract will be binding on another party hereto without the written consent of the party sought to be bound; and, specifically but without limitation, monies that may become due and monies that are due, may not be assigned without such consent (except to the extent that the effect of this restriction may be limited by law), and unless specifically stated to the contrary in any written consent to an assignment, no assignment will release or discharge the assignor from any duty or responsibility under the Contract Documents
- 8.03 Owner and Contractor each binds itself, its partners, successors, assigns, and legal representatives to the other party hereto, its partners, successors, assigns, and legal representatives in respect to all covenants, agreements, and obligations contained in the Contract Documents.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have signed this Agreement in sextuple. Four copies each have been delivered to Owner and one copy each to Contractor and Engineer. All portions of the Contract Documents have been signed or identified by Owner and Contractor or by Engineer on their behalf.

This Agreement will be effective on	, 20
Owner:	Contractor:
By:	By:
(CORPORATE SEAL)	(CORPORATE SEAL)
Attest	Attest
Address for giving notices:	Address for giving notices:

Note: If Contractor is a corporation, an affidavit giving the principal the right to sign the Agreement must accompany the executed Agreement.

As required by M.G.L. Chapter 44, Section 31C, this is to certify that the Owner has an appropriation which is adequate to cover the cost of this Contract.

By:	Date:
(Name)	(Title)

SECTION 00520

NOTICE TO PROCEED

	DATED:
TO:	
ADDRESS:	
OWNER: Town of Manchester by the Sea, Massachus	setts
ADDRESS: Town Hall, 10 Central Street, Manchester	by the Sea, Massachusetts 01944
CONTRACT NUMBER 2018-5	
FOR CONSTRUCTION OF THE HEATING SYSTEM	M IMPROVEMENTS PROJECT
You are hereby notified to commence work in accorda	nce with the Contract dated
, 20, on or before	, 20,
and you are to complete the Work for the Wastewate days, the Work at the Water Treatment Plant and DPW Work of the Town Hall Additive Alternate No. A1 and Hall Additive Alternate No. A3 and A4 within 270 complete the Work for the Wastewater and DPW work of the Town Hall Additive Alternate No. A3 and A4 within 270 complete the Work for the Wastewater and DPW work for the Wastewater and DPW work for the Wastewater and DPW work of the Town Hall Additive Alternate No. A1 and A4 within 270 complete the Work for the Wastewater and DPW work for the Wastewater and DPW work of the Town Hall Additive Alternate No. A1 and A4 within 270 complete the Work for the Wastewater and DPW work of the Town Hall Additive Alternate No. A1 and A4 within 270 complete the Wastewater and DPW work of the Town Hall Additive Alternate No. A1 and A4 within 270 complete the Wastewater and DPW work of the Town Hall Additive Alternate No. A3 and A4 within 270 complete the Wastewater and DPW work of the Town Hall Additive Alternate No. A3 and A4 within 270 complete the Wastewater and DPW work of the Town Hall Additive Alternate No. A3 and A4 within 270 complete the Wastewater and DPW work of th	V Garage within 150 consecutive calendar days, the d A2 within 240 days, and the Work of the Town
The date of completion of all Work is therefore	, 20
OWNER:	
By(Authorized Signature)	(Title)
ACCEPTANCE	
Receipt of the above NOTICE TO PROCEED is hereb	
day of	
uay 01	, 20
Ву	
(Authorized Signature)	(Title)

END OF SECTION



PERFORMANCE BOND

CONTRACTOR (name and address):	SURETY (name and address of principal place of business):
OWNER (name and address):	
CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT Effective Date of the Agreement: Amount: Description (name and location):	
BOND Bond Number: Date (not earlier than the Effective Date of the Agreement of Amount: Modifications to this Bond Form: None	the Construction Contract): See Paragraph 16
Surety and Contractor, intending to be legally bound h this Performance Bond to be duly executed by an auth	ereby, subject to the terms set forth below, do each cause orized officer, agent, or representative.
CONTRACTOR AS PRINCIPAL	SURETY
(seal) Contractor's Name and Corporate Seal	(seal) Surety's Name and Corporate Seal
By: Signature	By:Signature (attach power of attorney)
Print Name	Print Name
Title	Title
Attest:Signature	Attest: Signature
Title	Title
Notes: (1) Provide supplemental execution by any additional Contractor, Surety, Owner, or other party shall be considered	al parties, such as joint venturers. (2) Any singular reference to ed plural where applicable.

- 1. The Contractor and Surety, jointly and severally, bind themselves, their heirs, executors, administrators, successors, and assigns to the Owner for the performance of the Construction Contract, which is incorporated herein by reference.
- 2. If the Contractor performs the Construction Contract, the Surety and the Contractor shall have no obligation under this Bond, except when applicable to participate in a conference as provided in Paragraph 3.
- 3. If there is no Owner Default under the Construction Contract, the Surety's obligation under this Bond shall arise after:
 - The Owner first provides notice to the Contractor and 3.1 the Surety that the Owner is considering declaring a Contractor Default. Such notice shall indicate whether the Owner is requesting a conference among the Owner, Contractor, and Surety to discuss the Contractor's performance. If the Owner does not request a conference, the Surety may, within five (5) business days after receipt of the Owner's notice, request such a conference. If the Surety timely requests a conference, the Owner shall attend. Unless the Owner agrees otherwise, any conference requested under this Paragraph 3.1 shall be held within ten (10) business days of the Surety's receipt of the Owner's notice. If the Owner, the Contractor, and the Surety agree, the Contractor shall be allowed a reasonable time to perform the Construction Contract, but such an agreement shall not waive the Owner's right, if any, subsequently to declare a Contractor Default;
 - 3.2 The Owner declares a Contractor Default, terminates the Construction Contract and notifies the Surety; and
 - 3.3 The Owner has agreed to pay the Balance of the Contract Price in accordance with the terms of the Construction Contract to the Surety or to a contractor selected to perform the Construction Contract.
- 4. Failure on the part of the Owner to comply with the notice requirement in Paragraph 3.1 shall not constitute a failure to comply with a condition precedent to the Surety's obligations, or release the Surety from its obligations, except to the extent the Surety demonstrates actual prejudice.
- 5. When the Owner has satisfied the conditions of Paragraph 3, the Surety shall promptly and at the Surety's expense take one of the following actions:
 - 5.1 Arrange for the Contractor, with the consent of the Owner, to perform and complete the Construction Contract;
 - 5.2 Undertake to perform and complete the Construction Contract itself, through its agents or independent contractors;
 - 5.3 Obtain bids or negotiated proposals from qualified contractors acceptable to the Owner for a contract for performance and completion of the Construction Contract, arrange for a contract to be prepared for execution by the Owner and a contractor selected with the Owners concurrence, to be secured with performance and payment bonds executed by a qualified surety equivalent to the bonds issued on the

Construction Contract, and pay to the Owner the amount of damages as described in Paragraph 7 in excess of the Balance of the Contract Price incurred by the Owner as a result of the Contractor Default; or

- 5.4 Waive its right to perform and complete, arrange for completion, or obtain a new contractor, and with reasonable promptness under the circumstances:
 - 5.4.1 After investigation, determine the amount for which it may be liable to the Owner and, as soon as practicable after the amount is determined, make payment to the Owner; or
 - 5.4.2 Deny liability in whole or in part and notify the Owner, citing the reasons for denial.
- 6. If the Surety does not proceed as provided in Paragraph 5 with reasonable promptness, the Surety shall be deemed to be in default on this Bond seven days after receipt of an additional written notice from the Owner to the Surety demanding that the Surety perform its obligations under this Bond, and the Owner shall be entitled to enforce any remedy available to the Owner. If the Surety proceeds as provided in Paragraph 5.4, and the Owner refuses the payment or the Surety has denied liability, in whole or in part, without further notice the Owner shall be entitled to enforce any remedy available to the Owner.
- 7. If the Surety elects to act under Paragraph 5.1, 5.2, or 5.3, then the responsibilities of the Surety to the Owner shall not be greater than those of the Contractor under the Construction Contract, and the responsibilities of the Owner to the Surety shall not be greater than those of the Owner under the Construction Contract. Subject to the commitment by the Owner to pay the Balance of the Contract Price, the Surety is obligated, without duplication for:
 - 7.1 the responsibilities of the Contractor for correction of defective work and completion of the Construction Contract;
 - 7.2 additional legal, design professional, and delay costs resulting from the Contractor's Default, and resulting from the actions or failure to act of the Surety under Paragraph 5; and
 - 7.3 liquidated damages, or if no liquidated damages are specified in the Construction Contract, actual damages caused by delayed performance or non-performance of the Contractor.
- 8. If the Surety elects to act under Paragraph 5.1, 5.3, or 5.4, the Surety's liability is limited to the amount of this Bond.
- 9. The Surety shall not be liable to the Owner or others for obligations of the Contractor that are unrelated to the Construction Contract, and the Balance of the Contract Price shall not be reduced or set off on account of any such unrelated obligations. No right of action shall accrue on this Bond to any person or entity other than the Owner or its heirs, executors, administrators, successors, and assigns.

- 10. The Surety hereby waives notice of any change, including changes of time, to the Construction Contract or to related subcontracts, purchase orders, and other obligations.
- 11. Any proceeding, legal or equitable, under this Bond may be instituted in any court of competent jurisdiction in the location in which the work or part of the work is located and shall be instituted within two years after a declaration of Contractor Default or within two years after the Contractor ceased working or within two years after the Surety refuses or fails to perform its obligations under this Bond, whichever occurs first. If the provisions of this paragraph are void or prohibited by law, the minimum periods of limitations available to sureties as a defense in the jurisdiction of the suit shall be applicable.
- 12. Notice to the Surety, the Owner, or the Contractor shall be mailed or delivered to the address shown on the page on which their signature appears.
- 13. When this Bond has been furnished to comply with a statutory or other legal requirement in the location where the construction was to be performed, any provision in this Bond conflicting with said statutory or legal requirement shall be deemed deleted herefrom and provisions conforming to such statutory or other legal requirement shall be deemed incorporated herein. When so furnished, the intent is that this Bond shall be construed as a statutory bond and not as a common law bond.

14. Definitions

14.1 Balance of the Contract Price: The total amount payable by the Owner to the Contractor under the Construction Contract after all proper adjustments have been made including allowance for the Contractor for any amounts received or to be received by the Owner in settlement of insurance or other claims

for damages to which the Contractor is entitled, reduced by all valid and proper payments made to or on behalf of the Contractor under the Construction Contract.

- 14.2 Construction Contract: The agreement between the Owner and Contractor identified on the cover page, including all Contract Documents and changes made to the agreement and the Contract Documents.
- 14.3 Contractor Default: Failure of the Contractor, which has not been remedied or waived, to perform or otherwise to comply with a material term of the Construction Contract.
- 14.4 Owner Default: Failure of the Owner, which has not been remedied or waived, to pay the Contractor as required under the Construction Contract or to perform and complete or comply with the other material terms of the Construction Contract.
- 14.5 Contract Documents: All the documents that comprise the agreement between the Owner and Contractor.
- 15. If this Bond is issued for an agreement between a contractor and subcontractor, the term Contractor in this Bond shall be deemed to be Subcontractor and the term Owner shall be deemed to be Contractor.
- 16. Modifications to this Bond are as follows:



PAYMENT BOND

CONTRACTOR (name and address):	SURETY (name and address of principal place of business):
OWNER (name and address):	
CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT Effective Date of the Agreement: Amount: Description (name and location):	
BOND Bond Number: Date (not earlier than the Effective Date of the Agreement of Amount: Modifications to this Bond Form: None	the Construction Contract): See Paragraph 18
Surety and Contractor, intending to be legally bound he this Payment Bond to be duly executed by an authorize CONTRACTOR AS PRINCIPAL	ereby, subject to the terms set forth below, do each cause of officer, agent, or representative. SURETY
(seal)	(seal)
Contractor's Name and Corporate Seal	Surety's Name and Corporate Seal
By: Signature	By:
Print Name	Print Name
Title	Title
Attest:	Attest:
Signature	Signature
Title Title	le
Notes: (1) Provide supplemental execution by any addition to Contractor, Surety, Owner, or other party shall be conside	al parties, such as joint venturers. (2) Any singular reference ered plural where applicable.

- The Contractor and Surety, jointly and severally, bind themselves, their heirs, executors, administrators, successors, and assigns to the Owner to pay for labor, materials, and equipment furnished for use in the performance of the Construction Contract, which is incorporated herein by reference, subject to the following terms.
- 2. If the Contractor promptly makes payment of all sums due to Claimants, and defends, indemnifies, and holds harmless the Owner from claims, demands, liens, or suits by any person or entity seeking payment for labor, materials, or equipment furnished for use in the performance of the Construction Contract, then the Surety and the Contractor shall have no obligation under this Bond.
- 3. If there is no Owner Default under the Construction Contract, the Surety's obligation to the Owner under this Bond shall arise after the Owner has promptly notified the Contractor and the Surety (at the address described in Paragraph 13) of claims, demands, liens, or suits against the Owner or the Owner's property by any person or entity seeking payment for labor, materials, or equipment furnished for use in the performance of the Construction Contract, and tendered defense of such claims, demands, liens, or suits to the Contractor and the Surety.
- 4. When the Owner has satisfied the conditions in Paragraph 3, the Surety shall promptly and at the Surety's expense defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the Owner against a duly tendered claim, demand, lien, or suit.
- The Surety's obligations to a Claimant under this Bond shall arise after the following:
 - 5.1 Claimants who do not have a direct contract with the Contractor,
 - 5.1.1 have furnished a written notice of nonpayment to the Contractor, stating with substantial accuracy the amount claimed and the name of the party to whom the materials were, or equipment was, furnished or supplied or for whom the labor was done or performed, within ninety (90) days after having last performed labor or last furnished materials or equipment included in the Claim; and
 - 5.1.2 have sent a Claim to the Surety (at the address described in Paragraph 13).
 - 5.2 Claimants who are employed by or have a direct contract with the Contractor have sent a Claim to the Surety (at the address described in Paragraph 13)
- 6. If a notice of non-payment required by Paragraph 5.1.1 is given by the Owner to the Contractor, that is sufficient to

- satisfy a Claimant's obligation to furnish a written notice of non-payment under Paragraph 5.1.1.
- 7. When a Claimant has satisfied the conditions of Paragraph 5.1 or 5.2, whichever is applicable, the Surety shall promptly and at the Surety's expense take the following actions:
 - 7.1 Send an answer to the Claimant, with a copy to the Owner, within sixty (60) days after receipt of the Claim, stating the amounts that are undisputed and the basis for challenging any amounts that are disputed; and
 - 7.2 Pay or arrange for payment of any undisputed amounts.
 - 7.3 The Surety's failure to discharge its obligations under Paragraph 7.1 or 7.2 shall not be deemed to constitute a waiver of defenses the Surety or Contractor may have or acquire as to a Claim, except as to undisputed amounts for which the Surety and Claimant have reached agreement. If, however, the Surety fails to discharge its obligations under Paragraph 7.1 or 7.2, the Surety shall indemnify the Claimant for the reasonable attorney's fees the Claimant incurs thereafter to recover any sums found to be due and owing to the Claimant.
- The Surety's total obligation shall not exceed the amount of this Bond, plus the amount of reasonable attorney's fees provided under Paragraph 7.3, and the amount of this Bond shall be credited for any payments made in good faith by the Surety.
- 9. Amounts owed by the Owner to the Contractor under the Construction Contract shall be used for the performance of the Construction Contract and to satisfy claims, if any, under any construction performance bond. By the Contractor furnishing and the Owner accepting this Bond, they agree that all funds earned by the Contractor in the performance of the Construction Contract are dedicated to satisfy obligations of the Contractor and Surety under this Bond, subject to the Owner's priority to use the funds for the completion of the work.
- 10. The Surety shall not be liable to the Owner, Claimants, or others for obligations of the Contractor that are unrelated to the Construction Contract. The Owner shall not be liable for the payment of any costs or expenses of any Claimant under this Bond, and shall have under this Bond no obligation to make payments to or give notice on behalf of Claimants, or otherwise have any obligations to Claimants under this Bond.
- 11. The Surety hereby waives notice of any change, including changes of time, to the Construction Contract or to related subcontracts, purchase orders, and other obligations.

- 12. No suit or action shall be commenced by a Claimant under this Bond other than in a court of competent jurisdiction in the state in which the project that is the subject of the Construction Contract is located or after the expiration of one year from the date (1) on which the Claimant sent a Claim to the Surety pursuant to Paragraph 5.1.2 or 5.2, or (2) on which the last labor or service was performed by anyone or the last materials or equipment were furnished by anyone under the Construction Contract, whichever of (1) or (2) first occurs. If the provisions of this paragraph are void or prohibited by law, the minimum period of limitation available to sureties as a defense in the jurisdiction of the suit shall be applicable.
- 13. Notice and Claims to the Surety, the Owner, or the Contractor shall be mailed or delivered to the address shown on the page on which their signature appears. Actual receipt of notice or Claims, however accomplished, shall be sufficient compliance as of the date received.
- 14. When this Bond has been furnished to comply with a statutory or other legal requirement in the location where the construction was to be performed, any provision in this Bond conflicting with said statutory or legal requirement shall be deemed deleted herefrom and provisions conforming to such statutory or other legal requirement shall be deemed incorporated herein. When so furnished, the intent is that this Bond shall be construed as a statutory bond and not as a common law bond.
- 15. Upon requests by any person or entity appearing to be a potential beneficiary of this Bond, the Contractor and Owner shall promptly furnish a copy of this Bond or shall permit a copy to be made.

16. **Definitions**

- 16.1 **Claim:** A written statement by the Claimant including at a minimum:
 - 1. The name of the Claimant;
 - The name of the person for whom the labor was done, or materials or equipment furnished:
 - A copy of the agreement or purchase order pursuant to which labor, materials, or equipment was furnished for use in the performance of the Construction Contract;
 - A brief description of the labor, materials, or equipment furnished;
 - 5. The date on which the Claimant last performed labor or last furnished materials or equipment for use in the performance of the Construction Contract;
 - The total amount earned by the Claimant for labor, materials, or equipment furnished as of the date of the Claim;
 - 7. The total amount of previous payments received by the Claimant; and
 - The total amount due and unpaid to the Claimant for labor, materials, or equipment furnished as of the date of the Claim.

- 16.2 Claimant: An individual or entity having a direct contract with the Contractor or with a subcontractor of the Contractor to furnish labor. materials, or equipment for use in the performance of the Construction Contract. The term Claimant also includes any individual or entity that has rightfully asserted a claim under an applicable mechanic's lien or similar statute against the real property upon which the Project is located. The intent of this Bond shall be to include without limitation in the terms of "labor, materials, or equipment" that part of the water, gas, power, light, heat, oil, gasoline, telephone service, or rental equipment used in the Construction Contract, architectural and engineering services required for performance of the work of the Contractor and the Contractor's subcontractors, and all other items for which a mechanic's lien may be asserted in the jurisdiction where the labor, materials, or equipment were furnished.
- 16.3 Construction Contract: The agreement between the Owner and Contractor identified on the cover page, including all Contract Documents and all changes made to the agreement and the Contract Documents.
- 16.4 **Owner Default**: Failure of the Owner, which has not been remedied or waived, to pay the Contractor as required under the Construction Contract or to perform and complete or comply with the other material terms of the Construction Contract.
- 16.5 **Contract Documents:** All the documents that comprise the agreement between the Owner and Contractor.
- 17. If this Bond is issued for an agreement between a contractor and subcontractor, the term Contractor in this Bond shall be deemed to be Subcontractor and the term Owner shall be deemed to be Contractor.
- 18. Modifications to this Bond are as follows:

This document has important legal consequences; consultation with an attorney is encouraged with respect to its use or modification. This document should be adapted to the particular circumstances of the contemplated Project and the controlling Laws and Regulations.

STANDARD GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT

Prepared by



Issued and Published Jointly by







These General Conditions have been prepared for use with the Agreement Between Owner and Contractor for Construction Contract (EJCDC® C-520, Stipulated Sum, or C-525, Cost-Plus, 2013 Editions). Their provisions are interrelated and a change in one may necessitate a change in the other.

To prepare supplementary conditions that are coordinated with the General Conditions, use EJCDC's Guide to the Preparation of Supplementary Conditions (EJCDC® C-800, 2013 Edition). The full EJCDC Construction series of documents is discussed in the Commentary on the 2013 EJCDC Construction Documents (EJCDC® C-001, 2013 Edition).

Copyright © 2013:

National Society of Professional Engineers 1420 King Street, Alexandria, VA 22314-2794 (703) 684-2882

www.nspe.org

American Council of Engineering Companies 1015 15th Street N.W., Washington, DC 20005 (202) 347-7474

www.acec.org

American Society of Civil Engineers

1801 Alexander Bell Drive, Reston, VA 20191-4400

(800) 548-2723

www.asce.org

The copyright for this document is owned jointly by the three sponsoring organizations listed above. The National Society of Professional Engineers is the Copyright Administrator for the EJCDC documents; please direct all inquiries regarding EJCDC copyrights to NSPE.

NOTE: EJCDC publications may be purchased at www.ejcdc.org, or from any of the sponsoring organizations above.

STANDARD GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
	Definitions and Terminology	
1.01	Defined Terms	
1.02	Terminology	
Article 2 –	Preliminary Matters	6
2.01	Delivery of Bonds and Evidence of Insurance	6
2.02	Copies of Documents	6
2.03	Before Starting Construction	6
2.04	Preconstruction Conference; Designation of Authorized Representatives	7
2.05	Initial Acceptance of Schedules	7
2.06	Electronic Transmittals	7
Article 3 –	Documents: Intent, Requirements, Reuse	8
3.01	Intent	8
3.02	Reference Standards	8
3.03	Reporting and Resolving Discrepancies	8
3.04	Requirements of the Contract Documents	9
3.05	Reuse of Documents	10
Article 4 –	Commencement and Progress of the Work	10
4.01	Commencement of Contract Times; Notice to Proceed	10
4.02	Starting the Work	10
4.03	Reference Points	10
4.04	Progress Schedule	10
4.05	Delays in Contractor's Progress	11
	Availability of Lands; Subsurface and Physical Conditions; Hazardous Envir	
5.01	Availability of Lands	
5.02	Use of Site and Other Areas	
5.03	Subsurface and Physical Conditions	
5.04	Differing Subsurface or Physical Conditions	
5.05	Underground Facilities	
3.03		

5.06	Hazardous Environmental Conditions at Site	17
Article 6 –	Bonds and Insurance	19
6.01	Performance, Payment, and Other Bonds	19
6.02	Insurance—General Provisions	19
6.03	Contractor's Insurance	20
6.04	Owner's Liability Insurance	23
6.05	Property Insurance	23
6.06	Waiver of Rights	25
6.07	Receipt and Application of Property Insurance Proceeds	25
Article 7 –	Contractor's Responsibilities	26
7.01	Supervision and Superintendence	26
7.02	Labor; Working Hours	26
7.03	Services, Materials, and Equipment	26
7.04	"Or Equals"	27
7.05	Substitutes	28
7.06	Concerning Subcontractors, Suppliers, and Others	29
7.07	Patent Fees and Royalties	31
7.08	Permits	31
7.09	Taxes	32
7.10	Laws and Regulations	32
7.11	Record Documents	32
7.12	Safety and Protection	32
7.13	Safety Representative	33
7.14	Hazard Communication Programs	33
7.15	Emergencies	34
7.16	Shop Drawings, Samples, and Other Submittals	34
7.17	Contractor's General Warranty and Guarantee	36
7.18	Indemnification	37
7.19	Delegation of Professional Design Services	37
Article 8 –	Other Work at the Site	38
8.01	Other Work	38
8.02	Coordination	39
8.03	Legal Relationships	39

Article 9	- Owner's Responsibilities	40
9.01	Communications to Contractor	40
9.02	Replacement of Engineer	40
9.03	Furnish Data	40
9.04	Pay When Due	40
9.05	Lands and Easements; Reports, Tests, and Drawings	40
9.06	Insurance	40
9.07	Change Orders	40
9.08	Inspections, Tests, and Approvals	41
9.09	Limitations on Owner's Responsibilities	41
9.10	Undisclosed Hazardous Environmental Condition	41
9.11	Evidence of Financial Arrangements	41
9.12	Safety Programs	41
Article 10	– Engineer's Status During Construction	41
10.0	1 Owner's Representative	41
10.0	2 Visits to Site	41
10.0	3 Project Representative	42
10.0	4 Rejecting Defective Work	42
10.0	5 Shop Drawings, Change Orders and Payments	42
10.0	6 Determinations for Unit Price Work	42
10.0	7 Decisions on Requirements of Contract Documents and Acceptability of Work	42
10.0	8 Limitations on Engineer's Authority and Responsibilities	42
10.0	9 Compliance with Safety Program	43
Article 11	– Amending the Contract Documents; Changes in the Work	43
11.0	1 Amending and Supplementing Contract Documents	43
11.0	2 Owner-Authorized Changes in the Work	44
11.0	3 Unauthorized Changes in the Work	44
11.0	4 Change of Contract Price	44
11.0	5 Change of Contract Times	45
11.0	6 Change Proposals	45
11.0	7 Execution of Change Orders	46
11.0	8 Notification to Surety	47
Article 12	– Claims	47

:	12.01	Claims	47
Article	e 13 –	Cost of the Work; Allowances; Unit Price Work	48
:	13.01	Cost of the Work	48
	13.02	Allowances	50
:	13.03	Unit Price Work	51
Article	e 14 –	Tests and Inspections; Correction, Removal or Acceptance of Defective Work	52
;	14.01	Access to Work	52
:	14.02	Tests, Inspections, and Approvals	52
:	14.03	Defective Work	53
:	14.04	Acceptance of Defective Work	53
:	14.05	Uncovering Work	53
:	14.06	Owner May Stop the Work	54
:	14.07	Owner May Correct Defective Work	54
Article	e 15 –	Payments to Contractor; Set-Offs; Completion; Correction Period	55
:	15.01	Progress Payments	55
:	15.02	Contractor's Warranty of Title	58
:	15.03	Substantial Completion	58
:	15.04	Partial Use or Occupancy	59
:	15.05	Final Inspection	59
:	15.06	Final Payment	59
:	15.07	Waiver of Claims	61
:	15.08	Correction Period	61
Article	e 16 –	Suspension of Work and Termination	62
:	16.01	Owner May Suspend Work	62
:	16.02	Owner May Terminate for Cause	62
:	16.03	Owner May Terminate For Convenience	63
:	16.04	Contractor May Stop Work or Terminate	63
Article	e 17 –	Final Resolution of Disputes	64
:	17.01	Methods and Procedures	64
Article	e 18 –	Miscellaneous	64
:	18.01	Giving Notice	64
:	18.02	Computation of Times	64
:	18.03	Cumulative Remedies	64

18.04	Limitation of Damages	65
18.05	No Waiver	65
18.06	Survival of Obligations	65
18.07	Controlling Law	65
18.08	Headings	65

ARTICLE 1 – DEFINITIONS AND TERMINOLOGY

1.01 Defined Terms

- A. Wherever used in the Bidding Requirements or Contract Documents, a term printed with initial capital letters, including the term's singular and plural forms, will have the meaning indicated in the definitions below. In addition to terms specifically defined, terms with initial capital letters in the Contract Documents include references to identified articles and paragraphs, and the titles of other documents or forms.
 - Addenda—Written or graphic instruments issued prior to the opening of Bids which clarify, correct, or change the Bidding Requirements or the proposed Contract Documents.
 - Agreement—The written instrument, executed by Owner and Contractor, that sets
 forth the Contract Price and Contract Times, identifies the parties and the Engineer,
 and designates the specific items that are Contract Documents.
 - Application for Payment—The form acceptable to Engineer which is to be used by Contractor during the course of the Work in requesting progress or final payments and which is to be accompanied by such supporting documentation as is required by the Contract Documents.
 - 4. *Bid*—The offer of a Bidder submitted on the prescribed form setting forth the prices for the Work to be performed.
 - 5. *Bidder*—An individual or entity that submits a Bid to Owner.
 - 6. Bidding Documents—The Bidding Requirements, the proposed Contract Documents, and all Addenda.
 - 7. Bidding Requirements—The advertisement or invitation to bid, Instructions to Bidders, Bid Bond or other Bid security, if any, the Bid Form, and the Bid with any attachments.
 - 8. Change Order—A document which is signed by Contractor and Owner and authorizes an addition, deletion, or revision in the Work or an adjustment in the Contract Price or the Contract Times, or other revision to the Contract, issued on or after the Effective Date of the Contract.
 - 9. Change Proposal—A written request by Contractor, duly submitted in compliance with the procedural requirements set forth herein, seeking an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times, or both; contesting an initial decision by Engineer concerning the requirements of the Contract Documents or the acceptability of Work under the Contract Documents; challenging a set-off against payments due; or seeking other relief with respect to the terms of the Contract.
 - 10. Claim—(a) A demand or assertion by Owner directly to Contractor, duly submitted in compliance with the procedural requirements set forth herein: seeking an adjustment of Contract Price or Contract Times, or both; contesting an initial decision by Engineer concerning the requirements of the Contract Documents or the acceptability of Work under the Contract Documents; contesting Engineer's decision regarding a Change Proposal; seeking resolution of a contractual issue that Engineer has declined to address; or seeking other relief with respect to the terms of the Contract; or (b) a demand or assertion by Contractor directly to Owner, duly submitted in compliance with the procedural requirements set forth herein, contesting Engineer's decision regarding a Change Proposal; or seeking resolution of a contractual issue that Engineer

- has declined to address. A demand for money or services by a third party is not a Claim.
- 11. Constituent of Concern—Asbestos, petroleum, radioactive materials, polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs), hazardous waste, and any substance, product, waste, or other material of any nature whatsoever that is or becomes listed, regulated, or addressed pursuant to (a) the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act, 42 U.S.C. §§9601 et seq. ("CERCLA"); (b) the Hazardous Materials Transportation Act, 49 U.S.C. §§5501 et seq.; (c) the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, 42 U.S.C. §§6901 et seq. ("RCRA"); (d) the Toxic Substances Control Act, 15 U.S.C. §§2601 et seq.; (e) the Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. §§1251 et seq.; (f) the Clean Air Act, 42 U.S.C. §§7401 et seq.; or (g) any other federal, state, or local statute, law, rule, regulation, ordinance, resolution, code, order, or decree regulating, relating to, or imposing liability or standards of conduct concerning, any hazardous, toxic, or dangerous waste, substance, or material.
- 12. *Contract*—The entire and integrated written contract between the Owner and Contractor concerning the Work.
- 13. *Contract Documents*—Those items so designated in the Agreement, and which together comprise the Contract.
- 14. *Contract Price*—The money that Owner has agreed to pay Contractor for completion of the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents. .
- 15. Contract Times—The number of days or the dates by which Contractor shall: (a) achieve Milestones, if any; (b) achieve Substantial Completion; and (c) complete the Work.
- 16. *Contractor*—The individual or entity with which Owner has contracted for performance of the Work.
- 17. *Cost of the Work*—See Paragraph 13.01 for definition.
- 18. *Drawings*—The part of the Contract that graphically shows the scope, extent, and character of the Work to be performed by Contractor.
- 19. *Effective Date of the Contract*—The date, indicated in the Agreement, on which the Contract becomes effective.
- 20. Engineer—The individual or entity named as such in the Agreement.
- 21. Field Order—A written order issued by Engineer which requires minor changes in the Work but does not change the Contract Price or the Contract Times.
- 22. Hazardous Environmental Condition—The presence at the Site of Constituents of Concern in such quantities or circumstances that may present a danger to persons or property exposed thereto. The presence at the Site of materials that are necessary for the execution of the Work, or that are to be incorporated in the Work, and that are controlled and contained pursuant to industry practices, Laws and Regulations, and the requirements of the Contract, does not establish a Hazardous Environmental Condition.
- 23. Laws and Regulations; Laws or Regulations—Any and all applicable laws, statutes, rules, regulations, ordinances, codes, and orders of any and all governmental bodies, agencies, authorities, and courts having jurisdiction.

- 24. *Liens*—Charges, security interests, or encumbrances upon Contract-related funds, real property, or personal property.
- 25. *Milestone*—A principal event in the performance of the Work that the Contract requires Contractor to achieve by an intermediate completion date or by a time prior to Substantial Completion of all the Work.
- 26. *Notice of Award*—The written notice by Owner to a Bidder of Owner's acceptance of the Bid.
- 27. Notice to Proceed—A written notice by Owner to Contractor fixing the date on which the Contract Times will commence to run and on which Contractor shall start to perform the Work.
- 28. *Owner*—The individual or entity with which Contractor has contracted regarding the Work, and which has agreed to pay Contractor for the performance of the Work, pursuant to the terms of the Contract.
- 29. *Progress Schedule*—A schedule, prepared and maintained by Contractor, describing the sequence and duration of the activities comprising the Contractor's plan to accomplish the Work within the Contract Times.
- 30. *Project*—The total undertaking to be accomplished for Owner by engineers, contractors, and others, including planning, study, design, construction, testing, commissioning, and start-up, and of which the Work to be performed under the Contract Documents is a part.
- 31. Project Manual—The written documents prepared for, or made available for, procuring and constructing the Work, including but not limited to the Bidding Documents or other construction procurement documents, geotechnical and existing conditions information, the Agreement, bond forms, General Conditions, Supplementary Conditions, and Specifications. The contents of the Project Manual may be bound in one or more volumes.
- 32. Resident Project Representative—The authorized representative of Engineer assigned to assist Engineer at the Site. As used herein, the term Resident Project Representative or "RPR" includes any assistants or field staff of Resident Project Representative.
- 33. *Samples*—Physical examples of materials, equipment, or workmanship that are representative of some portion of the Work and that establish the standards by which such portion of the Work will be judged.
- 34. *Schedule of Submittals*—A schedule, prepared and maintained by Contractor, of required submittals and the time requirements for Engineer's review of the submittals and the performance of related construction activities.
- 35. Schedule of Values—A schedule, prepared and maintained by Contractor, allocating portions of the Contract Price to various portions of the Work and used as the basis for reviewing Contractor's Applications for Payment.
- 36. Shop Drawings—All drawings, diagrams, illustrations, schedules, and other data or information that are specifically prepared or assembled by or for Contractor and submitted by Contractor to illustrate some portion of the Work. Shop Drawings, whether approved or not, are not Drawings and are not Contract Documents.

- 37. Site—Lands or areas indicated in the Contract Documents as being furnished by Owner upon which the Work is to be performed, including rights-of-way and easements, and such other lands furnished by Owner which are designated for the use of Contractor.
- 38. Specifications—The part of the Contract that consists of written requirements for materials, equipment, systems, standards, and workmanship as applied to the Work, and certain administrative requirements and procedural matters applicable to the Work.
- 39. *Subcontractor*—An individual or entity having a direct contract with Contractor or with any other Subcontractor for the performance of a part of the Work.
- 40. Substantial Completion—The time at which the Work (or a specified part thereof) has progressed to the point where, in the opinion of Engineer, the Work (or a specified part thereof) is sufficiently complete, in accordance with the Contract Documents, so that the Work (or a specified part thereof) can be utilized for the purposes for which it is intended. The terms "substantially complete" and "substantially completed" as applied to all or part of the Work refer to Substantial Completion thereof.
- 41. *Successful Bidder*—The Bidder whose Bid the Owner accepts, and to which the Owner makes an award of contract, subject to stated conditions.
- 42. *Supplementary Conditions*—The part of the Contract that amends or supplements these General Conditions.
- 43. Supplier—A manufacturer, fabricator, supplier, distributor, materialman, or vendor having a direct contract with Contractor or with any Subcontractor to furnish materials or equipment to be incorporated in the Work by Contractor or a Subcontractor.
- 44. *Technical Data*—Those items expressly identified as Technical Data in the Supplementary Conditions, with respect to either (a) subsurface conditions at the Site, or physical conditions relating to existing surface or subsurface structures at the Site (except Underground Facilities) or (b) Hazardous Environmental Conditions at the Site. If no such express identifications of Technical Data have been made with respect to conditions at the Site, then the data contained in boring logs, recorded measurements of subsurface water levels, laboratory test results, and other factual, objective information regarding conditions at the Site that are set forth in any geotechnical or environmental report prepared for the Project and made available to Contractor are hereby defined as Technical Data with respect to conditions at the Site under Paragraphs 5.03, 5.04, and 5.06.
- 45. Underground Facilities—All underground pipelines, conduits, ducts, cables, wires, manholes, vaults, tanks, tunnels, or other such facilities or attachments, and any encasements containing such facilities, including but not limited to those that convey electricity, gases, steam, liquid petroleum products, telephone or other communications, fiber optic transmissions, cable television, water, wastewater, storm water, other liquids or chemicals, or traffic or other control systems.
- 46. *Unit Price Work*—Work to be paid for on the basis of unit prices.
- 47. Work—The entire construction or the various separately identifiable parts thereof required to be provided under the Contract Documents. Work includes and is the result of performing or providing all labor, services, and documentation necessary to produce such construction; furnishing, installing, and incorporating all materials and equipment into such construction; and may include related services such as testing, start-up, and commissioning, all as required by the Contract Documents.

48. Work Change Directive—A written directive to Contractor issued on or after the Effective Date of the Contract, signed by Owner and recommended by Engineer, ordering an addition, deletion, or revision in the Work.

1.02 Terminology

- A. The words and terms discussed in the following paragraphs are not defined but, when used in the Bidding Requirements or Contract Documents, have the indicated meaning.
- B. Intent of Certain Terms or Adjectives:
 - 1. The Contract Documents include the terms "as allowed," "as approved," "as ordered," "as directed" or terms of like effect or import to authorize an exercise of professional judgment by Engineer. In addition, the adjectives "reasonable," "suitable," "acceptable," "proper," "satisfactory," or adjectives of like effect or import are used to describe an action or determination of Engineer as to the Work. It is intended that such exercise of professional judgment, action, or determination will be solely to evaluate, in general, the Work for compliance with the information in the Contract Documents and with the design concept of the Project as a functioning whole as shown or indicated in the Contract Documents (unless there is a specific statement indicating otherwise). The use of any such term or adjective is not intended to and shall not be effective to assign to Engineer any duty or authority to supervise or direct the performance of the Work, or any duty or authority to undertake responsibility contrary to the provisions of Article 10 or any other provision of the Contract Documents.

C. Day:

1. The word "day" means a calendar day of 24 hours measured from midnight to the next midnight.

D. Defective:

- 1. The word "defective," when modifying the word "Work," refers to Work that is unsatisfactory, faulty, or deficient in that it:
 - a. does not conform to the Contract Documents; or
 - b. does not meet the requirements of any applicable inspection, reference standard, test, or approval referred to in the Contract Documents; or
 - c. has been damaged prior to Engineer's recommendation of final payment (unless responsibility for the protection thereof has been assumed by Owner at Substantial Completion in accordance with Paragraph 15.03 or 15.04).

E. Furnish, Install, Perform, Provide:

- The word "furnish," when used in connection with services, materials, or equipment, shall mean to supply and deliver said services, materials, or equipment to the Site (or some other specified location) ready for use or installation and in usable or operable condition.
- The word "install," when used in connection with services, materials, or equipment, shall mean to put into use or place in final position said services, materials, or equipment complete and ready for intended use.

- 3. The words "perform" or "provide," when used in connection with services, materials, or equipment, shall mean to furnish and install said services, materials, or equipment complete and ready for intended use.
- 4. If the Contract Documents establish an obligation of Contractor with respect to specific services, materials, or equipment, but do not expressly use any of the four words "furnish," "install," "perform," or "provide," then Contractor shall furnish and install said services, materials, or equipment complete and ready for intended use.
- F. Unless stated otherwise in the Contract Documents, words or phrases that have a well-known technical or construction industry or trade meaning are used in the Contract Documents in accordance with such recognized meaning.

ARTICLE 2 – PRELIMINARY MATTERS

2.01 Delivery of Bonds and Evidence of Insurance

- A. *Bonds*: When Contractor delivers the executed counterparts of the Agreement to Owner, Contractor shall also deliver to Owner such bonds as Contractor may be required to furnish.
- B. Evidence of Contractor's Insurance: When Contractor delivers the executed counterparts of the Agreement to Owner, Contractor shall also deliver to Owner, with copies to each named insured and additional insured (as identified in the Supplementary Conditions or elsewhere in the Contract), the certificates and other evidence of insurance required to be provided by Contractor in accordance with Article 6.
- C. Evidence of Owner's Insurance: After receipt of the executed counterparts of the Agreement and all required bonds and insurance documentation, Owner shall promptly deliver to Contractor, with copies to each named insured and additional insured (as identified in the Supplementary Conditions or otherwise), the certificates and other evidence of insurance required to be provided by Owner under Article 6.

2.02 Copies of Documents

- A. Owner shall furnish to Contractor four printed copies of the Contract (including one fully executed counterpart of the Agreement), and one copy in electronic portable document format (PDF). Additional printed copies will be furnished upon request at the cost of reproduction.
- B. Owner shall maintain and safeguard at least one original printed record version of the Contract, including Drawings and Specifications signed and sealed by Engineer and other design professionals. Owner shall make such original printed record version of the Contract available to Contractor for review. Owner may delegate the responsibilities under this provision to Engineer.

2.03 Before Starting Construction

- A. *Preliminary Schedules*: Within 10 days after the Effective Date of the Contract (or as otherwise specifically required by the Contract Documents), Contractor shall submit to Engineer for timely review:
 - a preliminary Progress Schedule indicating the times (numbers of days or dates) for starting and completing the various stages of the Work, including any Milestones specified in the Contract;
 - 2. a preliminary Schedule of Submittals; and

3. a preliminary Schedule of Values for all of the Work which includes quantities and prices of items which when added together equal the Contract Price and subdivides the Work into component parts in sufficient detail to serve as the basis for progress payments during performance of the Work. Such prices will include an appropriate amount of overhead and profit applicable to each item of Work.

2.04 Preconstruction Conference; Designation of Authorized Representatives

- A. Before any Work at the Site is started, a conference attended by Owner, Contractor, Engineer, and others as appropriate will be held to establish a working understanding among the parties as to the Work and to discuss the schedules referred to in Paragraph 2.03.A, procedures for handling Shop Drawings, Samples, and other submittals, processing Applications for Payment, electronic or digital transmittals, and maintaining required records.
- B. At this conference Owner and Contractor each shall designate, in writing, a specific individual to act as its authorized representative with respect to the services and responsibilities under the Contract. Such individuals shall have the authority to transmit and receive information, render decisions relative to the Contract, and otherwise act on behalf of each respective party.

2.05 Initial Acceptance of Schedules

- A. At least 10 days before submission of the first Application for Payment a conference, attended by Contractor, Engineer, and others as appropriate, will be held to review for acceptability to Engineer as provided below the schedules submitted in accordance with Paragraph 2.03.A. Contractor shall have an additional 10 days to make corrections and adjustments and to complete and resubmit the schedules. No progress payment shall be made to Contractor until acceptable schedules are submitted to Engineer.
 - The Progress Schedule will be acceptable to Engineer if it provides an orderly
 progression of the Work to completion within the Contract Times. Such acceptance
 will not impose on Engineer responsibility for the Progress Schedule, for sequencing,
 scheduling, or progress of the Work, nor interfere with or relieve Contractor from
 Contractor's full responsibility therefor.
 - 2. Contractor's Schedule of Submittals will be acceptable to Engineer if it provides a workable arrangement for reviewing and processing the required submittals.
 - Contractor's Schedule of Values will be acceptable to Engineer as to form and substance if it provides a reasonable allocation of the Contract Price to the component parts of the Work.

2.06 Electronic Transmittals

- A. Except as otherwise stated elsewhere in the Contract, the Owner, Engineer, and Contractor may transmit, and shall accept, Project-related correspondence, text, data, documents, drawings, information, and graphics, including but not limited to Shop Drawings and other submittals, in electronic media or digital format, either directly, or through access to a secure Project website.
- B. If the Contract does not establish protocols for electronic or digital transmittals, then Owner, Engineer, and Contractor shall jointly develop such protocols.
- C. When transmitting items in electronic media or digital format, the transmitting party makes no representations as to long term compatibility, usability, or readability of the items resulting from the recipient's use of software application packages, operating systems, or

computer hardware differing from those used in the drafting or transmittal of the items, or from those established in applicable transmittal protocols.

ARTICLE 3 – DOCUMENTS: INTENT, REQUIREMENTS, REUSE

3.01 Intent

- A. The Contract Documents are complementary; what is required by one is as binding as if required by all.
- B. It is the intent of the Contract Documents to describe a functionally complete project (or part thereof) to be constructed in accordance with the Contract Documents.
- C. Unless otherwise stated in the Contract Documents, if there is a discrepancy between the electronic or digital versions of the Contract Documents (including any printed copies derived from such electronic or digital versions) and the printed record version, the printed record version shall govern.
- D. The Contract supersedes prior negotiations, representations, and agreements, whether written or oral.
- E. Engineer will issue clarifications and interpretations of the Contract Documents as provided herein.

3.02 Reference Standards

- A. Standards Specifications, Codes, Laws and Regulations
 - 1. Reference in the Contract Documents to standard specifications, manuals, reference standards, or codes of any technical society, organization, or association, or to Laws or Regulations, whether such reference be specific or by implication, shall mean the standard specification, manual, reference standard, code, or Laws or Regulations in effect at the time of opening of Bids (or on the Effective Date of the Contract if there were no Bids), except as may be otherwise specifically stated in the Contract Documents.
 - 2. No provision of any such standard specification, manual, reference standard, or code, or any instruction of a Supplier, shall be effective to change the duties or responsibilities of Owner, Contractor, or Engineer, or any of their subcontractors, consultants, agents, or employees, from those set forth in the part of the Contract Documents prepared by or for Engineer. No such provision or instruction shall be effective to assign to Owner, Engineer, or any of their officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, or subcontractors, any duty or authority to supervise or direct the performance of the Work or any duty or authority to undertake responsibility inconsistent with the provisions of the part of the Contract Documents prepared by or for Engineer.

3.03 Reporting and Resolving Discrepancies

A. Reporting Discrepancies:

Contractor's Verification of Figures and Field Measurements: Before undertaking each
part of the Work, Contractor shall carefully study the Contract Documents, and check
and verify pertinent figures and dimensions therein, particularly with respect to
applicable field measurements. Contractor shall promptly report in writing to Engineer
any conflict, error, ambiguity, or discrepancy that Contractor discovers, or has actual
knowledge of, and shall not proceed with any Work affected thereby until the conflict,

- error, ambiguity, or discrepancy is resolved, by a clarification or interpretation by Engineer, or by an amendment or supplement to the Contract Documents issued pursuant to Paragraph 11.01.
- 2. Contractor's Review of Contract Documents: If, before or during the performance of the Work, Contractor discovers any conflict, error, ambiguity, or discrepancy within the Contract Documents, or between the Contract Documents and (a) any applicable Law or Regulation, (b) actual field conditions, (c) any standard specification, manual, reference standard, or code, or (d) any instruction of any Supplier, then Contractor shall promptly report it to Engineer in writing. Contractor shall not proceed with the Work affected thereby (except in an emergency as required by Paragraph 7.15) until the conflict, error, ambiguity, or discrepancy is resolved, by a clarification or interpretation by Engineer, or by an amendment or supplement to the Contract Documents issued pursuant to Paragraph 11.01.
- Contractor shall not be liable to Owner or Engineer for failure to report any conflict, error, ambiguity, or discrepancy in the Contract Documents unless Contractor had actual knowledge thereof.

B. Resolving Discrepancies:

- 1. Except as may be otherwise specifically stated in the Contract Documents, the provisions of the part of the Contract Documents prepared by or for Engineer shall take precedence in resolving any conflict, error, ambiguity, or discrepancy between such provisions of the Contract Documents and:
 - a. the provisions of any standard specification, manual, reference standard, or code, or the instruction of any Supplier (whether or not specifically incorporated by reference as a Contract Document); or
 - b. the provisions of any Laws or Regulations applicable to the performance of the Work (unless such an interpretation of the provisions of the Contract Documents would result in violation of such Law or Regulation).

3.04 Requirements of the Contract Documents

- A. During the performance of the Work and until final payment, Contractor and Owner shall submit to the Engineer all matters in question concerning the requirements of the Contract Documents (sometimes referred to as requests for information or interpretation—RFIs), or relating to the acceptability of the Work under the Contract Documents, as soon as possible after such matters arise. Engineer will be the initial interpreter of the requirements of the Contract Documents, and judge of the acceptability of the Work thereunder.
- B. Engineer will, with reasonable promptness, render a written clarification, interpretation, or decision on the issue submitted, or initiate an amendment or supplement to the Contract Documents. Engineer's written clarification, interpretation, or decision will be final and binding on Contractor, unless it appeals by submitting a Change Proposal, and on Owner, unless it appeals by filing a Claim.
- C. If a submitted matter in question concerns terms and conditions of the Contract Documents that do not involve (1) the performance or acceptability of the Work under the Contract Documents, (2) the design (as set forth in the Drawings, Specifications, or otherwise), or (3) other engineering or technical matters, then Engineer will promptly give written notice to Owner and Contractor that Engineer is unable to provide a decision or interpretation. If Owner and Contractor are unable to agree on resolution of such a matter in question, either party may pursue resolution as provided in Article 12.

3.05 Reuse of Documents

- A. Contractor and its Subcontractors and Suppliers shall not:
 - have or acquire any title to or ownership rights in any of the Drawings, Specifications, or other documents (or copies of any thereof) prepared by or bearing the seal of Engineer or its consultants, including electronic media editions, or reuse any such Drawings, Specifications, other documents, or copies thereof on extensions of the Project or any other project without written consent of Owner and Engineer and specific written verification or adaptation by Engineer; or
 - 2. have or acquire any title or ownership rights in any other Contract Documents, reuse any such Contract Documents for any purpose without Owner's express written consent, or violate any copyrights pertaining to such Contract Documents.
- B. The prohibitions of this Paragraph 3.05 will survive final payment, or termination of the Contract. Nothing herein shall preclude Contractor from retaining copies of the Contract Documents for record purposes.

ARTICLE 4 – COMMENCEMENT AND PROGRESS OF THE WORK

- 4.01 Commencement of Contract Times; Notice to Proceed
 - A. The Contract Times will commence to run on the thirtieth day after the Effective Date of the Contract or, if a Notice to Proceed is given, on the day indicated in the Notice to Proceed. A Notice to Proceed may be given at any time within 30 days after the Effective Date of the Contract. In no event will the Contract Times commence to run later than the sixtieth day after the day of Bid opening or the thirtieth day after the Effective Date of the Contract, whichever date is earlier.

4.02 Starting the Work

A. Contractor shall start to perform the Work on the date when the Contract Times commence to run. No Work shall be done at the Site prior to such date.

4.03 Reference Points

A. Owner shall provide engineering surveys to establish reference points for construction which in Engineer's judgment are necessary to enable Contractor to proceed with the Work. Contractor shall be responsible for laying out the Work, shall protect and preserve the established reference points and property monuments, and shall make no changes or relocations without the prior written approval of Owner. Contractor shall report to Engineer whenever any reference point or property monument is lost or destroyed or requires relocation because of necessary changes in grades or locations, and shall be responsible for the accurate replacement or relocation of such reference points or property monuments by professionally qualified personnel.

4.04 Progress Schedule

- A. Contractor shall adhere to the Progress Schedule established in accordance with Paragraph 2.05 as it may be adjusted from time to time as provided below.
 - Contractor shall submit to Engineer for acceptance (to the extent indicated in Paragraph 2.05) proposed adjustments in the Progress Schedule that will not result in changing the Contract Times.

- 2. Proposed adjustments in the Progress Schedule that will change the Contract Times shall be submitted in accordance with the requirements of Article 11.
- B. Contractor shall carry on the Work and adhere to the Progress Schedule during all disputes or disagreements with Owner. No Work shall be delayed or postponed pending resolution of any disputes or disagreements, or during any appeal process, except as permitted by Paragraph 16.04, or as Owner and Contractor may otherwise agree in writing.

4.05 Delays in Contractor's Progress

- A. If Owner, Engineer, or anyone for whom Owner is responsible, delays, disrupts, or interferes with the performance or progress of the Work, then Contractor shall be entitled to an equitable adjustment in the Contract Times and Contract Price. Contractor's entitlement to an adjustment of the Contract Times is conditioned on such adjustment being essential to Contractor's ability to complete the Work within the Contract Times.
- B. Contractor shall not be entitled to an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times for delay, disruption, or interference caused by or within the control of Contractor. Delay, disruption, and interference attributable to and within the control of a Subcontractor or Supplier shall be deemed to be within the control of Contractor.
- C. If Contractor's performance or progress is delayed, disrupted, or interfered with by unanticipated causes not the fault of and beyond the control of Owner, Contractor, and those for which they are responsible, then Contractor shall be entitled to an equitable adjustment in Contract Times. Contractor's entitlement to an adjustment of the Contract Times is conditioned on such adjustment being essential to Contractor's ability to complete the Work within the Contract Times. Such an adjustment shall be Contractor's sole and exclusive remedy for the delays, disruption, and interference described in this paragraph. Causes of delay, disruption, or interference that may give rise to an adjustment in Contract Times under this paragraph include but are not limited to the following:
 - 1. severe and unavoidable natural catastrophes such as fires, floods, epidemics, and earthquakes;
 - 2. abnormal weather conditions;
 - acts or failures to act of utility owners (other than those performing other work at or adjacent to the Site by arrangement with the Owner, as contemplated in Article 8);
 and
 - 4. acts of war or terrorism.
- D. Delays, disruption, and interference to the performance or progress of the Work resulting from the existence of a differing subsurface or physical condition, an Underground Facility that was not shown or indicated by the Contract Documents, or not shown or indicated with reasonable accuracy, and those resulting from Hazardous Environmental Conditions, are governed by Article 5.
- E. Paragraph 8.03 governs delays, disruption, and interference to the performance or progress of the Work resulting from the performance of certain other work at or adjacent to the Site.
- F. Contractor shall not be entitled to an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times for any delay, disruption, or interference if such delay is concurrent with a delay, disruption, or interference caused by or within the control of Contractor.

G. Contractor must submit any Change Proposal seeking an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times under this paragraph within 30 days of the commencement of the delaying, disrupting, or interfering event.

ARTICLE 5 – AVAILABILITY OF LANDS; SUBSURFACE AND PHYSICAL CONDITIONS; HAZARDOUS ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITIONS

5.01 Availability of Lands

- A. Owner shall furnish the Site. Owner shall notify Contractor of any encumbrances or restrictions not of general application but specifically related to use of the Site with which Contractor must comply in performing the Work.
- B. Upon reasonable written request, Owner shall furnish Contractor with a current statement of record legal title and legal description of the lands upon which permanent improvements are to be made and Owner's interest therein as necessary for giving notice of or filing a mechanic's or construction lien against such lands in accordance with applicable Laws and Regulations.
- C. Contractor shall provide for all additional lands and access thereto that may be required for temporary construction facilities or storage of materials and equipment.

5.02 Use of Site and Other Areas

- A. Limitation on Use of Site and Other Areas:
 - 1. Contractor shall confine construction equipment, temporary construction facilities, the storage of materials and equipment, and the operations of workers to the Site, adjacent areas that Contractor has arranged to use through construction easements or otherwise, and other adjacent areas permitted by Laws and Regulations, and shall not unreasonably encumber the Site and such other adjacent areas with construction equipment or other materials or equipment. Contractor shall assume full responsibility for (a) damage to the Site; (b) damage to any such other adjacent areas used for Contractor's operations; (c) damage to any other adjacent land or areas; and (d) for injuries and losses sustained by the owners or occupants of any such land or areas; provided that such damage or injuries result from the performance of the Work or from other actions or conduct of the Contractor or those for which Contractor is responsible.
 - 2. If a damage or injury claim is made by the owner or occupant of any such land or area because of the performance of the Work, or because of other actions or conduct of the Contractor or those for which Contractor is responsible, Contractor shall (a) take immediate corrective or remedial action as required by Paragraph 7.12, or otherwise; (b) promptly attempt to settle the claim as to all parties through negotiations with such owner or occupant, or otherwise resolve the claim by arbitration or other dispute resolution proceeding, or at law; and (c) to the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, indemnify and hold harmless Owner and Engineer, and the officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants and subcontractors of each and any of them from and against any such claim, and against all costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to any claim or action, legal or equitable, brought by any such owner or occupant against Owner, Engineer, or any other party indemnified hereunder to the extent caused directly or indirectly, in whole or in part

by, or based upon, Contractor's performance of the Work, or because of other actions or conduct of the Contractor or those for which Contractor is responsible.

- B. Removal of Debris During Performance of the Work: During the progress of the Work the Contractor shall keep the Site and other adjacent areas free from accumulations of waste materials, rubbish, and other debris. Removal and disposal of such waste materials, rubbish, and other debris shall conform to applicable Laws and Regulations.
- C. Cleaning: Prior to Substantial Completion of the Work Contractor shall clean the Site and the Work and make it ready for utilization by Owner. At the completion of the Work Contractor shall remove from the Site and adjacent areas all tools, appliances, construction equipment and machinery, and surplus materials and shall restore to original condition all property not designated for alteration by the Contract Documents.
- D. Loading of Structures: Contractor shall not load nor permit any part of any structure to be loaded in any manner that will endanger the structure, nor shall Contractor subject any part of the Work or adjacent structures or land to stresses or pressures that will endanger them.

5.03 Subsurface and Physical Conditions

- A. *Reports and Drawings*: The Supplementary Conditions identify:
 - those reports known to Owner of explorations and tests of subsurface conditions at or adjacent to the Site;
 - 2. those drawings known to Owner of physical conditions relating to existing surface or subsurface structures at the Site (except Underground Facilities); and
 - 3. Technical Data contained in such reports and drawings.
- B. Reliance by Contractor on Technical Data Authorized: Contractor may rely upon the accuracy of the Technical Data expressly identified in the Supplementary Conditions with respect to such reports and drawings, but such reports and drawings are not Contract Documents. If no such express identification has been made, then Contractor may rely upon the accuracy of the Technical Data (as defined in Article 1) contained in any geotechnical or environmental report prepared for the Project and made available to Contractor. Except for such reliance on Technical Data, Contractor may not rely upon or make any claim against Owner or Engineer, or any of their officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, or subcontractors, with respect to:
 - the completeness of such reports and drawings for Contractor's purposes, including, but not limited to, any aspects of the means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction to be employed by Contractor, and safety precautions and programs incident thereto; or
 - 2. other data, interpretations, opinions, and information contained in such reports or shown or indicated in such drawings; or
 - 3. any Contractor interpretation of or conclusion drawn from any Technical Data or any such other data, interpretations, opinions, or information.

5.04 Differing Subsurface or Physical Conditions

- A. *Notice by Contractor*: If Contractor believes that any subsurface or physical condition that is uncovered or revealed at the Site either:
 - 1. is of such a nature as to establish that any Technical Data on which Contractor is entitled to rely as provided in Paragraph 5.03 is materially inaccurate; or
 - 2. is of such a nature as to require a change in the Drawings or Specifications; or
 - 3. differs materially from that shown or indicated in the Contract Documents; or
 - is of an unusual nature, and differs materially from conditions ordinarily encountered and generally recognized as inherent in work of the character provided for in the Contract Documents;

then Contractor shall, promptly after becoming aware thereof and before further disturbing the subsurface or physical conditions or performing any Work in connection therewith (except in an emergency as required by Paragraph 7.15), notify Owner and Engineer in writing about such condition. Contractor shall not further disturb such condition or perform any Work in connection therewith (except with respect to an emergency) until receipt of a written statement permitting Contractor to do so.

- B. Engineer's Review: After receipt of written notice as required by the preceding paragraph, Engineer will promptly review the subsurface or physical condition in question; determine the necessity of Owner's obtaining additional exploration or tests with respect to the condition; conclude whether the condition falls within any one or more of the differing site condition categories in Paragraph 5.04.A above; obtain any pertinent cost or schedule information from Contractor; prepare recommendations to Owner regarding the Contractor's resumption of Work in connection with the subsurface or physical condition in question and the need for any change in the Drawings or Specifications; and advise Owner in writing of Engineer's findings, conclusions, and recommendations.
- C. Owner's Statement to Contractor Regarding Site Condition: After receipt of Engineer's written findings, conclusions, and recommendations, Owner shall issue a written statement to Contractor (with a copy to Engineer) regarding the subsurface or physical condition in question, addressing the resumption of Work in connection with such condition, indicating whether any change in the Drawings or Specifications will be made, and adopting or rejecting Engineer's written findings, conclusions, and recommendations, in whole or in part.
- D. Possible Price and Times Adjustments:
 - Contractor shall be entitled to an equitable adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, to the extent that the existence of a differing subsurface or physical condition, or any related delay, disruption, or interference, causes an increase or decrease in Contractor's cost of, or time required for, performance of the Work; subject, however, to the following:
 - a. such condition must fall within any one or more of the categories described in Paragraph 5.04.A;
 - b. with respect to Work that is paid for on a unit price basis, any adjustment in Contract Price will be subject to the provisions of Paragraph 13.03; and,

- c. Contractor's entitlement to an adjustment of the Contract Times is conditioned on such adjustment being essential to Contractor's ability to complete the Work within the Contract Times.
- 2. Contractor shall not be entitled to any adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times with respect to a subsurface or physical condition if:
 - Contractor knew of the existence of such condition at the time Contractor made a commitment to Owner with respect to Contract Price and Contract Times by the submission of a Bid or becoming bound under a negotiated contract, or otherwise; or
 - the existence of such condition reasonably could have been discovered or revealed as a result of any examination, investigation, exploration, test, or study of the Site and contiguous areas expressly required by the Bidding Requirements or Contract Documents to be conducted by or for Contractor prior to Contractor's making such commitment; or
 - c. Contractor failed to give the written notice as required by Paragraph 5.04.A.
- If Owner and Contractor agree regarding Contractor's entitlement to and the amount or extent of any adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, then any such adjustment shall be set forth in a Change Order.
- 4. Contractor may submit a Change Proposal regarding its entitlement to or the amount or extent of any adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, no later than 30 days after Owner's issuance of the Owner's written statement to Contractor regarding the subsurface or physical condition in question.

5.05 Underground Facilities

- A. Contractor's Responsibilities: The information and data shown or indicated in the Contract Documents with respect to existing Underground Facilities at or adjacent to the Site is based on information and data furnished to Owner or Engineer by the owners of such Underground Facilities, including Owner, or by others. Unless it is otherwise expressly provided in the Supplementary Conditions:
 - 1. Owner and Engineer do not warrant or guarantee the accuracy or completeness of any such information or data provided by others; and
 - the cost of all of the following will be included in the Contract Price, and Contractor shall have full responsibility for:
 - a. reviewing and checking all information and data regarding existing Underground Facilities at the Site;
 - b. locating all Underground Facilities shown or indicated in the Contract Documents as being at the Site;
 - c. coordination of the Work with the owners (including Owner) of such Underground Facilities, during construction; and
 - d. the safety and protection of all existing Underground Facilities at the Site, and repairing any damage thereto resulting from the Work.
- B. Notice by Contractor: If Contractor believes that an Underground Facility that is uncovered or revealed at the Site was not shown or indicated in the Contract Documents, or was not shown or indicated with reasonable accuracy, then Contractor shall, promptly after

- becoming aware thereof and before further disturbing conditions affected thereby or performing any Work in connection therewith (except in an emergency as required by Paragraph 7.15), identify the owner of such Underground Facility and give written notice to that owner and to Owner and Engineer.
- C. Engineer's Review: Engineer will promptly review the Underground Facility and conclude whether such Underground Facility was not shown or indicated in the Contract Documents, or was not shown or indicated with reasonable accuracy; obtain any pertinent cost or schedule information from Contractor; prepare recommendations to Owner regarding the Contractor's resumption of Work in connection with the Underground Facility in question; determine the extent, if any, to which a change is required in the Drawings or Specifications to reflect and document the consequences of the existence or location of the Underground Facility; and advise Owner in writing of Engineer's findings, conclusions, and recommendations. During such time, Contractor shall be responsible for the safety and protection of such Underground Facility.
- D. Owner's Statement to Contractor Regarding Underground Facility: After receipt of Engineer's written findings, conclusions, and recommendations, Owner shall issue a written statement to Contractor (with a copy to Engineer) regarding the Underground Facility in question, addressing the resumption of Work in connection with such Underground Facility, indicating whether any change in the Drawings or Specifications will be made, and adopting or rejecting Engineer's written findings, conclusions, and recommendations in whole or in part.
- E. Possible Price and Times Adjustments:
 - Contractor shall be entitled to an equitable adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, to the extent that any existing Underground Facility at the Site that was not shown or indicated in the Contract Documents, or was not shown or indicated with reasonable accuracy, or any related delay, disruption, or interference, causes an increase or decrease in Contractor's cost of, or time required for, performance of the Work; subject, however, to the following:
 - Contractor did not know of and could not reasonably have been expected to be aware of or to have anticipated the existence or actual location of the Underground Facility in question;
 - b. With respect to Work that is paid for on a unit price basis, any adjustment in Contract Price will be subject to the provisions of Paragraph 13.03;
 - c. Contractor's entitlement to an adjustment of the Contract Times is conditioned on such adjustment being essential to Contractor's ability to complete the Work within the Contract Times; and
 - d. Contractor gave the notice required in Paragraph 5.05.B.
 - If Owner and Contractor agree regarding Contractor's entitlement to and the amount or extent of any adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, then any such adjustment shall be set forth in a Change Order.
 - 3. Contractor may submit a Change Proposal regarding its entitlement to or the amount or extent of any adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, no later than 30 days after Owner's issuance of the Owner's written statement to Contractor regarding the Underground Facility in question.

- A. *Reports and Drawings*: The Supplementary Conditions identify:
 - 1. those reports and drawings known to Owner relating to Hazardous Environmental Conditions that have been identified at or adjacent to the Site; and
 - 2. Technical Data contained in such reports and drawings.
- B. Reliance by Contractor on Technical Data Authorized: Contractor may rely upon the accuracy of the Technical Data expressly identified in the Supplementary Conditions with respect to such reports and drawings, but such reports and drawings are not Contract Documents. If no such express identification has been made, then Contractor may rely on the accuracy of the Technical Data (as defined in Article 1) contained in any geotechnical or environmental report prepared for the Project and made available to Contractor. Except for such reliance on Technical Data, Contractor may not rely upon or make any claim against Owner or Engineer, or any of their officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, or subcontractors with respect to:
 - the completeness of such reports and drawings for Contractor's purposes, including, but not limited to, any aspects of the means, methods, techniques, sequences and procedures of construction to be employed by Contractor and safety precautions and programs incident thereto; or
 - 2. other data, interpretations, opinions and information contained in such reports or shown or indicated in such drawings; or
 - 3. any Contractor interpretation of or conclusion drawn from any Technical Data or any such other data, interpretations, opinions or information.
- C. Contractor shall not be responsible for removing or remediating any Hazardous Environmental Condition encountered, uncovered, or revealed at the Site unless such removal or remediation is expressly identified in the Contract Documents to be within the scope of the Work.
- D. Contractor shall be responsible for controlling, containing, and duly removing all Constituents of Concern brought to the Site by Contractor, Subcontractors, Suppliers, or anyone else for whom Contractor is responsible, and for any associated costs; and for the costs of removing and remediating any Hazardous Environmental Condition created by the presence of any such Constituents of Concern.
- E. If Contractor encounters, uncovers, or reveals a Hazardous Environmental Condition whose removal or remediation is not expressly identified in the Contract Documents as being within the scope of the Work, or if Contractor or anyone for whom Contractor is responsible creates a Hazardous Environmental Condition, then Contractor shall immediately: (1) secure or otherwise isolate such condition; (2) stop all Work in connection with such condition and in any area affected thereby (except in an emergency as required by Paragraph 7.15); and (3) notify Owner and Engineer (and promptly thereafter confirm such notice in writing). Owner shall promptly consult with Engineer concerning the necessity for Owner to retain a qualified expert to evaluate such condition or take corrective action, if any. Promptly after consulting with Engineer, Owner shall take such actions as are necessary to permit Owner to timely obtain required permits and provide Contractor the written notice required by Paragraph 5.06.F. If Contractor or anyone for whom Contractor is responsible created the Hazardous Environmental Condition, and impose a set-off against payments to account for the associated costs.

- F. Contractor shall not resume Work in connection with such Hazardous Environmental Condition or in any affected area until after Owner has obtained any required permits related thereto, and delivered written notice to Contractor either (1) specifying that such condition and any affected area is or has been rendered safe for the resumption of Work, or (2) specifying any special conditions under which such Work may be resumed safely.
- G. If Owner and Contractor cannot agree as to entitlement to or on the amount or extent, if any, of any adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, as a result of such Work stoppage or such special conditions under which Work is agreed to be resumed by Contractor, then within 30 days of Owner's written notice regarding the resumption of Work, Contractor may submit a Change Proposal, or Owner may impose a set-off.
- H. If after receipt of such written notice Contractor does not agree to resume such Work based on a reasonable belief it is unsafe, or does not agree to resume such Work under such special conditions, then Owner may order the portion of the Work that is in the area affected by such condition to be deleted from the Work, following the contractual change procedures in Article 11. Owner may have such deleted portion of the Work performed by Owner's own forces or others in accordance with Article 8.
- I. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, Owner shall indemnify and hold harmless Contractor, Subcontractors, and Engineer, and the officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors of each and any of them from and against all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to a Hazardous Environmental Condition, provided that such Hazardous Environmental Condition (1) was not shown or indicated in the Drawings, Specifications, or other Contract Documents, identified as Technical Data entitled to limited reliance pursuant to Paragraph 5.06.B, or identified in the Contract Documents to be included within the scope of the Work, and (2) was not created by Contractor or by anyone for whom Contractor is responsible. Nothing in this Paragraph 5.06.H shall obligate Owner to indemnify any individual or entity from and against the consequences of that individual's or entity's own negligence.
- J. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, Contractor shall indemnify and hold harmless Owner and Engineer, and the officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors of each and any of them from and against all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to the failure to control, contain, or remove a Constituent of Concern brought to the Site by Contractor or by anyone for whom Contractor is responsible, or to a Hazardous Environmental Condition created by Contractor or by anyone for whom Contractor is responsible. Nothing in this Paragraph 5.06.J shall obligate Contractor to indemnify any individual or entity from and against the consequences of that individual's or entity's own negligence.
- K. The provisions of Paragraphs 5.03, 5.04, and 5.05 do not apply to the presence of Constituents of Concern or to a Hazardous Environmental Condition uncovered or revealed at the Site.

ARTICLE 6 – BONDS AND INSURANCE

6.01 Performance, Payment, and Other Bonds

- A. Contractor shall furnish a performance bond and a payment bond, each in an amount at least equal to the Contract Price, as security for the faithful performance and payment of all of Contractor's obligations under the Contract. These bonds shall remain in effect until one year after the date when final payment becomes due or until completion of the correction period specified in Paragraph 15.08, whichever is later, except as provided otherwise by Laws or Regulations, the Supplementary Conditions, or other specific provisions of the Contract. Contractor shall also furnish such other bonds as are required by the Supplementary Conditions or other specific provisions of the Contract.
- B. All bonds shall be in the form prescribed by the Contract except as provided otherwise by Laws or Regulations, and shall be executed by such sureties as are named in "Companies Holding Certificates of Authority as Acceptable Sureties on Federal Bonds and as Acceptable Reinsuring Companies" as published in Circular 570 (as amended and supplemented) by the Financial Management Service, Surety Bond Branch, U.S. Department of the Treasury. A bond signed by an agent or attorney-in-fact must be accompanied by a certified copy of that individual's authority to bind the surety. The evidence of authority shall show that it is effective on the date the agent or attorney-in-fact signed the accompanying bond.
- C. Contractor shall obtain the required bonds from surety companies that are duly licensed or authorized in the jurisdiction in which the Project is located to issue bonds in the required amounts.
- D. If the surety on a bond furnished by Contractor is declared bankrupt or becomes insolvent, or its right to do business is terminated in any state or jurisdiction where any part of the Project is located, or the surety ceases to meet the requirements above, then Contractor shall promptly notify Owner and Engineer and shall, within 20 days after the event giving rise to such notification, provide another bond and surety, both of which shall comply with the bond and surety requirements above.
- E. If Contractor has failed to obtain a required bond, Owner may exclude the Contractor from the Site and exercise Owner's termination rights under Article 16.
- F. Upon request, Owner shall provide a copy of the payment bond to any Subcontractor, Supplier, or other person or entity claiming to have furnished labor or materials used in the performance of the Work.

6.02 Insurance—General Provisions

- A. Owner and Contractor shall obtain and maintain insurance as required in this Article and in the Supplementary Conditions.
- B. All insurance required by the Contract to be purchased and maintained by Owner or Contractor shall be obtained from insurance companies that are duly licensed or authorized, in the state or jurisdiction in which the Project is located, to issue insurance policies for the required limits and coverages. Unless a different standard is indicated in the Supplementary Conditions, all companies that provide insurance policies required under this Contract shall have an A.M. Best rating of A-VII or better.
- C. Contractor shall deliver to Owner, with copies to each named insured and additional insured (as identified in this Article, in the Supplementary Conditions, or elsewhere in the Contract), certificates of insurance establishing that Contractor has obtained and is

maintaining the policies, coverages, and endorsements required by the Contract. Upon request by Owner or any other insured, Contractor shall also furnish other evidence of such required insurance, including but not limited to copies of policies and endorsements, and documentation of applicable self-insured retentions and deductibles. Contractor may block out (redact) any confidential premium or pricing information contained in any policy or endorsement furnished under this provision.

- D. Owner shall deliver to Contractor, with copies to each named insured and additional insured (as identified in this Article, the Supplementary Conditions, or elsewhere in the Contract), certificates of insurance establishing that Owner has obtained and is maintaining the policies, coverages, and endorsements required of Owner by the Contract (if any). Upon request by Contractor or any other insured, Owner shall also provide other evidence of such required insurance (if any), including but not limited to copies of policies and endorsements, and documentation of applicable self-insured retentions and deductibles. Owner may block out (redact) any confidential premium or pricing information contained in any policy or endorsement furnished under this provision.
- E. Failure of Owner or Contractor to demand such certificates or other evidence of the other party's full compliance with these insurance requirements, or failure of Owner or Contractor to identify a deficiency in compliance from the evidence provided, shall not be construed as a waiver of the other party's obligation to obtain and maintain such insurance.
- F. If either party does not purchase or maintain all of the insurance required of such party by the Contract, such party shall notify the other party in writing of such failure to purchase prior to the start of the Work, or of such failure to maintain prior to any change in the required coverage.
- G. If Contractor has failed to obtain and maintain required insurance, Owner may exclude the Contractor from the Site, impose an appropriate set-off against payment, and exercise Owner's termination rights under Article 16.
- H. Without prejudice to any other right or remedy, if a party has failed to obtain required insurance, the other party may elect to obtain equivalent insurance to protect such other party's interests at the expense of the party who was required to provide such coverage, and the Contract Price shall be adjusted accordingly.
- I. Owner does not represent that insurance coverage and limits established in this Contract necessarily will be adequate to protect Contractor or Contractor's interests.
- J. The insurance and insurance limits required herein shall not be deemed as a limitation on Contractor's liability under the indemnities granted to Owner and other individuals and entities in the Contract.

6.03 Contractor's Insurance

- A. *Workers' Compensation*: Contractor shall purchase and maintain workers' compensation and employer's liability insurance for:
 - claims under workers' compensation, disability benefits, and other similar employee benefit acts.
 - 2. United States Longshoreman and Harbor Workers' Compensation Act and Jones Act coverage (if applicable).
 - 3. claims for damages because of bodily injury, occupational sickness or disease, or death of Contractor's employees (by stop-gap endorsement in monopolist worker's compensation states).

- 4. Foreign voluntary worker compensation (if applicable).
- B. Commercial General Liability—Claims Covered: Contractor shall purchase and maintain commercial general liability insurance, covering all operations by or on behalf of Contractor, on an occurrence basis, against:
 - 1. claims for damages because of bodily injury, sickness or disease, or death of any person other than Contractor's employees.
 - 2. claims for damages insured by reasonably available personal injury liability coverage.
 - 3. claims for damages, other than to the Work itself, because of injury to or destruction of tangible property wherever located, including loss of use resulting therefrom.
- C. Commercial General Liability—Form and Content: Contractor's commercial liability policy shall be written on a 1996 (or later) ISO commercial general liability form (occurrence form) and include the following coverages and endorsements:
 - 1. Products and completed operations coverage:
 - a. Such insurance shall be maintained for three years after final payment.
 - b. Contractor shall furnish Owner and each other additional insured (as identified in the Supplementary Conditions or elsewhere in the Contract) evidence of continuation of such insurance at final payment and three years thereafter.
 - Blanket contractual liability coverage, to the extent permitted by law, including but not limited to coverage of Contractor's contractual indemnity obligations in Paragraph 7.18.
 - 3. Broad form property damage coverage.
 - 4. Severability of interest.
 - 5. Underground, explosion, and collapse coverage.
 - 6. Personal injury coverage.
 - Additional insured endorsements that include both ongoing operations and products and completed operations coverage through ISO Endorsements CG 20 10 10 01 and CG 20 37 10 01 (together); or CG 20 10 07 04 and CG 20 37 07 04 (together); or their equivalent.
 - For design professional additional insureds, ISO Endorsement CG 20 32 07 04, "Additional Insured—Engineers, Architects or Surveyors Not Engaged by the Named Insured" or its equivalent.
- D. Automobile liability: Contractor shall purchase and maintain automobile liability insurance against claims for damages because of bodily injury or death of any person or property damage arising out of the ownership, maintenance, or use of any motor vehicle. The automobile liability policy shall be written on an occurrence basis.
- E. Umbrella or excess liability: Contractor shall purchase and maintain umbrella or excess liability insurance written over the underlying employer's liability, commercial general liability, and automobile liability insurance described in the paragraphs above. Subject to industry-standard exclusions, the coverage afforded shall follow form as to each and every one of the underlying policies.
- F. Contractor's pollution liability insurance: Contractor shall purchase and maintain a policy covering third-party injury and property damage claims, including clean-up costs, as a result

- of pollution conditions arising from Contractor's operations and completed operations. This insurance shall be maintained for no less than three years after final completion.
- G. Additional insureds: The Contractor's commercial general liability, automobile liability, umbrella or excess, and pollution liability policies shall include and list as additional insureds. Owner and Engineer, and any individuals or entities identified in the Supplementary Conditions; include coverage for the respective officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors of each and any of all such additional insureds; and the insurance afforded to these additional insureds shall provide primary coverage for all claims covered thereby (including as applicable those arising from both ongoing and completed operations) on a non-contributory basis. Contractor shall obtain all necessary endorsements to support these requirements.
- H. Contractor's professional liability insurance: If Contractor will provide or furnish professional services under this Contract, through a delegation of professional design services or otherwise, then Contractor shall be responsible for purchasing and maintaining applicable professional liability insurance. This insurance shall provide protection against claims arising out of performance of professional design or related services, and caused by a negligent error, omission, or act for which the insured party is legally liable. It shall be maintained throughout the duration of the Contract and for a minimum of two years after Substantial Completion. If such professional design services are performed by a Subcontractor, and not by Contractor itself, then the requirements of this paragraph may be satisfied through the purchasing and maintenance of such insurance by such Subcontractor.
- I. General provisions: The policies of insurance required by this Paragraph 6.03 shall:
 - 1. include at least the specific coverages provided in this Article.
 - 2. be written for not less than the limits of liability provided in this Article and in the Supplementary Conditions, or required by Laws or Regulations, whichever is greater.
 - contain a provision or endorsement that the coverage afforded will not be canceled, materially changed, or renewal refused until at least 10 days prior written notice has been given to Contractor. Within three days of receipt of any such written notice, Contractor shall provide a copy of the notice to Owner, Engineer, and each other insured under the policy.
 - 4. remain in effect at least until final payment (and longer if expressly required in this Article) and at all times thereafter when Contractor may be correcting, removing, or replacing defective Work as a warranty or correction obligation, or otherwise, or returning to the Site to conduct other tasks arising from the Contract Documents.
 - 5. be appropriate for the Work being performed and provide protection from claims that may arise out of or result from Contractor's performance of the Work and Contractor's other obligations under the Contract Documents, whether it is to be performed by Contractor, any Subcontractor or Supplier, or by anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them to perform any of the Work, or by anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable.
- J. The coverage requirements for specific policies of insurance must be met by such policies, and not by reference to excess or umbrella insurance provided in other policies.

6.04 Owner's Liability Insurance

- A. In addition to the insurance required to be provided by Contractor under Paragraph 6.03, Owner, at Owner's option, may purchase and maintain at Owner's expense Owner's own liability insurance as will protect Owner against claims which may arise from operations under the Contract Documents.
- B. Owner's liability policies, if any, operate separately and independently from policies required to be provided by Contractor, and Contractor cannot rely upon Owner's liability policies for any of Contractor's obligations to the Owner, Engineer, or third parties.

6.05 Property Insurance

- A. Builder's Risk: Unless otherwise provided in the Supplementary Conditions, Contractor shall purchase and maintain builder's risk insurance upon the Work on a completed value basis, in the amount of the full insurable replacement cost thereof (subject to such deductible amounts as may be provided in the Supplementary Conditions or required by Laws and Regulations). This insurance shall:
 - include the Owner and Contractor as named insureds, and all Subcontractors, and any individuals or entities required by the Supplementary Conditions to be insured under such builder's risk policy, as insureds or named insureds. For purposes of the remainder of this Paragraph 6.05, Paragraphs 6.06 and 6.07, and any corresponding Supplementary Conditions, the parties required to be insured shall collectively be referred to as "insureds."
 - 2. be written on a builder's risk "all risk" policy form that shall at least include insurance for physical loss or damage to the Work, temporary buildings, falsework, and materials and equipment in transit, and shall insure against at least the following perils or causes of loss: fire; lightning; windstorm; riot; civil commotion; terrorism; vehicle impact; aircraft; smoke; theft; vandalism and malicious mischief; mechanical breakdown, boiler explosion, and artificially generated electric current; earthquake; volcanic activity, and other earth movement; flood; collapse; explosion; debris removal; demolition occasioned by enforcement of Laws and Regulations; water damage (other than that caused by flood); and such other perils or causes of loss as may be specifically required by the Supplementary Conditions. If insurance against mechanical breakdown, boiler explosion, and artificially generated electric current; earthquake; volcanic activity, and other earth movement; or flood, are not commercially available under builder's risk policies, by endorsement or otherwise, such insurance may be provided through other insurance policies acceptable to Owner and Contractor.
 - 3. cover, as insured property, at least the following: (a) the Work and all materials, supplies, machinery, apparatus, equipment, fixtures, and other property of a similar nature that are to be incorporated into or used in the preparation, fabrication, construction, erection, or completion of the Work, including Owner-furnished or assigned property; (b) spare parts inventory required within the scope of the Contract; and (c) temporary works which are not intended to form part of the permanent constructed Work but which are intended to provide working access to the Site, or to the Work under construction, or which are intended to provide temporary support for the Work under construction, including scaffolding, form work, fences, shoring, falsework, and temporary structures.
 - 4. cover expenses incurred in the repair or replacement of any insured property (including but not limited to fees and charges of engineers and architects).

- 5. extend to cover damage or loss to insured property while in temporary storage at the Site or in a storage location outside the Site (but not including property stored at the premises of a manufacturer or Supplier).
- 6. extend to cover damage or loss to insured property while in transit.
- allow for partial occupation or use of the Work by Owner, such that those portions of the Work that are not yet occupied or used by Owner shall remain covered by the builder's risk insurance.
- 8. allow for the waiver of the insurer's subrogation rights, as set forth below.
- 9. provide primary coverage for all losses and damages caused by the perils or causes of loss covered.
- 10. not include a co-insurance clause.
- 11. include an exception for ensuing losses from physical damage or loss with respect to any defective workmanship, design, or materials exclusions.
- 12. include performance/hot testing and start-up.
- 13. be maintained in effect, subject to the provisions herein regarding Substantial Completion and partial occupancy or use of the Work by Owner, until the Work is complete.
- B. Notice of Cancellation or Change: All the policies of insurance (and the certificates or other evidence thereof) required to be purchased and maintained in accordance with this Paragraph 6.05 will contain a provision or endorsement that the coverage afforded will not be canceled or materially changed or renewal refused until at least 10 days prior written notice has been given to the purchasing policyholder. Within three days of receipt of any such written notice, the purchasing policyholder shall provide a copy of the notice to each other insured.
- C. *Deductibles*: The purchaser of any required builder's risk or property insurance shall pay for costs not covered because of the application of a policy deductible.
- D. Partial Occupancy or Use by Owner: If Owner will occupy or use a portion or portions of the Work prior to Substantial Completion of all the Work as provided in Paragraph 15.04, then Owner (directly, if it is the purchaser of the builder's risk policy, or through Contractor) will provide notice of such occupancy or use to the builder's risk insurer. The builder's risk insurance shall not be canceled or permitted to lapse on account of any such partial use or occupancy; rather, those portions of the Work that are occupied or used by Owner may come off the builder's risk policy, while those portions of the Work not yet occupied or used by Owner shall remain covered by the builder's risk insurance.
- E. Additional Insurance: If Contractor elects to obtain other special insurance to be included in or supplement the builder's risk or property insurance policies provided under this Paragraph 6.05, it may do so at Contractor's expense.
- F. Insurance of Other Property: If the express insurance provisions of the Contract do not require or address the insurance of a property item or interest, such as tools, construction equipment, or other personal property owned by Contractor, a Subcontractor, or an employee of Contractor or a Subcontractor, then the entity or individual owning such property item will be responsible for deciding whether to insure it, and if so in what amount.

6.06 Waiver of Rights

- All policies purchased in accordance with Paragraph 6.05, expressly including the builder's risk policy, shall contain provisions to the effect that in the event of payment of any loss or damage the insurers will have no rights of recovery against any insureds thereunder, or against Engineer or its consultants, or their officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, or subcontractors. Owner and Contractor waive all rights against each other and the respective officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors of each and any of them, for all losses and damages caused by, arising out of, or resulting from any of the perils or causes of loss covered by such policies and any other property insurance applicable to the Work; and, in addition, waive all such rights against Engineer, its consultants, all Subcontractors, all individuals or entities identified in the Supplementary Conditions as insureds, and the officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors of each and any of them, under such policies for losses and damages so caused. None of the above waivers shall extend to the rights that any party making such waiver may have to the proceeds of insurance held by Owner or Contractor as trustee or fiduciary, or otherwise payable under any policy so issued.
- B. Owner waives all rights against Contractor, Subcontractors, and Engineer, and the officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants and subcontractors of each and any of them, for:
 - loss due to business interruption, loss of use, or other consequential loss extending beyond direct physical loss or damage to Owner's property or the Work caused by, arising out of, or resulting from fire or other perils whether or not insured by Owner; and
 - loss or damage to the completed Project or part thereof caused by, arising out of, or resulting from fire or other insured peril or cause of loss covered by any property insurance maintained on the completed Project or part thereof by Owner during partial occupancy or use pursuant to Paragraph 15.04, after Substantial Completion pursuant to Paragraph 15.03, or after final payment pursuant to Paragraph 15.06.
- C. Any insurance policy maintained by Owner covering any loss, damage or consequential loss referred to in Paragraph 6.06.B shall contain provisions to the effect that in the event of payment of any such loss, damage, or consequential loss, the insurers will have no rights of recovery against Contractor, Subcontractors, or Engineer, or the officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, or subcontractors of each and any of them.
- D. Contractor shall be responsible for assuring that the agreement under which a Subcontractor performs a portion of the Work contains provisions whereby the Subcontractor waives all rights against Owner, Contractor, all individuals or entities identified in the Supplementary Conditions as insureds, the Engineer and its consultants, and the officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors of each and any of them, for all losses and damages caused by, arising out of, relating to, or resulting from any of the perils or causes of loss covered by builder's risk insurance and any other property insurance applicable to the Work.
- 6.07 Receipt and Application of Property Insurance Proceeds
 - A. Any insured loss under the builder's risk and other policies of insurance required by Paragraph 6.05 will be adjusted and settled with the named insured that purchased the

- policy. Such named insured shall act as fiduciary for the other insureds, and give notice to such other insureds that adjustment and settlement of a claim is in progress. Any other insured may state its position regarding a claim for insured loss in writing within 15 days after notice of such claim.
- B. Proceeds for such insured losses may be made payable by the insurer either jointly to multiple insureds, or to the named insured that purchased the policy in its own right and as fiduciary for other insureds, subject to the requirements of any applicable mortgage clause. A named insured receiving insurance proceeds under the builder's risk and other policies of insurance required by Paragraph 6.05 shall distribute such proceeds in accordance with such agreement as the parties in interest may reach, or as otherwise required under the dispute resolution provisions of this Contract or applicable Laws and Regulations.
- C. If no other special agreement is reached, the damaged Work shall be repaired or replaced, the money so received applied on account thereof, and the Work and the cost thereof covered by Change Order, if needed.

ARTICLE 7 - CONTRACTOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES

7.01 Supervision and Superintendence

- A. Contractor shall supervise, inspect, and direct the Work competently and efficiently, devoting such attention thereto and applying such skills and expertise as may be necessary to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents. Contractor shall be solely responsible for the means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction.
- B. At all times during the progress of the Work, Contractor shall assign a competent resident superintendent who shall not be replaced without written notice to Owner and Engineer except under extraordinary circumstances.

7.02 Labor; Working Hours

- A. Contractor shall provide competent, suitably qualified personnel to survey and lay out the Work and perform construction as required by the Contract Documents. Contractor shall at all times maintain good discipline and order at the Site.
- B. Except as otherwise required for the safety or protection of persons or the Work or property at the Site or adjacent thereto, and except as otherwise stated in the Contract Documents, all Work at the Site shall be performed during regular working hours, Monday through Friday. Contractor will not perform Work on a Saturday, Sunday, or any legal holiday. Contractor may perform Work outside regular working hours or on Saturdays, Sundays, or legal holidays only with Owner's written consent, which will not be unreasonably withheld.

7.03 *Services, Materials, and Equipment*

- A. Unless otherwise specified in the Contract Documents, Contractor shall provide and assume full responsibility for all services, materials, equipment, labor, transportation, construction equipment and machinery, tools, appliances, fuel, power, light, heat, telephone, water, sanitary facilities, temporary facilities, and all other facilities and incidentals necessary for the performance, testing, start up, and completion of the Work, whether or not such items are specifically called for in the Contract Documents.
- B. All materials and equipment incorporated into the Work shall be of good quality and new, except as otherwise provided in the Contract Documents. All special warranties and

- guarantees required by the Specifications shall expressly run to the benefit of Owner. If required by Engineer, Contractor shall furnish satisfactory evidence (including reports of required tests) as to the source, kind, and quality of materials and equipment.
- C. All materials and equipment shall be stored, applied, installed, connected, erected, protected, used, cleaned, and conditioned in accordance with instructions of the applicable Supplier, except as otherwise may be provided in the Contract Documents.

7.04 "Or Equals"

- A. Whenever an item of material or equipment is specified or described in the Contract Documents by using the name of a proprietary item or the name of a particular Supplier, the Contract Price has been based upon Contractor furnishing such item as specified. The specification or description of such an item is intended to establish the type, function, appearance, and quality required. Unless the specification or description contains or is followed by words reading that no like, equivalent, or "or equal" item is permitted, Contractor may request that Engineer authorize the use of other items of material or equipment, or items from other proposed suppliers under the circumstances described below.
 - 1. If Engineer in its sole discretion determines that an item of material or equipment proposed by Contractor is functionally equal to that named and sufficiently similar so that no change in related Work will be required, Engineer shall deem it an "or equal" item. For the purposes of this paragraph, a proposed item of material or equipment will be considered functionally equal to an item so named if:
 - a. in the exercise of reasonable judgment Engineer determines that:
 - it is at least equal in materials of construction, quality, durability, appearance, strength, and design characteristics;
 - it will reliably perform at least equally well the function and achieve the results imposed by the design concept of the completed Project as a functioning whole;
 - it has a proven record of performance and availability of responsive service;
 and
 - 4) it is not objectionable to Owner.
 - b. Contractor certifies that, if approved and incorporated into the Work:
 - there will be no increase in cost to the Owner or increase in Contract Times;
 and
 - it will conform substantially to the detailed requirements of the item named in the Contract Documents.
- B. *Contractor's Expense*: Contractor shall provide all data in support of any proposed "or equal" item at Contractor's expense.
- C. Engineer's Evaluation and Determination: Engineer will be allowed a reasonable time to evaluate each "or-equal" request. Engineer may require Contractor to furnish additional data about the proposed "or-equal" item. Engineer will be the sole judge of acceptability. No "or-equal" item will be ordered, furnished, installed, or utilized until Engineer's review is complete and Engineer determines that the proposed item is an "or-equal", which will be evidenced by an approved Shop Drawing or other written communication. Engineer will advise Contractor in writing of any negative determination.

- D. Effect of Engineer's Determination: Neither approval nor denial of an "or-equal" request shall result in any change in Contract Price. The Engineer's denial of an "or-equal" request shall be final and binding, and may not be reversed through an appeal under any provision of the Contract Documents.
- E. Treatment as a Substitution Request: If Engineer determines that an item of material or equipment proposed by Contractor does not qualify as an "or-equal" item, Contractor may request that Engineer considered the proposed item as a substitute pursuant to Paragraph 7.05.

7.05 Substitutes

- A. Unless the specification or description of an item of material or equipment required to be furnished under the Contract Documents contains or is followed by words reading that no substitution is permitted, Contractor may request that Engineer authorize the use of other items of material or equipment under the circumstances described below. To the extent possible such requests shall be made before commencement of related construction at the Site.
 - Contractor shall submit sufficient information as provided below to allow Engineer to determine if the item of material or equipment proposed is functionally equivalent to that named and an acceptable substitute therefor. Engineer will not accept requests for review of proposed substitute items of material or equipment from anyone other than Contractor.
 - The requirements for review by Engineer will be as set forth in Paragraph 7.05.B, as supplemented by the Specifications, and as Engineer may decide is appropriate under the circumstances.
 - 3. Contractor shall make written application to Engineer for review of a proposed substitute item of material or equipment that Contractor seeks to furnish or use. The application:
 - a. shall certify that the proposed substitute item will:
 - perform adequately the functions and achieve the results called for by the general design,
 - 2) be similar in substance to that specified, and
 - 3) be suited to the same use as that specified.

b. will state:

- 1) the extent, if any, to which the use of the proposed substitute item will necessitate a change in Contract Times,
- 2) whether use of the proposed substitute item in the Work will require a change in any of the Contract Documents (or in the provisions of any other direct contract with Owner for other work on the Project) to adapt the design to the proposed substitute item, and
- 3) whether incorporation or use of the proposed substitute item in connection with the Work is subject to payment of any license fee or royalty.

c. will identify:

all variations of the proposed substitute item from that specified, and

- 2) available engineering, sales, maintenance, repair, and replacement services.
- d. shall contain an itemized estimate of all costs or credits that will result directly or indirectly from use of such substitute item, including but not limited to changes in Contract Price, shared savings, costs of redesign, and claims of other contractors affected by any resulting change.
- B. Engineer's Evaluation and Determination: Engineer will be allowed a reasonable time to evaluate each substitute request, and to obtain comments and direction from Owner. Engineer may require Contractor to furnish additional data about the proposed substitute item. Engineer will be the sole judge of acceptability. No substitute will be ordered, furnished, installed, or utilized until Engineer's review is complete and Engineer determines that the proposed item is an acceptable substitute. Engineer's determination will be evidenced by a Field Order or a proposed Change Order accounting for the substitution itself and all related impacts, including changes in Contract Price or Contract Times. Engineer will advise Contractor in writing of any negative determination.
- C. *Special Guarantee*: Owner may require Contractor to furnish at Contractor's expense a special performance guarantee or other surety with respect to any substitute.
- D. Reimbursement of Engineer's Cost: Engineer will record Engineer's costs in evaluating a substitute proposed or submitted by Contractor. Whether or not Engineer approves a substitute so proposed or submitted by Contractor, Contractor shall reimburse Owner for the reasonable charges of Engineer for evaluating each such proposed substitute. Contractor shall also reimburse Owner for the reasonable charges of Engineer for making changes in the Contract Documents (or in the provisions of any other direct contract with Owner) resulting from the acceptance of each proposed substitute.
- E. *Contractor's Expense*: Contractor shall provide all data in support of any proposed substitute at Contractor's expense.
- F. Effect of Engineer's Determination: If Engineer approves the substitution request, Contractor shall execute the proposed Change Order and proceed with the substitution. The Engineer's denial of a substitution request shall be final and binding, and may not be reversed through an appeal under any provision of the Contract Documents. Contractor may challenge the scope of reimbursement costs imposed under Paragraph 7.05.D, by timely submittal of a Change Proposal.

7.06 Concerning Subcontractors, Suppliers, and Others

- A. Contractor may retain Subcontractors and Suppliers for the performance of parts of the Work. Such Subcontractors and Suppliers must be acceptable to Owner.
- B. Contractor shall retain specific Subcontractors, Suppliers, or other individuals or entities for the performance of designated parts of the Work if required by the Contract to do so.
- C. Subsequent to the submittal of Contractor's Bid or final negotiation of the terms of the Contract, Owner may not require Contractor to retain any Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity to furnish or perform any of the Work against which Contractor has reasonable objection.
- D. Prior to entry into any binding subcontract or purchase order, Contractor shall submit to Owner the identity of the proposed Subcontractor or Supplier (unless Owner has already deemed such proposed Subcontractor or Supplier acceptable, during the bidding process or otherwise). Such proposed Subcontractor or Supplier shall be deemed acceptable to Owner unless Owner raises a substantive, reasonable objection within five days.

- E. Owner may require the replacement of any Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity retained by Contractor to perform any part of the Work. Owner also may require Contractor to retain specific replacements; provided, however, that Owner may not require a replacement to which Contractor has a reasonable objection. If Contractor has submitted the identity of certain Subcontractors, Suppliers, or other individuals or entities for acceptance by Owner, and Owner has accepted it (either in writing or by failing to make written objection thereto), then Owner may subsequently revoke the acceptance of any such Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity so identified solely on the basis of substantive, reasonable objection after due investigation. Contractor shall submit an acceptable replacement for the rejected Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity.
- F. If Owner requires the replacement of any Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity retained by Contractor to perform any part of the Work, then Contractor shall be entitled to an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, with respect to the replacement; and Contractor shall initiate a Change Proposal for such adjustment within 30 days of Owner's requirement of replacement.
- G. No acceptance by Owner of any such Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity, whether initially or as a replacement, shall constitute a waiver of the right of Owner to the completion of the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents.
- H. On a monthly basis Contractor shall submit to Engineer a complete list of all Subcontractors and Suppliers having a direct contract with Contractor, and of all other Subcontractors and Suppliers known to Contractor at the time of submittal.
- I. Contractor shall be fully responsible to Owner and Engineer for all acts and omissions of the Subcontractors, Suppliers, and other individuals or entities performing or furnishing any of the Work just as Contractor is responsible for Contractor's own acts and omissions.
- J. Contractor shall be solely responsible for scheduling and coordinating the work of Subcontractors, Suppliers, and all other individuals or entities performing or furnishing any of the Work.
- K. Contractor shall restrict all Subcontractors, Suppliers, and such other individuals or entities performing or furnishing any of the Work from communicating with Engineer or Owner, except through Contractor or in case of an emergency, or as otherwise expressly allowed herein.
- L. The divisions and sections of the Specifications and the identifications of any Drawings shall not control Contractor in dividing the Work among Subcontractors or Suppliers or delineating the Work to be performed by any specific trade.
- M. All Work performed for Contractor by a Subcontractor or Supplier shall be pursuant to an appropriate contractual agreement that specifically binds the Subcontractor or Supplier to the applicable terms and conditions of the Contract Documents for the benefit of Owner and Engineer.
- N. Owner may furnish to any Subcontractor or Supplier, to the extent practicable, information about amounts paid to Contractor on account of Work performed for Contractor by the particular Subcontractor or Supplier.

- O. Nothing in the Contract Documents:
 - shall create for the benefit of any such Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity any contractual relationship between Owner or Engineer and any such Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity; nor
 - shall create any obligation on the part of Owner or Engineer to pay or to see to the
 payment of any money due any such Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or
 entity except as may otherwise be required by Laws and Regulations.

7.07 Patent Fees and Royalties

- A. Contractor shall pay all license fees and royalties and assume all costs incident to the use in the performance of the Work or the incorporation in the Work of any invention, design, process, product, or device which is the subject of patent rights or copyrights held by others. If a particular invention, design, process, product, or device is specified in the Contract Documents for use in the performance of the Work and if, to the actual knowledge of Owner or Engineer, its use is subject to patent rights or copyrights calling for the payment of any license fee or royalty to others, the existence of such rights shall be disclosed by Owner in the Contract Documents.
- B. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, Owner shall indemnify and hold harmless Contractor, and its officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors from and against all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals, and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to any infringement of patent rights or copyrights incident to the use in the performance of the Work or resulting from the incorporation in the Work of any invention, design, process, product, or device specified in the Contract Documents, but not identified as being subject to payment of any license fee or royalty to others required by patent rights or copyrights.
- C. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, Contractor shall indemnify and hold harmless Owner and Engineer, and the officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants and subcontractors of each and any of them from and against all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to any infringement of patent rights or copyrights incident to the use in the performance of the Work or resulting from the incorporation in the Work of any invention, design, process, product, or device not specified in the Contract Documents.

7.08 Permits

A. Unless otherwise provided in the Contract Documents, Contractor shall obtain and pay for all construction permits and licenses. Owner shall assist Contractor, when necessary, in obtaining such permits and licenses. Contractor shall pay all governmental charges and inspection fees necessary for the prosecution of the Work which are applicable at the time of the submission of Contractor's Bid (or when Contractor became bound under a negotiated contract). Owner shall pay all charges of utility owners for connections for providing permanent service to the Work

7.09 *Taxes*

A. Contractor shall pay all sales, consumer, use, and other similar taxes required to be paid by Contractor in accordance with the Laws and Regulations of the place of the Project which are applicable during the performance of the Work.

7.10 Laws and Regulations

- A. Contractor shall give all notices required by and shall comply with all Laws and Regulations applicable to the performance of the Work. Except where otherwise expressly required by applicable Laws and Regulations, neither Owner nor Engineer shall be responsible for monitoring Contractor's compliance with any Laws or Regulations.
- B. If Contractor performs any Work or takes any other action knowing or having reason to know that it is contrary to Laws or Regulations, Contractor shall bear all resulting costs and losses, and shall indemnify and hold harmless Owner and Engineer, and the officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors of each and any of them from and against all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to such Work or other action. It shall not be Contractor's responsibility to make certain that the Work described in the Contract Documents is in accordance with Laws and Regulations, but this shall not relieve Contractor of Contractor's obligations under Paragraph 3.03.
- C. Owner or Contractor may give notice to the other party of any changes after the submission of Contractor's Bid (or after the date when Contractor became bound under a negotiated contract) in Laws or Regulations having an effect on the cost or time of performance of the Work, including but not limited to changes in Laws or Regulations having an effect on procuring permits and on sales, use, value-added, consumption, and other similar taxes. If Owner and Contractor are unable to agree on entitlement to or on the amount or extent, if any, of any adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times resulting from such changes, then within 30 days of such notice Contractor may submit a Change Proposal, or Owner may initiate a Claim.

7.11 Record Documents

A. Contractor shall maintain in a safe place at the Site one printed record copy of all Drawings, Specifications, Addenda, Change Orders, Work Change Directives, Field Orders, written interpretations and clarifications, and approved Shop Drawings. Contractor shall keep such record documents in good order and annotate them to show changes made during construction. These record documents, together with all approved Samples, will be available to Engineer for reference. Upon completion of the Work, Contractor shall deliver these record documents to Engineer.

7.12 Safety and Protection

- A. Contractor shall be solely responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions and programs in connection with the Work. Such responsibility does not relieve Subcontractors of their responsibility for the safety of persons or property in the performance of their work, nor for compliance with applicable safety Laws and Regulations. Contractor shall take all necessary precautions for the safety of, and shall provide the necessary protection to prevent damage, injury, or loss to:
 - 1. all persons on the Site or who may be affected by the Work;

- 2. all the Work and materials and equipment to be incorporated therein, whether in storage on or off the Site; and
- other property at the Site or adjacent thereto, including trees, shrubs, lawns, walks, pavements, roadways, structures, other work in progress, utilities, and Underground Facilities not designated for removal, relocation, or replacement in the course of construction.
- B. Contractor shall comply with all applicable Laws and Regulations relating to the safety of persons or property, or to the protection of persons or property from damage, injury, or loss; and shall erect and maintain all necessary safeguards for such safety and protection. Contractor shall notify Owner; the owners of adjacent property, Underground Facilities, and other utilities; and other contractors and utility owners performing work at or adjacent to the Site, when prosecution of the Work may affect them, and shall cooperate with them in the protection, removal, relocation, and replacement of their property or work in progress.
- C. Contractor shall comply with the applicable requirements of Owner's safety programs, if any. The Supplementary Conditions identify any Owner's safety programs that are applicable to the Work.
- D. Contractor shall inform Owner and Engineer of the specific requirements of Contractor's safety program with which Owner's and Engineer's employees and representatives must comply while at the Site.
- E. All damage, injury, or loss to any property referred to in Paragraph 7.12.A.2 or 7.12.A.3 caused, directly or indirectly, in whole or in part, by Contractor, any Subcontractor, Supplier, or any other individual or entity directly or indirectly employed by any of them to perform any of the Work, or anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable, shall be remedied by Contractor at its expense (except damage or loss attributable to the fault of Drawings or Specifications or to the acts or omissions of Owner or Engineer or anyone employed by any of them, or anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable, and not attributable, directly or indirectly, in whole or in part, to the fault or negligence of Contractor or any Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity directly or indirectly employed by any of them).
- F. Contractor's duties and responsibilities for safety and protection shall continue until such time as all the Work is completed and Engineer has issued a notice to Owner and Contractor in accordance with Paragraph 15.06.B that the Work is acceptable (except as otherwise expressly provided in connection with Substantial Completion).
- G. Contractor's duties and responsibilities for safety and protection shall resume whenever Contractor or any Subcontractor or Supplier returns to the Site to fulfill warranty or correction obligations, or to conduct other tasks arising from the Contract Documents.

7.13 Safety Representative

A. Contractor shall designate a qualified and experienced safety representative at the Site whose duties and responsibilities shall be the prevention of accidents and the maintaining and supervising of safety precautions and programs.

7.14 Hazard Communication Programs

A. Contractor shall be responsible for coordinating any exchange of material safety data sheets or other hazard communication information required to be made available to or

exchanged between or among employers at the Site in accordance with Laws or Regulations.

7.15 Emergencies

A. In emergencies affecting the safety or protection of persons or the Work or property at the Site or adjacent thereto, Contractor is obligated to act to prevent threatened damage, injury, or loss. Contractor shall give Engineer prompt written notice if Contractor believes that any significant changes in the Work or variations from the Contract Documents have been caused thereby or are required as a result thereof. If Engineer determines that a change in the Contract Documents is required because of the action taken by Contractor in response to such an emergency, a Work Change Directive or Change Order will be issued.

7.16 Shop Drawings, Samples, and Other Submittals

- A. Shop Drawing and Sample Submittal Requirements:
 - 1. Before submitting a Shop Drawing or Sample, Contractor shall have:
 - reviewed and coordinated the Shop Drawing or Sample with other Shop Drawings and Samples and with the requirements of the Work and the Contract Documents;
 - determined and verified all field measurements, quantities, dimensions, specified performance and design criteria, installation requirements, materials, catalog numbers, and similar information with respect thereto;
 - determined and verified the suitability of all materials and equipment offered with respect to the indicated application, fabrication, shipping, handling, storage, assembly, and installation pertaining to the performance of the Work; and
 - d. determined and verified all information relative to Contractor's responsibilities for means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction, and safety precautions and programs incident thereto.
 - Each submittal shall bear a stamp or specific written certification that Contractor has satisfied Contractor's obligations under the Contract Documents with respect to Contractor's review of that submittal, and that Contractor approves the submittal.
 - 3. With each submittal, Contractor shall give Engineer specific written notice of any variations that the Shop Drawing or Sample may have from the requirements of the Contract Documents. This notice shall be set forth in a written communication separate from the Shop Drawings or Sample submittal; and, in addition, in the case of Shop Drawings by a specific notation made on each Shop Drawing submitted to Engineer for review and approval of each such variation.
- B. Submittal Procedures for Shop Drawings and Samples: Contractor shall submit Shop Drawings and Samples to Engineer for review and approval in accordance with the accepted Schedule of Submittals. Each submittal will be identified as Engineer may require.
 - 1. Shop Drawings:
 - a. Contractor shall submit the number of copies required in the Specifications.
 - b. Data shown on the Shop Drawings will be complete with respect to quantities, dimensions, specified performance and design criteria, materials, and similar data to show Engineer the services, materials, and equipment Contractor proposes to

provide and to enable Engineer to review the information for the limited purposes required by Paragraph 7.16.D.

2. *Samples*:

- a. Contractor shall submit the number of Samples required in the Specifications.
- b. Contractor shall clearly identify each Sample as to material, Supplier, pertinent data such as catalog numbers, the use for which intended and other data as Engineer may require to enable Engineer to review the submittal for the limited purposes required by Paragraph 7.16.D.
- 3. Where a Shop Drawing or Sample is required by the Contract Documents or the Schedule of Submittals, any related Work performed prior to Engineer's review and approval of the pertinent submittal will be at the sole expense and responsibility of Contractor.
- C. Other Submittals: Contractor shall submit other submittals to Engineer in accordance with the accepted Schedule of Submittals, and pursuant to the applicable terms of the Specifications.

D. Engineer's Review:

- Engineer will provide timely review of Shop Drawings and Samples in accordance with
 the Schedule of Submittals acceptable to Engineer. Engineer's review and approval will
 be only to determine if the items covered by the submittals will, after installation or
 incorporation in the Work, conform to the information given in the Contract
 Documents and be compatible with the design concept of the completed Project as a
 functioning whole as indicated by the Contract Documents.
- Engineer's review and approval will not extend to means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction or to safety precautions or programs incident thereto.
- 3. Engineer's review and approval of a separate item as such will not indicate approval of the assembly in which the item functions.
- 4. Engineer's review and approval of a Shop Drawing or Sample shall not relieve Contractor from responsibility for any variation from the requirements of the Contract Documents unless Contractor has complied with the requirements of Paragraph 7.16.A.3 and Engineer has given written approval of each such variation by specific written notation thereof incorporated in or accompanying the Shop Drawing or Sample. Engineer will document any such approved variation from the requirements of the Contract Documents in a Field Order.
- Engineer's review and approval of a Shop Drawing or Sample shall not relieve Contractor from responsibility for complying with the requirements of Paragraph 7.16.A and B.
- 6. Engineer's review and approval of a Shop Drawing or Sample, or of a variation from the requirements of the Contract Documents, shall not, under any circumstances, change the Contract Times or Contract Price, unless such changes are included in a Change Order.
- 7. Neither Engineer's receipt, review, acceptance or approval of a Shop Drawing, Sample, or other submittal shall result in such item becoming a Contract Document.

8. Contractor shall perform the Work in compliance with the requirements and commitments set forth in approved Shop Drawings and Samples, subject to the provisions of Paragraph 7.16.D.4.

E. Resubmittal Procedures:

- Contractor shall make corrections required by Engineer and shall return the required number of corrected copies of Shop Drawings and submit, as required, new Samples for review and approval. Contractor shall direct specific attention in writing to revisions other than the corrections called for by Engineer on previous submittals.
- 2. Contractor shall furnish required submittals with sufficient information and accuracy to obtain required approval of an item with no more than three submittals. Engineer will record Engineer's time for reviewing a fourth or subsequent submittal of a Shop Drawings, sample, or other item requiring approval, and Contractor shall be responsible for Engineer's charges to Owner for such time. Owner may impose a set-off against payments due to Contractor to secure reimbursement for such charges.
- 3. If Contractor requests a change of a previously approved submittal item, Contractor shall be responsible for Engineer's charges to Owner for its review time, and Owner may impose a set-off against payments due to Contractor to secure reimbursement for such charges, unless the need for such change is beyond the control of Contractor.

7.17 Contractor's General Warranty and Guarantee

- A. Contractor warrants and guarantees to Owner that all Work will be in accordance with the Contract Documents and will not be defective. Engineer and its officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors shall be entitled to rely on Contractor's warranty and guarantee.
- B. Contractor's warranty and guarantee hereunder excludes defects or damage caused by:
 - abuse, modification, or improper maintenance or operation by persons other than Contractor, Subcontractors, Suppliers, or any other individual or entity for whom Contractor is responsible; or
 - 2. normal wear and tear under normal usage.
- C. Contractor's obligation to perform and complete the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents shall be absolute. None of the following will constitute an acceptance of Work that is not in accordance with the Contract Documents or a release of Contractor's obligation to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents:
 - 1. observations by Engineer;
 - 2. recommendation by Engineer or payment by Owner of any progress or final payment;
 - 3. the issuance of a certificate of Substantial Completion by Engineer or any payment related thereto by Owner;
 - 4. use or occupancy of the Work or any part thereof by Owner;
 - 5. any review and approval of a Shop Drawing or Sample submittal;
 - 6. the issuance of a notice of acceptability by Engineer;
 - 7. any inspection, test, or approval by others; or
 - 8. any correction of defective Work by Owner.

D. If the Contract requires the Contractor to accept the assignment of a contract entered into by Owner, then the specific warranties, guarantees, and correction obligations contained in the assigned contract shall govern with respect to Contractor's performance obligations to Owner for the Work described in the assigned contract.

7.18 *Indemnification*

- A. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, and in addition to any other obligations of Contractor under the Contract or otherwise, Contractor shall indemnify and hold harmless Owner and Engineer, and the officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants and subcontractors of each and any of them from and against all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to the performance of the Work, provided that any such claim, cost, loss, or damage is attributable to bodily injury, sickness, disease, or death, or to injury to or destruction of tangible property (other than the Work itself), including the loss of use resulting therefrom but only to the extent caused by any negligent act or omission of Contractor, any Subcontractor, any Supplier, or any individual or entity directly or indirectly employed by any of them to perform any of the Work or anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable.
- B. In any and all claims against Owner or Engineer or any of their officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, or subcontractors by any employee (or the survivor or personal representative of such employee) of Contractor, any Subcontractor, any Supplier, or any individual or entity directly or indirectly employed by any of them to perform any of the Work, or anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable, the indemnification obligation under Paragraph 7.18.A shall not be limited in any way by any limitation on the amount or type of damages, compensation, or benefits payable by or for Contractor or any such Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity under workers' compensation acts, disability benefit acts, or other employee benefit acts.
- C. The indemnification obligations of Contractor under Paragraph 7.18.A shall not extend to the liability of Engineer and Engineer's officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants and subcontractors arising out of:
 - 1. the preparation or approval of, or the failure to prepare or approve maps, Drawings, opinions, reports, surveys, Change Orders, designs, or Specifications; or
 - 2. giving directions or instructions, or failing to give them, if that is the primary cause of the injury or damage.

7.19 Delegation of Professional Design Services

- A. Contractor will not be required to provide professional design services unless such services are specifically required by the Contract Documents for a portion of the Work or unless such services are required to carry out Contractor's responsibilities for construction means, methods, techniques, sequences and procedures. Contractor shall not be required to provide professional services in violation of applicable Laws and Regulations.
- B. If professional design services or certifications by a design professional related to systems, materials, or equipment are specifically required of Contractor by the Contract Documents, Owner and Engineer will specify all performance and design criteria that such services must satisfy. Contractor shall cause such services or certifications to be provided by a properly licensed professional, whose signature and seal shall appear on all drawings, calculations, specifications, certifications, and other submittals prepared by such professional. Shop

- Drawings and other submittals related to the Work designed or certified by such professional, if prepared by others, shall bear such professional's written approval when submitted to Engineer.
- C. Owner and Engineer shall be entitled to rely upon the adequacy, accuracy, and completeness of the services, certifications, or approvals performed by such design professionals, provided Owner and Engineer have specified to Contractor all performance and design criteria that such services must satisfy.
- D. Pursuant to this paragraph, Engineer's review and approval of design calculations and design drawings will be only for the limited purpose of checking for conformance with performance and design criteria given and the design concept expressed in the Contract Documents. Engineer's review and approval of Shop Drawings and other submittals (except design calculations and design drawings) will be only for the purpose stated in Paragraph 7.16.D.1.
- E. Contractor shall not be responsible for the adequacy of the performance or design criteria specified by Owner or Engineer.

ARTICLE 8 – OTHER WORK AT THE SITE

8.01 Other Work

- A. In addition to and apart from the Work under the Contract Documents, the Owner may perform other work at or adjacent to the Site. Such other work may be performed by Owner's employees, or through contracts between the Owner and third parties. Owner may also arrange to have third-party utility owners perform work on their utilities and facilities at or adjacent to the Site.
- B. If Owner performs other work at or adjacent to the Site with Owner's employees, or through contracts for such other work, then Owner shall give Contractor written notice thereof prior to starting any such other work. If Owner has advance information regarding the start of any utility work at or adjacent to the Site, Owner shall provide such information to Contractor.
- C. Contractor shall afford each other contractor that performs such other work, each utility owner performing other work, and Owner, if Owner is performing other work with Owner's employees, proper and safe access to the Site, and provide a reasonable opportunity for the introduction and storage of materials and equipment and the execution of such other work. Contractor shall do all cutting, fitting, and patching of the Work that may be required to properly connect or otherwise make its several parts come together and properly integrate with such other work. Contractor shall not endanger any work of others by cutting, excavating, or otherwise altering such work; provided, however, that Contractor may cut or alter others' work with the written consent of Engineer and the others whose work will be affected.
- D. If the proper execution or results of any part of Contractor's Work depends upon work performed by others under this Article 8, Contractor shall inspect such other work and promptly report to Engineer in writing any delays, defects, or deficiencies in such other work that render it unavailable or unsuitable for the proper execution and results of Contractor's Work. Contractor's failure to so report will constitute an acceptance of such other work as fit and proper for integration with Contractor's Work except for latent defects and deficiencies in such other work.

8.02 *Coordination*

- A. If Owner intends to contract with others for the performance of other work at or adjacent to the Site, to perform other work at or adjacent to the Site with Owner's employees, or to arrange to have utility owners perform work at or adjacent to the Site, the following will be set forth in the Supplementary Conditions or provided to Contractor prior to the start of any such other work:
 - 1. the identity of the individual or entity that will have authority and responsibility for coordination of the activities among the various contractors;
 - 2. an itemization of the specific matters to be covered by such authority and responsibility; and
 - 3. the extent of such authority and responsibilities.
- B. Unless otherwise provided in the Supplementary Conditions, Owner shall have sole authority and responsibility for such coordination.

8.03 Legal Relationships

- If, in the course of performing other work at or adjacent to the Site for Owner, the Owner's employees, any other contractor working for Owner, or any utility owner causes damage to the Work or to the property of Contractor or its Subcontractors, or delays, disrupts, interferes with, or increases the scope or cost of the performance of the Work, through actions or inaction, then Contractor shall be entitled to an equitable adjustment in the Contract Price or the Contract Times, or both. Contractor must submit any Change Proposal seeking an equitable adjustment in the Contract Price or the Contract Times under this paragraph within 30 days of the damaging, delaying, disrupting, or interfering event. The entitlement to, and extent of, any such equitable adjustment shall take into account information (if any) regarding such other work that was provided to Contractor in the Contract Documents prior to the submittal of the Bid or the final negotiation of the terms of the Contract. When applicable, any such equitable adjustment in Contract Price shall be conditioned on Contractor assigning to Owner all Contractor's rights against such other contractor or utility owner with respect to the damage, delay, disruption, or interference that is the subject of the adjustment. Contractor's entitlement to an adjustment of the Contract Times is conditioned on such adjustment being essential to Contractor's ability to complete the Work within the Contract Times.
- B. Contractor shall take reasonable and customary measures to avoid damaging, delaying, disrupting, or interfering with the work of Owner, any other contractor, or any utility owner performing other work at or adjacent to the Site. If Contractor fails to take such measures and as a result damages, delays, disrupts, or interferes with the work of any such other contractor or utility owner, then Owner may impose a set-off against payments due to Contractor, and assign to such other contractor or utility owner the Owner's contractual rights against Contractor with respect to the breach of the obligations set forth in this paragraph.
- C. When Owner is performing other work at or adjacent to the Site with Owner's employees, Contractor shall be liable to Owner for damage to such other work, and for the reasonable direct delay, disruption, and interference costs incurred by Owner as a result of Contractor's failure to take reasonable and customary measures with respect to Owner's other work. In response to such damage, delay, disruption, or interference, Owner may impose a set-off against payments due to Contractor.

D. If Contractor damages, delays, disrupts, or interferes with the work of any other contractor, or any utility owner performing other work at or adjacent to the Site, through Contractor's failure to take reasonable and customary measures to avoid such impacts, or if any claim arising out of Contractor's actions, inactions, or negligence in performance of the Work at or adjacent to the Site is made by any such other contractor or utility owner against Contractor, Owner, or Engineer, then Contractor shall (1) promptly attempt to settle the claim as to all parties through negotiations with such other contractor or utility owner, or otherwise resolve the claim by arbitration or other dispute resolution proceeding or at law, and (2) indemnify and hold harmless Owner and Engineer, and the officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants and subcontractors of each and any of them from and against any such claims, and against all costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to such damage, delay, disruption, or interference.

ARTICLE 9 – OWNER'S RESPONSIBILITIES

9.01 Communications to Contractor

A. Except as otherwise provided in these General Conditions, Owner shall issue all communications to Contractor through Engineer.

9.02 Replacement of Engineer

A. Owner may at its discretion appoint an engineer to replace Engineer, provided Contractor makes no reasonable objection to the replacement engineer. The replacement engineer's status under the Contract Documents shall be that of the former Engineer.

9.03 Furnish Data

A. Owner shall promptly furnish the data required of Owner under the Contract Documents.

9.04 Pay When Due

A. Owner shall make payments to Contractor when they are due as provided in the Agreement.

9.05 Lands and Easements; Reports, Tests, and Drawings

- A. Owner's duties with respect to providing lands and easements are set forth in Paragraph 5.01.
- B. Owner's duties with respect to providing engineering surveys to establish reference points are set forth in Paragraph 4.03.
- C. Article 5 refers to Owner's identifying and making available to Contractor copies of reports of explorations and tests of conditions at the Site, and drawings of physical conditions relating to existing surface or subsurface structures at the Site.

9.06 *Insurance*

A. Owner's responsibilities, if any, with respect to purchasing and maintaining liability and property insurance are set forth in Article 6.

9.07 Change Orders

A. Owner's responsibilities with respect to Change Orders are set forth in Article 11.

- 9.08 Inspections, Tests, and Approvals
 - A. Owner's responsibility with respect to certain inspections, tests, and approvals is set forth in Paragraph 14.02.B.
- 9.09 Limitations on Owner's Responsibilities
 - A. The Owner shall not supervise, direct, or have control or authority over, nor be responsible for, Contractor's means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction, or the safety precautions and programs incident thereto, or for any failure of Contractor to comply with Laws and Regulations applicable to the performance of the Work. Owner will not be responsible for Contractor's failure to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents.
- 9.10 Undisclosed Hazardous Environmental Condition
 - A. Owner's responsibility in respect to an undisclosed Hazardous Environmental Condition is set forth in Paragraph 5.06.
- 9.11 Evidence of Financial Arrangements
 - A. Upon request of Contractor, Owner shall furnish Contractor reasonable evidence that financial arrangements have been made to satisfy Owner's obligations under the Contract Documents (including obligations under proposed changes in the Work).
- 9.12 Safety Programs
 - A. While at the Site, Owner's employees and representatives shall comply with the specific applicable requirements of Contractor's safety programs of which Owner has been informed.
 - B. Owner shall furnish copies of any applicable Owner safety programs to Contractor.

ARTICLE 10 - ENGINEER'S STATUS DURING CONSTRUCTION

- 10.01 Owner's Representative
 - A. Engineer will be Owner's representative during the construction period. The duties and responsibilities and the limitations of authority of Engineer as Owner's representative during construction are set forth in the Contract.
- 10.02 Visits to Site
 - A. Engineer will make visits to the Site at intervals appropriate to the various stages of construction as Engineer deems necessary in order to observe as an experienced and qualified design professional the progress that has been made and the quality of the various aspects of Contractor's executed Work. Based on information obtained during such visits and observations, Engineer, for the benefit of Owner, will determine, in general, if the Work is proceeding in accordance with the Contract Documents. Engineer will not be required to make exhaustive or continuous inspections on the Site to check the quality or quantity of the Work. Engineer's efforts will be directed toward providing for Owner a greater degree of confidence that the completed Work will conform generally to the Contract Documents. On the basis of such visits and observations, Engineer will keep Owner informed of the progress of the Work and will endeavor to guard Owner against defective Work.
 - B. Engineer's visits and observations are subject to all the limitations on Engineer's authority and responsibility set forth in Paragraph 10.08. Particularly, but without limitation, during

or as a result of Engineer's visits or observations of Contractor's Work, Engineer will not supervise, direct, control, or have authority over or be responsible for Contractor's means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction, or the safety precautions and programs incident thereto, or for any failure of Contractor to comply with Laws and Regulations applicable to the performance of the Work.

10.03 Project Representative

A. If Owner and Engineer have agreed that Engineer will furnish a Resident Project Representative to represent Engineer at the Site and assist Engineer in observing the progress and quality of the Work, then the authority and responsibilities of any such Resident Project Representative will be as provided in the Supplementary Conditions, and limitations on the responsibilities thereof will be as provided in Paragraph 10.08. If Owner designates another representative or agent to represent Owner at the Site who is not Engineer's consultant, agent, or employee, the responsibilities and authority and limitations thereon of such other individual or entity will be as provided in the Supplementary Conditions.

10.04 Rejecting Defective Work

A. Engineer has the authority to reject Work in accordance with Article 14.

10.05 Shop Drawings, Change Orders and Payments

- A. Engineer's authority, and limitations thereof, as to Shop Drawings and Samples, are set forth in Paragraph 7.16.
- B. Engineer's authority, and limitations thereof, as to design calculations and design drawings submitted in response to a delegation of professional design services, if any, are set forth in Paragraph 7.19.
- C. Engineer's authority as to Change Orders is set forth in Article 11.
- D. Engineer's authority as to Applications for Payment is set forth in Article 15.

10.06 Determinations for Unit Price Work

A. Engineer will determine the actual quantities and classifications of Unit Price Work performed by Contractor as set forth in Paragraph 13.03.

10.07 Decisions on Requirements of Contract Documents and Acceptability of Work

A. Engineer will render decisions regarding the requirements of the Contract Documents, and judge the acceptability of the Work, pursuant to the specific procedures set forth herein for initial interpretations, Change Proposals, and acceptance of the Work. In rendering such decisions and judgments, Engineer will not show partiality to Owner or Contractor, and will not be liable to Owner, Contractor, or others in connection with any proceedings, interpretations, decisions, or judgments conducted or rendered in good faith.

10.08 Limitations on Engineer's Authority and Responsibilities

A. Neither Engineer's authority or responsibility under this Article 10 or under any other provision of the Contract, nor any decision made by Engineer in good faith either to exercise or not exercise such authority or responsibility or the undertaking, exercise, or performance of any authority or responsibility by Engineer, shall create, impose, or give rise to any duty in contract, tort, or otherwise owed by Engineer to Contractor, any Subcontractor, any Supplier, any other individual or entity, or to any surety for or employee or agent of any of them.

- B. Engineer will not supervise, direct, control, or have authority over or be responsible for Contractor's means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction, or the safety precautions and programs incident thereto, or for any failure of Contractor to comply with Laws and Regulations applicable to the performance of the Work. Engineer will not be responsible for Contractor's failure to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents.
- C. Engineer will not be responsible for the acts or omissions of Contractor or of any Subcontractor, any Supplier, or of any other individual or entity performing any of the Work.
- D. Engineer's review of the final Application for Payment and accompanying documentation and all maintenance and operating instructions, schedules, guarantees, bonds, certificates of inspection, tests and approvals, and other documentation required to be delivered by Paragraph 15.06.A will only be to determine generally that their content complies with the requirements of, and in the case of certificates of inspections, tests, and approvals, that the results certified indicate compliance with the Contract Documents.
- E. The limitations upon authority and responsibility set forth in this Paragraph 10.08 shall also apply to the Resident Project Representative, if any.

10.09 Compliance with Safety Program

A. While at the Site, Engineer's employees and representatives will comply with the specific applicable requirements of Owner's and Contractor's safety programs (if any) of which Engineer has been informed.

ARTICLE 11 – AMENDING THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS; CHANGES IN THE WORK

11.01 Amending and Supplementing Contract Documents

A. The Contract Documents may be amended or supplemented by a Change Order, a Work Change Directive, or a Field Order.

1. Change Orders:

- If an amendment or supplement to the Contract Documents includes a change in the Contract Price or the Contract Times, such amendment or supplement must be set forth in a Change Order. A Change Order also may be used to establish amendments and supplements of the Contract Documents that do not affect the Contract Price or Contract Times.
- b. Owner and Contractor may amend those terms and conditions of the Contract Documents that do not involve (1) the performance or acceptability of the Work, (2) the design (as set forth in the Drawings, Specifications, or otherwise), or (3) other engineering or technical matters, without the recommendation of the Engineer. Such an amendment shall be set forth in a Change Order.
- 2. Work Change Directives: A Work Change Directive will not change the Contract Price or the Contract Times but is evidence that the parties expect that the modification ordered or documented by a Work Change Directive will be incorporated in a subsequently issued Change Order, following negotiations by the parties as to the Work Change Directive's effect, if any, on the Contract Price and Contract Times; or, if negotiations are unsuccessful, by a determination under the terms of the Contract Documents governing adjustments, expressly including Paragraph 11.04 regarding change of Contract Price. Contractor must submit any Change Proposal seeking an

- adjustment of the Contract Price or the Contract Times, or both, no later than 30 days after the completion of the Work set out in the Work Change Directive. Owner must submit any Claim seeking an adjustment of the Contract Price or the Contract Times, or both, no later than 60 days after issuance of the Work Change Directive.
- 3. Field Orders: Engineer may authorize minor changes in the Work if the changes do not involve an adjustment in the Contract Price or the Contract Times and are compatible with the design concept of the completed Project as a functioning whole as indicated by the Contract Documents. Such changes will be accomplished by a Field Order and will be binding on Owner and also on Contractor, which shall perform the Work involved promptly. If Contractor believes that a Field Order justifies an adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, then before proceeding with the Work at issue, Contractor shall submit a Change Proposal as provided herein.

11.02 Owner-Authorized Changes in the Work

A. Without invalidating the Contract and without notice to any surety, Owner may, at any time or from time to time, order additions, deletions, or revisions in the Work. Such changes shall be supported by Engineer's recommendation, to the extent the change involves the design (as set forth in the Drawings, Specifications, or otherwise), or other engineering or technical matters. Such changes may be accomplished by a Change Order, if Owner and Contractor have agreed as to the effect, if any, of the changes on Contract Times or Contract Price; or by a Work Change Directive. Upon receipt of any such document, Contractor shall promptly proceed with the Work involved; or, in the case of a deletion in the Work, promptly cease construction activities with respect to such deleted Work. Added or revised Work shall be performed under the applicable conditions of the Contract Documents. Nothing in this paragraph shall obligate Contractor to undertake work that Contractor reasonably concludes cannot be performed in a manner consistent with Contractor's safety obligations under the Contract Documents or Laws and Regulations.

11.03 Unauthorized Changes in the Work

A. Contractor shall not be entitled to an increase in the Contract Price or an extension of the Contract Times with respect to any work performed that is not required by the Contract Documents, as amended, modified, or supplemented, except in the case of an emergency as provided in Paragraph 7.15 or in the case of uncovering Work as provided in Paragraph 14.05.

11.04 Change of Contract Price

- A. The Contract Price may only be changed by a Change Order. Any Change Proposal for an adjustment in the Contract Price shall comply with the provisions of Paragraph 11.06. Any Claim for an adjustment of Contract Price shall comply with the provisions of Article 12.
- B. An adjustment in the Contract Price will be determined as follows:
 - 1. where the Work involved is covered by unit prices contained in the Contract Documents, then by application of such unit prices to the quantities of the items involved (subject to the provisions of Paragraph 13.03); or
 - 2. where the Work involved is not covered by unit prices contained in the Contract Documents, then by a mutually agreed lump sum (which may include an allowance for overhead and profit not necessarily in accordance with Paragraph 11.04.C.2); or
 - 3. where the Work involved is not covered by unit prices contained in the Contract Documents and the parties do not reach mutual agreement to a lump sum, then on

the basis of the Cost of the Work (determined as provided in Paragraph 13.01) plus a Contractor's fee for overhead and profit (determined as provided in Paragraph 11.04.C).

- C. *Contractor's Fee*: When applicable, the Contractor's fee for overhead and profit shall be determined as follows:
 - 1. a mutually acceptable fixed fee; or
 - 2. if a fixed fee is not agreed upon, then a fee based on the following percentages of the various portions of the Cost of the Work:
 - a. for costs incurred under Paragraphs 13.01.B.1 and 13.01.B.2, the Contractor's fee shall be 15 percent;
 - b. for costs incurred under Paragraph 13.01.B.3, the Contractor's fee shall be five percent;
 - c. where one or more tiers of subcontracts are on the basis of Cost of the Work plus a fee and no fixed fee is agreed upon, the intent of Paragraphs 11.01.C.2.a and 11.01.C.2.b is that the Contractor's fee shall be based on: (1) a fee of 15 percent of the costs incurred under Paragraphs 13.01.A.1 and 13.01.A.2 by the Subcontractor that actually performs the Work, at whatever tier, and (2) with respect to Contractor itself and to any Subcontractors of a tier higher than that of the Subcontractor that actually performs the Work, a fee of five percent of the amount (fee plus underlying costs incurred) attributable to the next lower tier Subcontractor; provided, however, that for any such subcontracted work the maximum total fee to be paid by Owner shall be no greater than 27 percent of the costs incurred by the Subcontractor that actually performs the work;
 - d. no fee shall be payable on the basis of costs itemized under Paragraphs 13.01.B.4, 13.01.B.5, and 13.01.C;
 - e. the amount of credit to be allowed by Contractor to Owner for any change which results in a net decrease in cost will be the amount of the actual net decrease in cost plus a deduction in Contractor's fee by an amount equal to five percent of such net decrease; and
 - f. when both additions and credits are involved in any one change, the adjustment in Contractor's fee shall be computed on the basis of the net change in accordance with Paragraphs 11.04.C.2.a through 11.04.C.2.e, inclusive.

11.05 Change of Contract Times

- A. The Contract Times may only be changed by a Change Order. Any Change Proposal for an adjustment in the Contract Times shall comply with the provisions of Paragraph 11.06. Any Claim for an adjustment in the Contract Times shall comply with the provisions of Article 12.
- B. An adjustment of the Contract Times shall be subject to the limitations set forth in Paragraph 4.05, concerning delays in Contractor's progress.

11.06 Change Proposals

A. Contractor shall submit a Change Proposal to Engineer to request an adjustment in the Contract Times or Contract Price; appeal an initial decision by Engineer concerning the requirements of the Contract Documents or relating to the acceptability of the Work under the Contract Documents; contest a set-off against payment due; or seek other relief under

the Contract. The Change Proposal shall specify any proposed change in Contract Times or Contract Price, or both, or other proposed relief, and explain the reason for the proposed change, with citations to any governing or applicable provisions of the Contract Documents.

- 1. Procedures: Contractor shall submit each Change Proposal to Engineer promptly (but in no event later than 30 days) after the start of the event giving rise thereto, or after such initial decision. The Contractor shall submit supporting data, including the proposed change in Contract Price or Contract Time (if any), to the Engineer and Owner within 15 days after the submittal of the Change Proposal. The supporting data shall be accompanied by a written statement that the supporting data are accurate and complete, and that any requested time or price adjustment is the entire adjustment to which Contractor believes it is entitled as a result of said event. Engineer will advise Owner regarding the Change Proposal, and consider any comments or response from Owner regarding the Change Proposal.
- 2. Engineer's Action: Engineer will review each Change Proposal and, within 30 days after receipt of the Contractor's supporting data, either deny the Change Proposal in whole, approve it in whole, or deny it in part and approve it in part. Such actions shall be in writing, with a copy provided to Owner and Contractor. If Engineer does not take action on the Change Proposal within 30 days, then either Owner or Contractor may at any time thereafter submit a letter to the other party indicating that as a result of Engineer's inaction the Change Proposal is deemed denied, thereby commencing the time for appeal of the denial under Article 12.
- 3. *Binding Decision*: Engineer's decision will be final and binding upon Owner and Contractor, unless Owner or Contractor appeals the decision by filing a Claim under Article 12.
- B. Resolution of Certain Change Proposals: If the Change Proposal does not involve the design (as set forth in the Drawings, Specifications, or otherwise), the acceptability of the Work, or other engineering or technical matters, then Engineer will notify the parties that the Engineer is unable to resolve the Change Proposal. For purposes of further resolution of such a Change Proposal, such notice shall be deemed a denial, and Contractor may choose to seek resolution under the terms of Article 12.

11.07 Execution of Change Orders

- A. Owner and Contractor shall execute appropriate Change Orders covering:
 - changes in the Contract Price or Contract Times which are agreed to by the parties, including any undisputed sum or amount of time for Work actually performed in accordance with a Work Change Directive;
 - changes in Contract Price resulting from an Owner set-off, unless Contractor has duly contested such set-off;
 - 3. changes in the Work which are: (a) ordered by Owner pursuant to Paragraph 11.02, (b) required because of Owner's acceptance of defective Work under Paragraph 14.04 or Owner's correction of defective Work under Paragraph 14.07, or (c) agreed to by the parties, subject to the need for Engineer's recommendation if the change in the Work involves the design (as set forth in the Drawings, Specifications, or otherwise), or other engineering or technical matters; and
 - 4. changes in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or other changes, which embody the substance of any final and binding results under Paragraph 11.06, or Article 12.

B. If Owner or Contractor refuses to execute a Change Order that is required to be executed under the terms of this Paragraph 11.07, it shall be deemed to be of full force and effect, as if fully executed.

11.08 Notification to Surety

A. If the provisions of any bond require notice to be given to a surety of any change affecting the general scope of the Work or the provisions of the Contract Documents (including, but not limited to, Contract Price or Contract Times), the giving of any such notice will be Contractor's responsibility. The amount of each applicable bond will be adjusted to reflect the effect of any such change.

ARTICLE 12 – CLAIMS

12.01 *Claims*

- A. *Claims Process*: The following disputes between Owner and Contractor shall be submitted to the Claims process set forth in this Article:
 - Appeals by Owner or Contractor of Engineer's decisions regarding Change Proposals;
 - 2. Owner demands for adjustments in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or other relief under the Contract Documents; and
 - 3. Disputes that Engineer has been unable to address because they do not involve the design (as set forth in the Drawings, Specifications, or otherwise), the acceptability of the Work, or other engineering or technical matters.
- B. Submittal of Claim: The party submitting a Claim shall deliver it directly to the other party to the Contract promptly (but in no event later than 30 days) after the start of the event giving rise thereto; in the case of appeals regarding Change Proposals within 30 days of the decision under appeal. The party submitting the Claim shall also furnish a copy to the Engineer, for its information only. The responsibility to substantiate a Claim shall rest with the party making the Claim. In the case of a Claim by Contractor seeking an increase in the Contract Times or Contract Price, or both, Contractor shall certify that the Claim is made in good faith, that the supporting data are accurate and complete, and that to the best of Contractor's knowledge and belief the amount of time or money requested accurately reflects the full amount to which Contractor is entitled.
- C. Review and Resolution: The party receiving a Claim shall review it thoroughly, giving full consideration to its merits. The two parties shall seek to resolve the Claim through the exchange of information and direct negotiations. The parties may extend the time for resolving the Claim by mutual agreement. All actions taken on a Claim shall be stated in writing and submitted to the other party, with a copy to Engineer.

D. Mediation:

- At any time after initiation of a Claim, Owner and Contractor may mutually agree to mediation of the underlying dispute. The agreement to mediate shall stay the Claim submittal and response process.
- 2. If Owner and Contractor agree to mediation, then after 60 days from such agreement, either Owner or Contractor may unilaterally terminate the mediation process, and the Claim submittal and decision process shall resume as of the date of the termination. If the mediation proceeds but is unsuccessful in resolving the dispute, the Claim

- submittal and decision process shall resume as of the date of the conclusion of the mediation, as determined by the mediator.
- 3. Owner and Contractor shall each pay one-half of the mediator's fees and costs.
- E. *Partial Approval*: If the party receiving a Claim approves the Claim in part and denies it in part, such action shall be final and binding unless within 30 days of such action the other party invokes the procedure set forth in Article 17 for final resolution of disputes.
- F. Denial of Claim: If efforts to resolve a Claim are not successful, the party receiving the Claim may deny it by giving written notice of denial to the other party. If the receiving party does not take action on the Claim within 90 days, then either Owner or Contractor may at any time thereafter submit a letter to the other party indicating that as a result of the inaction, the Claim is deemed denied, thereby commencing the time for appeal of the denial. A denial of the Claim shall be final and binding unless within 30 days of the denial the other party invokes the procedure set forth in Article 17 for the final resolution of disputes.
- G. Final and Binding Results: If the parties reach a mutual agreement regarding a Claim, whether through approval of the Claim, direct negotiations, mediation, or otherwise; or if a Claim is approved in part and denied in part, or denied in full, and such actions become final and binding; then the results of the agreement or action on the Claim shall be incorporated in a Change Order to the extent they affect the Contract, including the Work, the Contract Times, or the Contract Price.

ARTICLE 13 - COST OF THE WORK; ALLOWANCES; UNIT PRICE WORK

13.01 *Cost of the Work*

- A. Purposes for Determination of Cost of the Work: The term Cost of the Work means the sum of all costs necessary for the proper performance of the Work at issue, as further defined below. The provisions of this Paragraph 13.01 are used for two distinct purposes:
 - 1. To determine Cost of the Work when Cost of the Work is a component of the Contract Price, under cost-plus-fee, time-and-materials, or other cost-based terms; or
 - 2. To determine the value of a Change Order, Change Proposal, Claim, set-off, or other adjustment in Contract Price. When the value of any such adjustment is determined on the basis of Cost of the Work, Contractor is entitled only to those additional or incremental costs required because of the change in the Work or because of the event giving rise to the adjustment.
- B. Costs Included: Except as otherwise may be agreed to in writing by Owner, costs included in the Cost of the Work shall be in amounts no higher than those prevailing in the locality of the Project, shall not include any of the costs itemized in Paragraph 13.01.C, and shall include only the following items:
 - 1. Payroll costs for employees in the direct employ of Contractor in the performance of the Work under schedules of job classifications agreed upon by Owner and Contractor. Such employees shall include, without limitation, superintendents, foremen, and other personnel employed full time on the Work. Payroll costs for employees not employed full time on the Work shall be apportioned on the basis of their time spent on the Work. Payroll costs shall include, but not be limited to, salaries and wages plus the cost of fringe benefits, which shall include social security contributions, unemployment, excise, and payroll taxes, workers' compensation, health and retirement benefits, bonuses, sick leave, and vacation and holiday pay applicable

- thereto. The expenses of performing Work outside of regular working hours, on Saturday, Sunday, or legal holidays, shall be included in the above to the extent authorized by Owner.
- 2. Cost of all materials and equipment furnished and incorporated in the Work, including costs of transportation and storage thereof, and Suppliers' field services required in connection therewith. All cash discounts shall accrue to Contractor unless Owner deposits funds with Contractor with which to make payments, in which case the cash discounts shall accrue to Owner. All trade discounts, rebates, and refunds and returns from sale of surplus materials and equipment shall accrue to Owner, and Contractor shall make provisions so that they may be obtained.
- 3. Payments made by Contractor to Subcontractors for Work performed by Subcontractors. If required by Owner, Contractor shall obtain competitive bids from subcontractors acceptable to Owner and Contractor and shall deliver such bids to Owner, who will then determine, with the advice of Engineer, which bids, if any, will be acceptable. If any subcontract provides that the Subcontractor is to be paid on the basis of Cost of the Work plus a fee, the Subcontractor's Cost of the Work and fee shall be determined in the same manner as Contractor's Cost of the Work and fee as provided in this Paragraph 13.01.
- 4. Costs of special consultants (including but not limited to engineers, architects, testing laboratories, surveyors, attorneys, and accountants) employed for services specifically related to the Work.
- 5. Supplemental costs including the following:
 - a. The proportion of necessary transportation, travel, and subsistence expenses of Contractor's employees incurred in discharge of duties connected with the Work.
 - b. Cost, including transportation and maintenance, of all materials, supplies, equipment, machinery, appliances, office, and temporary facilities at the Site, and hand tools not owned by the workers, which are consumed in the performance of the Work, and cost, less market value, of such items used but not consumed which remain the property of Contractor.
 - c. Rentals of all construction equipment and machinery, and the parts thereof, whether rented from Contractor or others in accordance with rental agreements approved by Owner with the advice of Engineer, and the costs of transportation, loading, unloading, assembly, dismantling, and removal thereof. All such costs shall be in accordance with the terms of said rental agreements. The rental of any such equipment, machinery, or parts shall cease when the use thereof is no longer necessary for the Work.
 - d. Sales, consumer, use, and other similar taxes related to the Work, and for which Contractor is liable, as imposed by Laws and Regulations.
 - e. Deposits lost for causes other than negligence of Contractor, any Subcontractor, or anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them or for whose acts any of them may be liable, and royalty payments and fees for permits and licenses.
 - f. Losses and damages (and related expenses) caused by damage to the Work, not compensated by insurance or otherwise, sustained by Contractor in connection with the performance of the Work (except losses and damages within the deductible amounts of property insurance established in accordance with Paragraph 6.05), provided such losses and damages have resulted from causes

other than the negligence of Contractor, any Subcontractor, or anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them or for whose acts any of them may be liable. Such losses shall include settlements made with the written consent and approval of Owner. No such losses, damages, and expenses shall be included in the Cost of the Work for the purpose of determining Contractor's fee.

- g. The cost of utilities, fuel, and sanitary facilities at the Site.
- h. Minor expenses such as communication service at the Site, express and courier services, and similar petty cash items in connection with the Work.
- i. The costs of premiums for all bonds and insurance that Contractor is required by the Contract Documents to purchase and maintain.
- C. Costs Excluded: The term Cost of the Work shall not include any of the following items:
 - 1. Payroll costs and other compensation of Contractor's officers, executives, principals (of partnerships and sole proprietorships), general managers, safety managers, engineers, architects, estimators, attorneys, auditors, accountants, purchasing and contracting agents, expediters, timekeepers, clerks, and other personnel employed by Contractor, whether at the Site or in Contractor's principal or branch office for general administration of the Work and not specifically included in the agreed upon schedule of job classifications referred to in Paragraph 13.01.B.1 or specifically covered by Paragraph 13.01.B.4. The payroll costs and other compensation excluded here are to be considered administrative costs covered by the Contractor's fee.
 - 2. Expenses of Contractor's principal and branch offices other than Contractor's office at the Site.
 - 3. Any part of Contractor's capital expenses, including interest on Contractor's capital employed for the Work and charges against Contractor for delinquent payments.
 - 4. Costs due to the negligence of Contractor, any Subcontractor, or anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them or for whose acts any of them may be liable, including but not limited to, the correction of defective Work, disposal of materials or equipment wrongly supplied, and making good any damage to property.
 - 5. Other overhead or general expense costs of any kind and the costs of any item not specifically and expressly included in Paragraph 13.01.B.
- D. Contractor's Fee: When the Work as a whole is performed on the basis of cost-plus, Contractor's fee shall be determined as set forth in the Agreement. When the value of any Work covered by a Change Order, Change Proposal, Claim, set-off, or other adjustment in Contract Price is determined on the basis of Cost of the Work, Contractor's fee shall be determined as set forth in Paragraph 11.04.C.
- E. Documentation: Whenever the Cost of the Work for any purpose is to be determined pursuant to this Article 13, Contractor will establish and maintain records thereof in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices and submit in a form acceptable to Engineer an itemized cost breakdown together with supporting data.

13.02 Allowances

A. It is understood that Contractor has included in the Contract Price all allowances so named in the Contract Documents and shall cause the Work so covered to be performed for such sums and by such persons or entities as may be acceptable to Owner and Engineer.

- B. Cash Allowances: Contractor agrees that:
 - the cash allowances include the cost to Contractor (less any applicable trade discounts) of materials and equipment required by the allowances to be delivered at the Site, and all applicable taxes; and
 - Contractor's costs for unloading and handling on the Site, labor, installation, overhead, profit, and other expenses contemplated for the cash allowances have been included in the Contract Price and not in the allowances, and no demand for additional payment on account of any of the foregoing will be valid.
- C. *Contingency Allowance*: Contractor agrees that a contingency allowance, if any, is for the sole use of Owner to cover unanticipated costs.
- D. Prior to final payment, an appropriate Change Order will be issued as recommended by Engineer to reflect actual amounts due Contractor on account of Work covered by allowances, and the Contract Price shall be correspondingly adjusted.

13.03 Unit Price Work

- A. Where the Contract Documents provide that all or part of the Work is to be Unit Price Work, initially the Contract Price will be deemed to include for all Unit Price Work an amount equal to the sum of the unit price for each separately identified item of Unit Price Work times the estimated quantity of each item as indicated in the Agreement.
- B. The estimated quantities of items of Unit Price Work are not guaranteed and are solely for the purpose of comparison of Bids and determining an initial Contract Price. Payments to Contractor for Unit Price Work will be based on actual quantities.
- C. Each unit price will be deemed to include an amount considered by Contractor to be adequate to cover Contractor's overhead and profit for each separately identified item.
- D. Engineer will determine the actual quantities and classifications of Unit Price Work performed by Contractor. Engineer will review with Contractor the Engineer's preliminary determinations on such matters before rendering a written decision thereon (by recommendation of an Application for Payment or otherwise). Engineer's written decision thereon will be final and binding (except as modified by Engineer to reflect changed factual conditions or more accurate data) upon Owner and Contractor, subject to the provisions of the following paragraph.
- E. Within 30 days of Engineer's written decision under the preceding paragraph, Contractor may submit a Change Proposal, or Owner may file a Claim, seeking an adjustment in the Contract Price if:
 - the quantity of any item of Unit Price Work performed by Contractor differs materially and significantly from the estimated quantity of such item indicated in the Agreement;
 - 2. there is no corresponding adjustment with respect to any other item of Work; and
 - Contractor believes that it is entitled to an increase in Contract Price as a result of having incurred additional expense or Owner believes that Owner is entitled to a decrease in Contract Price, and the parties are unable to agree as to the amount of any such increase or decrease.

ARTICLE 14 – TESTS AND INSPECTIONS; CORRECTION, REMOVAL OR ACCEPTANCE OF DEFECTIVE WORK

14.01 Access to Work

A. Owner, Engineer, their consultants and other representatives and personnel of Owner, independent testing laboratories, and authorities having jurisdiction will have access to the Site and the Work at reasonable times for their observation, inspection, and testing. Contractor shall provide them proper and safe conditions for such access and advise them of Contractor's safety procedures and programs so that they may comply therewith as applicable.

14.02 Tests, Inspections, and Approvals

- A. Contractor shall give Engineer timely notice of readiness of the Work (or specific parts thereof) for all required inspections and tests, and shall cooperate with inspection and testing personnel to facilitate required inspections and tests.
- B. Owner shall retain and pay for the services of an independent inspector, testing laboratory, or other qualified individual or entity to perform all inspections and tests expressly required by the Contract Documents to be furnished and paid for by Owner, except that costs incurred in connection with tests or inspections of covered Work shall be governed by the provisions of Paragraph 14.05.
- C. If Laws or Regulations of any public body having jurisdiction require any Work (or part thereof) specifically to be inspected, tested, or approved by an employee or other representative of such public body, Contractor shall assume full responsibility for arranging and obtaining such inspections, tests, or approvals, pay all costs in connection therewith, and furnish Engineer the required certificates of inspection or approval.
- D. Contractor shall be responsible for arranging, obtaining, and paying for all inspections and tests required:
 - 1. by the Contract Documents, unless the Contract Documents expressly allocate responsibility for a specific inspection or test to Owner;
 - 2. to attain Owner's and Engineer's acceptance of materials or equipment to be incorporated in the Work;
 - 3. by manufacturers of equipment furnished under the Contract Documents;
 - 4. for testing, adjusting, and balancing of mechanical, electrical, and other equipment to be incorporated into the Work; and
 - 5. for acceptance of materials, mix designs, or equipment submitted for approval prior to Contractor's purchase thereof for incorporation in the Work.

Such inspections and tests shall be performed by independent inspectors, testing laboratories, or other qualified individuals or entities acceptable to Owner and Engineer.

- E. If the Contract Documents require the Work (or part thereof) to be approved by Owner, Engineer, or another designated individual or entity, then Contractor shall assume full responsibility for arranging and obtaining such approvals.
- F. If any Work (or the work of others) that is to be inspected, tested, or approved is covered by Contractor without written concurrence of Engineer, Contractor shall, if requested by Engineer, uncover such Work for observation. Such uncovering shall be at Contractor's expense unless Contractor had given Engineer timely notice of Contractor's intention to

cover the same and Engineer had not acted with reasonable promptness in response to such notice.

14.03 Defective Work

- A. *Contractor's Obligation*: It is Contractor's obligation to assure that the Work is not defective.
- B. *Engineer's Authority*: Engineer has the authority to determine whether Work is defective, and to reject defective Work.
- C. *Notice of Defects*: Prompt notice of all defective Work of which Owner or Engineer has actual knowledge will be given to Contractor.
- D. *Correction, or Removal and Replacement*: Promptly after receipt of written notice of defective Work, Contractor shall correct all such defective Work, whether or not fabricated, installed, or completed, or, if Engineer has rejected the defective Work, remove it from the Project and replace it with Work that is not defective.
- E. *Preservation of Warranties*: When correcting defective Work, Contractor shall take no action that would void or otherwise impair Owner's special warranty and guarantee, if any, on said Work.
- F. Costs and Damages: In addition to its correction, removal, and replacement obligations with respect to defective Work, Contractor shall pay all claims, costs, losses, and damages arising out of or relating to defective Work, including but not limited to the cost of the inspection, testing, correction, removal, replacement, or reconstruction of such defective Work, fines levied against Owner by governmental authorities because the Work is defective, and the costs of repair or replacement of work of others resulting from defective Work. Prior to final payment, if Owner and Contractor are unable to agree as to the measure of such claims, costs, losses, and damages resulting from defective Work, then Owner may impose a reasonable set-off against payments due under Article 15.

14.04 Acceptance of Defective Work

A. If, instead of requiring correction or removal and replacement of defective Work, Owner prefers to accept it, Owner may do so (subject, if such acceptance occurs prior to final payment, to Engineer's confirmation that such acceptance is in general accord with the design intent and applicable engineering principles, and will not endanger public safety). Contractor shall pay all claims, costs, losses, and damages attributable to Owner's evaluation of and determination to accept such defective Work (such costs to be approved by Engineer as to reasonableness), and for the diminished value of the Work to the extent not otherwise paid by Contractor. If any such acceptance occurs prior to final payment, the necessary revisions in the Contract Documents with respect to the Work shall be incorporated in a Change Order. If the parties are unable to agree as to the decrease in the Contract Price, reflecting the diminished value of Work so accepted, then Owner may impose a reasonable set-off against payments due under Article 15. If the acceptance of defective Work occurs after final payment, Contractor shall pay an appropriate amount to Owner.

14.05 Uncovering Work

A. Engineer has the authority to require special inspection or testing of the Work, whether or not the Work is fabricated, installed, or completed.

- B. If any Work is covered contrary to the written request of Engineer, then Contractor shall, if requested by Engineer, uncover such Work for Engineer's observation, and then replace the covering, all at Contractor's expense.
- C. If Engineer considers it necessary or advisable that covered Work be observed by Engineer or inspected or tested by others, then Contractor, at Engineer's request, shall uncover, expose, or otherwise make available for observation, inspection, or testing as Engineer may require, that portion of the Work in question, and provide all necessary labor, material, and equipment.
 - If it is found that the uncovered Work is defective, Contractor shall be responsible for all claims, costs, losses, and damages arising out of or relating to such uncovering, exposure, observation, inspection, and testing, and of satisfactory replacement or reconstruction (including but not limited to all costs of repair or replacement of work of others); and pending Contractor's full discharge of this responsibility the Owner shall be entitled to impose a reasonable set-off against payments due under Article 15.
 - 2. If the uncovered Work is not found to be defective, Contractor shall be allowed an increase in the Contract Price or an extension of the Contract Times, or both, directly attributable to such uncovering, exposure, observation, inspection, testing, replacement, and reconstruction. If the parties are unable to agree as to the amount or extent thereof, then Contractor may submit a Change Proposal within 30 days of the determination that the Work is not defective.

14.06 Owner May Stop the Work

A. If the Work is defective, or Contractor fails to supply sufficient skilled workers or suitable materials or equipment, or fails to perform the Work in such a way that the completed Work will conform to the Contract Documents, then Owner may order Contractor to stop the Work, or any portion thereof, until the cause for such order has been eliminated; however, this right of Owner to stop the Work shall not give rise to any duty on the part of Owner to exercise this right for the benefit of Contractor, any Subcontractor, any Supplier, any other individual or entity, or any surety for, or employee or agent of any of them.

14.07 Owner May Correct Defective Work

- A. If Contractor fails within a reasonable time after written notice from Engineer to correct defective Work, or to remove and replace rejected Work as required by Engineer, or if Contractor fails to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents, or if Contractor fails to comply with any other provision of the Contract Documents, then Owner may, after seven days written notice to Contractor, correct or remedy any such deficiency.
- In exercising the rights and remedies under this Paragraph 14.07, Owner shall proceed expeditiously. In connection with such corrective or remedial action, Owner may exclude Contractor from all or part of the Site, take possession of all or part of the Work and suspend Contractor's services related thereto, and incorporate in the Work all materials and equipment stored at the Site or for which Owner has paid Contractor but which are stored elsewhere. Contractor shall allow Owner, Owner's representatives, agents and employees, Owner's other contractors, and Engineer and Engineer's consultants access to the Site to enable Owner to exercise the rights and remedies under this paragraph.
- C. All claims, costs, losses, and damages incurred or sustained by Owner in exercising the rights and remedies under this Paragraph 14.07 will be charged against Contractor as setoffs against payments due under Article 15. Such claims, costs, losses and damages will

- include but not be limited to all costs of repair, or replacement of work of others destroyed or damaged by correction, removal, or replacement of Contractor's defective Work.
- D. Contractor shall not be allowed an extension of the Contract Times because of any delay in the performance of the Work attributable to the exercise by Owner of Owner's rights and remedies under this Paragraph 14.07.

ARTICLE 15 – PAYMENTS TO CONTRACTOR; SET-OFFS; COMPLETION; CORRECTION PERIOD

15.01 Progress Payments

A. Basis for Progress Payments: The Schedule of Values established as provided in Article 2 will serve as the basis for progress payments and will be incorporated into a form of Application for Payment acceptable to Engineer. Progress payments on account of Unit Price Work will be based on the number of units completed during the pay period, as determined under the provisions of Paragraph 13.03. Progress payments for cost-based Work will be based on Cost of the Work completed by Contractor during the pay period.

B. Applications for Payments:

- 1. At least 20 days before the date established in the Agreement for each progress payment (but not more often than once a month), Contractor shall submit to Engineer for review an Application for Payment filled out and signed by Contractor covering the Work completed as of the date of the Application and accompanied by such supporting documentation as is required by the Contract Documents. If payment is requested on the basis of materials and equipment not incorporated in the Work but delivered and suitably stored at the Site or at another location agreed to in writing, the Application for Payment shall also be accompanied by a bill of sale, invoice, or other documentation warranting that Owner has received the materials and equipment free and clear of all Liens, and evidence that the materials and equipment are covered by appropriate property insurance, a warehouse bond, or other arrangements to protect Owner's interest therein, all of which must be satisfactory to Owner.
- 2. Beginning with the second Application for Payment, each Application shall include an affidavit of Contractor stating that all previous progress payments received on account of the Work have been applied on account to discharge Contractor's legitimate obligations associated with prior Applications for Payment.
- 3. The amount of retainage with respect to progress payments will be as stipulated in the Agreement.

C. Review of Applications:

- Engineer will, within 10 days after receipt of each Application for Payment, including each resubmittal, either indicate in writing a recommendation of payment and present the Application to Owner, or return the Application to Contractor indicating in writing Engineer's reasons for refusing to recommend payment. In the latter case, Contractor may make the necessary corrections and resubmit the Application.
- 2. Engineer's recommendation of any payment requested in an Application for Payment will constitute a representation by Engineer to Owner, based on Engineer's observations of the executed Work as an experienced and qualified design professional, and on Engineer's review of the Application for Payment and the accompanying data and schedules, that to the best of Engineer's knowledge, information and belief:

- a. the Work has progressed to the point indicated;
- b. the quality of the Work is generally in accordance with the Contract Documents (subject to an evaluation of the Work as a functioning whole prior to or upon Substantial Completion, the results of any subsequent tests called for in the Contract Documents, a final determination of quantities and classifications for Unit Price Work under Paragraph 13.03, and any other qualifications stated in the recommendation); and
- c. the conditions precedent to Contractor's being entitled to such payment appear to have been fulfilled in so far as it is Engineer's responsibility to observe the Work.
- 3. By recommending any such payment Engineer will not thereby be deemed to have represented that:
 - inspections made to check the quality or the quantity of the Work as it has been performed have been exhaustive, extended to every aspect of the Work in progress, or involved detailed inspections of the Work beyond the responsibilities specifically assigned to Engineer in the Contract; or
 - b. there may not be other matters or issues between the parties that might entitle Contractor to be paid additionally by Owner or entitle Owner to withhold payment to Contractor.
- 4. Neither Engineer's review of Contractor's Work for the purposes of recommending payments nor Engineer's recommendation of any payment, including final payment, will impose responsibility on Engineer:
 - a. to supervise, direct, or control the Work, or
 - b. for the means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction, or the safety precautions and programs incident thereto, or
 - c. for Contractor's failure to comply with Laws and Regulations applicable to Contractor's performance of the Work, or
 - d. to make any examination to ascertain how or for what purposes Contractor has used the money paid on account of the Contract Price, or
 - e. to determine that title to any of the Work, materials, or equipment has passed to Owner free and clear of any Liens.
- 5. Engineer may refuse to recommend the whole or any part of any payment if, in Engineer's opinion, it would be incorrect to make the representations to Owner stated in Paragraph 15.01.C.2.
- 6. Engineer will recommend reductions in payment (set-offs) necessary in Engineer's opinion to protect Owner from loss because:
 - a. the Work is defective, requiring correction or replacement;
 - b. the Contract Price has been reduced by Change Orders;
 - c. Owner has been required to correct defective Work in accordance with Paragraph 14.07, or has accepted defective Work pursuant to Paragraph 14.04;
 - d. Owner has been required to remove or remediate a Hazardous Environmental Condition for which Contractor is responsible; or

e. Engineer has actual knowledge of the occurrence of any of the events that would constitute a default by Contractor and therefore justify termination for cause under the Contract Documents.

D. Payment Becomes Due:

1. Ten days after presentation of the Application for Payment to Owner with Engineer's recommendation, the amount recommended (subject to any Owner set-offs) will become due, and when due will be paid by Owner to Contractor.

E. Reductions in Payment by Owner:

- 1. In addition to any reductions in payment (set-offs) recommended by Engineer, Owner is entitled to impose a set-off against payment based on any of the following:
 - a. claims have been made against Owner on account of Contractor's conduct in the performance or furnishing of the Work, or Owner has incurred costs, losses, or damages on account of Contractor's conduct in the performance or furnishing of the Work, including but not limited to claims, costs, losses, or damages from workplace injuries, adjacent property damage, non-compliance with Laws and Regulations, and patent infringement;
 - Contractor has failed to take reasonable and customary measures to avoid damage, delay, disruption, and interference with other work at or adjacent to the Site;
 - Contractor has failed to provide and maintain required bonds or insurance;
 - d. Owner has been required to remove or remediate a Hazardous Environmental Condition for which Contractor is responsible;
 - e. Owner has incurred extra charges or engineering costs related to submittal reviews, evaluations of proposed substitutes, tests and inspections, or return visits to manufacturing or assembly facilities;
 - f. the Work is defective, requiring correction or replacement;
 - g. Owner has been required to correct defective Work in accordance with Paragraph 14.07, or has accepted defective Work pursuant to Paragraph 14.04;
 - h. the Contract Price has been reduced by Change Orders;
 - i. an event that would constitute a default by Contractor and therefore justify a termination for cause has occurred;
 - j. liquidated damages have accrued as a result of Contractor's failure to achieve Milestones, Substantial Completion, or final completion of the Work;
 - k. Liens have been filed in connection with the Work, except where Contractor has delivered a specific bond satisfactory to Owner to secure the satisfaction and discharge of such Liens;
 - I. there are other items entitling Owner to a set off against the amount recommended.
- If Owner imposes any set-off against payment, whether based on its own knowledge
 or on the written recommendations of Engineer, Owner will give Contractor
 immediate written notice (with a copy to Engineer) stating the reasons for such action
 and the specific amount of the reduction, and promptly pay Contractor any amount

remaining after deduction of the amount so withheld. Owner shall promptly pay Contractor the amount so withheld, or any adjustment thereto agreed to by Owner and Contractor, if Contractor remedies the reasons for such action. The reduction imposed shall be binding on Contractor unless it duly submits a Change Proposal contesting the reduction.

3. Upon a subsequent determination that Owner's refusal of payment was not justified, the amount wrongfully withheld shall be treated as an amount due as determined by Paragraph 15.01.C.1 and subject to interest as provided in the Agreement.

15.02 Contractor's Warranty of Title

A. Contractor warrants and guarantees that title to all Work, materials, and equipment furnished under the Contract will pass to Owner free and clear of (1) all Liens and other title defects, and (2) all patent, licensing, copyright, or royalty obligations, no later than seven days after the time of payment by Owner.

15.03 Substantial Completion

- A. When Contractor considers the entire Work ready for its intended use Contractor shall notify Owner and Engineer in writing that the entire Work is substantially complete and request that Engineer issue a certificate of Substantial Completion. Contractor shall at the same time submit to Owner and Engineer an initial draft of punch list items to be completed or corrected before final payment.
- B. Promptly after Contractor's notification, Owner, Contractor, and Engineer shall make an inspection of the Work to determine the status of completion. If Engineer does not consider the Work substantially complete, Engineer will notify Contractor in writing giving the reasons therefor.
- C. If Engineer considers the Work substantially complete, Engineer will deliver to Owner a preliminary certificate of Substantial Completion which shall fix the date of Substantial Completion. Engineer shall attach to the certificate a punch list of items to be completed or corrected before final payment. Owner shall have seven days after receipt of the preliminary certificate during which to make written objection to Engineer as to any provisions of the certificate or attached punch list. If, after considering the objections to the provisions of the preliminary certificate, Engineer concludes that the Work is not substantially complete, Engineer will, within 14 days after submission of the preliminary certificate to Owner, notify Contractor in writing that the Work is not substantially complete, stating the reasons therefor. If Owner does not object to the provisions of the certificate, or if despite consideration of Owner's objections Engineer concludes that the Work is substantially complete, then Engineer will, within said 14 days, execute and deliver to Owner and Contractor a final certificate of Substantial Completion (with a revised punch list of items to be completed or corrected) reflecting such changes from the preliminary certificate as Engineer believes justified after consideration of any objections from Owner.
- O. At the time of receipt of the preliminary certificate of Substantial Completion, Owner and Contractor will confer regarding Owner's use or occupancy of the Work following Substantial Completion, review the builder's risk insurance policy with respect to the end of the builder's risk coverage, and confirm the transition to coverage of the Work under a permanent property insurance policy held by Owner. Unless Owner and Contractor agree otherwise in writing, Owner shall bear responsibility for security, operation, protection of the Work, property insurance, maintenance, heat, and utilities upon Owner's use or occupancy of the Work.

- E. After Substantial Completion the Contractor shall promptly begin work on the punch list of items to be completed or corrected prior to final payment. In appropriate cases Contractor may submit monthly Applications for Payment for completed punch list items, following the progress payment procedures set forth above.
- F. Owner shall have the right to exclude Contractor from the Site after the date of Substantial Completion subject to allowing Contractor reasonable access to remove its property and complete or correct items on the punch list.

15.04 Partial Use or Occupancy

- A. Prior to Substantial Completion of all the Work, Owner may use or occupy any substantially completed part of the Work which has specifically been identified in the Contract Documents, or which Owner, Engineer, and Contractor agree constitutes a separately functioning and usable part of the Work that can be used by Owner for its intended purpose without significant interference with Contractor's performance of the remainder of the Work, subject to the following conditions:
 - At any time Owner may request in writing that Contractor permit Owner to use or occupy any such part of the Work that Owner believes to be substantially complete. If and when Contractor agrees that such part of the Work is substantially complete, Contractor, Owner, and Engineer will follow the procedures of Paragraph 15.03.A through E for that part of the Work.
 - At any time Contractor may notify Owner and Engineer in writing that Contractor considers any such part of the Work substantially complete and request Engineer to issue a certificate of Substantial Completion for that part of the Work.
 - 3. Within a reasonable time after either such request, Owner, Contractor, and Engineer shall make an inspection of that part of the Work to determine its status of completion. If Engineer does not consider that part of the Work to be substantially complete, Engineer will notify Owner and Contractor in writing giving the reasons therefor. If Engineer considers that part of the Work to be substantially complete, the provisions of Paragraph 15.03 will apply with respect to certification of Substantial Completion of that part of the Work and the division of responsibility in respect thereof and access thereto.
 - 4. No use or occupancy or separate operation of part of the Work may occur prior to compliance with the requirements of Paragraph 6.05 regarding builder's risk or other property insurance.

15.05 Final Inspection

A. Upon written notice from Contractor that the entire Work or an agreed portion thereof is complete, Engineer will promptly make a final inspection with Owner and Contractor and will notify Contractor in writing of all particulars in which this inspection reveals that the Work, or agreed portion thereof, is incomplete or defective. Contractor shall immediately take such measures as are necessary to complete such Work or remedy such deficiencies.

15.06 Final Payment

A. Application for Payment:

1. After Contractor has, in the opinion of Engineer, satisfactorily completed all corrections identified during the final inspection and has delivered, in accordance with the Contract Documents, all maintenance and operating instructions, schedules, guarantees, bonds, certificates or other evidence of insurance, certificates of

- inspection, annotated record documents (as provided in Paragraph 7.11), and other documents, Contractor may make application for final payment.
- 2. The final Application for Payment shall be accompanied (except as previously delivered) by:
 - a. all documentation called for in the Contract Documents;
 - b. consent of the surety, if any, to final payment;
 - c. satisfactory evidence that all title issues have been resolved such that title to all Work, materials, and equipment has passed to Owner free and clear of any Liens or other title defects, or will so pass upon final payment.
 - d. a list of all disputes that Contractor believes are unsettled; and
 - e. complete and legally effective releases or waivers (satisfactory to Owner) of all Lien rights arising out of the Work, and of Liens filed in connection with the Work.
- 3. In lieu of the releases or waivers of Liens specified in Paragraph 15.06.A.2 and as approved by Owner, Contractor may furnish receipts or releases in full and an affidavit of Contractor that: (a) the releases and receipts include all labor, services, material, and equipment for which a Lien could be filed; and (b) all payrolls, material and equipment bills, and other indebtedness connected with the Work for which Owner might in any way be responsible, or which might in any way result in liens or other burdens on Owner's property, have been paid or otherwise satisfied. If any Subcontractor or Supplier fails to furnish such a release or receipt in full, Contractor may furnish a bond or other collateral satisfactory to Owner to indemnify Owner against any Lien, or Owner at its option may issue joint checks payable to Contractor and specified Subcontractors and Suppliers.
- B. Engineer's Review of Application and Acceptance:
 - 1. If, on the basis of Engineer's observation of the Work during construction and final inspection, and Engineer's review of the final Application for Payment and accompanying documentation as required by the Contract Documents, Engineer is satisfied that the Work has been completed and Contractor's other obligations under the Contract have been fulfilled, Engineer will, within ten days after receipt of the final Application for Payment, indicate in writing Engineer's recommendation of final payment and present the Application for Payment to Owner for payment. Such recommendation shall account for any set-offs against payment that are necessary in Engineer's opinion to protect Owner from loss for the reasons stated above with respect to progress payments. At the same time Engineer will also give written notice to Owner and Contractor that the Work is acceptable, subject to the provisions of Paragraph 15.07. Otherwise, Engineer will return the Application for Payment to Contractor, indicating in writing the reasons for refusing to recommend final payment, in which case Contractor shall make the necessary corrections and resubmit the Application for Payment.
- C. Completion of Work: The Work is complete (subject to surviving obligations) when it is ready for final payment as established by the Engineer's written recommendation of final payment.
- D. Payment Becomes Due: Thirty days after the presentation to Owner of the final Application for Payment and accompanying documentation, the amount recommended by Engineer (less any further sum Owner is entitled to set off against Engineer's recommendation,

including but not limited to set-offs for liquidated damages and set-offs allowed under the provisions above with respect to progress payments) will become due and shall be paid by Owner to Contractor.

15.07 Waiver of Claims

- A. The making of final payment will not constitute a waiver by Owner of claims or rights against Contractor. Owner expressly reserves claims and rights arising from unsettled Liens, from defective Work appearing after final inspection pursuant to Paragraph 15.05, from Contractor's failure to comply with the Contract Documents or the terms of any special guarantees specified therein, from outstanding Claims by Owner, or from Contractor's continuing obligations under the Contract Documents.
- B. The acceptance of final payment by Contractor will constitute a waiver by Contractor of all claims and rights against Owner other than those pending matters that have been duly submitted or appealed under the provisions of Article 17.

15.08 Correction Period

- A. If within one year after the date of Substantial Completion (or such longer period of time as may be prescribed by the terms of any applicable special guarantee required by the Contract Documents, or by any specific provision of the Contract Documents), any Work is found to be defective, or if the repair of any damages to the Site, adjacent areas that Contractor has arranged to use through construction easements or otherwise, and other adjacent areas used by Contractor as permitted by Laws and Regulations, is found to be defective, then Contractor shall promptly, without cost to Owner and in accordance with Owner's written instructions:
 - 1. correct the defective repairs to the Site or such other adjacent areas;
 - 2. correct such defective Work;
 - 3. if the defective Work has been rejected by Owner, remove it from the Project and replace it with Work that is not defective, and
 - 4. satisfactorily correct or repair or remove and replace any damage to other Work, to the work of others, or to other land or areas resulting therefrom.
- B. If Contractor does not promptly comply with the terms of Owner's written instructions, or in an emergency where delay would cause serious risk of loss or damage, Owner may have the defective Work corrected or repaired or may have the rejected Work removed and replaced. Contractor shall pay all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to such correction or repair or such removal and replacement (including but not limited to all costs of repair or replacement of work of others).
- C. In special circumstances where a particular item of equipment is placed in continuous service before Substantial Completion of all the Work, the correction period for that item may start to run from an earlier date if so provided in the Specifications.
- D. Where defective Work (and damage to other Work resulting therefrom) has been corrected or removed and replaced under this paragraph, the correction period hereunder with respect to such Work will be extended for an additional period of one year after such correction or removal and replacement has been satisfactorily completed.

E. Contractor's obligations under this paragraph are in addition to all other obligations and warranties. The provisions of this paragraph shall not be construed as a substitute for, or a waiver of, the provisions of any applicable statute of limitation or repose.

ARTICLE 16 – SUSPENSION OF WORK AND TERMINATION

16.01 Owner May Suspend Work

A. At any time and without cause, Owner may suspend the Work or any portion thereof for a period of not more than 90 consecutive days by written notice to Contractor and Engineer. Such notice will fix the date on which Work will be resumed. Contractor shall resume the Work on the date so fixed. Contractor shall be entitled to an adjustment in the Contract Price or an extension of the Contract Times, or both, directly attributable to any such suspension. Any Change Proposal seeking such adjustments shall be submitted no later than 30 days after the date fixed for resumption of Work.

16.02 Owner May Terminate for Cause

- A. The occurrence of any one or more of the following events will constitute a default by Contractor and justify termination for cause:
 - Contractor's persistent failure to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents (including, but not limited to, failure to supply sufficient skilled workers or suitable materials or equipment or failure to adhere to the Progress Schedule);
 - 2. Failure of Contractor to perform or otherwise to comply with a material term of the Contract Documents:
 - 3. Contractor's disregard of Laws or Regulations of any public body having jurisdiction; or
 - 4. Contractor's repeated disregard of the authority of Owner or Engineer.
- 3. If one or more of the events identified in Paragraph 16.02.A occurs, then after giving Contractor (and any surety) ten days written notice that Owner is considering a declaration that Contractor is in default and termination of the contract, Owner may proceed to:
 - 1. declare Contractor to be in default, and give Contractor (and any surety) notice that the Contract is terminated; and
 - 2. enforce the rights available to Owner under any applicable performance bond.
- C. Subject to the terms and operation of any applicable performance bond, if Owner has terminated the Contract for cause, Owner may exclude Contractor from the Site, take possession of the Work, incorporate in the Work all materials and equipment stored at the Site or for which Owner has paid Contractor but which are stored elsewhere, and complete the Work as Owner may deem expedient.
- D. Owner may not proceed with termination of the Contract under Paragraph 16.02.B if Contractor within seven days of receipt of notice of intent to terminate begins to correct its failure to perform and proceeds diligently to cure such failure.
- E. If Owner proceeds as provided in Paragraph 16.02.B, Contractor shall not be entitled to receive any further payment until the Work is completed. If the unpaid balance of the Contract Price exceeds the cost to complete the Work, including all related claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals) sustained by Owner, such excess will be paid to Contractor. If the cost to complete the Work including such related claims, costs, losses,

and damages exceeds such unpaid balance, Contractor shall pay the difference to Owner. Such claims, costs, losses, and damages incurred by Owner will be reviewed by Engineer as to their reasonableness and, when so approved by Engineer, incorporated in a Change Order. When exercising any rights or remedies under this paragraph, Owner shall not be required to obtain the lowest price for the Work performed.

- F. Where Contractor's services have been so terminated by Owner, the termination will not affect any rights or remedies of Owner against Contractor then existing or which may thereafter accrue, or any rights or remedies of Owner against Contractor or any surety under any payment bond or performance bond. Any retention or payment of money due Contractor by Owner will not release Contractor from liability.
- G. If and to the extent that Contractor has provided a performance bond under the provisions of Paragraph 6.01.A, the provisions of that bond shall govern over any inconsistent provisions of Paragraphs 16.02.B and 16.02.D.

16.03 Owner May Terminate For Convenience

- A. Upon seven days written notice to Contractor and Engineer, Owner may, without cause and without prejudice to any other right or remedy of Owner, terminate the Contract. In such case, Contractor shall be paid for (without duplication of any items):
 - completed and acceptable Work executed in accordance with the Contract Documents
 prior to the effective date of termination, including fair and reasonable sums for
 overhead and profit on such Work;
 - expenses sustained prior to the effective date of termination in performing services and furnishing labor, materials, or equipment as required by the Contract Documents in connection with uncompleted Work, plus fair and reasonable sums for overhead and profit on such expenses; and
 - 3. other reasonable expenses directly attributable to termination, including costs incurred to prepare a termination for convenience cost proposal.
- B. Contractor shall not be paid on account of loss of anticipated overhead, profits, or revenue, or other economic loss arising out of or resulting from such termination.

16.04 Contractor May Stop Work or Terminate

- A. If, through no act or fault of Contractor, (1) the Work is suspended for more than 90 consecutive days by Owner or under an order of court or other public authority, or (2) Engineer fails to act on any Application for Payment within 30 days after it is submitted, or (3) Owner fails for 30 days to pay Contractor any sum finally determined to be due, then Contractor may, upon seven days written notice to Owner and Engineer, and provided Owner or Engineer do not remedy such suspension or failure within that time, terminate the contract and recover from Owner payment on the same terms as provided in Paragraph 16.03.
- B. In lieu of terminating the Contract and without prejudice to any other right or remedy, if Engineer has failed to act on an Application for Payment within 30 days after it is submitted, or Owner has failed for 30 days to pay Contractor any sum finally determined to be due, Contractor may, seven days after written notice to Owner and Engineer, stop the Work until payment is made of all such amounts due Contractor, including interest thereon. The provisions of this paragraph are not intended to preclude Contractor from submitting a Change Proposal for an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times or otherwise for

expenses or damage directly attributable to Contractor's stopping the Work as permitted by this paragraph.

ARTICLE 17 – FINAL RESOLUTION OF DISPUTES

17.01 Methods and Procedures

- A. *Disputes Subject to Final Resolution*: The following disputed matters are subject to final resolution under the provisions of this Article:
 - A timely appeal of an approval in part and denial in part of a Claim, or of a denial in full; and
 - 2. Disputes between Owner and Contractor concerning the Work or obligations under the Contract Documents, and arising after final payment has been made.
- B. *Final Resolution of Disputes*: For any dispute subject to resolution under this Article, Owner or Contractor may:
 - 1. elect in writing to invoke the dispute resolution process provided for in the Supplementary Conditions; or
 - 2. agree with the other party to submit the dispute to another dispute resolution process; or
 - 3. if no dispute resolution process is provided for in the Supplementary Conditions or mutually agreed to, give written notice to the other party of the intent to submit the dispute to a court of competent jurisdiction.

ARTICLE 18 – MISCELLANEOUS

18.01 *Giving Notice*

- A. Whenever any provision of the Contract Documents requires the giving of written notice, it will be deemed to have been validly given if:
 - 1. delivered in person, by a commercial courier service or otherwise, to the individual or to a member of the firm or to an officer of the corporation for which it is intended; or
 - 2. delivered at or sent by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, to the last business address known to the sender of the notice.

18.02 *Computation of Times*

A. When any period of time is referred to in the Contract by days, it will be computed to exclude the first and include the last day of such period. If the last day of any such period falls on a Saturday or Sunday or on a day made a legal holiday by the law of the applicable jurisdiction, such day will be omitted from the computation.

18.03 Cumulative Remedies

A. The duties and obligations imposed by these General Conditions and the rights and remedies available hereunder to the parties hereto are in addition to, and are not to be construed in any way as a limitation of, any rights and remedies available to any or all of them which are otherwise imposed or available by Laws or Regulations, by special warranty or guarantee, or by other provisions of the Contract. The provisions of this paragraph will be as effective as if repeated specifically in the Contract Documents in connection with each particular duty, obligation, right, and remedy to which they apply.

18.04 Limitation of Damages

A. With respect to any and all Change Proposals, Claims, disputes subject to final resolution, and other matters at issue, neither Owner nor Engineer, nor any of their officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, or subcontractors, shall be liable to Contractor for any claims, costs, losses, or damages sustained by Contractor on or in connection with any other project or anticipated project.

18.05 No Waiver

A. A party's non-enforcement of any provision shall not constitute a waiver of that provision, nor shall it affect the enforceability of that provision or of the remainder of this Contract.

18.06 Survival of Obligations

A. All representations, indemnifications, warranties, and guarantees made in, required by, or given in accordance with the Contract, as well as all continuing obligations indicated in the Contract, will survive final payment, completion, and acceptance of the Work or termination or completion of the Contract or termination of the services of Contractor.

18.07 Controlling Law

A. This Contract is to be governed by the law of the state in which the Project is located.

18.08 Headings

A. Article and paragraph headings are inserted for convenience only and do not constitute parts of these General Conditions.

SUPPLEMENTARY CONDITIONS

SECTION 00800

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE	DESCRIPTION	PAGES
1	Definitions and Terminology	00800-1
2	Preliminary Matters	00800-1
3	No Supplementary Conditions	
4	No Supplementary Conditions	
5	Availability of Lands; Subsurface and Physical Conditions; Hazardous Environmental Conditions	00800-2
6	Bonds and Insurance	00800-2 thru 00800-4
7	Contractor's Responsibilities	00800-5 thru 00800-8
8	No Supplementary Conditions	
9	Owner's Responsibilities	00800-8
10	Engineer's Status During Construction	00800-8
11	No Supplementary Conditions	
12	No Supplementary Conditions	
13	Cost of the Work; Allowances; Unit Price Work	00800-8 thru 00800-9
14	Tests and Inspections; Correction, Removal or Acceptance of Defective Work	00800-8
15	Payments to Contractor; Set-Offs; Completion; Correction Period	00800-9 thru 00800-10
16	Suspension of Work and Termination	00800-11
17	Final Resolution of Disputes	00800-11
18	Miscellaneous	00800-11 thru 00800-12

SECTION 00800

SUPPLEMENTARY CONDITIONS

These Supplementary Conditions amend or supplement the Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract (EJCDC C-700, 2013 Edition) and other provisions of the Contract Documents as indicated below. All provisions which are not so amended or supplemented remain in full force and effect.

The terms used in these Supplementary Conditions will have the meanings indicated in the General Conditions. Additional terms used in these Supplementary Conditions have the meanings indicated below, which are applicable to both the singular and plural thereof, and are gender inclusive.

ARTICLE 1 DEFINITIONS AND TERMINOLOGY

SC-1.01.A.38

Delete paragraph A.38 of the General Conditions in its entirety and insert the following in its place:

"38. Specifications--Sections included under Division 1 thru Division 16 of the Project Manual."

SC-1.01.A.40

Insert the following at the beginning of the definition:

"40. The Work required by the Contract has been completed except for work having a Contract Price of less than one (1) percent of the then adjusted total Contract Price, or"

SC-1.02.F

Add the following paragraph immediately after paragraph 1.02.F of the General Conditions:

- "G. He, Him, His, Himself:
 - 1. Where references are made in the Contract Documents and/or Specifications to the terms "he, him, his, himself," or variations thereof, these shall be construed as being gender inclusive, and reference the terms "she, her, hers, herself," or variations thereof as well."

ARTICLE 2 PRELIMINARY MATTERS

SC-2.01.C

Delete paragraph 2.01.C of the General Conditions in its entirety.

ARTICLE 5 AVAILABILITY OF LANDS; SUBSURFACE AND PHYSICAL CONDITIONS; HAZARDOUS ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITIONS

SC-5.04

Delete paragraph 5.04 of the General Conditions in its entirety and insert the following in its place:

"5.04 Differing Subsurface or Physical Conditions

In accordance with Massachusetts General Laws Chapter 30 Section 39N, "If, during the progress of the work, the contractor or the awarding authority discovers that the actual subsurface or latent physical conditions encountered at the site differ substantially or materially from those shown on the plans or indicated in the contract documents either the contractor or the contracting authority may request an equitable adjustment in the contract price of the contract applying to work affected by the differing site conditions. A request for such an adjustment shall be in writing and shall be delivered by the party making such claim to the other party as soon as possible after such conditions are discovered. Upon receipt of such a claim from a contractor, or upon its own initiative, the contracting authority shall make an investigation of such physical conditions, if they differ substantially or materially from those shown on the plans or indicated in the contract documents or from those ordinarily encountered and generally recognized as inherent in work of the character provided for in the plans and contract documents and are of such a nature as to cause an increase or decrease in the cost of performance of the work or a change in the construction methods required for the performance of the work which results in an increase or decrease in the cost of the work, the contracting authority shall make an equitable adjustment in the contract price and the contract shall be modified in writing accordingly."

SC-5.05.A.2.d

Add the following new paragraph immediately after paragraph 5.05.A.2.d of the General Conditions:

"e. Contractor's attention is directed to the requirements of Massachusetts General Law Chapter 82 Section 40, regarding the notification of owners of underground facilities."

ARTICLE 6 BONDS AND INSURANCE

SC-6.02.A

In the first sentence of paragraph 6.02.A delete the words "Owner and".

SC-6.02.A

Add the following sentence immediately after paragraph 6.02.A of the General Conditions:

"Refer to the table in SC-6.03 for these insurance requirements."

SC-6.02.B

In the first sentence of paragraph 6.02.B delete the words "Owner or".

SC-6.02.D

Delete paragraph 6.02.D of the General Conditions in its entirety.

SC-6.02.E

Delete paragraph 6.02.E of the General Conditions in its entirety and replace with the following:

"Failure of Owner to demand such certificates or other evidence of the other party's full compliance with these insurance requirements, or failure of Owner or Contractor to identify a deficiency in compliance from the evidence provided, shall not be construed as a waiver of the Contractor's obligation to obtain and maintain such insurance."

SC-6.02.I

Delete paragraph 6.02.I of the General Conditions in its entirety.

SC-6.03

The limits of liability for the insurance required by paragraph 6.03 of the General Conditions shall provide the following coverage's for not less than the following amounts or greater where required by Laws or Regulations:"

No.	Coverage	Amounts
6.03.A	Worker's Compensation	
	(1) Worker's Compensation	in accordance with M.G.L. c.149, Sect 34A
	(2) Employer's Liability	\$1,000,000
6.03.B and C	Commondal Common Linkshite	
6.03.B and C	Commercial General Liability	#2 000 000 F 1 0
	(1) Bodily Injury	\$3,000,000 Each Occurrence
		\$3,000,000 Annual Aggregate
	(2) Property Damage	\$3,000,000 Each Occurrence
		\$3,000,000 Annual Aggregate
6.03.D	Automobile Liability	
	(1) Bodily Injury	\$3,000,000 Each Occurrence
	, ()	\$3,000,000 Annual Aggregate
	(2) Property Damage	\$3,000,000 Each Occurrence
6.03.E	Umbrella or Excess Liability	
0.03.E	(1) Combined Single Limit	\$3,000,000 Each Occurrence
	(1) Combined Single Limit	\$3,000,000 Annual Aggregate
6.03.F	Contractor's Pollution Liability	
	(1) Combined Single Limit	\$3,000,000 Each Occurrence
		\$3,000,000 Annual Aggregate

No.	Coverage	Amounts
6.03.G	Separate Owner's Protective Liability	
	(1) Bodily Injury	\$1,000,000 Each Occurrence
	(2) Property Damage	\$1,000,000 Each Occurrence
		\$1,000,000 Annual Aggregate
6.03.H	Professional Liability (if required)	
	(1) Combined Single Limit	\$1,000,000 Per Claim
		\$2,000,000 Annual Aggregate

SC-6.03.G

Delete paragraph 6.03.G of the General Conditions in its entirety and insert the following in its place:

"A. Contractor shall purchase and maintain a separate Owner's Protective Liability policy, issued to Owner at the expense of Contractor, including Owner and Engineer as named insured. This insurance shall provide coverage for not less than the amounts stipulated in the table in SC-6.03. A rider on the Contractor's Liability insurance shall not be acceptable. The separate Owner's Protective Liability policy shall include coverage for the respective officers, directors, members, partners employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors of each and any of all such additional insured; and the insurance afforded to these additional insured shall provide primary coverage for all claims covered thereby (including as applicable those arising from both ongoing and completed operations) on a non-contributory basis. Contractor shall obtain all necessary endorsements to support these requirements."

SC-6.04

Delete paragraph 6.04 of the General Conditions in its entirety.

SC-6.06.A

Delete paragraph 6.06.A of the General Conditions in its entirety.

SC-6.07.

Delete SC-6.07 of the General Conditions in its entirety.

ARTICLE 7 CONTRACTOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES

SC-7.02.B

Add the following new paragraphs immediately after paragraph 7.02.B of the General Conditions:

"C. Regular working hours are defined as eight (8) hours per day, Monday through Friday, excluding holidays, between the hours of 7:00 AM and 3:30 PM. Requests to work other than regular working hours shall be submitted to Engineer not less than 48 hours prior to any proposed

weekend work or scheduled extended work weeks. Occasional unscheduled overtime on weekdays may be permitted provided two (2) hours notice is given to Engineer."

"D. Contractor shall reimburse the Owner for additional engineering and/or inspection costs incurred as a result of overtime work in excess of the regular working hours stipulated in Article SC-7.02.C. At Owner's option, overtime costs may either be deducted from the Contractor's monthly payment request or deducted from the Contractor's retention prior to release of final payment. Overtime costs for the Owner's personnel shall be based on the individual's current overtime wage rate. Overtime costs for personnel employed by the Engineer or Owner's independent testing laboratory shall be calculated in accordance with the terms of their respective contracts with the Owner."

"E. This agreement is subject to the applicable provisions of the Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act, Public Law 87-581 87th Congress. No Contractor or Subcontractor contracting for any part of the Work shall require or permit any laborer or mechanic to be employed on the Work in excess of forty hours in any work week unless such laborer or mechanic receives compensation at a rate not less than one and one-half times that persons basic rate of pay for all hours worked in excess of forty hours in such work week."

"F. Contractor and Subcontractors shall, insofar as practicable, give preference in the hiring of workers for the Project to qualified local residents with first preference being given to citizens of the United States who have served in the armed forces of the United States and have been honorably discharged therefrom or released from active duty therein."

SC-7.06.A

Delete paragraph 7.06.A of the General Conditions in its entirety and insert the following in its place:

"A. Contractor shall not employ any Subcontractor, Supplier or other person or organization, (including those who are to furnish the principal items of materials or equipment), whether initially or as a substitute, against whom Owner may have reasonable objection. Acceptance of any Subcontractor, other person or organization by Owner shall not constitute a waiver of any right of Owner to reject defective Work. Contractor shall not be required to employ any Subcontractor, other person or organization against whom Contractor has reasonable objection."

SC-7.06.B

Delete paragraph 7.06.B of the General Conditions in its entirety.

SC-7.06.C

Delete paragraph 7.06.C of the General Conditions in its entirety.

SC-7.06.D

Delete paragraph 7.06.D of the General Conditions in its entirety.

SC-7.06.E

Delete paragraph 7.06.E of the General Conditions in its entirety.

SC-7.06.F

Delete paragraph 7.06.F of the General Conditions in its entirety.

SC-7.06.G

Delete paragraph 7.06.G of the General Conditions in its entirety.

SC-7.06.L

Add the following language at the end of paragraph 7.06.L of the General Conditions:

"Except as required otherwise by Massachusetts General Law, Chapter 149, Section 44F."

SC-7.06.N

Add the following language at the end of paragraph 7.06.N of the General Conditions:

"Owner or Engineer may furnish to any such Subcontractor, Supplier or other person or organization, to the extent practicable, information about amounts paid on their behalf to Contractor in accordance with Contractor's Application for Payment."

SC-7.06.O

Add the following new paragraph immediately after paragraph 7.06.O of the General Conditions

"P. Contractor shall make payments to Subcontractors in accordance with Massachusetts General Law, Chapter 30, Section 39F."

SC-7.09.A

Add the following new paragraph immediately after paragraph 7.09.A of the General Conditions:

"B. The materials and supplies to be used in the Work under this Contract are exempt from the Commonwealth of Massachusetts Sales and Use Tax. Contractor shall obtain the proper certificates, maintain the necessary records and otherwise comply with the requirements of Chapter 14 of the Acts of 1966 and any amendments thereto."

SC-7.10.C

Add the following new paragraph immediately after paragraph 7.10.C of the General Conditions:

"D. Each and every provision of law and clause required by law to be inserted in these Contract Documents shall be deemed to be inserted herein, and they shall be read and enforced as though it were included herein, and if through mistake or otherwise, any such provision is not inserted, or if not correctly inserted, then upon the application of either party, the Contract Documents shall forthwith be physically amended to make such insertion."

SC-7.11.A

Add the following new paragraph immediately after paragraph 7.11. A of the General Conditions:

"B. Contractor shall return to Engineer, one set of the Contract Drawings overmarked in colored pencil, showing all changes made during construction and including the location, by dimensions and elevations, of installed equipment, and underground facilities that will become hidden or buried by the construction. This shall include ties to all valves, fittings, couplings, corporations, etc. measured from permanent structures."

SC-7.18.A

Add the following language at the end of paragraph 7.18.A of the General Conditions:

"If through the acts of neglect on the part of Contractor, any other Contractor or any Subcontractor shall suffer loss or damage on the Work, Contractor shall settle with such other Contractor or Subcontractor by agreement or arbitration if such other Contractor or Subcontractor will so settle. If such other Contractor or Subcontractor shall assert any claim against Owner on account of any damage alleged to have been sustained, Owner shall notify Contractor, who shall indemnify and save harmless Owner against any such claims."

SC-7.18.C

Delete SC-7.18.C of the General Conditions in its entirety.

SC-7.19.E

Add the following new paragraph immediately after paragraph 7.19.E of the General Conditions:

"7.20 Contractor's Records

A. Contractor shall comply with all applicable provisions of Chapter 30, Section 39R of the Massachusetts General Laws regarding Contractor's records."

ARTICLE 9 OWNER'S RESPONSIBILITIES

SC-9.06

Delete paragraph 9.06 of the General Conditions in its entirety.

ARTICLE 10 - ENGINEER'S STATUS DURING CONSTRUCTION

SC-10.07.A

Add the following new paragraph immediately after paragraph 10.07.A of the General Conditions:

"B. In accordance with Massachusetts General Law Chapter 30, Section 39P every contract subject to Section 39M of this Chapter or Section 44A of Chapter 149 which requires the awarding authority, or any official, its architect or engineer to make a decision on interpretation of the specifications, approval of equipment, material, or any other approval, or progress of the work, shall require that the decision be made promptly and, in any event, no later than thirty-days after the written submission for decision; but if such decision requires extended investigation and study, the awarding authority, the official, architect or engineer shall, within thirty-days after the receipt of the submission, give the party making the submission written notice of the reasons why the decision cannot be made within the thirty-day period and the date by which the decision will be made."

ARTICLE13 COST OF THE WORK; ALLOWANCES; UNIT PRICE WORK

SC-13.01.B.1

Delete the second sentence in paragraph 13.01.B.1 of the General Conditions and replace it with the following:

"Such employees shall include foremen at the site."

SC-13.02 Allowances

Delete Paragraph 13.02 of the General Conditions its entirety.

ARTICLE14 TESTS AND INSPECTIONS; CORRECTION, REMOVAL OR ACCEPTANCE OF DEFECTIVE WORK

SC-14.06.A

Add the following new paragraph immediately after paragraph 14.06.A of the General Conditions:

"B. If Owner stops Work under paragraph 14.06.A, Contractor shall not be entitled to any extension of Contract Time or any increase in Contract Price."

SC-14.07.A

In the first sentence of paragraph 14.07.A delete the word "seven" and replace with the word "ten".

ARTICLE 15 PAYMENTS TO CONTRACTOR; SET-OFFS; COMPLETION; CORRECTION PERIOD

SC-15.01.B.3

Add the following new paragraph immediately after paragraph 15.01.B.3 of the General Conditions:

"4. Contractor shall furnish evidence that payment received on the basis of materials and equipment not incorporated and suitably stored, has in fact been paid to the respective supplier(s) within sixty days of payment by Owner. Failure to provide such evidence of payment may result in the withdrawal of previous approval(s) and removal of the cost of related materials and equipment from the next submitted Application for Payment."

SC-15.01.C.1

Delete paragraph 15.01.C.1 of the General Conditions and replace it with the following:

"1. Progress Payments shall be made in accordance with Massachusetts General Laws, Chapter 30, Section 39K."

SC-15.02.A

Add the two following new paragraphs immediately after paragraph 15.02.A of the General Conditions:

- "B. No materials or supplies for the Work shall be purchased by Contractor or Subcontractor subject to any chattel mortgage or under a conditional sale contract or other agreement by which an interest is retained by the seller. Contractor warrants that Contractor has good title to all materials and supplies used by Contractor in the Work, free from all liens, claims or encumbrances."
- "C. Contractor shall indemnify and save Owner harmless from all claims growing out of the lawful demands of Subcontractors, laborers, workmen, mechanics materialmen, and furnishers of machinery and parts thereof, equipment, power tools, and all supplies, including commissary, incurred in the furtherance of the performance of this Contract. Contractor shall at Owner's request, furnish satisfactory evidence that all obligations of the nature hereinabove designated have been paid, discharged, or waived. If Contractor fails to do so, then Owner may, after having served written notice on the said Contractor, either pay unpaid bills, of which Owner has written notice, direct, or withhold from the Contractor's unpaid compensation, a sum of money deemed reasonably sufficient to pay any and all such lawful claims until satisfactory evidence is furnished that all liabilities have been fully discharged; whereupon payment to Contractor shall be resumed in accordance with the terms of this Contract, but in no event shall the provisions of this sentence be construed to impose any obligation upon Owner to either Contractor, or Contractor's Surety. In paying any unpaid bills of the Contractor, Owner shall be deemed the agent of Contractor and any payment so made by Owner shall be considered as payment made under the Contract by Owner to Contractor and Owner shall not be liable to Contractor for any such payment made in good faith."

SC-15.06.B.1

Delete paragraph 15.06.B.1 of the General Conditions and replace it with the following:

"1. If, on the basis of Engineer's observations of the Work during construction and final inspection, and Engineer's review of the final Application for Payment and accompanying documentation, all as required by the Contract Documents, Engineer is satisfied that the Work has been completed and Contractor's other obligations under the Contract Documents have been fulfilled, Engineer will indicate in writing Engineer's recommendation of payment and present the Application for Payment to Owner for payment. Thereupon Engineer will give written notice to Owner and Contractor that the Work is acceptable subject to the provisions of paragraph 15.01. Otherwise, Engineer will return the Application for Payment to Contractor, indicating in writing the reasons for refusing to recommend final payment, in which case Contractor shall make the necessary corrections and resubmit the Application for Payment. If the Application and accompanying documentation are appropriate as to form and substance, Owner shall in accordance with the Applicable Massachusetts General Law, pay Contractor the amount recommended by the Engineer."

ARTICLE16 SUSPENSION OF WORK AND TERMINATION

SC-16.01.A

Delete paragraph 16.01.A of the General Conditions in its entirety and insert the following in its place:

"A. Owner may order, at any time and without cause, suspension of the Work in accordance with Massachusetts General Laws, Chapter 30, Section 39O.

SC-16.02.A.4

Add a new paragraph immediately after paragraph 16.02.A.4 of the General Conditions.

"5. If Contractor abandons the Work, or sublets this Contract or any part thereof, without the previous written consent of Owner, or if the Contract or any claim thereunder shall be assigned by Contractor otherwise than as herein specified."

ARTICLE17 FINAL RESOLUTION OF DISPUTES

SC 17.01.B

Add a new paragraph after paragraph 17.01.B of the General Conditions:

"C. Contractor shall carry on the Work and maintain the progress schedule during the dispute resolution proceedings, unless otherwise agreed by Contractor and Owner in writing."

ARTICLE18 MISCELLANEOUS

SC-18.01.A.2

Add the following new paragraph immediately after paragraph 18.01.A.2 of the General Conditions:

"3. Both the address given in the Bid Form upon which this Agreement is founded, and Contractor 's office at or near the site of the Work are hereby designated as places to either of which notices, letters, and other communications to Contractor shall be certified, mailed, or delivered. The delivering at the above named places, or depositing in a postpaid wrapper directed to the first-named place, in any post office box regularly maintained by the post office department, of any notice, letter or other communication to Contractor shall be deemed sufficient service thereof upon Contractor; and the date of said service shall be the date of such delivery or mailing. The first-named address may be changed at any time by an instrument in writing, executed and acknowledged by Contractor, and delivered to Owner and Engineer. Nothing herein contained shall be deemed to preclude or render inoperative the service of any notice, letter, or other communication upon Contractor personally."

SC-18.07.A

In paragraph 18.07.A, delete the words "state in which the Project is located" and substitute "Commonwealth of Massachusetts".

SC-18.08

Add the following new paragraph immediately after paragraph 18.08 of the General Conditions:

"SC-18.09 Wage Rates

"A. The requirements and provisions of all applicable laws and any amendments thereof or additions thereto as to employment of labor, and to the schedule of minimum wage rates established in compliance with laws shall be a part of these Contract Documents. A copy of the wage schedule is included in in this Specification (Section 00820 – Attachment A). If after the Notice of Award, it becomes necessary to employ any person in a trade or occupation not classified in the wage determinations, such person shall be paid at not less than such rates as shall be determined by the officials administrating the laws mentioned above.

Such approved minimum rate shall be retroactive to the time of the initial employment of such person in such trade or occupation. Contractor shall notify Owner of Contractor's intention to employ persons in trades or occupations not classified in sufficient time for Owner to obtain approved rates for such trades or occupations."

"B. The schedule of wages referred to above are minimum rates only, and Owner will not consider any claims for additional compensation made by Contractor because of payment by Contractor of any wage in excess of the applicable rate contained in these Contract Documents. All disputes in regard to the payment of wages in excess of these specified in the schedule shall be resolved by Contractor."

SC-18.09

Add the following new paragraph immediately after paragraph 18.09 of the Supplementary Conditions:

"SC-18.10 Commonwealth of Massachusetts Provisions"

A. See Specification Section 00820 COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS SPECIAL CONDITIONS."

END OF SECTION

SECTION 00820

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS

SPECIAL CONDITIONS

- 1. Labor Classifications and Minimum Wage Rates
- 2. Excerpts from Chapters 30 and 82 of the Massachusetts General Laws
- 3. Change Orders

ATTACHMENT A

Wage Rates

ATTACHMENT B

Excerpts from Chapters 30 and 82 of the Massachusetts General Laws

ATTACHMENT C

Change Order Form

1. <u>Labor Classification and Minimum Wage Rates</u>

Minimum Wage Rates as determined by the Commissioner of the Department of Labor and Industries under the provisions of Massachusetts General Laws Chapter 149, Sections 26-27G, as amended apply to this project.

A legible copy of the Minimum Wage Rates schedule shall be kept posted in a conspicuous place at the work site, during the life of the Contract.

Contractor and all subcontractors are required by Chapter 149 of the Massachusetts General Laws, Section 27B to submit certified payrolls to Owner every week.

The Massachusetts Labor Classifications and Minimum Wage Rates are included in Attachment A of this Section.

It is the responsibility of the Contractor, before bid opening, to request, if necessary, any additional information on Massachusetts Wage Rates for those tradespeople who are not covered by the applicable Massachusetts Wage Decision, but who may be employed for the proposed work under this contract.

All construction associated with this contract will be governed by Heavy and Highway Rates.

2. Excerpts from Chapters 30 and 82 of the Massachusetts General Laws

Due to their applicability to construction contracts, excerpts from Chapter 30 and Chapter 82 of the Massachusetts General Laws are attached on pages 00820-B.

3. Change Orders

All change orders to be submitted to the Engineer for review and processing shall be prepared on the Change Order Forms included in Attachment C of this section.

ATTACHMENT A

WAGE RATES



THE COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS EXECUTIVE OFFICE OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT OF LABOR STANDARDS

Prevailing Wage Rates

As determined by the Director under the provisions of the Massachusetts General Laws, Chapter 149, Sections 26 to 27H

ROSALIN ACOSTA Secretary WILLIAM D MCKINNEY Director

Lt. Governor

Awarding Authority:

Manchester-by-the-Sea DPW

Contract Number: 2018-5 City/Town: MANCHESTER

Description of Work: The work of this contract generally consists of heating system repairs at the Manchester-by-the-Sea Wastewater

Treatment Plant, Water Treatment Plant, DPW Garage, and the Town Hall.

Job Location: Manchester-by-the-Sea, MA

Information about Prevailing Wage Schedules for Awarding Authorities and Contractors

- This wage schedule applies only to the specific project referenced at the top of this page and uniquely identified by the "Wage Request Number" on all pages of this schedule.
- An Awarding Authority must request an updated wage schedule from the Department of Labor Standards ("DLS") if it has not opened bids or selected a contractor within 90 days of the date of issuance of the wage schedule. For CM AT RISK projects (bid pursuant to G.L. c.149A), the earlier of: (a) the execution date of the GMP Amendment, or (b) the bid for the first construction scope of work must be within 90-days of the wage schedule issuance date.
- The wage schedule shall be incorporated in any advertisement or call for bids for the project as required by M.G.L. c. 149, § 27. The wage schedule shall be made a part of the contract awarded for the project. The wage schedule must be posted in a conspicuous place at the work site for the life of the project in accordance with M.G.L. c. 149 § 27. The wages listed on the wage schedule must be paid to employees performing construction work on the project whether they are employed by the prime contractor, a filed sub-bidder, or any sub-contractor.
- All apprentices working on the project are required to be registered with the Massachusetts Department of Labor Standards, Division of Apprentice Standards (DLS/DAS). Apprentice must keep his/her apprentice identification card on his/her person during all work hours on the project. An apprentice registered with DAS may be paid the lower apprentice wage rate at the applicable step as provided on the prevailing wage schedule. Any apprentice not registered with DLS/DAS regardless of whether or not they are registered with any other federal, state, local, or private agency must be paid the journeyworker's rate for the trade.
- The wage rates will remain in effect for the duration of the project, except in the case of multi-year public construction projects. For construction projects lasting longer than one year, awarding authorities must request an updated wage schedule. Awarding authorities are required to request these updates no later than two weeks before the anniversary of the date the contract was executed by the awarding authority and the general contractor. For multi-year CM AT RISK projects, awarding authority must request an annual update no later than two weeks before the anniversary date, determined as the earlier of: (a) the execution date of the GMP Amendment, or (b) the execution date of the first amendment to permit procurement of construction services. Contractors are required to obtain the wage schedules from awarding authorities, and to pay no less than these rates to covered workers. The annual update requirement is not applicable to 27F "rental of equipment" contracts.
- Every contractor or subcontractor which performs construction work on the project is required to submit weekly payroll reports and a Statement of Compliance directly to the awarding authority by mail or email and keep them on file for three years. Each weekly payroll report must contain: the employee's name, address, occupational classification, hours worked, and wages paid. Do not submit weekly payroll reports to DLS. A sample of a payroll reporting form may be obtained at http://www.mass.gov/dols/pw.
- Contractors with questions about the wage rates or classifications included on the wage schedule have an affirmative obligation to inquire with DLS at (617) 626-6953.
- Employees not receiving the prevailing wage rate set forth on the wage schedule may report the violation to the Fair Labor Division of the office of the Attorney General at (617) 727-3465.
- Failure of a contractor or subcontractor to pay the prevailing wage rates listed on the wage schedule to all employees who perform construction work on the project is a violation of the law and subjects the contractor or subcontractor to civil and

Issue Date: 09/05/2019 **Wage Request Number:** 20190905-072

Classification	Effective Date	Base Wage	Health	Pension	Supplemental Unemployment	Total Rate
Construction					Chempioyment	
2 AXLE) DRIVER - EQUIPMENT	08/01/2019	\$34.25	\$12.41	\$12.70	\$0.00	\$59.36
TEAMSTERS JOINT COUNCIL NO. 10 ZONE B	12/01/2019	\$34.25	\$12.41	\$13.72	\$0.00	\$60.38
	06/01/2020	\$35.15	\$12.41	\$13.72	\$0.00	\$61.28
	08/01/2020	\$35.15	\$12.91	\$13.72	\$0.00	\$61.78
	12/01/2020	\$35.15	\$12.91	\$14.82	\$0.00	\$62.88
	06/01/2021	\$35.95	\$12.91	\$14.82	\$0.00	\$63.68
	08/01/2021	\$35.95	\$13.41	\$14.82	\$0.00	\$64.18
	12/01/2021	\$35.95	\$13.41	\$16.01	\$0.00	\$65.37
3 AXLE) DRIVER - EQUIPMENT	08/01/2019	\$34.32	\$12.41	\$12.70	\$0.00	\$59.43
FEAMSTERS JOINT COUNCIL NO. 10 ZONE B	12/01/2019	\$34.32	\$12.41	\$13.72	\$0.00	\$60.45
	06/01/2020	\$35.22	\$12.41	\$13.72	\$0.00	\$61.35
	08/01/2020	\$35.22	\$12.91	\$13.72	\$0.00	\$61.85
	12/01/2020	\$35.22	\$12.91	\$14.82	\$0.00	\$62.95
	06/01/2021	\$36.02	\$12.91	\$14.82	\$0.00	\$63.75
	08/01/2021	\$36.02	\$13.41	\$14.82	\$0.00	\$64.25
	12/01/2021	\$36.02	\$13.41	\$16.01	\$0.00	\$65.44
4 & 5 AXLE) DRIVER - EQUIPMENT	08/01/2019	\$34.44	\$12.41	\$12.70	\$0.00	\$59.55
FEAMSTERS JOINT COUNCIL NO. 10 ZONE B	12/01/2019	\$34.44	\$12.41	\$13.72	\$0.00	\$60.57
	06/01/2020	\$35.34	\$12.41	\$13.72	\$0.00	\$61.47
	08/01/2020	\$35.34	\$12.91	\$13.72	\$0.00	\$61.97
	12/01/2020	\$35.34	\$12.91	\$14.82	\$0.00	\$63.07
	06/01/2021	\$36.14	\$12.91	\$14.82	\$0.00	\$63.87
	08/01/2021	\$36.14	\$13.41	\$14.82	\$0.00	\$64.37
	12/01/2021	\$36.14	\$13.41	\$16.01	\$0.00	\$65.56
ADS/SUBMERSIBLE PILOT	08/01/2019	\$102.78	\$9.90	\$21.15	\$0.00	\$133.83
PILE DRIVER LOCAL 56 (ZONE 1)						
For apprentice rates see "Apprentice- PILE DRIVER"						
AIR TRACK OPERATOR LABORERS - ZONE 2	06/01/2019	\$34.70	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$57.43
	12/01/2019	\$35.56	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$58.29
	06/01/2020	\$36.45	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$59.18
	12/01/2020	\$37.34	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$60.07
	06/01/2021	\$38.26	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$60.99
For apprentice rates see "Apprentice- LABORER"	12/01/2021	\$39.17	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$61.90
ASBESTOS REMOVER - PIPE / MECH. EQUIPT.	06/01/2019	\$36.00	\$12.50	\$8.85	\$0.00	\$57.35
HEAT & FROST INSULATORS LOCAL 6 (BOSTON)	12/01/2019	\$30.00	\$12.50	\$8.85	\$0.00	\$57.35
	06/01/2020	\$37.00	\$12.50	\$8.85	\$0.00	\$59.35
	12/01/2020	\$39.00	\$12.50	\$8.85	\$0.00	\$60.35
ASPHALT RAKER						
LABORERS - ZONE 2	06/01/2019	\$34.20	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$56.93
	12/01/2019	\$35.06	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$57.79
	06/01/2020	\$35.95	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$58.68
	12/01/2020	\$36.84	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$59.57
	06/01/0001	do =	Φ- 0-	01400	00.00	060 10
	06/01/2021 12/01/2021	\$37.76 \$38.67	\$7.85 \$7.85	\$14.88 \$14.88	\$0.00 \$0.00	\$60.49 \$61.40

Issue Date: 09/05/2019 **Wage Request Number:** 20190905-072 **Page 2 of 41**

Classification	Effective Date	Base Wage	Health	Pension	Supplemental Unemployment	Total Rate
ASPHALT/CONCRETE/CRUSHER PLANT-ON SITE	06/01/2019	\$48.18	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$75.78
OPERATING ENGINEERS LOCAL 4	12/01/2019	\$49.33	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$76.93
	06/01/2020	\$50.43	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$78.03
HALT/CONCRETE/CRUSHER PLANT-ON SITE ATING ENGINEERS LOCAL 4 For apprentice rates see "Apprentice- OPERATING ENGINEERS" KHOE/FRONT-END LOADER ATING ENGINEERS LOCAL 4 For apprentice rates see "Apprentice- OPERATING ENGINEERS" CO-TYPE JUMPING TAMPER RERS - ZONE 2 For apprentice rates see "Apprentice- LABORER" CK PAVER, RAMMER / CURB SETTER RERS - ZONE 2	12/01/2020	\$51.58	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$79.18
	06/01/2021	\$52.68	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$80.28
For apprentice rates see "Apprentice- OPERATING ENGINEERS"	12/01/2021	\$53.83	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$81.43
BACKHOE/FRONT-END LOADER	06/01/2019	\$48.18	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$75.78
OPERATING ENGINEERS LOCAL 4	12/01/2019	\$49.33	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$76.93
	06/01/2020	\$50.43	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$78.03
	12/01/2020	\$51.58	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$79.18
	06/01/2021	\$52.68	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$80.28
For apprentice rates see "Apprentice- OPERATING ENGINEERS"	12/01/2021	\$53.83	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$81.43
BARCO-TYPE JUMPING TAMPER	06/01/2019	\$34.20	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$56.93
LABORERS - ZONE 2	12/01/2019	\$35.06	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$57.79
ADOREKS - ZONE 2	06/01/2020	\$35.95	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$58.68
	12/01/2020	\$36.84	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$59.57
	06/01/2021	\$37.76	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$60.49
For apprentice rates see "Apprentice- LABORER"	12/01/2021	\$38.67	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$61.40
BLOCK PAVER, RAMMER / CURB SETTER	06/01/2019	\$34.70	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$57.43
LABORERS - ZONE 2	12/01/2019	\$35.56	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$58.29
	06/01/2020	\$36.45	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$59.18
	12/01/2020	\$37.34	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$60.07
	06/01/2021	\$38.26	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$60.99
	12/01/2021	\$39.17	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$61.90
For apprentice rates see "Apprentice- LABORER"						
BOILER MAKER	01/01/2019	\$44.71	\$7.07	\$17.72	\$0.00	\$69.50
BOILERMAKERS LOCAL 29	01/01/2020	\$46.10	\$7.07	\$17.98	\$0.00	\$71.15

 Issue Date:
 09/05/2019
 Wage Request Number:
 20190905-072
 Page 3 of 41

Pension

Apprentice - BOILERMAKER - Local 29

Total Rate

Eff	ective Date -	01/01/2019				C1 / 1		
Ste			Apprentice Base Wage	Health	Pension	Supplemental Unemployment	Total Rate	•
1	65		\$29.06	\$7.07	\$11.52	\$0.00	\$47.65	i
2	65		\$29.06	\$7.07	\$11.52	\$0.00	\$47.65	j
3	70		\$31.30	\$7.07	\$12.40	\$0.00	\$50.77	•
4	75		\$33.53	\$7.07	\$13.30	\$0.00	\$53.90)
5	80		\$35.77	\$7.07	\$14.18	\$0.00	\$57.02	!
6	85		\$38.00	\$7.07	\$15.07	\$0.00	\$60.14	ļ
7	90		\$40.24	\$7.07	\$15.95	\$0.00	\$63.26	ó
8	95		\$42.47	\$7.07	\$16.84	\$0.00	\$66.38	3
	ective Date -					Supplemental		
Ste			Apprentice Base Wage	Health	Pension	Unemployment	Total Rate)
1	65		\$29.97	\$7.07	\$11.69	\$0.00	\$48.73	}
2	65		\$29.97	\$7.07	\$11.69	\$0.00	\$48.73	,
3	70		\$32.27	\$7.07	\$12.59	\$0.00	\$51.93	1
4	75		\$34.58	\$7.07	\$13.49	\$0.00	\$55.14	ļ
5	80		\$36.88	\$7.07	\$14.38	\$0.00	\$58.33	,
6	85		\$39.19	\$7.07	\$15.29	\$0.00	\$61.55	;
7	90		\$41.49	\$7.07	\$16.18	\$0.00	\$64.74	
8	95		\$43.80	\$7.07	\$17.09	\$0.00	\$67.96	6
No	tes:							
 	 prentice to J	ourneyworker Ratio:1:4						
		ASONRY (INCL. MASONR	Y 08/01/2019	9 \$54.40	\$10.75	\$21.30	\$0.00	\$86.45
TERPROOFING	/		02/01/2020				\$0.00	\$87.09
CKLAYERS LOCAL 3	(LYNN)		08/01/2020				\$0.00	\$88.59
			02/01/2021				\$0.00	\$89.23
			08/01/2021	\$58.43	\$10.75	\$21.61	\$0.00	\$90.79

	Step	ive Date - 08/01/2019 percent	Apprentice Base Wage	Health	Pension	Supplemental Unemployment	Total Rate	
	1	50	\$27.20	\$10.75	\$21.30	\$0.00	\$59.25	
	2	60	\$32.64	\$10.75	\$21.30	\$0.00	\$64.69	
	3	70	\$38.08	\$10.75	\$21.30	\$0.00	\$70.13	
	4	80	\$43.52	\$10.75	\$21.30	\$0.00	\$75.57	
	5	90	\$48.96	\$10.75	\$21.30	\$0.00	\$81.01	
	Effect	ive Date - 02/01/2020				Supplemental		
	Step	percent	Apprentice Base Wage	Health	Pension	Unemployment	Total Rate	
	1	50	\$27.52	\$10.75	\$21.30	\$0.00	\$59.57	
	2	60	\$33.02	\$10.75	\$21.30	\$0.00	\$65.07	
	3	70	\$38.53	\$10.75	\$21.30	\$0.00	\$70.58	
	4	80	\$44.03	\$10.75	\$21.30	\$0.00	\$76.08	
	5	90	\$49.54	\$10.75	\$21.30	\$0.00	\$81.59	
	Notes:	- — — — — — — —						
		ntice to Journeyworker Ratio:1:5						
JLLDOZERA ERATING ENG		ER/SCRAPER	06/01/2019	9 \$47.69	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$75.29
EKATING ENG	INEEKS L	JCAL 4	12/01/2019	9 \$48.83	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$76.43
			06/01/2020	\$49.91	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$77.51
			12/01/2020	\$51.05	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$78.65
			06/01/202	1 \$52.14	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$79.74
			12/01/202	1 \$53.28	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$80.88
		'Apprentice- OPERATING ENGINEERS"						
AISSON & U Borers - Fou		INNING BOTTOM MAN AND MARINE	06/01/2019	9 \$40.25	\$7.85	\$16.05	\$0.00	\$64.15
			12/01/2019	9 \$41.25	\$7.85	\$16.05	\$0.00	\$65.15
			06/01/2020	\$42.24	\$7.85	\$16.05	\$0.00	\$66.14
			12/01/2020	\$43.22	\$7.85	\$16.05	\$0.00	\$67.12
			06/01/202	1 \$44.24	\$7.85	\$16.05	\$0.00	\$68.14
For apprentice	e rates see '	'Apprentice- LABORER"	12/01/202	1 \$45.25	\$7.85	\$16.05	\$0.00	\$69.15
ISSON & U	NDERP	INNING LABORER	06/01/2019	9 \$39.10	\$7.85	\$16.05	\$0.00	\$63.00
SURERS - FOU	NDATION	AND MARINE	12/01/2019	9 \$40.10	\$7.85	\$16.05	\$0.00	\$64.00
			06/01/2020	\$41.09	\$7.85	\$16.05	\$0.00	\$64.99
			12/01/2020	\$42.07	\$7.85	\$16.05	\$0.00	\$65.97
			06/01/202	1 \$43.09	\$7.85	\$16.05	\$0.00	\$66.99
			12/01/202	1 \$44.10	\$7.85	\$16.05	\$0.00	\$68.00

Classification	Effective Date	Base Wage	Health	Pension	Supplemental Unemployment	Total Rate
CAISSON & UNDERPINNING TOP MAN	06/01/2019	\$39.10	\$7.85	\$16.05	\$0.00	\$63.00
LABORERS - FOUNDATION AND MARINE	12/01/2019	\$40.10	\$7.85	\$16.05	\$0.00	\$64.00
	06/01/2020	\$41.09	\$7.85	\$16.05	\$0.00	\$64.99
	12/01/2020	\$42.07	\$7.85	\$16.05	\$0.00	\$65.97
	06/01/2021	\$43.09	\$7.85	\$16.05	\$0.00	\$66.99
For apprentice rates see "Apprentice- LABORER"	12/01/2021	\$44.10	\$7.85	\$16.05	\$0.00	\$68.00
CARBIDE CORE DRILL OPERATOR	06/01/2019	\$34.20	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$56.93
LABORERS - ZONE 2	12/01/2019	\$35.06	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$57.79
	06/01/2020	\$35.95	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$58.68
	12/01/2020	\$36.84	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$59.57
	06/01/2021	\$37.76	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$60.49
For apprentice rates see "Apprentice- LABORER"	12/01/2021	\$38.67	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$61.40
CARPENTER CARPENTERS - ZONE 2 (Eastern Massachusetts)	03/01/2019	\$42.35	\$9.90	\$17.50	\$0.00	\$69.75

Apprentice - CARPENTER - Zone 2 Eastern MA 03/01/2019 **Effective Date -**Supplemental Unemployment Step percent Apprentice Base Wage Health Pension Total Rate 1 50 \$9.90 \$21.18 \$1.73 \$0.00 \$32.81 2 60 \$25.41 \$9.90 \$0.00 \$37.04 \$1.73 3 70 \$29.65 \$9.90 \$12.31 \$0.00 \$51.86 4 75 \$31.76 \$9.90 \$12.31 \$0.00 \$53.97 5 80 \$33.88 \$9.90 \$14.04 \$0.00 \$57.82 6 80 \$33.88 \$9.90 \$0.00 \$14.04 \$57.82 90 \$38.12 \$9.90 \$15.77 \$0.00 \$63.79 8 90 \$0.00 \$38.12 \$9.90 \$15.77 \$63.79 Notes: % Indentured After 10/1/17; 45/45/55/55/70/70/80/80 Step 1&2 \$30.69/ 3&4 \$36.59/ 5&6 \$53.59/ 7&8 \$59.55 Apprentice to Journeyworker Ratio:1:5 CARPENTER WOOD FRAME 04/01/2019 \$27.52 \$7.07 \$7.86 \$0.00 \$42.45 CARPENTERS -ZONE 2 (Wood Frame) 10/01/2019 \$27.95 \$7.07 \$7.86 \$0.00 \$42.88

Issue Date: 09/05/2019 **Wage Request Number:** 20190905-072 **Page 6 of 41**

All Aspects of New Wood Frame Work

Apprentice -	CARPENTER (Wood Frame) - Zone 2
Effective Date	04/01/2010

Eff	fective Date -	04/01/2019				Supplemental		
Ste	p percent		Apprentice Base Wage	Health	Pension	Unemployment	Total Rate	;
1	60		\$16.51	\$7.07	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$23.58	
2	60		\$16.51	\$7.07	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$23.58	
3	65		\$17.89	\$7.07	\$7.86	\$0.00	\$32.82	
4	70		\$19.26	\$7.07	\$7.86	\$0.00	\$34.19	
5	75		\$20.64	\$7.07	\$7.86	\$0.00	\$35.57	
6	80		\$22.02	\$7.07	\$7.86	\$0.00	\$36.95	
7	85		\$23.39	\$7.07	\$7.86	\$0.00	\$38.32	
8	90		\$24.77	\$7.07	\$7.86	\$0.00	\$39.70	
Eff	fective Date -	10/01/2019				Supplemental		
Ste	p percent		Apprentice Base Wage	Health	Pension	Unemployment	Total Rate	;
1	60		\$16.77	\$7.07	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$23.84	
2	60		\$16.77	\$7.07	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$23.84	
3	65		\$18.17	\$7.07	\$7.86	\$0.00	\$33.10	
4	70		\$19.57	\$7.07	\$7.86	\$0.00	\$34.50	
5	75		\$20.96	\$7.07	\$7.86	\$0.00	\$35.89	
6	80		\$22.36	\$7.07	\$7.86	\$0.00	\$37.29	
7	85		\$23.76	\$7.07	\$7.86	\$0.00	\$38.69	
8	90		\$25.16	\$7.07	\$7.86	\$0.00	\$40.09	
No		ured After 10/1/17; 45/45/55 \$ \$19.45/ 3&4 \$26.96/ 5&6 \$						
Ap		ourneyworker Ratio:1:5	— — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — —				'	
MENT MASON		RING	07/01/2019	\$47.67	\$12.75	\$22.41	\$0.62	\$83.45
ICKLAYERS LOCAL 3	(LINN)		01/01/2020	\$49.07	\$12.75	\$22.41	\$0.62	\$84.85

Wage Request Number: 20190905-072 **Issue Date:** 09/05/2019 Page 7 of 41

Total Rate

Apprentice - CEMENT MASONRY/PLASTERING - Eastern Mass (Lynn)

Effect		/2019	terri mass (E	yılıy		0 1 41		
Step	percent		Base Wage	Health	Pension	Supplemental Unemployment	Total Rate	
1	50	9	\$23.84	\$12.75	\$15.41	\$0.00	\$52.00	
2	60	9	\$28.60	\$12.75	\$17.41	\$0.62	\$59.38	
3	65	9	\$30.99	\$12.75	\$18.41	\$0.62	\$62.77	
4	70	9	\$33.37	\$12.75	\$19.41	\$0.62	\$66.15	
5	75	9	\$35.75	\$12.75	\$20.41	\$0.62	\$69.53	
6	80	9	\$38.14	\$12.75	\$21.41	\$0.62	\$72.92	
7	90	9	\$42.90	\$12.75	\$22.41	\$0.62	\$78.68	
Effect Step	ive Date - 01/01 percent	/2020 Apprentice	Base Wage	Health	Pension	Supplemental Unemployment	Total Rate	
1	50		\$24.54	\$12.75	\$15.41	\$0.00	\$52.70	
2	60	9	\$29.44	\$12.75	\$17.41	\$0.62	\$60.22	
3	65	9	\$31.90	\$12.75	\$18.41	\$0.62	\$63.68	
4	70		\$34.35	\$12.75	\$19.41	\$0.62	\$67.13	
5	75	9	\$36.80	\$12.75	\$20.41	\$0.62	\$70.58	
6	80	9	\$39.26	\$12.75	\$21.41	\$0.62	\$74.04	
7	90	5	\$44.16	\$12.75	\$22.41	\$0.62	\$79.94	
Appre		hrs. All other steps are 1,000 hrs.	3.					
CHAIN SAW OPERA			06/01/2019	\$34.2	0 \$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$56.93
LABORERS - ZONE 2			12/01/2019			\$14.88	\$0.00	\$50.93 \$57.79
			06/01/2020			\$14.88	\$0.00	\$58.68
			12/01/2020			\$14.88	\$0.00	\$59.57
			06/01/2021			\$14.88	\$0.00	\$60.49
			12/01/2021			\$14.88	\$0.00	\$61.40
For apprentice rates see								
CLAM SHELLS/SLUF <i>OPERATING ENGINEERS L</i>		EADING MACHINES	06/01/2019	\$49.1	8 \$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$76.78
OT BIGHT TO BEYOUT BEING E	o care i		12/01/2019	\$50.3	3 \$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$77.93
			06/01/2020	\$51.4	3 \$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$79.03
			12/01/2020		8 \$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$80.18
			06/01/2021	\$53.6	8 \$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$81.28
For apprentice rates see	"Apprentice- OPERATI	NG ENGINEERS"	12/01/2021	\$54.8	3 \$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$82.43
COMPRESSOR OPER			06/01/2019	\$32.2	8 \$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$59.88
OPERATING ENGINEERS L	OCAL 4		12/01/2019	\$33.0	7 \$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$60.67
			06/01/2020	\$33.8	2 \$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$61.42
			12/01/2020	\$34.6	0 \$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$62.20
			06/01/2021	\$35.3	5 \$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$62.95
			12/01/2021	\$36.1	4 \$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$63.74
Issue Date: 09/05/20	 19	Wage Request Number:	2019090	05-072				Page 8 of 41

Classification For apprentice	rates see "	Apprentice- OPERATING ENGINEERS"	Effective Dat	e Base Wage	Health	Pension	Supplemental Unemployment	Total Ra
DELEADER (B			07/01/2019	\$50.66	\$8.20	\$21.45	\$0.00	\$80.31
PAINTERS LOCAL	35 - ZONI	E 2	01/01/2020	\$50.96	\$8.20	\$22.10	\$0.00	\$81.26
			07/01/2020	\$52.06	\$8.20	\$22.10	\$0.00	\$82.36
			01/01/2021	\$53.16	\$8.20	\$22.10	\$0.00	\$83.46
	Effecti	ntice - PAINTER Local 35 - BRIL ve Date - 07/01/2019				Supplementa		
	Step	percent	Apprentice Base Wage	Health	Pension	Unemploymen	t Total Rate	
	1	50	\$25.33	\$8.20	\$0.00	\$0.00	33.53	
	2	55	\$27.86	\$8.20	\$5.78	\$0.00	\$41.84	
	3	60	\$30.40	\$8.20	\$6.30	\$0.00	\$44.90	
	4	65	\$32.93	\$8.20	\$6.83	\$0.00	\$47.96	
	5	70	\$35.46	\$8.20	\$18.30	\$0.00	\$61.96	
	6	75	\$38.00	\$8.20	\$18.83	\$0.00	\$65.03	
	7	80	\$40.53	\$8.20	\$19.35	\$0.00	\$68.08	
	8	90	\$45.59	\$8.20	\$20.40	\$0.00	\$74.19	
	Effecti Step	ve Date - 01/01/2020 percent	Apprentice Base Wage	Health	Pension	Supplementa Unemploymen		
	1	50	\$25.48	\$8.20	\$0.00	\$0.00	33.68	
	2	55	\$28.03	\$8.20	\$5.94	\$0.00	\$42.17	
	3	60	\$30.58	\$8.20	\$6.48	\$0.00	\$45.26	
	4	65	\$33.12	\$8.20	\$7.02	\$0.00	\$48.34	
	5	70	\$35.67	\$8.20	\$18.51	\$0.00	\$62.38	
	6	75	\$38.22	\$8.20	\$19.05	\$0.00	\$65.47	
	7	80	\$40.77	\$8.20	\$19.59	\$0.00	\$68.56	
	8	90	\$45.86	\$8.20	\$20.67	\$0.00		
	Notes:							
	į	Steps are 750 hrs.						
		ntice to Journeyworker Ratio:1:1						
EMO: ADZEN ABORERS - ZONE			06/01/2019	\$39.30	\$7.85	\$15.85	\$0.00	\$63.00
		Apprentice- LABORER"	12/01/2019	\$40.30	\$7.85	\$15.85	\$0.00	\$64.00
		OADER/HAMMER OPERATOR	06/01/2019	\$40.30	\$7.85	\$15.85	\$0.00	\$64.00
BORERS - ZONE	i 2		12/01/2019	\$41.30	\$7.85	\$15.85	\$0.00	\$65.00
		Apprentice- LABORER"						
EMO: BURNI BORERS - ZONE			06/01/2019	\$40.05	\$7.85	\$15.85	\$0.00	\$63.75
		Apprentice- LABORER"	12/01/2019	\$41.05	\$7.85	\$15.85	\$0.00	\$64.75
		UTTER/SAWYER	06/01/2019	\$40.30	\$7.85	\$15.85	\$0.00	\$64.00
ABORERS - ZONE	E 2		12/01/2019	\$41.30	\$7.85	\$15.85	\$0.00	\$65.00
For apprentice	rates see "	Apprentice- LABORER"						

 Issue Date:
 09/05/2019
 Wage Request Number:
 20190905-072
 Page 9 of 41

Classification	Effective Date	Base Wage	Health	Pension	Supplemental Unemployment	Total Rate
DEMO: JACKHAMMER OPERATOR LABORERS - ZONE 2	06/01/2019	\$40.05	\$7.85	\$15.85	\$0.00	\$63.75
	12/01/2019	\$41.05	\$7.85	\$15.85	\$0.00	\$64.75
For apprentice rates see "Apprentice- LABORER"						
DEMO: WRECKING LABORER LABORERS - ZONE 2	06/01/2019	\$39.30	\$7.85	\$15.85	\$0.00	\$63.00
	12/01/2019	\$40.30	\$7.85	\$15.85	\$0.00	\$64.00
For apprentice rates see "Apprentice- LABORER"						
DIRECTIONAL DRILL MACHINE OPERATOR OPERATING ENGINEERS LOCAL 4	06/01/2019	\$47.69	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$75.29
	12/01/2019	\$48.83	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$76.43
	06/01/2020	\$49.91	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$77.51
	12/01/2020	\$51.05	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$78.65
	06/01/2021	\$52.14	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$79.74
	12/01/2021	\$53.28	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$80.88
For apprentice rates see "Apprentice- OPERATING ENGINEERS"						
DIVER PILE DRIVER LOCAL 56 (ZONE 1)	08/01/2019	\$68.52	\$9.90	\$21.15	\$0.00	\$99.57
For apprentice rates see "Apprentice-PILE DRIVER"						
DIVER TENDER PILE DRIVER LOCAL 56 (ZONE 1)	08/01/2019	\$48.94	\$9.90	\$21.15	\$0.00	\$79.99
For apprentice rates see "Apprentice-PILE DRIVER"						
DIVER TENDER (EFFLUENT) PILE DRIVER LOCAL 56 (ZONE 1)	08/01/2019	\$73.41	\$9.90	\$21.15	\$0.00	\$104.46
For apprentice rates see "Apprentice- PILE DRIVER"						
DIVER/SLURRY (EFFLUENT) PILE DRIVER LOCAL 56 (ZONE 1)	08/01/2019	\$102.78	\$9.90	\$21.15	\$0.00	\$133.83
For apprentice rates see "Apprentice- PILE DRIVER"						
DRAWBRIDGE OPERATOR (Construction) ELECTRICIANS LOCAL 103	03/01/2019	\$51.10	\$13.00	\$18.88	\$0.00	\$82.98
For apprentice rates see "Apprentice- ELECTRICIAN"						
ELECTRICIAN ELECTRICIANS LOCAL 103	03/01/2019	\$51.10	\$13.00	\$18.88	\$0.00	\$82.98

 Issue Date:
 09/05/2019
 Wage Request Number:
 20190905-072
 Page 10 of 41

Step	percent 03/01/2019	Apprentice Base Wage	Health	Pension	Supplemental Unemployment	Total Rate	
1	40	\$20.44	\$13.00	\$0.61	\$0.00	\$34.05	
2	40	\$20.44	\$13.00	\$0.61	\$0.00	\$34.05	
3	45	\$23.00	\$13.00	\$14.34	\$0.00	\$50.34	
4	45	\$23.00	\$13.00	\$14.34	\$0.00	\$50.34	
5	50	\$25.55	\$13.00	\$14.76	\$0.00	\$53.31	
6	55	\$28.11	\$13.00	\$15.17	\$0.00	\$56.28	
7	60	\$30.66	\$13.00	\$15.58	\$0.00	\$59.24	
8	65	\$33.22	\$13.00	\$16.00	\$0.00	\$62.22	
9	70	\$35.77	\$13.00	\$16.40	\$0.00	\$65.17	
10	75	\$38.33	\$13.00	\$16.82	\$0.00	\$68.15	
Notes		/40/45/50/55/65/70/75/80					
Appr	rentice to Journeyworker	Ratio:2:3***					
TOR CONSTI		01/01/2019	\$59.47	\$15.58	\$17.51	\$0.00	\$92.56
R CONSTRUCTO	PRS LOCAL 4	01/01/2020	\$61.42	\$15.73	\$18.41	\$0.00	\$95.56
		01/01/2021	\$63.47	\$15.88	\$19.31	\$0.00	\$98.66
		01/01/2022	\$65.62	\$16.03	\$20.21	\$0.00	\$101.8

Effecti	ve Date -	01/01/2019				Supplemental	
Step	percent		Apprentice Base Wage	Health	Pension	Unemployment	Total Rate
1	50		\$29.74	\$15.58	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$45.32
2	55		\$32.71	\$15.58	\$17.51	\$0.00	\$65.80
3	65		\$38.66	\$15.58	\$17.51	\$0.00	\$71.75
4	70		\$41.63	\$15.58	\$17.51	\$0.00	\$74.72
5	80		\$47.58	\$15.58	\$17.51	\$0.00	\$80.67
E ffecti Step	ve Date -	01/01/2020	Apprentice Base Wage	Health	Pension	Supplemental Unemployment	Total Rate
1	50		\$30.71	\$15.73	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$46.44
2	55		\$33.78	\$15.73	\$18.41	\$0.00	\$67.92
3	65		\$39.92	\$15.73	\$18.41	\$0.00	\$74.06
4	70		\$42.99	\$15.73	\$18.41	\$0.00	\$77.13
5	80		\$49.14	\$15.73	\$18.41	\$0.00	\$83.28
Notes:			are 1 year			. — — — —	

Apprentice to Journeyworker Ratio:1:1

Classification	Effective Date	Base Wage	Health	Pension	Supplemental Unemployment	Total Rate
ELEVATOR CONSTRUCTOR HELPER	01/01/2019	\$41.63	\$15.58	\$17.51	\$0.00	\$74.72
ELEVATOR CONSTRUCTORS LOCAL 4	01/01/2020	\$42.99	\$15.73	\$18.41	\$0.00	\$77.13
	01/01/2021	\$44.43	\$15.88	\$19.31	\$0.00	\$79.62
	01/01/2022	\$45.93	\$16.03	\$20.21	\$0.00	\$82.17
For apprentice rates see "Apprentice - ELEVATOR CONSTRUCTOR"						
FENCE & GUARD RAIL ERECTOR LABORERS - ZONE 2	06/01/2019	\$34.20	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$56.93
	12/01/2019	\$35.06	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$57.79
	06/01/2020	\$35.95	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$58.68
	12/01/2020	\$36.84	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$59.57
	06/01/2021	\$37.76	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$60.49
The state of the s	12/01/2021	\$38.67	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$61.40
For apprentice rates see "Apprentice- LABORER"				***		
FIELD ENG.INST.PERSON-BLDG,SITE,HVY/HWY OPERATING ENGINEERS LOCAL 4	05/01/2019	\$43.68	\$11.50	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$70.78
	11/01/2019	\$44.68	\$11.50	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$71.78
	05/01/2020	\$45.83	\$11.50	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$72.93
	11/01/2020	\$46.83	\$11.50	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$73.93
	05/01/2021	\$47.98	\$11.50	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$75.08
	11/01/2021	\$48.98	\$11.50	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$76.08
For apprentice rates see "Apprentice- OPERATING ENGINEERS"	05/01/2022	\$50.13	\$11.50	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$77.23
FIELD ENG.PARTY CHIEF-BLDG,SITE,HVY/HWY	05/01/2019	\$45.17	\$11.50	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$72.27
OPERATING ENGINEERS LOCAL 4	11/01/2019	\$46.18	\$11.50	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$73.28
	05/01/2020	\$47.33	\$11.50	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$74.43
	11/01/2020	\$48.34	\$11.50	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$75.44
	05/01/2021	\$49.50	\$11.50	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$76.60
	11/01/2021	\$50.51	\$11.50	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$77.61
For apprentice rates see "Apprentice- OPERATING ENGINEERS"	05/01/2022	\$51.67	\$11.50	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$78.77
FIELD ENG.ROD PERSON-BLDG,SITE,HVY/HWY	05/01/2019	\$22.48	\$11.50	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$49.58
OPERATING ENGINEERS LOCAL 4	11/01/2019	\$23.07	\$11.50	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$50.17
	05/01/2020	\$23.74	\$11.50	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$50.84
	11/01/2020	\$23.74	\$11.50	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$50.84
	05/01/2021	\$24.33	\$11.50	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$51.43
	11/01/2021	\$25.61	\$11.50	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$52.71 \$52.71
	05/01/2022	\$25.01	\$11.50	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$52.71 \$53.38
For apprentice rates see "Apprentice- OPERATING ENGINEERS"	03/01/2022	φ ∠ U.∠0	φ11.3U	φ15.00	ψ0.00	φυυ.υο
FIRE ALARM INSTALLER ELECTRICIANS LOCAL 103	03/01/2019	\$51.10	\$13.00	\$18.88	\$0.00	\$82.98
For apprentice rates see "Apprentice- ELECTRICIAN"						
FIRE ALARM REPAIR / MAINTENANCE / COMMISSIONINGELECTRICIANS	03/01/2019	\$38.33	\$13.00	\$16.82	\$0.00	\$68.15

LOCAL 103

For apprentice rates see "Apprentice-TELECOMMUNICATIONS TECHNICIAN"

Issue Date: 09/05/2019 **Wage Request Number:** 20190905-072 **Page 12 of 41**

Classification	Effective Date	Base Wage	Health	Pension	Supplemental Unemployment	Total Rate
FIREMAN (ASST. ENGINEER)	06/01/2019	\$39.54	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$67.14
OPERATING ENGINEERS LOCAL 4	12/01/2019	\$40.49	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$68.09
	06/01/2020	\$41.40	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$69.00
	12/01/2020	\$42.35	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$69.95
	06/01/2021	\$43.26	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$70.86
For apprentice rates see "Apprentice- OPERATING ENGINEERS"	12/01/2021	\$44.21	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$71.81
FLAGGER & SIGNALER	06/01/2019	\$22.50	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$45.23
LABORERS - ZONE 2	12/01/2019	\$23.50	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$46.23
	06/01/2020	\$23.50	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$46.23
	12/01/2020	\$24.50	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$47.23
	06/01/2021	\$24.50	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$47.23
For apprentice rates see "Apprentice- LABORER"	12/01/2021	\$24.50	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$47.23
FLOORCOVERER	09/01/2019	\$46.25	\$9.40	\$19.25	\$0.00	\$74.90
FLOORCOVERERS LOCAL 2168 ZONE I	03/01/2020	\$47.05	\$9.40	\$19.25	\$0.00	\$75.70
	09/01/2020	\$47.85	\$9.40	\$19.25	\$0.00	\$76.50
	03/01/2021	\$48.65	\$9.40	\$19.25	\$0.00	\$77.30
	09/01/2021	\$49.45	\$9.40	\$19.25	\$0.00	\$78.10
	03/01/2022	\$50.25	\$9.40	\$19.25	\$0.00	\$78.90

 Issue Date:
 09/05/2019
 Wage Request Number:
 20190905-072
 Page 13 of 41

Apprentice - FLOORCOVERER - Local 2168 Zone I

		\$34.60 \$35.35 \$36.14 \$40.16 \$40.46	\$17.46 \$17.46 \$17.46 \$12.00	\$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$15.6	\$64.50 \$66.85 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00	\$75.78 \$76.93 \$78.03 \$79.18 \$80.28 \$81.43 \$59.88 \$60.67 \$61.42 \$62.20 \$62.95 \$63.74 \$69.81 \$70.76 \$71.86 \$72.96
\$750 hrs. 19/1/17; 45/45/55/55/70/70/80/80 (1500hi \$32.00/ 3&4 \$38.36/ 5&6 \$57.45/ 7&8 \$3 11	39.99 r Steps) \$63.86 06/01/2019 12/01/2019 06/01/2020 12/01/2021 12/01/2021 06/01/2020 12/01/2020 12/01/2020 06/01/2021 12/01/2020 06/01/2021 12/01/2020 06/01/2021 07/01/2020 07/01/2020 07/01/2020	\$9.40 \$48.18 \$49.33 \$50.43 \$51.58 \$52.68 \$53.83 \$32.28 \$33.07 \$33.82 \$34.60 \$35.35 \$36.14 \$40.16 \$40.46 \$41.56	\$17.46 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00	\$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60	\$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00	\$76.93 \$78.03 \$79.18 \$80.28 \$81.43 \$59.88 \$60.67 \$61.42 \$62.20 \$62.95 \$63.74 \$69.81 \$70.76 \$71.86
\$750 hrs. 19/1/17; 45/45/55/55/70/70/80/80 (1500hi \$32.00/ 3&4 \$38.36/ 5&6 \$57.45/ 7&8 \$3 11	39.99 r Steps) \$63.86 06/01/2019 12/01/2019 06/01/2020 12/01/2021 12/01/2021 06/01/2019 12/01/2020 12/01/2020 12/01/2020 12/01/2020 12/01/2021 12/01/2021 07/01/2019	\$9.40 \$48.18 \$49.33 \$50.43 \$51.58 \$52.68 \$53.83 \$32.28 \$33.07 \$33.82 \$34.60 \$35.35 \$36.14	\$17.46 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00	\$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60	\$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00	\$76.93 \$78.03 \$79.18 \$80.28 \$81.43 \$59.88 \$60.67 \$61.42 \$62.20 \$62.95 \$63.74 \$69.81 \$70.76
\$750 hrs. 19/1/17; 45/45/55/55/70/70/80/80 (1500hi \$32.00/ 3&4 \$38.36/ 5&6 \$57.45/ 7&8 \$3 11	39.99 r Steps) \$63.86 06/01/2019 12/01/2019 06/01/2020 12/01/2021 12/01/2021 06/01/2019 12/01/2020 06/01/2020 12/01/2020 12/01/2020 12/01/2021	\$9.40 \$48.18 \$49.33 \$50.43 \$51.58 \$52.68 \$53.83 \$32.28 \$33.07 \$33.82 \$34.60 \$35.35 \$36.14	\$17.46 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00	\$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60	\$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00	\$76.93 \$78.03 \$79.18 \$80.28 \$81.43 \$59.88 \$60.67 \$61.42 \$62.20 \$62.95 \$63.74
\$750 hrs. 19/1/17; 45/45/55/55/70/70/80/80 (1500hi \$32.00/ 3&4 \$38.36/ 5&6 \$57.45/ 7&8 \$3 11	39.99 r Steps) \$63.86 06/01/2019 12/01/2019 06/01/2020 12/01/2021 12/01/2021 06/01/2019 12/01/2019 06/01/2020 12/01/2020 06/01/2020 06/01/2020	\$9.40 \$48.18 \$49.33 \$50.43 \$51.58 \$52.68 \$53.83 \$32.28 \$33.07 \$33.82 \$34.60 \$35.35	\$17.46 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00	\$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60	\$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00	\$76.93 \$78.03 \$79.18 \$80.28 \$81.43 \$59.88 \$60.67 \$61.42 \$62.20 \$62.95
\$750 hrs. 19/1/17; 45/45/55/55/70/70/80/80 (1500hi \$32.00/ 3&4 \$38.36/ 5&6 \$57.45/ 7&8 \$5 2 urneyworker Ratio:1:1 DPERATING ENGINEERS"	39.99 r Steps) \$63.86 06/01/2019 12/01/2019 06/01/2020 12/01/2021 12/01/2021 06/01/2019 12/01/2019 06/01/2020 12/01/2020 06/01/2020 06/01/2020	\$9.40 \$48.18 \$49.33 \$50.43 \$51.58 \$52.68 \$53.83 \$32.28 \$33.07 \$33.82 \$34.60 \$35.35	\$17.46 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00	\$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60	\$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00	\$76.93 \$78.03 \$79.18 \$80.28 \$81.43 \$59.88 \$60.67 \$61.42 \$62.20 \$62.95
\$750 hrs. 19/1/17; 45/45/55/55/70/70/80/80 (1500hi \$32.00/ 3&4 \$38.36/ 5&6 \$57.45/ 7&8 \$5 2 urneyworker Ratio:1:1 DPERATING ENGINEERS"	39.99 r Steps) \$63.86 06/01/2019 12/01/2019 06/01/2020 12/01/2021 12/01/2021 06/01/2019 12/01/2019 06/01/2020 12/01/2020	\$48.18 \$49.33 \$50.43 \$51.58 \$52.68 \$53.83 \$32.28 \$33.07 \$33.82 \$34.60	\$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00	\$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60	\$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00	\$76.93 \$78.03 \$79.18 \$80.28 \$81.43 \$59.88 \$60.67 \$61.42 \$62.20
\$750 hrs. 19/1/17; 45/45/55/55/70/70/80/80 (1500hi \$32.00/ 3&4 \$38.36/ 5&6 \$57.45/ 7&8 \$5 2 urneyworker Ratio:1:1 DPERATING ENGINEERS"	39.99 r Steps) \$63.86 06/01/2019 12/01/2019 06/01/2020 12/01/2021 12/01/2021 06/01/2019 12/01/2019 06/01/2019 06/01/2020	\$9.40 \$48.18 \$49.33 \$50.43 \$51.58 \$52.68 \$53.83 \$32.28 \$33.07 \$33.82	\$17.46 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00	\$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60	\$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00	\$76.93 \$78.03 \$79.18 \$80.28 \$81.43 \$59.88 \$60.67 \$61.42
\$750 hrs. 19/1/17; 45/45/55/55/70/70/80/80 (1500hi \$32.00/ 3&4 \$38.36/ 5&6 \$57.45/ 7&8 \$5 2 urneyworker Ratio:1:1 DPERATING ENGINEERS"	39.99 r Steps) \$63.86 06/01/2019 12/01/2019 06/01/2020 12/01/2021 12/01/2021 06/01/2019 12/01/2019	\$48.18 \$49.33 \$50.43 \$51.58 \$52.68 \$53.83 \$32.28 \$33.07	\$17.46 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00	\$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60	\$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00	\$76.93 \$78.03 \$79.18 \$80.28 \$81.43 \$59.88 \$60.67
\$750 hrs. 19/1/17; 45/45/55/55/70/70/80/80 (1500hi \$32.00/ 3&4 \$38.36/ 5&6 \$57.45/ 7&8 \$5 2 urneyworker Ratio:1:1 DPERATING ENGINEERS"	39.99 r Steps) \$63.86 06/01/2019 12/01/2019 06/01/2020 12/01/2021 12/01/2021 06/01/2019	\$48.18 \$49.33 \$50.43 \$51.58 \$52.68 \$53.83	\$17.46 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00	\$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60	\$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00	\$76.93 \$78.03 \$79.18 \$80.28 \$81.43
\$750 hrs. 19/1/17; 45/45/55/55/70/70/80/80 (1500hi \$32.00/ 3&4 \$38.36/ 5&6 \$57.45/ 7&8 \$5 2 urneyworker Ratio:1:1 DPERATING ENGINEERS"	06/01/2019 12/01/2020 12/01/2020 06/01/2021 12/01/2021	\$48.18 \$49.33 \$50.43 \$51.58 \$52.68 \$53.83	\$17.46 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00	\$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60	\$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00	\$76.93 \$78.03 \$79.18 \$80.28 \$81.43
\$750 hrs. 19/1/17; 45/45/55/55/70/70/80/80 (1500hr) \$32.00/ 3&4 \$38.36/ 5&6 \$57.45/ 7&8 \$30000 \$30000 \$30000 \$30000 \$30000 \$30000 \$30000 \$30000 \$30000 \$30000 \$30000 \$30000 \$30000 \$30000 \$30000 \$30000 \$30000 \$30000 \$30000 \$	39.99 r Steps) \$63.86 06/01/2019 12/01/2019 06/01/2020 12/01/2020 06/01/2021	\$9.40 \$48.18 \$49.33 \$50.43 \$51.58 \$52.68	\$17.46 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00	\$0.00 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60	\$66.85 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00	\$76.93 \$78.03 \$79.18 \$80.28
\$750 hrs. 19/1/17; 45/45/55/55/70/70/80/80 (1500hr) \$32.00/ 3&4 \$38.36/ 5&6 \$57.45/ 7&8 \$	39.99 r Steps) \$63.86 06/01/2019 12/01/2019 06/01/2020 12/01/2020 06/01/2021	\$9.40 \$48.18 \$49.33 \$50.43 \$51.58 \$52.68	\$17.46 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00	\$0.00 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60	\$66.85 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00	\$76.93 \$78.03 \$79.18 \$80.28
\$750 hrs. 19/1/17; 45/45/55/55/70/70/80/80 (1500hr) \$32.00/ 3&4 \$38.36/ 5&6 \$57.45/ 7&8 \$	39.99 r Steps) \$63.86 06/01/2019 12/01/2019 06/01/2020 12/01/2020	\$9.40 \$48.18 \$49.33 \$50.43 \$51.58	\$17.46 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00	\$0.00 \$15.60 \$15.60 \$15.60	\$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00	\$76.93 \$78.03 \$79.18
\$750 hrs. 19/1/17; 45/45/55/55/70/70/80/80 (1500hr) \$32.00/ 3&4 \$38.36/ 5&6 \$57.45/ 7&8 \$	39.99 r Steps) \$63.86 06/01/2019 12/01/2019 06/01/2020	\$9.40 \$48.18 \$49.33 \$50.43	\$17.46 \$12.00 \$12.00 \$12.00	\$0.00 	\$66.85 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00	\$76.93 \$78.03
\$750 hrs. 19/1/17; 45/45/55/55/70/70/80/80 (1500hr) \$32.00/ 3&4 \$38.36/ 5&6 \$57.45/ 7&8 \$	39.99 r Steps) \$63.86 06/01/2019 12/01/2019	\$9.40	\$17.46 	\$0.00 	\$66.85 	\$76.93
\$750 hrs. 19/1/17; 45/45/55/55/70/70/80/80 (1500hr) \$32.00/ 3&4 \$38.36/ 5&6 \$57.45/ 7&8 \$	r Steps) \$63.86	\$9.40	\$17.46	\$0.00	\$66.85	
\$750 hrs. 19/1/17; 45/45/55/55/70/70/80/80 (1500hr) \$32.00/ 3&4 \$38.36/ 5&6 \$57.45/ 7&8 \$	r Steps)	\$9.40 	\$17.46 — — — —	\$0.00	\$66.85	
\$750 hrs. 19/1/17; 45/45/55/55/70/70/80/80 (1500hr) \$32.00/ 3&4 \$38.36/ 5&6 \$57.45/ 7&8 \$	r Steps)					
	25.61		W 17 16		V64.50	
\$	35.29	\$9.40	\$15.67	\$0.00	\$60.36	
	332.94	\$9.40	\$15.67	\$0.00	\$58.01	
	330.58	\$9.40	\$13.88	\$0.00	\$53.86	
	228.23	\$9.40	\$13.88	\$0.00	\$51.51	
	325.88	\$9.40	\$1.79	\$0.00	\$37.07	
	323.53	\$9.40	\$1.79	\$0.00	\$34.72	
03/01/2020	D 117	TT 1:1	ъ :	Supplemental	m	
\$	1.7.J	⊅ 7.₩	φ1/. 4 0	\$0.00	\$00.17	
_	Apprentice \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	\$23.13 \$25.44 \$27.75 \$30.06 \$32.38 \$34.69 \$37.00 \$39.31	\$23.13 \$9.40 \$23.13 \$9.40 \$25.44 \$9.40 \$27.75 \$9.40 \$30.06 \$9.40 \$32.38 \$9.40 \$34.69 \$9.40 \$37.00 \$9.40 \$39.31 \$9.40	Apprentice Base Wage Health Pension \$23.13 \$9.40 \$1.79 \$25.44 \$9.40 \$1.79 \$27.75 \$9.40 \$13.88 \$30.06 \$9.40 \$13.88 \$32.38 \$9.40 \$15.67 \$34.69 \$9.40 \$15.67 \$37.00 \$9.40 \$17.46 \$39.31 \$9.40 \$17.46	Apprentice Base Wage Health Pension Unemployment \$23.13 \$9.40 \$1.79 \$0.00 \$25.44 \$9.40 \$1.79 \$0.00 \$27.75 \$9.40 \$13.88 \$0.00 \$30.06 \$9.40 \$13.88 \$0.00 \$32.38 \$9.40 \$15.67 \$0.00 \$34.69 \$9.40 \$15.67 \$0.00 \$37.00 \$9.40 \$17.46 \$0.00 \$39.31 \$9.40 \$17.46 \$0.00	Apprentice Base Wage Health Pension Unemployment Total Rate \$23.13 \$9.40 \$1.79 \$0.00 \$34.32 \$25.44 \$9.40 \$1.79 \$0.00 \$36.63 \$27.75 \$9.40 \$13.88 \$0.00 \$51.03 \$30.06 \$9.40 \$13.88 \$0.00 \$53.34 \$32.38 \$9.40 \$15.67 \$0.00 \$57.45 \$34.69 \$9.40 \$15.67 \$0.00 \$59.76 \$37.00 \$9.40 \$17.46 \$0.00 \$63.86 \$39.31 \$9.40 \$17.46 \$0.00 \$66.17

Apprentice - GLAZIER - Local 35 Zone 2

Pension

	Apprei Effecti	ve Date - 07/01/2019				Supplemental		
	Step	percent	Apprentice Base Wage	Health	Pension	Unemployment	Total Rate	e
	1	50	\$20.08	\$8.20	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$28.28	3
	2	55	\$22.09	\$8.20	\$5.78	\$0.00	\$36.07	7
	3	60	\$24.10	\$8.20	\$6.30	\$0.00	\$38.60)
	4	65	\$26.10	\$8.20	\$6.83	\$0.00	\$41.13	3
	5	70	\$28.11	\$8.20	\$18.30	\$0.00	\$54.6	1
	6	75	\$30.12	\$8.20	\$18.83	\$0.00	\$57.13	5
	7	80	\$32.13	\$8.20	\$19.35	\$0.00	\$59.68	3
	8	90	\$36.14	\$8.20	\$20.40	\$0.00	\$64.74	4
		ve Date - 01/01/2020				Supplemental		
	Step	percent	Apprentice Base Wage	Health	Pension	Unemployment	Total Rate	e
	1	50	\$20.23	\$8.20	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$28.43	3
	2	55	\$22.25	\$8.20	\$5.94	\$0.00	\$36.39)
	3	60	\$24.28	\$8.20	\$6.48	\$0.00	\$38.90	5
	4	65	\$26.30	\$8.20	\$7.02	\$0.00	\$41.52	2
	5	70	\$28.32	\$8.20	\$18.51	\$0.00	\$55.03	3
	6	75	\$30.35	\$8.20	\$19.05	\$0.00	\$57.60)
	7	80	\$32.37	\$8.20	\$19.59	\$0.00	\$60.16	5
	8	90	\$36.41	\$8.20	\$20.67	\$0.00	\$65.28	3
	Notes:							
		Steps are 750 hrs.					i	
	Appre	ntice to Journeyworker Ratio:1:	<u></u>				'	
		R/CRANES/GRADALLS	06/01/2019	\$48.18	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$75.78
RATING ENC	GINEERS LO	OCAL 4	12/01/2019				\$0.00	\$76.93
			06/01/2020		\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$78.03
			12/01/2020	\$51.58	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$79.18
			06/01/2021			\$15.60	\$0.00	\$80.28
			12/01/2021				\$0.00	\$81.43

Apprentice - OPERATING ENGINEERS - Local 4

Pension

	Effecti	ve Date -	06/01/2019		II1d	D	Supplemental	m , in .	
	Step	percent		Apprentice Base Wage		Pension	Unemployment	Total Rate	
	1	55		\$26.50	\$12.00	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$38.50	
	2	60		\$28.91	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$56.51	
	3	65		\$31.32	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$58.92	
	4	70		\$33.73	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$61.33	
	5	75		\$36.14	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$63.74	
	6	80		\$38.54	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$66.14	
	7	85		\$40.95	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$68.55	
	8	90		\$43.36	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$70.96	
	Effecti	ve Date -	12/01/2019				Supplemental		
	Step	percent		Apprentice Base Wage	Health	Pension	Unemployment	Total Rate	
	1	55		\$27.13	\$12.00	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$39.13	
	2	60		\$29.60	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$57.20	
	3	65		\$32.06	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$59.66	
	4	70		\$34.53	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$62.13	
	5	75		\$37.00	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$64.60	
	6	80		\$39.46	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$67.06	
	7	85		\$41.93	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$69.53	
	8	90		\$44.40	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$72.00	
	Notes:								
	Appre	ntice to Jo	urneyworker Ratio:1:6						
HVAC (DUCTV				08/01/2019	9 \$48.10	\$13.20	\$24.12	\$2.56	\$87.98
SHEETMETAL WOI	RKERS LC	OCAL 17 - A		02/01/2020	0 \$49.75	\$13.20	\$24.12	\$2.61	\$89.68
				08/01/2020	0 \$51.35	\$13.20	\$24.12	\$2.66	\$91.33
				02/01/202	1 \$53.00	\$13.20	\$24.12	\$2.71	\$93.03
				08/01/202	1 \$54.75	\$13.20	\$24.12	\$2.76	\$94.83
For apprentice	rates see "	Apprentice- S	SHEET METAL WORKER"	02/01/2022	2 \$56.50	\$13.20	\$24.12	\$2.81	\$96.63
HVAC (ELECT		CONTRO	LS)	03/01/2019	9 \$51.10	\$13.00	\$18.88	\$0.00	\$82.98
For apprentice	rates see "	Apprentice- I	ELECTRICIAN"						
HVAC (TESTIN			CING - AIR)	08/01/2019	9 \$48.10	\$13.20	\$24.12	\$2.56	\$87.98
SHEETMETAL WOI	KKERS LC)CAL 1 / - A		02/01/2020	0 \$49.75	\$13.20	\$24.12	\$2.61	\$89.68
				08/01/2020	0 \$51.35	\$13.20	\$24.12	\$2.66	\$91.33
				02/01/202	1 \$53.00	\$13.20	\$24.12	\$2.71	\$93.03
				08/01/202	1 \$54.75	\$13.20	\$24.12	\$2.76	\$94.83
For apprentice	rates see "	Apprentice- S	SHEET METAL WORKER"	02/01/2022	2 \$56.50	\$13.20	\$24.12	\$2.81	\$96.63

Classification	Effective Date	Base Wage	Health	Pension	Supplemental Unemployment	Total Rate
HVAC (TESTING AND BALANCING -WATER)	09/01/2019	\$50.36	\$10.95	\$19.74	\$0.00	\$81.05
PIPEFITTERS LOCAL 537 (Local 138)	03/01/2020	\$51.86	\$10.95	\$19.74	\$0.00	\$82.55
	09/01/2020	\$53.36	\$10.95	\$19.74	\$0.00	\$84.05
For apprentice rates see "Apprentice- PIPEFITTER" or "PLUMBER/PIPEFITTER"	03/01/2021	\$54.86	\$10.95	\$19.74	\$0.00	\$85.55
HVAC MECHANIC	09/01/2019	\$50.36	\$10.95	\$19.74	\$0.00	\$81.05
PIPEFITTERS LOCAL 537 (Local 138)	03/01/2020	\$51.86	\$10.95	\$19.74	\$0.00	\$82.55
	09/01/2020	\$53.36	\$10.95	\$19.74	\$0.00	\$84.05
For apprentice rates see "Apprentice- PIPEFITTER" or "PLUMBER/PIPEFITTER"	03/01/2021	\$54.86	\$10.95	\$19.74	\$0.00	\$85.55
HYDRAULIC DRILLS	06/01/2019	\$34.70	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$57.43
LABORERS - ZONE 2	12/01/2019	\$35.56	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$58.29
	06/01/2020	\$36.45	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$59.18
	12/01/2020	\$37.34	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$60.07
	06/01/2021	\$38.26	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$60.99
For apprentice rates see "Apprentice- LABORER"	12/01/2021	\$39.17	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$61.90
INSULATOR (PIPES & TANKS) HEAT & FROST INSULATORS LOCAL 6 (BOSTON)	09/01/2019	\$48.44	\$12.80	\$16.40	\$0.00	\$77.64

Apprentice - ASBESTOS INSULATOR (Pipes & Tanks) - Local 6 Boston

Effect	ive Date - 09/01/2019				Supplemental	
Step	percent	Apprentice Base Wage	Health	Pension	Unemployment	Total Rate
1	50	\$24.22	\$12.80	\$11.90	\$0.00	\$48.92
2	60	\$29.06	\$12.80	\$12.80	\$0.00	\$54.66
3	70	\$33.91	\$12.80	\$13.70	\$0.00	\$60.41
4	80	\$38.75	\$12.80	\$14.60	\$0.00	\$66.15
Notes	- — — — — — —					- — — —
İ	Steps are 1 year					İ
Appro	entice to Journeyworker Ratio:1:4					
IRONWORKER/WEL		03/16/2019	9 \$46.66	\$8.00	\$23.50	\$0.00 \$78.16

 Issue Date:
 09/05/2019
 Wage Request Number:
 20190905-072
 Page 17 of 41

Pension

		ntice - IRONWORKER - Local 7 Bo ve Date - 03/16/2019	ston			Supplemental		
	Step	percent	Apprentice Base Wage	Health	Pension	Unemployment	Total Rate	
	1	60	\$28.00	\$8.00	\$23.50	\$0.00	\$59.50	
	2	70	\$32.66	\$8.00	\$23.50	\$0.00	\$64.16	
	3	75	\$35.00	\$8.00	\$23.50	\$0.00	\$66.50	
	4	80	\$37.33	\$8.00	\$23.50	\$0.00	\$68.83	
	5	85	\$39.66	\$8.00	\$23.50	\$0.00	\$71.16	
	6	90	\$41.99	\$8.00	\$23.50	\$0.00	\$73.49	
	Notes:							
	İ	** Structural 1:6; Ornamental 1:4						
	Appre	ntice to Journeyworker Ratio:**						
		VING BREAKER OPERATOR	06/01/2019	\$34.20	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$56.93
ABORERS - ZON	NE 2		12/01/2019	\$35.06	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$57.79
			06/01/2020	\$35.95	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$58.68
			12/01/2020	\$36.84	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$59.57
			06/01/2021	\$37.76	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$60.49
			12/01/2021	\$38.67	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$61.40
	e rates see "	'Apprentice- LABORER"						
ABORER ABORERS - ZON	JF 2		06/01/2019	\$33.95	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$56.68
AIDONEKS - ZON	111 2		12/01/2019	\$34.81	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$57.54
			06/01/2020	\$35.70	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$58.43
			12/01/2020	\$36.59	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$59.32
			06/01/2021	\$37.51	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$60.24
			12/01/2021	\$38.42	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$61.15

Issue Date: 09/05/2019 Wage Request Number: 20190905-072 Page 18 of 41

Pension

		ntice - <i>LABORER - Zone 2</i> (ve Date - 06/01/2019						
	Step	percent	Apprentice Base Wage	Health	Pension	Supplemental Unemployment	Total Rate	
	1	60	\$20.37	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$43.10	
	2	70	\$23.77	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$46.50	
	3	80	\$27.16	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$49.89	
	4	90	\$30.56	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$53.29	
	Effecti	ve Date - 12/01/2019				Supplemental		
	Step	percent	Apprentice Base Wage	Health	Pension	Unemployment	Total Rate	
	1	60	\$20.89	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$43.62	
	2	70	\$24.37	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$47.10	
	3	80	\$27.85	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$50.58	
	4	90	\$31.33	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$54.06	
	Notes:							
							i	
BODED: C		ntice to Journeyworker Ratio:1:5		ф22.05	Φ 7 .05	¢1400	Ф0.00	Φ54.40
BORERS - ZON		EK TENDEK	06/01/2019	,		\$14.88	\$0.00	\$56.68
			12/01/2019		\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$57.54
			06/01/2020			\$14.88	\$0.00	\$58.43
			12/01/2020			\$14.88	\$0.00	\$59.32
			06/01/2021			\$14.88	\$0.00	\$60.24
For apprentice	e rates see '	'Apprentice- LABORER"	12/01/2021	\$38.42	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$61.15
		FINISHER TENDER	06/01/2019	\$33.95	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$56.68
BORERS - ZON	/E 2		12/01/2019	\$34.81	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$57.54
			06/01/2020	\$35.70	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$58.43
			12/01/2020	\$36.59	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$59.32
			06/01/2021	\$37.51	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$60.24
F		I ADODED!	12/01/2021	\$38.42	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$61.15
• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •		'Apprentice- LABORER" OUS WASTE/ASBESTOS REMO	OVER 06/01/2019	\$34.15	\$7.85	\$14.83	\$0.00	\$56.83
DODEDG GOV	VE 2		12/01/2019			\$14.83	\$0.00	\$57.69
BORERS - ZON		'Apprentice- LABORER"						
	e rates see		06/01/0010	\$34.20	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$56.93
For apprentice	IASON T	ENDER	06/01/2019					
For apprentice	IASON T	ENDER	12/01/2019		\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$57.79
For apprentice	IASON T	ENDER		\$35.06		\$14.88 \$14.88	\$0.00 \$0.00	\$57.79 \$58.68
For apprentice	IASON T	ENDER	12/01/2019	\$35.06 \$35.95	\$7.85			\$58.68
For apprentice ABORER: M BORERS - ZON	IASON T	ENDER	12/01/2019 06/01/2020	\$35.06 \$35.95 \$36.84	\$7.85 \$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	

Classification	Effective Date	Base Wage	Health	Pension	Supplemental Unemployment	Total Rate
LABORER: MULTI-TRADE TENDER	06/01/2019	\$33.95	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$56.68
LABORERS - ZONE 2	12/01/2019	\$34.81	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$57.54
	06/01/2020	\$35.70	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$58.43
	12/01/2020	\$36.59	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$59.32
	06/01/2021	\$37.51	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$60.24
	12/01/2021	\$38.42	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$61.15
For apprentice rates see "Apprentice- LABORER"						
LABORER: TREE REMOVER LABORERS - ZONE 2	06/01/2019	\$33.95	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$56.68
ENDORERO - ZONE 2	12/01/2019	\$34.81	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$57.54
	06/01/2020	\$35.70	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$58.43
	12/01/2020	\$36.59	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$59.32
	06/01/2021	\$37.51	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$60.24
	12/01/2021	\$38.42	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$61.15
This classification applies to all tree work associated with the removal a utility company for the purpose of operation, maintenance or repair					s not done for	
LASER BEAM OPERATOR	06/01/2019	\$34.20	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$56.93
LABORERS - ZONE 2	12/01/2019	\$35.06	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$57.79
	06/01/2020	\$35.95	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$58.68
	12/01/2020	\$36.84	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$59.57
	06/01/2021	\$37.76	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$60.49
	12/01/2021	\$38.67	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$61.40
For apprentice rates see "Apprentice- LABORER"						
MARBLE & TILE FINISHERS	08/01/2019	\$41.49	\$10.75	\$19.61	\$0.00	\$71.85
BRICKLAYERS LOCAL 3 - MARBLE & TILE	02/01/2020	\$42.00	\$10.75	\$19.61	\$0.00	\$72.36
	08/01/2020	\$43.08	\$10.75	\$19.76	\$0.00	\$73.59
	02/01/2021	\$43.59	\$10.75	\$19.76	\$0.00	\$74.10
	08/01/2021	\$44.71	\$10.75	\$19.92	\$0.00	\$75.38
	02/01/2022	\$45.18	\$10.75	\$19.92	\$0.00	\$75.85

 Issue Date:
 09/05/2019
 Wage Request Number:
 20190905-072
 Page 20 of 41

Pension

\$21.61

\$21.61

\$0.00

\$0.00

\$10.75

\$10.75

\$90.80

\$91.37

Apprentice -	MARBLE & TILE FINISHER - Local 3 Marble & Tile
--------------	--

Effec	ctive Date -	08/01/2019				Supplemental		
Step	percent		Apprentice Base Wage	Health	Pension	Unemployment	Total Rate	
1	50		\$20.75	\$10.75	\$19.61	\$0.00	\$51.11	
2	60		\$24.89	\$10.75	\$19.61	\$0.00	\$55.25	
3	70		\$29.04	\$10.75	\$19.61	\$0.00	\$59.40	
4	80		\$33.19	\$10.75	\$19.61	\$0.00	\$63.55	
5	90		\$37.34	\$10.75	\$19.61	\$0.00	\$67.70	
Effec	ctive Date -	02/01/2020				Supplemental		
Step	percent		Apprentice Base Wage	Health	Pension	Unemployment	Total Rate	
1	50		\$21.00	\$10.75	\$19.61	\$0.00	\$51.36	
2	60		\$25.20	\$10.75	\$19.61	\$0.00	\$55.56	
3	70		\$29.40	\$10.75	\$19.61	\$0.00	\$59.76	
4	80		\$33.60	\$10.75	\$19.61	\$0.00	\$63.96	
5	90		\$37.80	\$10.75	\$19.61	\$0.00	\$68.16	
Note	s:							
App	rentice to Jou	ırneyworker Ratio:1:3						
		RS & TERRAZZO MECH	08/01/2019	\$54.4	\$10.75	\$21.30	\$0.00	\$86.47
BRICKLAYERS LOCAL 3 -	MARBLE & IIL.	E	02/01/2020	\$55.0	\$10.75	\$21.30	\$0.00	\$87.10
			08/01/2020	\$56.4	\$10.75	\$21.45	\$0.00	\$88.60
			02/01/2021	\$57.0	\$10.75	\$21.45	\$0.00	\$89.24

08/01/2021

02/01/2022

\$58.44

\$59.01

Issue Date: 09/05/2019 **Wage Request Number:** 20190905-072 Page 21 of 41

\$0.00

\$67.27

\$18.50

Total Rate

MILLWRIGHT (Zone 2)

MILLWRIGHTS LOCAL 1121 - Zone 2

Pension

Issue Date: 09/05/2019 Wage Request Number: 20190905-072 Page 22 of 41

04/01/2019

\$38.87

\$9.90

		entice - MILLWRIGHT - Local 1121 ive Date - 04/01/2019 percent	Apprentice Base Wage	Health	Pension	Supplemental Unemployment	Total R	ate
	$\frac{\operatorname{step}}{1}$	55						
	2	65	\$21.38	\$9.90	\$5.31	\$0.00	\$36	
	3		\$25.27	\$9.90	\$15.13	\$0.00	\$50	
		75	\$29.15	\$9.90	\$16.10	\$0.00	\$55	
	4	85	\$33.04	\$9.90	\$17.06	\$0.00	\$60	.00
	Notes	:						_
		Steps are 2,000 hours						
	Appre	entice to Journeyworker Ratio:1:5						
IORTAR MIX			06/01/2019	\$34.20	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$56.93
ABORERS - ZON	£ 2		12/01/2019	\$35.06	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$57.79
			06/01/2020	\$35.95	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$58.6
			12/01/2020	\$36.84	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$59.5
			06/01/2021	\$37.76	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$60.49
For apprentice	rates see	"Apprentice- LABORER"	12/01/2021	\$38.67	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$61.4
ILER (OTHE	R THA	N TRUCK CRANES,GRADALLS)	06/01/2019	\$23.11	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$50.7
PERATING ENG.	INEERS L	OCAL 4	12/01/2019	\$23.68	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$51.2
			06/01/2020	\$24.23	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$51.8
			12/01/2020	\$24.80	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$52.4
			06/01/2021	\$25.35	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$52.9
			12/01/2021	\$25.93	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$53.5
		"Apprentice- OPERATING ENGINEERS"						
ILER (TRUC PERATING ENG		NES, GRADALLS)	06/01/2019	\$27.57	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$55.1
LICITING LIVE	IVEEKS E	OCAL 4	12/01/2019	\$28.24	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$55.8
			06/01/2020	\$28.89	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$56.4
			12/01/2020	\$29.57	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$57.1
			06/01/2021	\$30.21	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$57.8
For apprentice	rates see	"Apprentice- OPERATING ENGINEERS"	12/01/2021	\$30.89	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$58.4
THER POWE	ER DRIV	VEN EQUIPMENT - CLASS II	06/01/2019	\$47.69	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$75.2
PERATING ENG.	INEERS L	OCAL 4	12/01/2019	\$48.83	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$76.4
			06/01/2020	\$49.91	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$77.5
			12/01/2020	\$51.05	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$78.6
			06/01/2021	\$52.14	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$79.7
			12/01/2021	\$53.28	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$80.8
		"Apprentice- OPERATING ENGINEERS"						
AINTER (BR ainters local			07/01/2019	\$50.66	\$8.20	\$21.45	\$0.00	\$80.3
III I ENGLOCAL	JJ - LUIV	<u> </u>	01/01/2020	\$50.96	\$8.20	\$22.10	\$0.00	\$81.2
			07/01/2020	\$52.06	\$8.20	\$22.10	\$0.00	\$82.3
			01/01/2021	\$53.16	\$8.20	\$22.10	\$0.00	\$83.4

Apprentice - PAINTER Local 35 - BRIDGES/TANKS

Pension

Step	or percent 07/01/2019	Apprentice Base Wage	Health	Pension	Supplemental Unemployment	Total Rat
1	50	\$25.33	\$8.20	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$33.5
2	55	\$27.86	\$8.20	\$5.78	\$0.00	\$41.8
3	60	\$30.40	\$8.20	\$6.30	\$0.00	\$44.9
4	65	\$32.93	\$8.20	\$6.83	\$0.00	\$47.9
5	70	\$35.46	\$8.20	\$18.30	\$0.00	\$61.9
6	75	\$38.00	\$8.20	\$18.83	\$0.00	\$65.0
7	80	\$40.53	\$8.20	\$19.35	\$0.00	\$68.0
8	90	\$45.59	\$8.20	\$20.40	\$0.00	\$74.1
Effect	ive Date - 01/01/2020				Supplemental	
Step	percent	Apprentice Base Wage	Health	Pension	Unemployment	Total Rat
1	50	\$25.48	\$8.20	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$33.6
2	55	\$28.03	\$8.20	\$5.94	\$0.00	\$42.1
3	60	\$30.58	\$8.20	\$6.48	\$0.00	\$45.2
4	65	\$33.12	\$8.20	\$7.02	\$0.00	\$48.3
5	70	\$35.67	\$8.20	\$18.51	\$0.00	\$62.3
6	75	\$38.22	\$8.20	\$19.05	\$0.00	\$65.4
7	80	\$40.77	\$8.20	\$19.59	\$0.00	\$68.5
8	90	\$45.86	\$8.20	\$20.67	\$0.00	\$74.7
Notes:						
İ	Steps are 750 hrs.					
Appre	entice to Journeyworker Ratio:	:1:1				
	TORIAL & DISPLAY)	06/01/2013	3 \$25.	81 \$7.07	\$7.05	\$0.00

Issue Date: 09/05/2019 Wage Request Number: 20190905-072 Page 24 of 41

Apprentice -	PAINTER SIGN - Local 35 Zone 2
Effective Date	06/01/2013

	Effect	ive Date - 06/01/2013				Supplemental		
	Step	percent	Apprentice Base Wage	Health	Pension	Unemployment	Total Rat	te
	1	50	\$12.91	\$7.07	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$19.9	8
	2	55	\$14.20	\$7.07	\$2.45	\$0.00	\$23.7	2
	3	60	\$15.49	\$7.07	\$2.45	\$0.00	\$25.0	1
	4	65	\$16.78	\$7.07	\$2.45	\$0.00	\$26.3	0
	5	70	\$18.07	\$7.07	\$7.05	\$0.00	\$32.1	9
	6	75	\$19.36	\$7.07	\$7.05	\$0.00	\$33.4	-8
	7	80	\$20.65	\$7.07	\$7.05	\$0.00	\$34.7	7
	8	85	\$21.94	\$7.07	\$7.05	\$0.00	\$36.0	16
	9	90	\$23.23	\$7.07	\$7.05	\$0.00	\$37.3	5
	Notes	:						
		Steps are 4 mos.						
	Appre	entice to Journeyworker Ratio:1:1						
,		R SANDBLAST, NEW) *	07/01/2019	\$41.56	\$8.20	\$21.45	\$0.00	\$71.21
		refaces to be painted are new construction	on, 01/01/2020	\$41.86	\$8.20	\$22.10	\$0.00	\$72.16
new paint r	aic Siiaii De	e used.PAINTERS LOCAL 35 - ZONE 2	07/01/2020	\$42.96	\$8.20	\$22.10	\$0.00	\$73.26
			01/01/2021	\$44.06	\$8.20	\$22.10	\$0.00	\$74.36

Issue Date: 09/05/2019 Wage Request Number: 20190905-072 Page 25 of 41

Effective Date Base Wage Health

Pension

Effect	ive Date - 07/01/2019				Supplemental		
Step	percent	Apprentice Base Wage	Health	Pension	Unemployment	Total Rate	
1	50	\$20.78	\$8.20	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$28.98	
2	55	\$22.86	\$8.20	\$5.78	\$0.00	\$36.84	
3	60	\$24.94	\$8.20	\$6.30	\$0.00	\$39.44	
4	65	\$27.01	\$8.20	\$6.83	\$0.00	\$42.04	
5	70	\$29.09	\$8.20	\$18.30	\$0.00	\$55.59	
6	75	\$31.17	\$8.20	\$18.83	\$0.00	\$58.20	
7	80	\$33.25	\$8.20	\$19.35	\$0.00	\$60.80	
8	90	\$37.40	\$8.20	\$20.40	\$0.00	\$66.00	
	ive Date - 01/01/2020	Ammunica Dara Wana	II. aldı	Danaian	Supplemental	T-4-1 D-4-	
Step	percent	Apprentice Base Wage		Pension	Unemployment	Total Rate	
1	50	\$20.93	\$8.20	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$29.13	
2	55	\$23.02	\$8.20	\$5.94	\$0.00	\$37.16	
3	60	\$25.12	\$8.20	\$6.48	\$0.00	\$39.80	
4	65	\$27.21	\$8.20	\$7.02	\$0.00	\$42.43	
5	70	\$29.30	\$8.20	\$18.51	\$0.00	\$56.01	
6	75	\$31.40	\$8.20	\$19.05	\$0.00	\$58.65	
7	80	\$33.49	\$8.20	\$19.59	\$0.00	\$61.28	
8	90	\$37.67	\$8.20	\$20.67	\$0.00	\$66.54	
Notes	: Steps are 750 hrs.						
	Steps are 750 ms.						
Appro	entice to Journeyworker Ratio:1:1						
	R SANDBLAST, REPAINT)	07/01/2019	\$39.62	\$8.20	\$21.45	\$0.00	\$69.27
TERS LOCAL 35 - ZON	E 2	01/01/2020	\$39.92	\$8.20	\$22.10	\$0.00	\$70.22
		07/01/2020	\$41.02	\$8.20	\$22.10	\$0.00	\$71.32
		01/01/2021	\$42.12	\$8.20	\$22.10	\$0.00	\$72.42

Apprentice - PAINTER Local 35 Zone 2 - Spray/Sandblast - New

Wage Request Number: **Issue Date:** 09/05/2019 20190905-072 Page 26 of 41

Pension

Apprentice - PAINTER Local 35 Zone 2 - Spray/Sandblast - R	epaint?
--	---------

		ntice - PAINTER Local 33 Zone 2 - ive Date - 07/01/2019	- Бргау/Банадіазі - Кераіні			Supplemental		
	Step	percent	Apprentice Base Wage	Health	Pension	Unemployment	Total Rate	
	1	50	\$19.81	\$8.20	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$28.01	
	2	55	\$21.79	\$8.20	\$5.78	\$0.00	\$35.77	
	3	60	\$23.77	\$8.20	\$6.30	\$0.00	\$38.27	
	4	65	\$25.75	\$8.20	\$6.83	\$0.00	\$40.78	
	5	70	\$27.73	\$8.20	\$18.30	\$0.00	\$54.23	
	6	75	\$29.72	\$8.20	\$18.83	\$0.00	\$56.75	
	7	80	\$31.70	\$8.20	\$19.35	\$0.00	\$59.25	
	8	90	\$35.66	\$8.20	\$20.40	\$0.00	\$64.26	
	Effecti Step	ve Date - 01/01/2020 percent	Apprentice Base Wage	Health	Pension	Supplemental Unemployment	Total Rate	
	1	50						
	2	55	\$19.96	\$8.20	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$28.16	
	3	60	\$21.96	\$8.20	\$5.94	\$0.00	\$36.10	
	4	65	\$23.95	\$8.20	\$6.48	\$0.00	\$38.63	
	5	70	\$25.95	\$8.20	\$7.02	\$0.00	\$41.17	
	6	75	\$27.94	\$8.20	\$18.51	\$0.00	\$54.65	
	7	80	\$29.94	\$8.20	\$19.05	\$0.00	\$57.19	
	8	90	\$31.94	\$8.20	\$19.59	\$0.00	\$59.73	
	0	90	\$35.93	\$8.20	\$20.67	\$0.00	\$64.80	
	Notes:							
	İ	Steps are 750 hrs.					i	
		ntice to Journeyworker Ratio:1:1						
NTER (TR Orers - zon		MARKINGS)	06/01/2019	\$33.95	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$56.68
JREKS - ZUN	1L 2		12/01/2019	\$34.81	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$57.54
			06/01/2020	\$35.70	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$58.43
			12/01/2020	\$36.59	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$59.32
			06/01/2021	\$37.51	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$60.24
For Apprentic	ce rates see	"Apprentice- LABORER"	12/01/202	\$38.42	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$61.15
		RUSH, NEW) *	07/01/2019	9 \$40.16	¢0.20	\$21.45	\$0.00	\$69.81
30% or mo	ore of sur	faces to be painted are new construct				\$21.43	\$0.00	\$70.76
W paint rat	e shall be	used.PAINTERS LOCAL 35 - ZONE 2	07/01/2020			\$22.10	\$0.00	\$70.76
			07/01/2020		.NA /U	044.10	DU.UU	- N / I AD

Issue Date: 09/05/2019 Wage Request Number: 20190905-072 Page 27 of 41

Pension

Step	percent	Apprentice Base Wage	Health	Pension	Supplemental Unemployment	Total Rate	
1	50	\$20.08	\$8.20	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$28.28	
2	55	\$22.09	\$8.20	\$5.78	\$0.00	\$36.07	
3	60	\$24.10	\$8.20	\$6.30	\$0.00	\$38.60	
4	65	\$26.10	\$8.20	\$6.83	\$0.00	\$41.13	
5	70	\$28.11	\$8.20	\$18.30	\$0.00	\$54.61	
6	75	\$30.12	\$8.20	\$18.83	\$0.00	\$57.15	
7	80	\$32.13	\$8.20	\$19.35	\$0.00	\$59.68	
8	90	\$36.14	\$8.20	\$20.40	\$0.00	\$64.74	
Effect Step	ive Date - 01/01/2020 percent	Apprentice Base Wage	Health	Pension	Supplemental Unemployment	Total Rate	
$\frac{3cp}{1}$	50	\$20.23	\$8.20	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$28.43	
2	55						
3	60	\$22.25	\$8.20	\$5.94	\$0.00	\$36.39	
4	65	\$24.28	\$8.20	\$6.48	\$0.00	\$38.96	
5	70	\$26.30	\$8.20	\$7.02	\$0.00	\$41.52	
6		\$28.32	\$8.20	\$18.51	\$0.00	\$55.03	
7	75	\$30.35	\$8.20	\$19.05	\$0.00	\$57.60	
	80	\$32.37	\$8.20	\$19.59	\$0.00	\$60.16	
8	90	\$36.41	\$8.20	\$20.67	\$0.00	\$65.28	
Notes	Steps are 750 hrs.						
Appro	entice to Journeyworker Ratio	:1:1				'	
	BRUSH, REPAINT)	07/01/2019	\$38.22	\$8.20	\$21.45	\$0.00	\$67.87
S LOCAL 35 - ZON	VE 2	01/01/2020	\$38.52	\$8.20	\$22.10	\$0.00	\$68.82
		07/01/2020	\$39.62	\$8.20	\$22.10	\$0.00	\$69.92

01/01/2021

\$40.72

\$8.20

\$22.10

\$0.00

\$71.02

Issue Date: 09/05/2019 Wage Request Number: 20190905-072 Page 28 of 41

Pension

Apprentice - PAINTER Local 35 Zone 2 - BRUSH REPAINT 07/01/2019 **Effective Date -**Supplemental percent Apprentice Base Wage Health Unemployment Total Rate Step Pension 1 50 \$19.11 \$27.31 \$8.20 \$0.00 \$0.00 2 55 \$0.00 \$21.02 \$8.20 \$5.78 \$35.00 3 60 \$22.93 \$0.00 \$8.20 \$6.30 \$37.43 4 65 \$24.84 \$8.20 \$6.83 \$0.00 \$39.87 5 70 \$26.75 \$8.20 \$18.30 \$0.00 \$53.25 6 75 \$28.67 \$8.20 \$18.83 \$0.00 \$55.70 7 80 \$30.58 \$8.20 \$19.35 \$0.00 \$58.13 8 90 \$34.40 \$8.20 \$20.40 \$0.00 \$63.00 01/01/2020 **Effective Date -**Supplemental Apprentice Base Wage Unemployment Total Rate Step percent Health Pension 1 50 \$19.26 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$27.46 \$8.20 2 55 \$21.19 \$5.94 \$0.00 \$8.20 \$35.33 3 60 \$23.11 \$0.00 \$37.79 \$8.20 \$6.48 4 65 \$25.04 \$8.20 \$7.02 \$0.00 \$40.26 5 70 \$26.96 \$8.20 \$18.51 \$0.00 \$53.67 6 75 \$28.89 \$0.00 \$8.20 \$19.05 \$56.14 7 80 \$30.82 \$8.20 \$19.59 \$0.00 \$58.61 8 90 \$0.00 \$34.67 \$8.20 \$20.67 \$63.54 Notes: Steps are 750 hrs. Apprentice to Journeyworker Ratio:1:1 PANEL & PICKUP TRUCKS DRIVER 08/01/2019 \$12.70 \$0.00 \$34.08 \$12.41 \$59.19 TEAMSTERS JOINT COUNCIL NO. 10 ZONE B \$13.72 12/01/2019 \$34.08 \$12.41 \$0.00 \$60.21 06/01/2020 \$13.72 \$0.00 \$34.98 \$12.41 \$61.11 08/01/2020 \$34.98 \$12.91 \$13.72 \$0.00 \$61.61 12/01/2020 \$14.82 \$0.00 \$34.98 \$12.91 \$62.71 \$14.82 \$0.00 06/01/2021 \$35.78 \$12.91 \$63.51 08/01/2021 \$35.78 \$14.82 \$0.00 \$64.01 \$13.41 12/01/2021 \$35.78 \$13.41 \$16.01 \$0.00 \$65.20 PIER AND DOCK CONSTRUCTOR (UNDERPINNING AND 08/01/2019 \$48.94 \$9.90 \$21.15 \$0.00 \$79.99 DECK) PILE DRIVER LOCAL 56 (ZONE 1) For apprentice rates see "Apprentice- PILE DRIVER" PILE DRIVER \$0.00 08/01/2019 \$48.94 \$9.90 \$21.15 \$79.99 PILE DRIVER LOCAL 56 (ZONE 1)

	tive Date -	08/01/2019	Appropriate Description	Uaalth	Pension	Supplemental Unemployment	Total Data	
Step	percent		Apprentice Base Wage				Total Rate	
1	50		\$24.47	\$9.90	\$21.15	\$0.00	\$55.52	
2	60		\$29.36	\$9.90	\$21.15	\$0.00	\$60.41	
3	70		\$34.26	\$9.90	\$21.15	\$0.00	\$65.31	
4	75		\$36.71	\$9.90	\$21.15	\$0.00	\$67.76	
5	80		\$39.15	\$9.90	\$21.15	\$0.00	\$70.20	
6	80		\$39.15	\$9.90	\$21.15	\$0.00	\$70.20	
7	90		\$44.05	\$9.90	\$21.15	\$0.00	\$75.10	
8	90		\$44.05	\$9.90	\$21.15	\$0.00	\$75.10	
Notes	;;							
Appr	entice to Jo	urneyworker Ratio:1:5						
TTER & STEA			09/01/2019	9 \$50.36	\$10.95	\$19.74	\$0.00	\$81.0
TERS LOCAL 537 (Locai 138)		03/01/2020	\$51.86	\$10.95	\$19.74	\$0.00	\$82.5
			09/01/2020	\$53.36	\$10.95	\$19.74	\$0.00	\$84.0
			09/01/2020 03/01/202			\$19.74 \$19.74	\$0.00 \$0.00	
	entice - Pr tive Date - percent	IPEFITTER Local 537 (Loc 09/01/2019	03/01/202	1 \$54.86				\$85.5
Effect Step	percent 40		03/01/202 al 138)	1 \$54.86	\$10.95	\$19.74 Supplemental	\$0.00	\$85.5
Effect Step 1 2	percent 40 45		03/01/202 al 138) Apprentice Base Wage \$20.14 \$22.66	1 \$54.86 Health	\$10.95 Pension	\$19.74 Supplemental Unemployment	\$0.00 Total Rate	\$85.5
Step 1 2 3	percent 40		03/01/202 al 138) Apprentice Base Wage \$20.14	Health \$10.95	\$10.95 Pension \$8.00	\$19.74 Supplemental Unemployment \$0.00	\$0.00 Total Rate \$39.09	\$85.5
Step 1 2 3 4	40 45 60 70		03/01/202 al 138) Apprentice Base Wage \$20.14 \$22.66	Health \$10.95 \$10.95	\$10.95 Pension \$8.00 \$19.74	\$19.74 Supplemental Unemployment \$0.00 \$0.00	\$0.00 Total Rate \$39.09 \$53.35	\$85.5
Step 1 2 3	40 45 60		03/01/202 al 138) Apprentice Base Wage \$20.14 \$22.66 \$30.22	Health \$10.95 \$10.95 \$10.95	\$10.95 Pension \$8.00 \$19.74 \$19.74	\$19.74 Supplemental Unemployment \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00	\$0.00 Total Rate \$39.09 \$53.35 \$60.91	\$85.5
Effect Step 1 2 3 4 5	40 45 60 70		03/01/202 al 138) Apprentice Base Wage \$20.14 \$22.66 \$30.22 \$35.25	Health \$10.95 \$10.95 \$10.95 \$10.95 \$10.95	\$10.95 Pension \$8.00 \$19.74 \$19.74	\$19.74 Supplemental Unemployment \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00	\$0.00 Total Rate \$39.09 \$53.35 \$60.91 \$65.94	\$85.5
Effect Step 1 2 3 4 5	40 45 60 70 80 tive Date -	09/01/2019	03/01/202 al 138) Apprentice Base Wage \$20.14 \$22.66 \$30.22 \$35.25 \$40.29	Health \$10.95 \$10.95 \$10.95 \$10.95 \$10.95	\$10.95 Pension \$8.00 \$19.74 \$19.74 \$19.74	\$19.74 Supplemental Unemployment \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00	\$0.00 Total Rate \$39.09 \$53.35 \$60.91 \$65.94 \$70.98	
Step 1 2 3 4 5 Effective Step	40 45 60 70 80 tive Date -	09/01/2019	03/01/202 al 138) Apprentice Base Wage \$20.14 \$22.66 \$30.22 \$35.25 \$40.29 Apprentice Base Wage	Health \$10.95 \$10.95 \$10.95 \$10.95 \$10.95	\$10.95 Pension \$8.00 \$19.74 \$19.74 \$19.74 \$19.74	\$19.74 Supplemental Unemployment \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Supplemental Unemployment	\$0.00 Total Rate \$39.09 \$53.35 \$60.91 \$65.94 \$70.98	\$85.5
Step 1 2 3 4 5	40 45 60 70 80 tive Date - percent	09/01/2019	03/01/202 al 138) Apprentice Base Wage \$20.14 \$22.66 \$30.22 \$35.25 \$40.29 Apprentice Base Wage \$20.74 \$23.34	Health \$10.95 \$10.95 \$10.95 \$10.95 Health \$10.95 \$10.95	\$10.95 Pension \$8.00 \$19.74 \$19.74 \$19.74 \$19.74 \$19.74	\$19.74 Supplemental Unemployment \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Supplemental Unemployment \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00	\$0.00 Total Rate \$39.09 \$53.35 \$60.91 \$65.94 \$70.98 Total Rate \$39.69 \$54.03	\$85.5
Effect Step 1 2 3 4 5 Effect Step 1 2 2 3 4 5	tive Date - percent 40 45 60 70 80 tive Date - percent 40 45	09/01/2019	03/01/202 al 138) Apprentice Base Wage \$20.14 \$22.66 \$30.22 \$35.25 \$40.29 Apprentice Base Wage \$20.74	Health \$10.95 \$10.95 \$10.95 \$10.95 \$10.95	\$10.95 Pension \$8.00 \$19.74 \$19.74 \$19.74 Pension \$8.00 \$19.74	\$19.74 Supplemental Unemployment \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Supplemental Unemployment \$0.00	\$0.00 Total Rate \$39.09 \$53.35 \$60.91 \$65.94 \$70.98 Total Rate \$39.69	\$85.5

Apprentice to Journeyworker Ratio:**

** 1:3; 3:15; 1:10 thereafter / Steps are 1 yr.

Notes:

Refrig/AC Mechanic **1:1;1:2;2:4;3:6;4:8;5:10;6:12;7:14;8:17;9:20;10:23(Max)

							Juempioyment	
PIPELAYER			06/01/2019	\$34.20	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$56.93
ABORERS - ZONE 2	2		12/01/2019	\$35.06	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$57.79
			06/01/2020	\$35.95	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$58.68
			12/01/2020	\$36.84	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$59.57
			06/01/2021	\$37.76	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$60.49
			12/01/2021	\$38.67	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$61.40
	ites see '	'Apprentice- LABORER"						
LUMBER	TTTERS	LOCAL 12 (Local 138)	09/01/2019	\$53.61	\$11.82	\$17.01	\$0.00	\$82.44
LOMBLES & GAST	IIILKS	EOCAL 12 (Eocal 190)	03/01/2020	\$55.11	\$11.82	\$17.01	\$0.00	\$83.94
			09/01/2020	\$56.61	\$11.82	\$17.01	\$0.00	\$85.44
			03/01/2023	\$58.11	\$11.82	\$17.01	\$0.00	\$86.94
		ntice - PLUMBER/GASFITTER - Lo	ogal 12 (Logal 128)					
		ve Date - 09/01/2019)cai 12 (Locai 138)					
	Step	percent	Apprentice Base Wage	Health	Pension	Supplemental Unemployment	Total Rate	
_	1	35	\$18.76	\$11.82	\$6.16	\$0.00	\$36.74	
	2	40	\$21.44	\$11.82	\$6.99	\$0.00	\$40.25	
	3	55	\$29.49	\$11.82	\$9.53	\$0.00	\$50.84	
	4	65	\$34.85	\$11.82	\$11.18	\$0.00	\$57.85	
	5	75	\$40.21	\$11.82	\$12.88	\$0.00	\$64.91	
1	Effecti	ve Date - 03/01/2020						
	Step	percent	Apprentice Base Wage	Health	Pension	Supplemental Unemployment	Total Rate	
-	1	35	\$19.29	\$11.82	\$6.16	\$0.00	\$37.27	
	2	40	\$22.04	\$11.82	\$6.99	\$0.00	\$40.85	
	3	55	\$30.31	\$11.82	\$9.53	\$0.00	\$51.66	
	4	65	\$35.82	\$11.82	\$11.18	\$0.00	\$58.82	
	5	75	\$41.33	\$11.82	\$12.88	\$0.00	\$66.03	
_ 7	— — Notes:							
*	i totes.	Steps are 1 yr						
		Step 4 with lic\$61.35, Step5 with lic	2\$68.41					
1	Appre	ntice to Journeyworker Ratio:1:5						
NEUMATIC CO PEFITTERS LOCAL			09/01/2019	\$50.36	\$10.95	\$19.74	\$0.00	\$81.05
FEFII I EKS LOCAI	L 33/ (L	ocui 158)	03/01/2020	\$51.86	\$10.95	\$19.74	\$0.00	\$82.55
			09/01/2020	\$53.36	\$10.95	\$19.74	\$0.00	\$84.05
			03/01/202	\$54.86	\$10.95	\$19.74	\$0.00	\$85.55
•••		Apprentice- PIPEFITTER" or "PLUMBER/PIF	PEFITTER"					
NEUMATIC DI 1BORERS - ZONE 2		TOOL OPERATOR	06/01/2019	\$34.20	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$56.93
			12/01/2019	\$35.06	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$57.79
			06/01/2020	\$35.95	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$58.68
			12/01/2020	\$36.84	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$59.57
			06/01/2021	\$37.76	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$60.49
			12/01/2021	\$38.67	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$61.40
		'Apprentice- LABORER"						

Effective Date Base Wage Health

Classification

Supplemental

Unemployment

Pension

Total Rate

Issue Date: 09/05/2019 **Wage Request Number:** 20190905-072 **Page 31 of 41**

Classification	Effective Date	Base Wage	Health	Pension	Supplemental Unemployment	Total Rate
POWDERMAN & BLASTER LABORERS - ZONE 2	06/01/2019	\$34.95	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$57.68
LABURERS - ZUNE 2	12/01/2019	\$35.81	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$58.54
	06/01/2020	\$36.70	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$59.43
	12/01/2020	\$37.59	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$60.32
	06/01/2021	\$38.51	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$61.24
For apprentice rates see "Apprentice- LABORER"	12/01/2021	\$39.42	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$62.15
POWER SHOVEL/DERRICK/TRENCHING MACHINE	06/01/2019	\$48.18	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$75.78
OPERATING ENGINEERS LOCAL 4	12/01/2019	\$49.33	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$76.93
	06/01/2020	\$50.43	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$78.03
	12/01/2020	\$51.58	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$79.18
	06/01/2021	\$52.68	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$80.28
	12/01/2021	\$53.83	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$81.43
For apprentice rates see "Apprentice- OPERATING ENGINEERS"						
PUMP OPERATOR (CONCRETE) OPERATING ENGINEERS LOCAL 4	06/01/2019	\$48.18	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$75.78
OF ENTITY DEVOLUEERS ESCAL 7	12/01/2019	\$49.33	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$76.93
	06/01/2020	\$50.43	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$78.03
	12/01/2020	\$51.58	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$79.18
	06/01/2021	\$52.68	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$80.28
	12/01/2021	\$53.83	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$81.43
For apprentice rates see "Apprentice- OPERATING ENGINEERS"						
PUMP OPERATOR (DEWATERING, OTHER) OPERATING ENGINEERS LOCAL 4	06/01/2019	\$32.28	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$59.88
	12/01/2019	\$33.07	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$60.67
	06/01/2020	\$33.82	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$61.42
	12/01/2020	\$34.60	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$62.20
	06/01/2021	\$35.35	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$62.95
For emprenting rates and "American ODED ATING ENGINEEDS"	12/01/2021	\$36.14	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$63.74
For apprentice rates see "Apprentice- OPERATING ENGINEERS" READY-MIX CONCRETE DRIVER	05/01/2010	Ф26.20	Φ7.00	\$7.00	\$0.00	Ф41.20
TEAMSTERS 42 - J.G. MacLeallan (Wakefield)	05/01/2019	\$26.30	\$7.99	\$7.00	\$0.00	\$41.29
	05/01/2020	\$26.65	\$7.99	\$7.00	\$0.00	\$41.64
RECLAIMERS	05/01/2021	\$27.00	\$7.99	\$7.00	\$0.00	\$41.99
OPERATING ENGINEERS LOCAL 4	06/01/2019	\$47.69	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$75.29
	12/01/2019	\$48.83	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$76.43
	06/01/2020	\$49.91	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$77.51
	12/01/2020	\$51.05	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$78.65
	06/01/2021	\$52.14	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$79.74
For apprentice rates see "Apprentice- OPERATING ENGINEERS"	12/01/2021	\$53.28	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$80.88
RIDE-ON MOTORIZED BUGGY OPERATOR	06/01/2019	\$34.20	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$56.93
LABORERS - ZONE 2	12/01/2019	\$35.06	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$57.79
	06/01/2020	\$35.95	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$58.68
	12/01/2020	\$36.84	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$59.57
	06/01/2021	\$37.76	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$60.49
	12/01/2021	\$38.67	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$61.40
For apprentice rates see "Apprentice- LABORER"						

Issue Date: 09/05/2019 **Wage Request Number:** 20190905-072 **Page 32 of 41**

ROLLER/SPREADER/MULCHING MACHINE OPERATING ENGINEERS LOCAL 4		06/01/2019	9 \$47.69	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$75.29		
OPERATING ENGI	NEEKS LO	CAL 4		12/01/2019	9 \$48.83	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$76.43
				06/01/2020	\$49.91	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$77.51
				12/01/2020	\$51.05	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$78.65
				06/01/202	1 \$52.14	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$79.74
Ear appropries	matas saa "	Ammontine (12/01/202	\$53.28	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$80.88
			DPERATING ENGINEERS" ng &Roofer Damproofg)	00/01/2014	0.44.64	011.70	¢15.00	ФО ОО	Φ72.04
ROOFERS LOCAL		aterproon	ig ækooier Damprooig)	08/01/2019		\$11.50	\$15.90	\$0.00	\$72.04
				02/01/2020		\$11.50	\$15.90	\$0.00	\$73.32
				08/01/2020		\$11.50	\$15.90	\$0.00	\$74.75
				02/01/202		\$11.50	\$15.90	\$0.00	\$76.18
				08/01/202		\$11.50	\$15.90	\$0.00	\$77.61
				02/01/2022	2 \$51.64	\$11.50	\$15.90	\$0.00	\$79.04
	Annuan	utias Rí	OOFER - Local 33						
		ve Date -	08/01/2019				C11		
	Step	percent		Apprentice Base Wage	Health	Pension	Supplemental Unemployment	Total Rate	
	1	50		\$22.32	\$11.50	\$3.69	\$0.00	\$37.51	
	2	60		\$26.78	\$11.50	\$15.90	\$0.00	\$54.18	
	3	65		\$29.02	\$11.50	\$15.90	\$0.00	\$56.42	
	4	75		\$33.48	\$11.50	\$15.90	\$0.00	\$60.88	
	5	85		\$37.94	\$11.50	\$15.90	\$0.00	\$65.34	
	Effectiv	ve Date -	02/01/2020				Supplemental		
	Step	percent		Apprentice Base Wage	Health	Pension	Unemployment	Total Rate	
	1	50		\$22.96	\$11.50	\$3.69	\$0.00	\$38.15	
	2	60		\$27.55	\$11.50	\$15.90	\$0.00	\$54.95	
	3	65		\$29.85	\$11.50	\$15.90	\$0.00	\$57.25	
	4	75		\$34.44	\$11.50	\$15.90	\$0.00	\$61.84	
	5	85		\$39.03	\$11.50	\$15.90	\$0.00	\$66.43	
	Notes:	Step 1 is	5-10, the 1:10; Reroofing: 1: 2000 hrs.; Steps 2-5 are 100 h Mechanics' receive \$1.00 l	0 hrs.					
	Apprei	tice to Jo	urneyworker Ratio:**						
		E / PRECA	AST CONCRETE	08/01/2019	9 \$44.89	\$11.50	\$15.90	\$0.00	\$72.29
ROOFERS LOCAL	33			02/01/2020	9 \$46.17	\$11.50	\$15.90	\$0.00	\$73.57
				08/01/2020	\$47.60	\$11.50	\$15.90	\$0.00	\$75.00
				02/01/202	1 \$49.03	\$11.50	\$15.90	\$0.00	\$76.43
				08/01/202	1 \$50.46	\$11.50	\$15.90	\$0.00	\$77.86
				02/01/2022	2 \$51.89	\$11.50	\$15.90	\$0.00	\$79.29
For apprentice	rates see ".	Apprentice- I	ROOFER"						

Effective Date Base Wage Health

Classification

Supplemental

Unemployment

Pension

Total Rate

 Issue Date:
 09/05/2019
 Wage Request Number:
 20190905-072
 Page 33 of 41

Classification	Effective Date	Base Wage	Health	Pension	Supplemental Unemployment	Total Rate
SHEETMETAL WORKER	08/01/2019	\$48.10	\$13.20	\$24.12	\$2.56	\$87.98
SHEETMETAL WORKERS LOCAL 17 - A	02/01/2020	\$49.75	\$13.20	\$24.12	\$2.61	\$89.68
	08/01/2020	\$51.35	\$13.20	\$24.12	\$2.66	\$91.33
	02/01/2021	\$53.00	\$13.20	\$24.12	\$2.71	\$93.03
	08/01/2021	\$54.75	\$13.20	\$24.12	\$2.76	\$94.83
	02/01/2022	\$56.50	\$13.20	\$24.12	\$2.81	\$96.63

Apprentice -	SHEET METAL	WORKER - Local 17-A
Abbrenuce -	SHEET METAL	WORKER - Locui 1/-A

Step	ve Date - percent	08/01/2019	Apprentice Base Wage	Health	Pension	Supplemental Unemployment	Total Rate
1	42		\$20.20	\$13.20	\$5.89	\$0.00	\$39.29
2	42		\$20.20	\$13.20	\$5.89	\$0.00	\$39.29
3	47		\$22.61	\$13.20	\$11.13	\$1.41	\$48.35
4	47		\$22.61	\$13.20	\$11.13	\$1.41	\$48.35
5	52		\$25.01	\$13.20	\$12.08	\$1.51	\$51.80
6	52		\$25.01	\$13.20	\$12.33	\$1.52	\$52.06
7	60		\$28.86	\$13.20	\$13.70	\$1.67	\$57.43
8	65		\$31.27	\$13.20	\$14.65	\$1.77	\$60.89
9	75		\$36.08	\$13.20	\$16.56	\$1.98	\$67.82
10	85		\$40.89	\$13.20	\$17.96	\$2.16	\$74.21
	ve Date -	02/01/2020				Supplemental	
Step	percent		Apprentice Base Wage	Health	Pension	Unemployment	Total Rate
1	42		\$20.90	\$13.20	\$5.89	\$0.00	\$39.99
	42		\$20.90	4	Ψ3.07	Ψ0.00	Ψ37.77
2	42		\$20.90	\$13.20	\$5.89	\$0.00	
							\$39.99
2	42		\$20.90	\$13.20	\$5.89	\$0.00	\$39.99 \$49.14
2 3	42 47		\$20.90 \$23.38	\$13.20 \$13.20	\$5.89 \$11.13	\$0.00 \$1.43	\$39.99 \$49.14 \$49.14
2 3 4	42 47 47		\$20.90 \$23.38 \$23.38	\$13.20 \$13.20 \$13.20	\$5.89 \$11.13 \$11.13	\$0.00 \$1.43 \$1.43	\$39.99 \$49.14 \$49.14 \$52.68
2 3 4 5	42 47 47 52		\$20.90 \$23.38 \$23.38 \$25.87	\$13.20 \$13.20 \$13.20 \$13.20	\$5.89 \$11.13 \$11.13 \$12.08	\$0.00 \$1.43 \$1.43 \$1.53	\$39.99 \$49.14 \$49.14 \$52.68 \$52.94
2 3 4 5 6	42 47 47 52 52		\$20.90 \$23.38 \$23.38 \$25.87 \$25.87	\$13.20 \$13.20 \$13.20 \$13.20 \$13.20	\$5.89 \$11.13 \$11.13 \$12.08 \$12.33	\$0.00 \$1.43 \$1.43 \$1.53 \$1.54	\$39.99 \$49.14 \$49.14 \$52.68 \$52.94 \$58.45 \$62.01
2 3 4 5 6 7	42 47 47 52 52 60		\$20.90 \$23.38 \$23.38 \$25.87 \$25.87 \$29.85	\$13.20 \$13.20 \$13.20 \$13.20 \$13.20 \$13.20	\$5.89 \$11.13 \$11.13 \$12.08 \$12.33 \$13.70	\$0.00 \$1.43 \$1.43 \$1.53 \$1.54	\$39.99 \$49.14 \$49.14 \$52.68 \$52.94 \$58.45

Apprentice to Journeyworker Ratio:1:4

Issue Date: 09/05/2019 **Wage Request Number:** 20190905-072 **Page 34 of 41**

Classification	Effective Date	Base Wage	Health	Pension	Supplemental Unemployment	Total Rate
SPECIALIZED EARTH MOVING EQUIP < 35 TONS	08/01/2019	\$34.54	\$12.41	\$12.70	\$0.00	\$59.65
TEAMSTERS JOINT COUNCIL NO. 10 ZONE B	12/01/2019	\$34.54	\$12.41	\$13.72	\$0.00	\$60.67
	06/01/2020	\$35.44	\$12.41	\$13.72	\$0.00	\$61.57
	08/01/2020	\$35.44	\$12.91	\$13.72	\$0.00	\$62.07
	12/01/2020	\$35.44	\$12.91	\$14.82	\$0.00	\$63.17
	06/01/2021	\$36.24	\$12.91	\$14.82	\$0.00	\$63.97
	08/01/2021	\$36.24	\$13.41	\$14.82	\$0.00	\$64.47
	12/01/2021	\$36.24	\$13.41	\$16.01	\$0.00	\$65.66
SPECIALIZED EARTH MOVING EQUIP > 35 TONS	08/01/2019	\$34.83	\$12.41	\$12.70	\$0.00	\$59.94
TEAMSTERS JOINT COUNCIL NO. 10 ZONE B	12/01/2019	\$34.83	\$12.41	\$13.72	\$0.00	\$60.96
	06/01/2020	\$35.73	\$12.41	\$13.72	\$0.00	\$61.86
	08/01/2020	\$35.73	\$12.91	\$13.72	\$0.00	\$62.36
	12/01/2020	\$35.73	\$12.91	\$14.82	\$0.00	\$63.46
	06/01/2021	\$36.53	\$12.91	\$14.82	\$0.00	\$64.26
	08/01/2021	\$36.53	\$13.41	\$14.82	\$0.00	\$64.76
	12/01/2021	\$36.53	\$13.41	\$16.01	\$0.00	\$65.95
SPRINKLER FITTER	03/01/2019	\$53.08	\$9.47	\$19.60	\$0.00	\$82.15
SPRINKLER FITTERS LOCAL 550 - (Section B) Zone 2	10/01/2019	\$54.43	\$9.47	\$19.60	\$0.00	\$83.50
	03/01/2020	\$55.78	\$9.47	\$19.60	\$0.00	\$84.85
	10/01/2020	\$57.13	\$9.47	\$19.60	\$0.00	\$86.20
	03/01/2021	\$58.48	\$9.47	\$19.60	\$0.00	\$87.55

 Issue Date:
 09/05/2019
 Wage Request Number:
 20190905-072
 Page 35 of 41

Supplemental

Total Rate

Apprentice - SPRINKLER FITTER - Local 550 (Section B) Zone 2

03/01/2019

Effective Date -

Apprentice Base Wage Health Unemployment Total Rate Step percent Pension 1 35 \$18.58 \$37.15 \$9.47 \$9.10 \$0.00 2 40 \$21.23 \$9.47 \$9.10 \$0.00 \$39.80 3 45 \$23.89 \$9.47 \$0.00 \$9.10 \$42.46 4 50 \$26.54 \$9.47 \$9.10 \$0.00 \$45.11 5 55 \$29.19 \$9.47 \$9.10 \$0.00 \$47.76 6 60 \$31.85 \$9.47 \$10.60 \$0.00 \$51.92 7 65 \$34.50 \$9.47 \$10.60 \$0.00 \$54.57 8 70 \$37.16 \$9.47 \$10.60 \$0.00 \$57.23 9 75 \$39.81 \$9.47 \$10.60 \$0.00 \$59.88 10 80 \$42.46 \$9.47 \$10.60 \$0.00 \$62.53 10/01/2019 **Effective Date -**Supplemental Step percent Apprentice Base Wage Health Pension Unemployment Total Rate 1 35 \$19.05 \$9.47 \$9.10 \$0.00 \$37.62 2 40 \$21.77 \$9.47 \$9.10 \$0.00 \$40.34 3 45 \$24.49 \$9.47 \$9.10 \$0.00 \$43.06 4 50 \$27.22 \$9.47 \$9.10 \$0.00 \$45.79 5 55 \$29.94 \$9.47 \$9.10 \$0.00 \$48.51 6 60 \$32.66 \$9.47 \$10.60 \$0.00 \$52.73 7 65 \$35.38 \$9.47 \$10.60 \$0.00 \$55.45 8 70 \$38.10 \$9.47 \$10.60 \$0.00 \$58.17 9 75 \$40.82 \$9.47 \$10.60 \$0.00 \$60.89 10 80 \$43.54 \$9.47 \$10.60 \$0.00 \$63.61 **Notes:** Apprentice entered prior 9/30/10: 40/45/50/55/60/65/70/75/80/85 Steps are 850 hours Apprentice to Journeyworker Ratio:1:3 STEAM BOILER OPERATOR 06/01/2019 \$47.69 \$12.00 \$15.60 \$0.00 \$75.29 OPERATING ENGINEERS LOCAL 4 12/01/2019 \$15.60 \$0.00 \$48.83 \$12.00 \$76.43 \$15.60 \$0.00 06/01/2020 \$49.91 \$12.00 \$77.51 \$0.00 12/01/2020 \$51.05 \$12.00 \$15.60 \$78.65 06/01/2021 \$52.14 \$12.00 \$15.60 \$0.00 \$79.74 12/01/2021 \$15.60 \$0.00 \$53.28 \$12.00 \$80.88 For apprentice rates see "Apprentice- OPERATING ENGINEERS" TAMPERS, SELF-PROPELLED OR TRACTOR DRAWN 06/01/2019 \$47.69 \$12.00 \$15.60 \$0.00 \$75.29 OPERATING ENGINEERS LOCAL 4 12/01/2019 \$0.00 \$48.83 \$12.00 \$15.60 \$76.43 06/01/2020 \$49.91 \$12.00 \$15.60 \$0.00 \$77.51 \$51.05 \$15.60 \$0.00 12/01/2020 \$12.00 \$78.65 \$12.00 \$15.60 \$0.00 06/01/2021 \$52.14 \$79.74 \$53.28 12/01/2021 \$12.00 \$15.60 \$0.00 \$80.88 For apprentice rates see "Apprentice- OPERATING ENGINEERS"

Classification	Effective Date	Base Wage	Health	Pension	Supplemental Unemployment	Total Rate
TELECOMMUNICATION TECHNICIAN	03/01/2019	\$38.33	\$13.00	\$16.82	\$0.00	\$68.15
ELECTRICIANS LOCAL 103		400.00	4-2-1			400120

Apprentice - TELECOMMUNICATION TECHNICIAN - Local 103

Effect Step	ive Date - 03/01/2019 percent	Apprentice Base Wage	Health	Pension	Supplemental Unemployment	Total Rate	
1	40	\$15.33	\$13.00	\$0.46	\$0.00	\$28.79	
2	40	\$15.33	\$13.00	\$0.46	\$0.00	\$28.79	
3	45	\$17.25	\$13.00	\$13.42	\$0.00	\$43.67	
4	45	\$17.25	\$13.00	\$13.42	\$0.00	\$43.67	
5	50	\$19.17	\$13.00	\$13.73	\$0.00	\$45.90	
6	55	\$21.08	\$13.00	\$14.03	\$0.00	\$48.11	
7	60	\$23.00	\$13.00	\$14.34	\$0.00	\$50.34	
8	65	\$24.91	\$13.00	\$14.66	\$0.00	\$52.57	
9	70	\$26.83	\$13.00	\$14.96	\$0.00	\$54.79	
10	75	\$28.75	\$13.00	\$15.27	\$0.00	\$57.02	
Notes	:						
Appr	entice to Journeyworker	Ratio:1:1					
RRAZZO FINISHE		08/01/2019	\$53.34	\$10.75	\$21.30	\$0.00	\$85.39
CKLAYERS LOCAL 3 - N	AAKBLE & TILE	02/01/2020	\$53.98	\$10.75	\$21.30	\$0.00	\$86.03
		08/01/2020	\$55.33	\$10.75	\$21.45	\$0.00	\$87.53
		02/01/2021	\$55.97	\$10.75	\$21.45	\$0.00	\$88.17
		08/01/2021	\$57.37	\$10.75	\$21.61	\$0.00	\$89.73
		02/01/2022	\$57.96	\$10.75	\$21.61	\$0.00	\$90.32

 Issue Date:
 09/05/2019
 Wage Request Number:
 20190905-072
 Page 37 of 41

Pension

	Step	ive Date - 08/01/2019 percent	Apprentice Base Wage	Health	Pension	Supplemental Unemployment	Total Rate	
	1	50	\$26.67	\$10.75	\$21.30	\$0.00	\$58.72	
	2	60	\$32.00	\$10.75	\$21.30	\$0.00	\$64.05	
	3	70	\$37.34	\$10.75	\$21.30	\$0.00	\$69.39	
	4	80	\$42.67	\$10.75	\$21.30	\$0.00	\$74.72	
	5	90	\$48.01	\$10.75	\$21.30	\$0.00	\$80.06	
	Effecti	ive Date - 02/01/2020				Supplemental		
	Step	percent	Apprentice Base Wage	Health	Pension	Unemployment	Total Rate	
	1	50	\$26.99	\$10.75	\$21.30	\$0.00	\$59.04	
	2	60	\$32.39	\$10.75	\$21.30	\$0.00	\$64.44	
	3	70	\$37.79	\$10.75	\$21.30	\$0.00	\$69.84	
	4	80	\$43.18	\$10.75	\$21.30	\$0.00	\$75.23	
	5	90	\$48.58	\$10.75	\$21.30	\$0.00	\$80.63	
	Notes:				. — — —			
	Appre	ntice to Journeyworker Ratio:1:3						
ST BORING			06/01/2019	9 \$40.5	0 \$7.85	\$16.05	\$0.00	\$64.40
ORERS - FOUN	IDATION	AND MARINE	12/01/2019	9 \$41.5	97.85	\$16.05	\$0.00	\$65.40
			06/01/2020	0 \$42.4	9 \$7.85	\$16.05	\$0.00	\$66.39
			12/01/2020	0 \$43.4	7 \$7.85	\$16.05	\$0.00	\$67.37
			06/01/202	1 \$44.4	9 \$7.85	\$16.05	\$0.00	\$68.39
			12/01/202	1 \$45.5	97.85	\$16.05	\$0.00	\$69.40
		'Apprentice- LABORER"						
ST BORING Orers - Foun		ER HELPER AND MARINE	06/01/2019	9 \$39.2	2 \$7.85	\$16.05	\$0.00	\$63.12
			12/01/2019	9 \$40.2	2 \$7.85	\$16.05	\$0.00	\$64.12
			06/01/2020	0 \$41.2	1 \$7.85	\$16.05	\$0.00	\$65.11
			12/01/2020	0 \$42.1	9 \$7.85	\$16.05	\$0.00	\$66.09
			06/01/202	1 \$43.2	\$7.85	\$16.05	\$0.00	\$67.11
F	4 !	!A	12/01/202	1 \$44.2	2 \$7.85	\$16.05	\$0.00	\$68.12
ST BORING		'Apprentice- LABORER"				016.05		
ORERS - FOUN			06/01/2019			\$16.05	\$0.00	\$63.00
			12/01/2019			\$16.05	\$0.00	\$64.00
			06/01/2020			\$16.05	\$0.00	\$64.99
			12/01/2020			\$16.05	\$0.00	\$65.97
			06/01/202			\$16.05	\$0.00	\$66.99
			12/01/202	1 \$44.1	0 \$7.85	\$16.05	\$0.00	\$68.00

	Classification	Effective Date	Base Wage	Health	Pension	Supplemental Unemployment	Total Rate
120112019 \$48.83 \$12.00 \$15.60 \$0.00 \$77.56 600112020 \$51.05 \$12.00 \$15.60 \$0.00 \$77.56 600112020 \$51.05 \$12.00 \$15.60 \$0.00 \$77.56 600112021 \$52.14 \$12.00 \$15.60 \$0.00 \$79.74 700112000 \$51.05 \$12.00 \$15.60 \$0.00 \$79.74 700112000 \$52.24 \$12.00 \$15.60 \$0.00 \$79.74 700112000 \$53.28 \$12.00 \$15.60 \$0.00 \$79.74 700112000 \$53.28 \$12.00 \$15.60 \$0.00 \$79.74 700112000 \$35.28 \$12.00 \$15.60 \$0.00 \$60.23 700112000 \$35.02 \$12.41 \$12.70 \$0.00 \$60.23 700112000 \$36.02 \$12.41 \$13.72 \$0.00 \$62.15 700112000 \$36.02 \$12.41 \$13.72 \$0.00 \$62.15 700112000 \$36.02 \$12.91 \$13.72 \$0.00 \$62.15 700112000 \$36.02 \$12.91 \$13.72 \$0.00 \$62.15 700112000 \$36.02 \$12.91 \$14.82 \$0.00 \$63.75 700112000 \$36.82 \$13.41 \$14.82 \$0.00 \$63.75 700112000 \$36.82 \$13.41 \$14.82 \$0.00 \$63.75 700112000 \$36.82 \$13.41 \$14.82 \$0.00 \$63.75 700112000 \$36.82 \$13.41 \$14.82 \$0.00 \$65.05 700112000 \$36.82 \$13.41 \$14.82 \$0.00 \$65.05 700112000 \$36.82 \$13.41 \$14.82 \$0.00 \$65.05 700112000 \$36.82 \$13.41 \$14.82 \$0.00 \$65.05 700112000 \$36.82 \$13.41 \$14.82 \$0.00 \$65.05 700112000 \$36.82 \$13.41 \$14.82 \$0.00 \$65.05 700112000 \$36.82 \$13.41 \$14.82 \$0.00 \$65.05 700112000 \$36.82 \$13.41 \$14.82 \$0.00 \$65.05 700112000 \$36.82 \$13.41 \$14.82 \$0.00 \$65.05 700112000 \$36.82 \$13.41 \$14.82 \$0.00 \$65.05 700112000 \$36.82 \$13.41 \$14.82 \$0.00 \$65.05 700112000 \$36.82 \$13.41 \$14.82 \$0.00 \$65.05 700112000 \$36.82 \$13.41 \$14.82 \$0.00 \$65.05 700112000 \$36.82 \$13.41 \$14.82 \$0.00 \$76.85 700112000 \$36.82 \$13.41 \$14.82 \$0.00 \$76.85 700112000 \$36.82 \$13.41 \$14.82 \$0.00 \$76.85 700112000 \$36.82 \$13.41 \$14.82 \$0.00 \$76.85 700112000 \$3	TRACTORS/PORTABLE STEAM GENERATORS	06/01/2019	\$47.69	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$75.29
12012020 \$51.05 \$12.00 \$15.05 \$0.00 \$79.74 600172021 \$52.14 \$12.00 \$15.00 \$0.00 \$79.74 600172021 \$53.28 \$12.00 \$15.00 \$0.00 \$79.74 600172021 \$53.28 \$12.00 \$15.00 \$0.00 \$80.88 600172021 \$53.28 \$12.00 \$15.00 \$0.00 \$60.23 600172020 \$35.02 \$12.41 \$13.72 \$0.00 \$60.23 600172020 \$36.02 \$12.41 \$13.72 \$0.00 \$62.25 600172020 \$36.02 \$12.41 \$13.72 \$0.00 \$62.25 600172020 \$36.02 \$12.91 \$14.82 \$0.00 \$62.25 600172021 \$36.82 \$12.91 \$14.82 \$0.00 \$63.75 600172021 \$36.82 \$13.41 \$14.82 \$0.00 \$63.75 600172021 \$36.82 \$13.41 \$14.82 \$0.00 \$65.35 600172021 \$36.82 \$13.41 \$14.82 \$0.00 \$65.35 600172021 \$36.82 \$13.41 \$14.82 \$0.00 \$65.05 600172021 \$36.82 \$13.41 \$14.82 \$0.00 \$65.05 600172021 \$36.82 \$13.41 \$14.82 \$0.00 \$65.05 600172021 \$36.82 \$13.41 \$14.82 \$0.00 \$65.05 600172021 \$36.83 \$13.41 \$14.82 \$0.00 \$65.05 600172021 \$36.83 \$13.45 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$76.68 600172021 \$55.37 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$77.68 600172021 \$55.37 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$77.68 600172021 \$55.38 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$77.68 600172021 \$55.38 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$77.68 600172021 \$55.37 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$77.68 600172021 \$55.37 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$77.68 600172021 \$55.37 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$77.68 600172021 \$55.37 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$77.68 600172021 \$55.37 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$77.68 600172021 \$55.37 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$77.68 600172021 \$55.37 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$77.68 600172021 \$55.37 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$77.68 600172021 \$7.37 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$77.68 600172021 \$7.37 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$77.68 600172021 \$7.37 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$77.68 600172021 \$7.37 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$77.68 600172021 \$7.37 \$7.85 \$16.45	OPERATING ENGINEERS LOCAL 4	12/01/2019	\$48.83	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$76.43
Part Part		06/01/2020	\$49.91	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$77.51
Part appromise rates see "Appromise rates see "Ap		12/01/2020	\$51.05	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$78.65
Triange Tria		06/01/2021	\$52.14	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$79.74
RAILERS FOR EARTH MOVING EQUIPMENT 08/01/2019 \$35.12 \$12.41 \$12.70 \$0.00 \$62.25		12/01/2021	\$53.28	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$80.88
1201/2019 351.21 512.41 513.72 50.00 561.25 60601/2020 336.02 512.91 514.82 50.00 562.55 60601/2021 336.82 512.91 514.82 50.00 563.75 60601/2021 336.82 512.91 514.82 50.00 563.75 60601/2021 336.82 513.41 514.82 50.00 565.05 60601/2021 336.82 513.41 514.82 50.00 565.05 60601/2021 336.82 513.41 514.82 50.00 566.05 60601/2021 336.82 513.41 514.82 50.00 566.05 60601/2021 535.38 57.85 516.45 50.00 575.68 60601/2021 553.37 57.85 516.45 50.00 576.68 60601/2021 553.37 57.85 516.45 50.00 576.68 60601/2021 553.38 57.85 516.45 50.00 576.68 For apprentice rates see "Apprentice-LABORER" FUNNEL WORK - COMPRESSED AIR (HAZ. WASTE) 60601/2019 553.38 57.85 516.45 50.00 579.67 60601/2021 553.37 57.85 516.45 50.00 579.67 60601/2021 553.37 57.85 516.45 50.00 579.68 60601/2021 553.37 57.85 516.45 50.00 579.68 60601/2021 553.38 57.85 516.45 50.00 579.68 60601/2021 553.38 57.85 516.45 50.00 579.68 60601/2021 553.38 57.85 516.45 50.00 579.67 60601/2021 553.38 57.85 516.45 50.00 579.67 60601/2021 553.38 57.85 516.45 50.00 579.67 60601/2021 553.38 57.85 516.45 50.00 579.67 60601/2021 553.38 57.85 516.45 50.00 579.67 60601/2021 553.38 57.85 516.45 50.00 579.67 60601/2021 553.38 57.85 516.45 50.00 579.67 60601/2021 553.38 57.85 516.45 50.00 579.67 60601/2021 553.38 57.85 516.45 50.00 579.67 60601/2021 553.45 57.85 516.45 50.00 579.67 60601/2021 553.45 57.85 516.45 50.00 579.67 60601/2021 543.45 57.85 516.45 50.00 579.75 60601/2021 543.45 57.85 516.45 50.00 579.75 60601/2021 543.45 57.85 516.45 50.00 579.75 60601/2021 544.45 57.85 516.45 50.00 579.75 60601/2021 544.45 57.85		08/01/2019	\$35.12	\$12.41	\$12.70	\$0.00	\$60.23
1		12/01/2019	\$35.12	\$12.41	\$13.72	\$0.00	\$61.25
1201/202		06/01/2020	\$36.02	\$12.41	\$13.72	\$0.00	\$62.15
		08/01/2020	\$36.02	\$12.91	\$13.72	\$0.00	\$62.65
		12/01/2020	\$36.02	\$12.91	\$14.82	\$0.00	\$63.75
12/01/201 S36.82 S13.41 S16.01 S0.00 S66.24		06/01/2021	\$36.82	\$12.91	\$14.82	\$0.00	\$64.55
TUNNEL WORK - COMPRESSED AIR 06/01/2019 \$51.38 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$75.68 ABORERS (COMPRESSED AIR) 12/01/2019 \$52.38 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$76.68 12/01/2020 \$55.37 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$78.65 12/01/2020 \$55.37 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$78.65 12/01/2021 \$55.37 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$79.67 12/01/2021 \$55.38 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$79.67 12/01/2021 \$55.38 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$79.67 12/01/2021 \$55.38 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$79.67 12/01/2021 \$55.38 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$79.67 12/01/2021 \$55.38 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$77.68 12/01/2021 \$55.38 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$77.68 12/01/2020 \$55.35 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$79.67 12/01/2020 \$55.35 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$79.67 12/01/2020 \$55.35 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$79.67 12/01/2020 \$55.35 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$79.67 12/01/2020 \$55.35 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$79.67 12/01/2021 \$58.38 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$81.67 12/01/2021 \$58.38 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$81.67 12/01/2021 \$58.38 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$81.67 12/01/2021 \$47.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$67.75 12/01/2020 \$46.42 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$67.75 12/01/2020 \$46.42 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$71.74 12/01/2020 \$46.42 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$71.74 12/01/2021 \$47.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$71.75 12/01/2021 \$47.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$71.75 12/01/2021 \$47.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$71.75 12/01/2020 \$44.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$71.75 12/01/2020 \$44.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$71.75 12/01/2020 \$44.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$71.75 12/01/2020 \$44.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$71.75 12/01/2020 \$48.42 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$71.75 12/01/2020 \$44.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$71.75 12/01/2020 \$44.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$71.75 12/01/2020 \$44.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$71.75 12/01/2020 \$		08/01/2021	\$36.82	\$13.41	\$14.82	\$0.00	\$65.05
12/01/2019 \$52.38		12/01/2021	\$36.82	\$13.41	\$16.01	\$0.00	\$66.24
12/01/2020 \$52.38 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$76.68 06/01/2020 \$53.37 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$77.67 12/01/2020 \$55.37 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$77.67 12/01/2021 \$55.37 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$78.65 06/01/2021 \$55.37 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$79.67 12/01/2021 \$55.38 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$79.67 12/01/2021 \$55.38 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$79.67 12/01/2021 \$55.38 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$77.68 12/01/2021 \$55.38 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$77.68 12/01/2020 \$55.37 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$78.68 12/01/2020 \$55.37 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$78.68 12/01/2020 \$55.37 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$79.67 12/01/2020 \$55.37 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$80.65 12/01/2021 \$57.37 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$80.65 12/01/2021 \$57.37 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$80.65 12/01/2021 \$57.37 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$80.65 12/01/2021 \$57.37 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$80.65 12/01/2021 \$57.37 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$80.65 12/01/2021 \$43.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$67.75 12/01/2021 \$44.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$67.75 12/01/2021 \$44.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$67.75 12/01/2021 \$44.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$70.72 12/01/2021 \$44.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$70.72 12/01/2021 \$44.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$70.72 12/01/2021 \$44.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$70.72 12/01/2021 \$44.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$70.75 12/01/2021 \$44.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$70.75 12/01/2021 \$44.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$70.75 12/01/2021 \$44.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$70.75 12/01/2021 \$44.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$70.75 12/01/2021 \$44.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$70.75 12/01/2021 \$44.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$70.75 12/01/2021 \$44.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$70.75 12/01/2021 \$44.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$70.75 12/01/2021 \$44.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$70.75 12/01/2021 \$	TUNNEL WORK - COMPRESSED AIR	06/01/2019	\$51.38	\$7.85	\$16.45	\$0.00	\$75.68
12/01/2020 \$54.35 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$78.65 \$0.001/2021 \$55.37 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$79.67 \$12/01/2021 \$56.38 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$80.68 \$12/01/2021 \$56.38 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$80.68 \$12/01/2021 \$56.38 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$80.68 \$12/01/2021 \$56.38 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$77.68 \$12/01/2019 \$54.38 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$77.68 \$12/01/2019 \$54.38 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$79.67 \$12/01/2020 \$55.37 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$79.67 \$12/01/2020 \$55.37 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$80.65 \$12/01/2020 \$55.37 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$80.65 \$12/01/2020 \$55.37 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$80.65 \$12/01/2020 \$55.37 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$80.65 \$12/01/2020 \$55.37 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$80.65 \$12/01/2020 \$55.37 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$80.65 \$12/01/2020 \$80.30 \$1.85	LABORERS (COMPRESSED AIR)	12/01/2019	\$52.38	\$7.85	\$16.45	\$0.00	\$76.68
		06/01/2020	\$53.37	\$7.85	\$16.45	\$0.00	\$77.67
12/01/2021 \$56.38 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$80.68 FOR apprentice rates see "Apprentice-LABORER"		12/01/2020	\$54.35	\$7.85	\$16.45	\$0.00	\$78.65
For apprentice rates see "Apprentice-LABORER"		06/01/2021	\$55.37	\$7.85	\$16.45	\$0.00	\$79.67
TUNNEL WORK - COMPRESSED AIR (HAZ. WASTE) ABORERS (COMPRESSED AIR) 12/01/2019 \$53.38 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$77.68 12/01/2020 \$55.37 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$79.67 12/01/2020 \$55.37 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$80.65 12/01/2021 \$57.37 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$80.65 12/01/2021 \$57.37 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$81.67 12/01/2021 \$58.38 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$81.67 12/01/2021 \$58.38 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$81.67 12/01/2021 \$58.38 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$82.68 For apprentice rates see "Apprentice-LABORER" FUNNEL WORK - FREE AIR ABORERS (FREE AIR TUNNEL) 12/01/2019 \$43.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$67.75 12/01/2020 \$45.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$69.74 12/01/2021 \$47.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$70.72 12/01/2021 \$48.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$70.72 For apprentice rates see "Apprentice-LABORER" FUNNEL WORK - FREE AIR (HAZ. WASTE) 12/01/2021 \$48.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$70.72 12/01/2021 \$48.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$70.72 12/01/2021 \$48.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$70.75 12/01/2021 \$48.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$70.75 12/01/2021 \$48.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$70.75 12/01/2021 \$48.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$70.75 12/01/2021 \$48.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$70.75 12/01/2021 \$48.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$70.75 12/01/2021 \$48.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$70.75 12/01/2021 \$48.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$70.75 12/01/2021 \$49.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$70.75 12/01/2020 \$48.42 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$70.75 12/01/2020 \$48.42 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$70.75 12/01/2021 \$49.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$70.75 12/01/2021 \$49.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$70.75 12/01/2021 \$49.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$70.75 12/01/2021 \$49.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$70.75 12/01/2021 \$49.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$70.75 12/01/2021 \$49.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$70.75 12/01/2021 \$49.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$70.75 12/01/2021 \$49.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$70.75		12/01/2021	\$56.38	\$7.85	\$16.45	\$0.00	\$80.68
### Page Page							
12/01/2019 \$54.38 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$78.68 06/01/2020 \$55.37 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$79.67 12/01/2020 \$56.35 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$80.65 06/01/2021 \$57.37 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$81.67 12/01/2021 \$58.38 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$81.67 12/01/2021 \$58.38 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$82.68 For apprentice rates see "Apprentice-LABORER"	TUNNEL WORK - COMPRESSED AIR (HAZ. WASTE)	06/01/2019	\$53.38	\$7.85	\$16.45	\$0.00	\$77.68
12/01/2020 \$56.35 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$80.65 16/01/2021 \$57.37 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$81.67 12/01/2021 \$57.37 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$82.68 For apprentice rates see "Apprentice-LABORER" FUNNEL WORK - FREE AIR ABORERS (FREE AIR TUNNEL) 12/01/2019 \$43.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$67.75 12/01/2019 \$44.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$68.75 12/01/2020 \$45.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$68.75 12/01/2020 \$45.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$69.74 12/01/2020 \$46.42 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$70.72 12/01/2021 \$47.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$71.74 12/01/2021 \$48.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$72.75 For apprentice rates see "Apprentice-LABORER" TUNNEL WORK - FREE AIR (HAZ. WASTE) 06/01/2019 \$45.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$70.75 ABORERS (FREE AIR TUNNEL) 12/01/2020 \$46.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$70.75 12/01/2020 \$47.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$70.75 12/01/2020 \$47.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$70.75 12/01/2020 \$47.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$70.75 12/01/2020 \$47.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$70.75 12/01/2020 \$48.42 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$70.75 12/01/2020 \$48.42 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$70.75 12/01/2020 \$48.42 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$72.72 12/01/2021 \$49.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$73.74 12/01/2021 \$49.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$73.74 12/01/2021 \$49.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$73.74 12/01/2021 \$49.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$73.74 12/01/2021 \$49.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$73.74 12/01/2021 \$49.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$73.74 12/01/2021 \$50.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$73.74 12/01/2021 \$50.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$73.74 12/01/2021 \$50.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$73.74 12/01/2021 \$50.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$73.74 12/01/2021 \$50.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$74.75 12/01/2021 \$50.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$74.75 12/01/2021 \$49.44 \$7.85 \$	LABORERS (COMI RESSED AIR)	12/01/2019	\$54.38	\$7.85	\$16.45	\$0.00	\$78.68
12/01/2021 \$57.37 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$81.67 12/01/2021 \$58.38 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$82.68 12/01/2021 \$58.38 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$82.68 12/01/2019 \$43.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$67.75 12/01/2019 \$44.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$68.75 12/01/2019 \$44.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$68.75 12/01/2020 \$45.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$69.74 12/01/2020 \$46.42 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$70.72 12/01/2021 \$47.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$70.72 12/01/2021 \$48.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$71.74 12/01/2021 \$48.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$72.75 12/01/2019 \$45.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$70.75 12/01/2019 \$46.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$70.75 12/01/2020 \$47.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$70.75 12/01/2020 \$47.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$70.75 12/01/2020 \$47.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$70.75 12/01/2020 \$47.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$70.75 12/01/2021 \$49.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$71.74 12/01/2021 \$49.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$73.74 12/01/2021 \$49.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$73.74 12/01/2021 \$49.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$73.74 12/01/2021 \$49.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$73.74 12/01/2021 \$49.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$73.74 12/01/2021 \$49.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$73.74 12/01/2021 \$49.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$73.74 12/01/2021 \$49.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$73.74 12/01/2021 \$49.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$73.74 12/01/2021 \$49.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$73.74 12/01/2021 \$49.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$73.74 12/01/2021 \$49.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$73.74 12/01/2021 \$49.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$73.74 12/01/2021 \$49.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$73.74 12/01/2021 \$49.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$73.74 12/01/2021 \$49.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$73.74 12/01/2021 \$49.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$73.74 12/01/2021 \$		06/01/2020	\$55.37	\$7.85	\$16.45	\$0.00	\$79.67
12/01/2021 \$58.38 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$82.68		12/01/2020	\$56.35	\$7.85	\$16.45	\$0.00	\$80.65
For apprentice rates see "Apprentice-LABORER" FUNNEL WORK - FREE AIR ABORERS (FREE AIR TUNNEL) 12/01/2019 \$44.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$68.75 06/01/2020 \$45.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$68.75 12/01/2020 \$45.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$69.74 12/01/2020 \$46.42 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$70.72 06/01/2021 \$47.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$71.74 12/01/2021 \$48.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$71.74 12/01/2021 \$48.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$72.75 For apprentice rates see "Apprentice-LABORER" FUNNEL WORK - FREE AIR (HAZ. WASTE) ABORERS (FREE AIR TUNNEL) 12/01/2019 \$45.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$69.75 ABORERS (FREE AIR TUNNEL) 12/01/2019 \$46.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$71.74 12/01/2020 \$47.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$71.74 12/01/2020 \$47.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$71.74 12/01/2020 \$48.42 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$71.74 12/01/2020 \$48.42 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$72.72 06/01/2021 \$49.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$73.74 12/01/2021 \$49.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$73.74 12/01/2021 \$49.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$73.74		06/01/2021	\$57.37	\$7.85	\$16.45	\$0.00	\$81.67
TUNNEL WORK - FREE AIR ABORERS (FREE AIR TUNNEL) 12/01/2019 \$43.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$68.75 12/01/2020 \$44.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$68.75 12/01/2020 \$45.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$69.74 12/01/2020 \$46.42 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$70.72 06/01/2021 \$47.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$71.74 12/01/2021 \$48.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$71.74 12/01/2021 \$48.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$72.75 For apprentice rates see "Apprentice-LABORER" TUNNEL WORK - FREE AIR (HAZ. WASTE) ABORERS (FREE AIR TUNNEL) 12/01/2019 \$45.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$70.75 06/01/2020 \$47.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$70.75 06/01/2020 \$47.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$70.75 06/01/2020 \$47.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$71.74 12/01/2020 \$48.42 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$71.74 12/01/2020 \$48.42 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$71.74 12/01/2020 \$48.42 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$72.72 06/01/2021 \$49.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$73.74 12/01/2021 \$49.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$73.74		12/01/2021	\$58.38	\$7.85	\$16.45	\$0.00	\$82.68
12/01/2019 \$44.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$68.75 \$0.00 \$69.74 \$12/01/2020 \$45.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$70.72 \$12/01/2021 \$48.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$70.72 \$12/01/2021 \$48.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$70.72 \$12/01/2021 \$48.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$71.74 \$12/01/2021 \$48.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$72.75 \$12/01/2021 \$48.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$72.75 \$12/01/2021 \$48.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$72.75 \$12/01/2021 \$48.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$72.75 \$12/01/2021 \$48.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$72.75 \$12/01/2019 \$45.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$70.75 \$12/01/2019 \$46.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$71.74 \$12/01/2019 \$46.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$71.74 \$12/01/2020 \$48.42 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$71.74 \$12/01/2020 \$48.42 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$71.74 \$12/01/2020 \$48.42 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$71.74 \$12/01/2020 \$48.42 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$72.72 \$12/01/2020 \$48.42 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$72.72 \$12/01/2021 \$49.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$73.74 \$12/01/2021 \$49.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$74.75 \$14/01/2021 \$49.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$1							
12/01/2019			\$43.45	\$7.85		\$0.00	\$67.75
12/01/2020 \$46.42 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$70.72 \$06/01/2021 \$47.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$71.74 \$12/01/2021 \$48.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$72.75 \$10.00 \$72.75 \$10.00 \$	2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2	12/01/2019	\$44.45	\$7.85	\$16.45	\$0.00	\$68.75
06/01/2021 \$47.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$71.74 12/01/2021 \$48.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$72.75 For apprentice rates see "Apprentice-LABORER" 06/01/2019 \$45.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$69.75 ABORERS (FREE AIR TUNNEL) 12/01/2019 \$46.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$70.75 12/01/2020 \$47.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$71.74 12/01/2020 \$48.42 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$72.72 12/01/2021 \$49.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$73.74 12/01/2021 \$50.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$73.74 12/01/2021 \$50.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$74.75 12/01/2021 \$70.00 \$70.75 \$7.85		06/01/2020	\$45.44	\$7.85	\$16.45	\$0.00	\$69.74
12/01/2021 \$48.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$72.75		12/01/2020	\$46.42	\$7.85	\$16.45	\$0.00	\$70.72
For apprentice rates see "Apprentice- LABORER" FUNNEL WORK - FREE AIR (HAZ. WASTE) ABORERS (FREE AIR TUNNEL) 12/01/2019 \$45.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$69.75 12/01/2019 \$46.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$70.75 06/01/2020 \$47.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$71.74 12/01/2020 \$48.42 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$72.72 06/01/2021 \$49.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$73.74 12/01/2021 \$50.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$73.74		06/01/2021	\$47.44	\$7.85	\$16.45	\$0.00	\$71.74
TUNNEL WORK - FREE AIR (HAZ. WASTE) ABORERS (FREE AIR TUNNEL) 06/01/2019 \$45.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$69.75 12/01/2019 \$46.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$70.75 06/01/2020 \$47.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$71.74 12/01/2020 \$48.42 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$72.72 06/01/2021 \$49.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$73.74 12/01/2021 \$50.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$73.74		12/01/2021	\$48.45	\$7.85	\$16.45	\$0.00	\$72.75
12/01/2019 \$46.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$70.75 06/01/2020 \$47.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$71.74 12/01/2020 \$48.42 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$72.72 06/01/2021 \$49.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$73.74 12/01/2021 \$50.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$74.75							
12/01/2019 \$46.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$70.75 06/01/2020 \$47.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$71.74 12/01/2020 \$48.42 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$72.72 06/01/2021 \$49.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$73.74 12/01/2021 \$50.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$74.75							
12/01/2020 \$48.42 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$72.72 06/01/2021 \$49.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$73.74 12/01/2021 \$50.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$74.75		12/01/2019	\$46.45	\$7.85			\$70.75
06/01/2021 \$49.44 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$73.74 12/01/2021 \$50.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$74.75		06/01/2020	\$47.44	\$7.85		\$0.00	\$71.74
12/01/2021 \$50.45 \$7.85 \$16.45 \$0.00 \$74.75		12/01/2020	\$48.42	\$7.85	\$16.45		\$72.72
		06/01/2021	\$49.44	\$7.85	\$16.45	\$0.00	\$73.74
For apprentice rates see "Apprentice- LABORER"	E C L DODEN	12/01/2021	\$50.45	\$7.85	\$16.45	\$0.00	\$74.75

 Issue Date:
 09/05/2019
 Wage Request Number:
 20190905-072
 Page 39 of 41

Classification	Effective Date	Base Wage	Health	Pension	Supplemental Unemployment	Total Rate
VAC-HAUL	08/01/2019	\$34.54	\$12.41	\$12.70	\$0.00	\$59.65
EAMSTERS JOINT COUNCIL NO. 10 ZONE B	12/01/2019	\$34.54	\$12.41	\$13.72	\$0.00	\$60.67
	06/01/2020	\$35.44	\$12.41	\$13.72	\$0.00	\$61.57
	08/01/2020	\$35.44	\$12.91	\$13.72	\$0.00	\$62.07
	12/01/2020	\$35.44	\$12.91	\$14.82	\$0.00	\$63.17
	06/01/2021	\$36.24	\$12.91	\$14.82	\$0.00	\$63.97
	08/01/2021	\$36.24	\$13.41	\$14.82	\$0.00	\$64.47
	12/01/2021	\$36.24	\$13.41	\$16.01	\$0.00	\$65.66
VAGON DRILL OPERATOR	06/01/2019	\$34.20	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$56.93
ABORERS - ZONE 2	12/01/2019	\$35.06	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$57.79
	06/01/2020	\$35.95	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$58.68
	12/01/2020	\$36.84	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$59.57
	06/01/2021	\$37.76	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$60.49
	12/01/2021	\$38.67	\$7.85	\$14.88	\$0.00	\$61.40
For apprentice rates see "Apprentice- LABORER"						
VASTE WATER PUMP OPERATOR	06/01/2019	\$48.18	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$75.78
PERATING ENGINEERS LOCAL 4	12/01/2019	\$49.33	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$76.93
	06/01/2020	\$50.43	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$78.03
	12/01/2020	\$51.58	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$79.18
	06/01/2021	\$52.68	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$80.28
	12/01/2021	\$53.83	\$12.00	\$15.60	\$0.00	\$81.43
For apprentice rates see "Apprentice- OPERATING ENGINEERS"						
VATER METER INSTALLER	09/01/2019	\$53.61	\$11.82	\$17.01	\$0.00	\$82.44
LUMBERS & GASFITTERS LOCAL 12 (Local 138)	03/01/2020	\$55.11	\$11.82	\$17.01	\$0.00	\$83.94
	09/01/2020	\$56.61	\$11.82	\$17.01	\$0.00	\$85.44
	03/01/2021	\$58.11	\$11.82	\$17.01	\$0.00	\$86.94
For apprentice rates see "Apprentice- PLUMBER/PIPEFITTER" or "PLUMBER/GAS	SFITTER"					
Outside Electrical - East				Φ1 01		**
ABLE TECHNICIAN (Power Zone) UTSIDE ELECTRICAL WORKERS - EAST LOCAL 104	09/03/2017	\$27.14	\$7.75	\$1.81	\$0.00	\$36.70
For apprentice rates see "Apprentice- LINEMAN"						
ABLEMAN (Underground Ducts & Cables)	09/03/2017	\$38.45	\$7.75	\$9.53	\$0.00	\$55.73
UTSIDE ELECTRICAL WORKERS - EAST LOCAL 104						
For apprentice rates see "Apprentice- LINEMAN"						
DRIVER / GROUNDMAN CDL OUTSIDE ELECTRICAL WORKERS - EAST LOCAL 104	09/03/2017	\$31.66	\$7.75	\$9.44	\$0.00	\$48.85
For apprentice rates see "Apprentice- LINEMAN"						
DRIVER / GROUNDMAN -Inexperienced (<2000 Hrs) DUTSIDE ELECTRICAL WORKERS - EAST LOCAL 104	09/03/2017	\$24.88	\$7.75	\$1.75	\$0.00	\$34.38
For apprentice rates see "Apprentice- LINEMAN"						
QUIPMENT OPERATOR (Class A CDL) UTSIDE ELECTRICAL WORKERS - EAST LOCAL 104	09/03/2017	\$38.45	\$7.75	\$13.61	\$0.00	\$59.81
For apprentice rates see "Apprentice- LINEMAN"						
QUIPMENT OPERATOR (Class B CDL) UTSIDE ELECTRICAL WORKERS - EAST LOCAL 104	09/03/2017	\$33.92	\$7.75	\$10.21	\$0.00	\$51.88
For apprentice rates see "Apprentice- LINEMAN"						
	00/02/2015	¢24.00	\$7.75	\$1.75	\$0.00	\$34.38
GROUNDMAN PUTSIDE ELECTRICAL WORKERS - EAST LOCAL 104	09/03/2017	\$24.88	\$1.13	Ψ1.73	ψ0.00	ψ5 1.50

 Issue Date:
 09/05/2019
 Wage Request Number:
 20190905-072
 Page 40 of 41

Classification	Effective Date	Base Wage	Health	Pension	Supplemental Unemployment	Total Rate
GROUNDMAN -Inexperienced (<2000 Hrs.) OUTSIDE ELECTRICAL WORKERS - EAST LOCAL 104	09/03/2017	\$20.35	\$7.75	\$1.61	\$0.00	\$29.71
For apprentice rates see "Apprentice- LINEMAN"						
JOURNEYMAN LINEMAN OUTSIDE ELECTRICAL WORKERS - EAST LOCAL 104	09/03/2017	\$45.23	\$7.75	\$16.61	\$0.00	\$69.59

	Effecti	ive Date -	09/03/2017				Supplemental		
	Step	percent		Apprentice Base Wage	Health	Pension	Unemployment	Total Rate	
	1	60		\$27.14	\$7.75	\$3.31	\$0.00	\$38.20	
	2	65		\$29.40	\$7.75	\$3.38	\$0.00	\$40.53	
	3	70		\$31.66	\$7.75	\$3.45	\$0.00	\$42.86	
	4	75		\$33.92	\$7.75	\$5.02	\$0.00	\$46.69	
	5	80		\$36.18	\$7.75	\$5.09	\$0.00	\$49.02	
	6	85		\$38.45	\$7.75	\$5.15	\$0.00	\$51.35	
	7	90		\$40.71	\$7.75	\$7.22	\$0.00	\$55.68	
	Notes:								
	Appre	ntice to Jo	urneyworker Ratio:1:2						
TELEDATA CA OUTSIDE ELECTRI			T LOCAL 104	02/04/2019	9 \$30.73	3 \$4.70	\$3.17	\$0.00	\$38.60
TELEDATA LI		•	MENT OPERATOR TLOCAL 104	02/04/2019	9 \$28.93	3 \$4.70	\$3.14	\$0.00	\$36.77
TELEDATA WI			LLER/TECHNICIAN TLOCAL 104	02/04/2019	9 \$28.93	3 \$4.70	\$3.14	\$0.00	\$36.77
TREE TRIMME		RKERS - EAS	T LOCAL 104	01/31/2016	5 \$18.5	1 \$3.55	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$22.06
operating, main	ntaining, o	or repairing the	work done: (a) for a utility company e utility company's equipment, and holesale tree removal.		_				
TREE TRIMME				01/31/2016	5 \$16.32	2 \$3.55	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$19.87
operating, main	ntaining, c	or repairing the	work done: (a) for a utility company e utility company's equipment, and sale tree removal.		_				

Additional Apprentice Information:

Minimum wage rates for apprentices employed on public works projects are listed above as a percentage of the pre-determined hourly wage rate established by the Commissioner under the provisions of the M.G.L. c. 149, ss. 26-27D. Apprentice ratios are established by the Division of Apprenticeship Training pursuant to M.G.L. c. 23, ss. 11E-11L.

All apprentices must be registered with the Division of Apprenticeship Training in accordance with M.G.L. c. 23, ss. 11E-11L.

All steps are six months (1000 hours.)

Ratios are expressed in allowable number of apprentices to journeymen or fraction thereof, unless otherwise specified.

Issue Date: 09/05/2019 **Wage Request Number:** 20190905-072 **Page 41 of 41**

^{**} Multiple ratios are listed in the comment field.

^{***} APP to JM; 1:1, 2:2, 2:3, 3:4, 4:4, 4:5, 4:6, 5:7, 6:7, 6:8, 6:9, 7:10, 8:10, 8:11, 8:12, 9:13, 10:13, 10:14, etc.

^{****} APP to JM; 1:1, 1:2, 2:3, 2:4, 3:5, 4:6, 4:7, 5:8, 6:9, 6:10, 7:11, 8:12, 8:13, 9:14, 10:15, 10:16, etc.

ATTACHMENT B

EXCERPTS FROM CHAPTERS 30 AND 82 OF THE MASSACHUSETTS GENERAL LAWS

SECTION 00820B

TABLE OF CONTENTS

M.G.L. SECTION	<u>DESCRIPTION</u>	<u>PAGES</u>
39F	Const. Contracts; Assignment and Subrogation: Subcontractor Defined: Enforcement of Claim for Direct Payment: Deposit, Reduction of Disputed Amounts	00820B-2hru 00820B-5
39G	Completion of Public Works; Semi-Final and Final Estimates; Payments; Extra Work: Disputed Items	00820B-5 thru 00820B-7
39K	(Prompt Payment on Building Contracts) Public Construction, Etc., Contracts; Payments	00820B-8 thru 00820B-9
39M	Contracts for Construction and Materials; Manner of Awarding	00820B-9 thru 00820B-11
39N	Construction Contracts: Equitable Adjustment in Contract Price for Differing Subsurface or Latent Physical Conditions	00820B-12
390	Contracts for Construction and Materials; Suspension, Delay or Interruptions Due to Order of Award Authority; Adjustment in Contract Price; Required Provisions	00820B-12 thru 00820B-13
39P	Contracts for Construction and Materials; decision of Award Authority on Interpretation of Specifications, Etc., Required Promptly Upon Submission; Time Limit; Notice	00820B-13
39R	Definitions; Contract Provisions; Management and Financial Statements; Enforcement	00820B-14 thru 00820B-17
40	Excavations; Notices; Penalties	00820B-17 thru 00820B-19

ATTACHMENT B

EXCERPTS FROM CHAPTERS 30 AND 82 OF THE MASSACHUSETTS GENERAL LAWS

Certain excerpts from the Massachusetts General Laws are applicable to construction contracts. Attention is directed to the following sections of Chapter 30 as amended:

SECTION 39F: CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTS; ASSIGNMENT AND SUBROGATION: SUBCONTRACTOR DEFINED: ENFORCEMENT OF CLAIM FOR DIRECT PAYMENT: DEPOSIT, REDUCTION OF DISPUTED AMOUNTS

Section 39F. "(1) Every contract awarded pursuant to sections forty-four A to L inclusive, of chapter one hundred and forty-nine shall contain the following subparagraphs (a) through (i) and every contract awarded pursuant to section thirty-nine M of chapter thirty shall contain the following subparagraphs (a) through (h) and in each case those subparagraphs shall be binding between the general contractor and each subcontractor."

- "(a) Forthwith after the general contractor receives payment on account of a periodic estimate, the general contractor shall pay to each subcontractor the amount paid for the labor performed and the materials furnished by that subcontractor, less any amount specified in any court proceedings barring such payment and also less any amount claimed due from the subcontractor by the general contractor.
- "(b) Not later than the sixty-fifth-day after each subcontractor substantially completes his work in accordance with the plans and specifications, the entire balance due under the subcontractor less amounts retained by the awarding authority as the estimated cost of completing the incomplete and unsatisfactory items of work, shall be due the subcontractor; and the awarding authority shall pay that amount to the general contractor. The general contractor shall forthwith pay to the awarding authority less any amount specified in any court proceedings barring such payment and also less any amount claimed due from the subcontractor by the general contractor.
- "(c) Each payment made by the awarding authority to the general contractor pursuant to subparagraphs (a) and (b) of this paragraph for the labor performed and the materials furnished by a subcontractor shall be made to the general contractor for the account of that subcontractor; and the awarding authority shall take reasonable steps to compel the general contractor to make each such payment to each such subcontractor. If the awarding authority has received a demand for direct payment from a subcontractor for any amount which has already been included in a payment to the general contractor for payment to the subcontractor as provided in subparagraphs (a) and (b), the awarding authority shall act upon the demand as provided in this section.
- "(d) If, within seventy-days after the subcontractor has substantially completed the subcontract work, the subcontractor has not received from the general contractor the balance due under the subcontract including any amount due for extra labor and materials furnished to the general contractor, less any amount retained by the awarding authority as the estimated cost of completing the incomplete and

unsatisfactory items of work, the subcontractor may demand direct payment of that balance from the awarding authority. The demand shall be by a sworn statement delivered to or sent by certified mail to the awarding authority, and a copy shall be delivered or sent by certified mail to the general contractor at the same time. The demand shall contain a detailed breakdown of the balance due under the subcontract and also a statement of the status of completion of the subcontract work. Any demand made after substantial completion of the subcontract work shall be valid even if delivered or mailed prior to the seventieth-day after the subcontract work. Within tendays after the subcontractor has delivered or so mailed the demand to the awarding authority and delivered or so mailed a copy to the general contractor, the general contractor may reply to the demand. The reply shall be by a sworn statement delivered to or sent by certified mail to the awarding authority and a copy shall be delivered to or sent by certified mail to the subcontractor at the same time. The reply shall contain a detailed breakdown of the balance due under the subcontract including any amount due for extra labor and materials furnished to the general contractor and of the amount due for each claim made by the general contractor against the subcontractor.

- "(e) Within fifteen-days after receipt of the demand by the awarding authority, but in no event prior to the seventieth-day after substantial completion of the subcontract work, the awarding authority shall make direct payment to the subcontractor of the balance due under the subcontract including any amount due for extra labor and materials furnished to the general contractor, less any amount (i) retained by the awarding authority as the estimated cost of completing the incomplete or unsatisfactory items of work, (ii) specified in any court proceedings barring such payment, or (iii) disputed by the general contractor in the sworn reply; provided, that the awarding authority shall not deduct from a direct payment any amount as provided in part (iii) if the reply is not sworn to, or for which the sworn reply does not contain the detailed breakdown required by subparagraph (d). The awarding authority shall make further direct payments to the subcontractor forthwith after the removal of the basis for deductions from direct payments made as provided in parts (i) and (ii) of this subparagraph.
- "(f) The awarding authority shall forthwith deposit the amount deducted from a direct payment as provided in part (iii) of subparagraph (e) in an interest-bearing joint account in the names of the general contractor and the subcontractor in a bank in Massachusetts selected by the awarding authority or agreed upon by the general contractor and the subcontractor and shall notify the general contractor and the subcontractor of the date of the deposit and the bank receiving the deposit. The bank shall pay the amount in the account, including accrued interest, as provided in an agreement between the general contractor and the subcontractor or as determined by decree of a court of competent jurisdiction.
- "(g) All direct payments and all deductions from demands for direct payments deposited in an interest-bearing account or accounts in a bank pursuant to subparagraph (f) shall be made out of amounts payable to the general contractor at the time of receipt of a demand for direct payment from a subcontractor and out of amounts which later become payable to the general contractor and in the order of receipt of such demands from subcontractors. All direct payments shall discharge the obligation of the awarding authority to the general contractor to the extent of such payment.

- "(h) The awarding authority shall deduct from payments to a general contractor amounts which, together with the deposits in interest-bearing accounts pursuant to subparagraph (f), are sufficient to satisfy all unpaid balances of demands for direct payment received from subcontractors. All such amounts shall be earmarked for such direct payments, and the subcontractors shall have a right in such deductions prior to any claims against such amounts by creditors of the general contractor.
- "(i) If the subcontractor does not receive payment as provided in subparagraph (a) or if the general contractor does not submit a periodic estimate for the value of the labor or materials performed or furnished by the subcontractor and the subcontractor does not receive payment for same when due less the deductions provided for in subparagraph (a), the subcontractor may demand direct payment by following the procedure in subparagraph (d) and the general contractor may file a sworn reply as provided in that same subparagraph. A demand made after the first-day of the month following that for which the subcontractor performed or furnished the labor and materials for which the subcontractor seeks payment shall be valid even if delivered or mailed prior to the time payment was due on a periodic estimate from the general contractor. Thereafter the awarding authority shall proceed as provided in subparagraph (e), (f), (g), and (h)."

SECTION 39G: COMPLETION OF PUBLIC WORKS; SEMI-FINAL AND FINAL ESTIMATES; PAYMENTS; EXTRA WORK: DISPUTED ITEMS

Section 39G. "Upon substantial completion of the work required by a contract with the Commonwealth, or any agency or political subdivision thereof, for the construction, reconstruction, alteration, remodeling, repair or improvement of public ways, including bridges and other highway structures, sewers and water mains, airports and other public works, the contractor shall present in writing to the awarding authority its certification that the work has been substantially completed. With twenty-one days thereafter, the awarding authority shall present to the contractor either a written declaration that the work has been substantially completed or an itemized list of incomplete or unsatisfactory work items required by the contract sufficient to demonstrate that the work has not been substantially completed. The awarding authority may include with such list a notice setting forth a reasonable time, which shall not in any event be prior to the contract completion date, within which the contractor must achieve substantial completion of the work. In the event that the awarding authority fails to respond by presentation of a written declaration or itemized list as aforesaid, to the contractor's certificate within the twenty-one-day period, the contractor's certification shall take effect as the awarding authority's declaration that the work has been substantially completed.

"Within sixty-five-days after the effective date of a declaration of substantial completion, the awarding authority shall prepare and forthwith send to the contractor for acceptance a substantial completion estimate for the quantity and price of the work done and all but one percent retainage on that work, including the quantity, price and all but one percent retainage for the undisputed part of each work item and extra work item in dispute but excluding the disputed part thereof, less the estimated cost of completing all incomplete and unsatisfactory work items and less the total periodic payments made to date for the work. The awarding authority also shall deduct from the substantial completion estimate an amount equal to the sum of all demands for direct payment filed by subcontractors and not yet paid to subcontractors or deposited in joint accounts pursuant to section thirty-nine F, but no contract

subject to said section thirty-nine F shall contain any other provision authorizing the awarding authority to deduct any amount by virtue of claims asserted against the contract by subcontractors, material suppliers or others.

"If the awarding authority fails to prepare and send to the contractor any substantial completion estimate required by this section on or before the date hereinabove set forth, the awarding authority shall pay to the contractor interest on the amount which would have been due to the contractor pursuant to such substantial completion estimate at the rate of three percentage points above the rediscount rate then charged by the Federal Reserve Bank of Boston from such date to the date on which the awarding authority sends that substantial completion estimate to the contractor for acceptance or to the date of payment therefor, whichever

occurs first. The awarding authority shall include the amount of such interest in the substantial completion estimate.

"Within fifteen-days after the effective date of the declaration of substantial completion, the awarding authority shall send to the contractor by certified mail, return receipt requested, a complete list of all incomplete or unsatisfactory work items, and, unless delayed by causes beyond his control, the contractor shall complete all such work items within forty-five-days after the receipt of such list or before the contract completion date, whichever is later. If the contractor fails to complete such work within such time, the awarding authority may, subsequent to seven-days' written notice to the contractor by certified mail, return receipt requested, terminate the contract and complete the incomplete or unsatisfactory work items and charge the cost of same to the contractor.

"Within thirty-days after receipt by the awarding authority of a notice from the contractor stating that all of the work required by the contract has been completed, the awarding authority shall prepare and forthwith send to the contractor for acceptance a final estimate for the quantity and price of the work done and all retainage on that work less all payments made to date, unless the awarding authority's inspection shows that work items required by the contract remain incomplete or unsatisfactory, or that documentation required by the contract has not been completed. If the awarding authority fails to prepare and send to the contractor the final estimate within thirty-days after the receipt of notice of completion, the awarding authority shall pay to the contractor interest on the amount which would have been due to the contractor pursuant to such final estimate at the rate hereinabove provided from the thirtiethday after such completion until the date on which the awarding authority sends the final estimate to the contractor for acceptance or the date of payment therefor, whichever occurs first, provided that the awarding authority's inspection shows that no work items required by contract remain incomplete or unsatisfactory. Interest shall not be paid hereunder on amounts for which interest is required to be paid in connection with the substantial completion estimate as hereinabove provided. The awarding authority shall include the amount of the interest required to be paid hereunder in the final estimate.

"The awarding authority shall pay the amount due pursuant to any periodic substantial completion or final estimate within thirty-five-days after receipt of written acceptance for such estimate from the contractor and shall pay interest on the amount due pursuant to such estimate at the rate hereinabove provided from that thirty-fifth-day to the date of payment. In the case of periodic payment, the contracting authority may deduct from its payment a retention based on its estimate of the fair value of its claim against the contractor, a retention for direct payments to subcontractors based on demands for same in accordance with the provisions of section thirty-nine F, and a retention to secure satisfactory performance of the

contractual work not exceeding five percent of the approved amount of any periodic payments, and the same right to retention shall apply to bonded subcontractors entitled to direct payment under section thirty-nine F of chapter thirty; provided that a five percent value of all items that are planted in the ground shall be deducted from the periodic payments until final acceptance.

"No periodic, substantial completion or final estimate or acceptance of payment thereof shall bar a contractor from reserving all rights to dispute the quantity and amount of, or the failure of the awarding authority to approve a quantity and amount of, all or part of any work item or extra work item.

"Substantial completion, for the purposes of this section, shall mean either that the work required by the contract has been completed except for work having a contract price of less than one percent of the then adjusted total contract price, or substantially all of the work has been completed and opened to public use except for minor incomplete or unsatisfactory work items that do not materially impair the usefulness of the work required by the contract."

SECTION 39K: (PROMPT PAYMENT ON BUILDING CONTRACTS) PUBLIC CONSTRUCTION, ETC., CONTRACTS; PAYMENTS

Progress or periodic payments shall be made in accordance with Massachusetts General Laws, Chapter 30, Section 39K. Within fifteen days after receipt from the contractor, at the place designated by the awarding authority if such a place is so designated, of a periodic estimate requesting payment of the amount due for the preceding month, the awarding authority will make a periodic payment to the contractor for the work performed during the preceding month and for the materials not incorporated in the work but delivered and suitably stored at the site (or at some location agreed upon in writing) to which the contractor has title or to which a subcontractor has title and has authorized the contractor to transfer title to the awarding authority, less (1) a retention for direct payments to subcontractors based on demands for same in accordance with the provisions of section thirty-nine F, and less (3) a retention not exceeding five percent of the approved amount of the periodic payment. After the receipt of a periodic estimate requesting final payment and within sixty-five days after (a) the contractor fully completes the work and the awarding authority takes possession for occupancy, whichever occurs first, the awarding authority shall pay the contractor the entire balance due on the contract less (1) a retention based on its estimate of the fair value of its claims against the contractor and the cost of completing the incomplete and unsatisfactory items of work and less (2) a retention for direct payments to subcontractors based on demands for same in accordance with the provisions of section thirty-nine F, or based on the record of payments by the contractor to the subcontractors under this contract if such record of payment indicates that the contractor has not paid subcontractors as provided in section thirty-nine F. If the awarding authority fails to make payment as herein provided, there shall be added to each such payment daily interest at the rate of three percentage points above the rediscount rate then charged by the Federal Reserve Bank of Boston commencing on the first day after said payment is due and continuing until the payment is delivered or mailed to the contractor, provided, that no interest shall be due, in any event, on the amount due on a periodic estimate for final payment until fifteen days after receipt of such a periodic estimate from the contractor, at the place designated by the awarding authority if such a place is so designated. The contractor agrees to pay each subcontractor a portion of any such interest paid in accordance with the amount due each subcontractor

The awarding authority may make changes in any periodic estimate submitted by the contractor and the payment due on said periodic estimate shall be computed in accordance with the changes so made, but such changes or any requirement for a corrected periodic estimate shall not affect the due date for the periodic payment or the date for the commencement of interest charges on the amount of the periodic payment computed in accordance with the changes made, as provided herein; provided, that the awarding authority may, within seven days after receipt, return to the contractor for correction, any periodic estimate which is not in the required form or which contains computations not arithmetically correct and, in that event, the date of receipt of such periodic estimate shall be the date of receipt of the corrected periodic estimate in proper form and with arithmetically correct computations. The date of receipt of a periodic estimate received on a Saturday shall be the first working day thereafter. The provisions of section thirty-nine G shall not apply to any contract for the construction, reconstruction, alteration, remodeling, repair or demolition of any public building to which this section applies.

All periodic estimates shall be submitted to the awarding authority, or to its designee as set forth in writing to the contractor, and the date of receipt by the awarding authority or its designee shall be marked on the estimate. All periodic estimates shall contain a separate item for each filed sub-trade and each sub-sub-trade listed in sub-bid form as required by specifications and a column listing the amount paid to each subcontractor and sub-subcontractor as of the date the periodic estimate is filed. The person making payment for the awarding authority shall add the daily interest provided for herein to each payment for each day beyond the due date based on the date of receipt marked on the estimate.

A certificate of the architect to the effect that the contractor has fully or substantially completed the work shall, subject to the provisions of section thirty-nine J, be conclusive for the purposes of this section."

SECTION 39M: CONTRACTS FOR CONSTRUCTION AND MATERIALS; MANNER OF AWARDING

Section 39M.

(a) Every contract for the construction, reconstruction, alteration, remodeling or repair of any public work, or for the purchase of any material, as hereinafter defined, by the commonwealth, or political subdivision thereof, or by an county, city, town district or housing authority and estimated by the awarding authority to cost more than five thousand dollars, and every contract for the construction, reconstruction, installation, demolition, maintenance or repair of any building by a public agency, as defined by subsection one of section forty-four A of chapter one hundred and forty-nine, estimated to cost more than five thousand dollars, but not more than twenty-five thousand, shall be awarded to the lowest responsible and eligible bidder on the basis of competitive bids publicly opened and read by such awarding authority forthwith upon expiration of the time for the filing thereof; provided, however, that such awarding authority may reject any and all bids, if it is in the public interest so to do. Every bid for such contract shall be accompanied by a bid deposit in the form of a bid bond, or cash, or a certified check on, or a treasurer's or cashier's check issued by, a responsible bank or trust company, payable to the awarding authority. The amount of such bid deposit shall be five percent of the value of the bid. Any person submitting a bid under this section shall, on such bid, certify as follows:

The undersigned certifies under penalty of perjury that this bid is in all respects bonafide, fair and made without collusion or fraud with any other person. As used in this paragraph, the word "person" shall mean any natural person, joint venture, partnership, corporation or other business or legal entity.

(Name of person signing bid)

(Company)

This paragraph shall not apply to the award of any contract subject to the provisions of section forty-four A to forty-four L, inclusive, of chapter one hundred and forty-nine and every such contract shall continue to be awarded as provided therein. In cases of extreme emergency caused by enemy attack, sabotage or other such hostile actions or resulting from explosion, fire, flood, earthquake, hurricane, tornado or other such catastrophe, an awarding authority may, without competitive bids and notwithstanding any general or special law, award contracts otherwise subject to this paragraph to perform work and to purchase or rent materials and equipment, all as may be necessary for temporary repair and restoration to service of any and all public work in order to preserve the health and safety of persons or property; provided, that this exception shall not apply to any permanent reconstruction, alteration, remodeling or repair of any public work.

- (b) Specifications for such contracts, and specifications for contracts awarded pursuant to the provisions of said sections forty-four A to forty-four L of said chapter one hundred and forty-nine, shall be written to provide for full compensation for each item of material to be furnished under the contract; except, however, that said specifications may be otherwise written for sound reasons in the public interest stated in writing in the public records of the awarding authority or promptly given in writing by the awarding authority to anyone making a written request therefor, in either instance such writing to be prepared after reasonable investigation. Every such contract shall provide that an item equal to that named or described in the said specifications may be furnished; and an item shall be considered equal to the items so named or described if (1) it is at least equal in quality, durability appearance, strength and design, (2) it will perform at least equally the function imposed by the general design for the public work being contracted for or the material being purchased, and (3) it conforms substantially, even with deviations, to the detailed requirements for the item in the said specifications. For each item of material the specifications shall provide for either a minimum of three named brands of material or a description of material which can be met by a minimum of three manufacturers or producers, and for the equal of any one of said named or described materials.
- (c) The term "lowest responsible and eligible bidder" shall mean the bidder (1) whose bid is the lowest of those bidders possessing the skill, ability and integrity necessary for the faithful performance of the work; (2) who shall certify that he is able to furnish labor that can work in harmony with all other elements of labor employed or to be employed in the work; (3) who, where the provisions of section eight B of chapter twenty-nine apply, shall have been determined to be qualified thereunder; (4) who obtains within ten days of the notification of contract award the security by bond

required under section twenty-nine of chapter one hundred and forty-nine; provided that, for the purposes of this section, the term "security of bond" shall mean the bond of a surety company qualified to do business under the laws of the Commonwealth and satisfactory to the awarding authority.

- (d) The provisions of this section shall not apply (1) to the extent that they prevent the approval of such specifications by any contributing federal agency, (2) to materials purchased under specifications of the state department of public works at prices established by the said department pursuant to advertisement and bidding in connection with work to be performed under the provision of chapter eighty-one or chapter ninety, (3) to any transaction between the commonwealth and any of its political subdivisions or between the commonwealth and any public service corporation, and (4) to any contract of not more than twenty-five thousand dollars, awarded by a governmental body, as defined by section two of chapter thirty B, in accordance with the provisions of section five of said chapter thirty B.
- (e) The word "material" as used in this section shall mean and include any article, assembly, system, or any component part thereof.

SECTION 39N: CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTS: EQUITABLE ADJUSTMENT IN CONTRACT PRICE FOR DIFFERING SUBSURFACE OR LATENT PHYSICAL CONDITIONS

Section 39N. "Every contact subject to section forty-four A of chapter one hundred and forty-nine or subject to section thirty-nine M of chapter thirty shall contain the following paragraph in its entirety and an awarding authority may adopt reasonable rules or regulations in conformity with that paragraph concerning the filing, investigation and settlement of such claims:

"If, during the progress of the work, the contractor or the awarding authority discovers that the actual subsurface or latent physical conditions encountered at the site differ substantially or materially from those shown on the plans or indicated in the contract documents, either the contractor or the contracting authority may request an equitable adjustment in the contract price of the contract applying to work affected by the differing site conditions. A request for such an adjustment shall be in writing and shall be delivered by the party making such claim to the other party as soon as possible after such conditions are discovered. Upon receipt of such a claim from a contractor, or upon its own initiative, the contracting authority shall make an investigation of such physical conditions, and, if they differ substantially or materially from those shown on the plans or indicated in the contract documents or from those ordinarily encountered and generally recognized as inherent in work of the character provided for in the plans and contract documents and are of such a nature as to cause an increase or decrease in the cost of performance of the work or a change in the construction methods required for the performance of the work which results in an increase or decrease in the cost of the work, the contracting authority shall make an equitable adjustment in the contract price and the contract shall be modified in writing accordingly."

SECTION 390: CONTRACTS FOR CONSTRUCTION AND MATERIALS; SUSPENSION, DELAY OR INTERRUPTIONS DUE TO ORDER OF AWARDING

AUTHORITY; ADJUSTMENT IN CONTRACT PRICE; REQUIRED PROVISIONS

Section 39O. "Every contract subject to the provisions of section thirty-nine M of this chapter or subject to section forty-four A of chapter one hundred forty-nine shall contain the following provisions (a) and (b) in their entirety.

- "(a) The awarding authority may order the general contractor in writing to suspend, delay, or interrupt all of any part of the work for such period of time as it may determine to be appropriate for the convenience of the awarding authority; provided however, that if there is a suspension, delay or interruption for fifteen-days or more due to a failure of the awarding authority to act within the time specified in this contract, the awarding authority shall make an adjustment in the contract price for any increase in the cost of performance of this contract but shall not include any profit to the general contractor on such increase; and provided further, that the awarding authority shall not make any adjustment in the contract price under this provision for any suspension, delay, interruption or failure to act to the extent that such is due to any cause for which this contract provides for an equitable adjustment of the contract price under any other contract provisions.
- "(b) The general contractor must submit the amount of a claim under provision (a) to the awarding authority in writing as soon as practicable after the end of the suspension, delay, interruption or failure to act and, in any event, not later than the date of final payment under this contract and, except for costs due to a suspension order, the awarding authority shall not approve any costs in the claim incurred more than twenty-days before the general contractor notified the awarding authority in writing of the act or failure to act involved in the claim."

SECTION 39P: CONTRACTS FOR CONSTRUCTION AND MATERIALS; DECISIONS OF AWARDING AUTHORITY ON INTERPRETATION OF SPECIFICATIONS, ETC., REQUIRED PROMPTLY UPON SUBMISSION; TIME LIMIT; NOTICE

Section 39P. "Every contract subject to section thirty-nine M of this chapter or section forty-four A of chapter one hundred forty-nine which requires the awarding authority, or any official, its architect or engineer to make a decision on interpretation of the specifications, approval of equipment, material, or any other approval, or progress of the work, shall require that the decision be made promptly and, in any event, no later than thirty-days after the written submission for decision; but if such decision requires extended investigation and study, the awarding authority, the official, architect or engineer shall, within thirty-days after the receipt of the submission, give the party making the submission written notice of the reasons why the decision cannot be made within the thirty-day period and the date by which the decision will be made."

SECTION 39R: DEFINITIONS; CONTRACT PROVISIONS; MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS; ENFORCEMENT

Section 39R(a). "The words defined herein shall have the meaning stated below whenever they appear in this section:

- (1) "Contractor" means any person, corporation, partnership, joint venture, sole proprietorship, or other entity awarded a contract pursuant to section thirty-nine M of chapter thirty, sections forty-four A through H, inclusive, of chapter one hundred and forty-nine and sections thirty B through thirty P, inclusive, of chapter seven.
- (2) "Contract" means any contract awarded or executed pursuant to sections thirty B through thirty P, inclusive, of chapter seven and any contract awarded or executed pursuant to section thirty-nine M of chapter thirty, or sections forty-four A through H, inclusive, of chapter one hundred and forty-nine, which is for an amount or estimated amount greater than one hundred thousand dollars.
- (3) "Records" means books of original entry, accounts, checks, bank statements and all other banking documents, correspondence, memoranda, invoices, computer printouts, tapes, discs, papers and other documents or transcribed information of any type, whether expressed in ordinary or machine language.
- "Independent Certified Public Accountant" means a person duly registered in good standing and entitled to practice as a certified public accountant under the laws of the place of his/her residence or principal office and who is in fact independent. In determining whether an accountant is independent with respect to a particular person, appropriate consideration should be given to all relationships between the accountant and that person or any affiliate thereof. Determination of an accountant's independence shall not be confined to the relationships existing in connection with the filing or reports with the awarding authority.
- "Audit," when used in regard to financial statements, means an examination of records by an independent certified public accountant in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and auditing standards for the purpose of expressing a <u>certified</u> opinion thereon, or, in the alternative, a qualified opinion or a declination to express an opinion for stated reasons.
- "Accountant's Report," when used in regard to financial statements, means a document in which an independent certified public accountant indicates the scope of the audit which he/she has made and sets forth his/her opinion regarding the financial statements taken as a whole with a listing of noted exceptions and qualifications, or an assertion to the effect that an overall opinion cannot be expressed. When an overall opinion cannot be expressed, the reason therefor shall be stated. An accountant's report shall include as a part thereof a signed statement by the responsible corporate officer attesting that management has fully disclosed all material facts to the independent certified public accountant, and that the audited financial statement is a true and complete statement of the financial condition of the contractor.
- (7) "Management," when used herein, means the chief executive officer, partners, principals or other person or persons primarily responsible for the financial and operational policies and practices of the contractor.

- (8) Accounting terms, unless otherwise defined herein, shall have a meaning in accordance with generally accepted accounting principals and auditing standards.
 - (b) Subsection (a)(2) hereof notwithstanding, every agreement or contract awarded or executed pursuant to sections thirty B through thirty P, inclusive, of chapter seven, and pursuant to section thirty-nine M of chapter thirty or to section forty-five A through H, inclusive, of chapter one hundred and forty-nine, shall provide that:
- (1) The Contractor shall make, and keep for at least six years after final payment, books, records, and accounts which in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the contractor, and
- Until the expiration of six years after final payment, the office of inspector general, and the deputy commissioner of capital planning and operations shall have the right to examine any books, documents, papers or records of the contractor or of his/her subcontractors that directly pertain to, and involve transactions relating to, the contractor or his/her subcontractors, and
- (3) If the agreement is a contract as defined herein, the contractor shall describe any change in the method of maintaining records or recording transactions which materially affect any statements filed with the awarding authority, including in his/her description the date of the change and reasons therefor, and shall accompany said descriptions with a letter from the contractor's independent certified public accountant approving or otherwise commenting on the changes, and
- (4) If the agreement is a contract as defined herein, the contractor has filed a statement of management on internal accounting controls as set forth in paragraph (c) below prior to the execution of the contract, and
- (5) If the agreement is a contract as defined herein, the contractor has filed prior to the execution of the contracts and will continue to file annually, an audited financial statement for the most recent completed fiscal year as set forth in paragraph (d) below.
 - (c) Every contractor awarded a contract shall file with the awarding authority a statement of management as to whether the system of internal accounting controls of the contractor and subsidiaries reasonably assures that:
- (1) Transactions are executed in accordance with management's general and specific authorization;
- (2) Transactions are recorded as necessary:
 - i. To permit preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles, and
 - ii. To maintain accountability for assets;
- (3) Access to assets is permitted only in accordance with management's general or specific authorization; and

(4) The recorded accountability for assets is compared with the existing assets at reasonable intervals and appropriate action was taken with respect to any difference.

Every contractor awarded a contract shall also file with the awarding authority a statement prepared and signed by an independent certified public accountant, stating that he/she has examined the statement of management on internal accounting controls, and expressing an opinion as to:

- Whether the representations of management in response to this paragraph, and paragraph (b) above are consistent with the result of management's evaluation of the system of internal accounting controls; and
- Whether such representations of management are, in addition, reasonable with respect to transactions and assets in amounts which would be material when measured in relation to the applicant's financial statements.
- (d) Every contractor awarded a contract by the commonwealth or by any political subdivision thereof shall annually file with the deputy commissioner of capital planning and operations during the term of the contract a financial statement prepared by an independent certified public accountant on the basis of an audit by such accountant. The final statement filed shall include the date of final payment. All statements shall be accompanied by an accountant's report. Such statements shall be made available to the awarding authority upon request.
- (e) The office of inspector general, the deputy commissioner for capital planning and operations and any other awarding authority shall enforce the provisions of this section. The deputy commissioner of capital planning and operations may after providing an opportunity for the inspector general and other interested parties to comment, promulgate pursuant to the provisions of chapter thirty A such rules, regulations and guidelines as are necessary to effectuate the purposes of this section. Such rules, regulations and guidelines may be applicable to all awarding authorities. A contractor's failure to satisfy any of the requirements of this section may be grounds for debarment pursuant to section forty-four C of chapter one hundred and forty-nine."
- (f) Records and statements required to be made, kept or filed under the provisions of this section shall not be public records as defined in section seven of chapter four and shall not be open to public inspection; provided, however, that such records and statements shall be made available pursuant to the provisions of clause (2) of paragraph (b).

Attention is directed to the following section of Chapter 82 of the Massachusetts General Laws as amended to date:

SECTION 40: EXCAVATIONS; NOTICES; PENALTIES

<u>Section 40</u>. No person shall, except in an emergency, contract for, or make an excavation, which shall include, but not be limited to, the discharge of explosives and the demolition of any structure but which shall not be deemed to include gardening or tilling the soil in the case of privately owned land, in any public way, any public utility company right of way or easement, or any privately owned land under which any public utility company, municipal utility department, natural gas pipeline company,

or cable television company maintains underground facilities, including pipes, mains, wires or conduits, unless at least seventy-two hours, exclusive of Saturdays, Sundays and legal holidays, but not more than thirty days, before the proposed excavation is to be made such person has given an initial notice in writing of the proposed excavation to such natural gas pipeline companies, public utility companies, cable television companies and municipal utility departments as supply gas, electricity, telephone or cable television service in or to the city or town where such excavation is to be made. Such notice shall set forth the name of the street or the route number of said way and a reasonably accurate description of the location in said way or on private property the excavation is to be made. In addition, such initial notice shall indicate whether any such excavation will involve blasting and, if so, the date on which the specific location at which such blasting is to occur; provided, however, that in no event shall any excavation by blasting take place unless written notice thereof, either in the initial notice or a subsequent notice, accurately specifying the date and location of such blasting shall have been given and received at least twenty-four hours in advance, except in the case of an unanticipated obstruction requiring blasting when such notice should not be less than four hours in advance to such natural gas pipeline companies, public utility companies, cable television companies and municipal utility departments as supply gas, electricity, telephone or cable television services in or to the city or town where such excavation by blasting is to be made. If any such notice cannot be given as aforesaid because of an emergency, it shall be given as soon as may be practicable. Copies of such notices together with a statement certifying that they have been mailed or delivered to such cable television companies and public utility companies as required by this section shall be filed with the officer or board having charge of any such public way before a permit to excavate or to blast may be approved or issued, except in case of an emergency.

Where an excavation is to be made by a contractor as part of the work required by a contract with the commonwealth or with any political subdivision thereof or other public agency, for the construction, reconstruction, relocation or improvement of a public way or for the installation of a railway track, conduit, sewer or water main, such contractor shall be deemed to have complied with the requirements of this section by giving such notices as required by this section setting forth the location and the approximate time required to perform the work involved to each of said companies.

Within seventy-two hours, exclusive of Saturdays, Sundays and legal holidays, from the time said initial notice is received or at such time as said company and the excavator agree in writing, said company shall respond to the original written notice or to subsequent oral or written notice by designating at the locus, the location of pipes, mains, wires or conduits, in that portion of the public way, public utility company right-of-way or easement or privately owned land in which the excavation is to be made; provided, however, that in the event that the excavator has given notice of proposed excavation as aforesaid at a locus at which because of its length or size the company cannot reasonably designate the location of all such pipes, mains, wires or conduits within such seventy-two hour period, then the excavator shall notify the company of the portion of the locus in which excavation is to be first made and the company shall designate the location of such pipes, mains, wires or conduits in such portion within seventy-two hours and shall designate the location of the pipes, mains, wires or conduits in the remaining portion of the locus within a reasonable time thereafter; and the providing of such designation by the company shall constitute prima facie evidence of an exercise of reasonable precaution by the company as required by this section. After a company has designated the location of such pipes, mains, wires and conduits at the locus of the excavation in accordance with the provisions of this section, the excavator shall be responsible for maintaining the designation markings at such locus, unless the said excavator requests re-marking at the locus due to the obliteration, destruction or other removal of such markings and the company shall then have twenty-four hours following the receipt of such request to re-mark such locus.

Any such excavation shall be performed in such manner, and such reasonable precautions taken to avoid damage to the pipes, mains, wires or conduits in use under the surface of said public way, public utility company right-of-way or easement, or privately owned land, including, but not limited to, any substantial weakening of structural or lateral support of such pipe, main, wire, or conduit, penetration or destruction of any pipe, main, wire or the protective coating thereof, or the severance of any pipe, main or conduit.

When any damage of any such pipe, main, wire or conduit or its protective coating occurs, the public utility company, natural gas pipeline company, cable television company or municipal utility department shall be notified immediately by the person or public agency responsible for the excavation causing the damage.

The making of an excavation without providing any or all notice or notices required by this section with respect to any proposed excavation which results in any damage to a pipe, main, wire or conduit or its protective coating shall be prima facie evidence in any legal or administrative proceeding that such damage was caused by the negligence of such person.

Notice to the public utility underground plant damage prevention system pursuant to section seventy-six D of chapter one hundred and sixty-four, which notice is given during normal business hours each day of the year exclusive of Saturdays, Sundays and legal holidays, and which notice is given with the time periods established in this section, shall constitute compliance with the written notice requirements of this section.

Nothing contained in this section shall be construed to affect or impair local ordinances or by-laws requiring permits to be obtained before excavation in a public way, except that, notwithstanding any contrary provision of local ordinances or by-laws, no permit to excavate in a public way shall be approved or issued by the officer or board having charge of any such way, except in any emergency, until such time as copies of such notices to public utility companies and cable television companies are filed by the applicant with said officer or board for a permit as required by this section and copies of such notices are served by said officer or board upon the appropriate water and sewer department.

Any person, contractor or company found by the department of public utilities, after a hearing, to have violated any provision of this section shall be punished by a fine of two hundred dollars for the first offense and not less than five hundred nor more than one thousand dollars for any subsequent offense.

ATTACHMENT C

CHANGE ORDER FORM

			Change Order No.
Date of Issu	uance:	Effective Date:	
Owner:	Town of Manchester by the Sea	Owner's Contra	ct No.:
Contractor:		Contractor's Pro	oject No.:
Engineer:	Tata & Howard, Inc.		ect No.: 05621
Project:	Heating System Improvements Project	Contract Name	
The Co	ntract is modified as follows upon execution o	f this Change Order:	
Descrip	otion:	- -	
·			
Attachi	ments: [List documents supporting change]		
	CHANGE IN CONTRACT PRICE	CHANGE I	N CONTRACT TIMES
			n Milestones if applicable]
Original Co	ntract Price:	Original Contract Times:	
Ф			
\$		Ready for Final Payment	:
f. 1.		11 110 11	days or dates
[Increase] [Decrease] from previously approved Change			m previously approved Change
Orders No.	to No:	Orders No to No	
ċ			 :
٧		ineady for Final Payment	days
Contract Pr	ice prior to this Change Order:	Contract Times prior to t	•
Contract 11	the prior to this change order.		
\$		Ready for Final Payment	
			days or dates
[Increase] [Decrease] of this Change Order:	[Increase] [Decrease] of	this Change Order:
-	·	Substantial Completion:	_
\$		Ready for Final Payment	:
			days or dates
Contract Price incorporating this Change Order:		Contract Times with all a	pproved Change Orders:
		Substantial Completion:	
\$		Ready for Final Payment	:
			days or dates
		EPTED:	ACCEPTED:
Ву:	Ву:	Ву:	
Tata & Howard, Inc. Owner (Authorized Signature) Contractor (Authori			Contractor (Authorized Signature)

Title: Date: Date Date

INDEX

DIVISION 1 GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

SECTION	SUBJECT	PAGES
01010	Summary of Work	01010-1
01013	Facility Interference with Proposed Work	01013-1
01019	Drawings	01019-1 thru 01019-2
01025	Measurement and Payment	01025-1 thru 01025-4
01026	Schedule of Values	01026-1
01027	Application for Payment	01027-1 thru 01027-2
01045	Cutting and Patching	01045-1 thru 01045-2
01050	Field Engineering	01050-1
01092	Abbreviations	01092-1 thru 01092-2
01100	Special Project Procedures	01100-1 thru 01100-2
01200	Project Meetings	01200-1
01300	Submittals	01300-1 thru 01300-2
01310	Construction Schedules	01310-1 thru 01310-3
01505	Mobilization	01505-1
01610	Product Handling	01610-1 thru 01610-2
01700	Contract Closeout	01700-1 thru 01700-2
01730	Operation and Maintenance Data	01730-1 thru 01730-5

SUMMARY OF WORK

PART 1 GENERAL

1.01 WORK COVERED BY CONTRACT DOCUMENTS

- A. The Work of this Contract generally consists of heating system repairs at the Manchester-by-the-Sea Wastewater Treatment Plant (WWTF), Water Treatment Plant (WTP), Department of Public Works (DPW) Garage, and installation of a new VRF HVAC system at Town Hall.
- B. Refer to the scope of work on Contract drawings.

PART 2 PRODUCTS (Not Applicable)

PART 3 EXECUTION (Not Applicable)

FACILITY INTERFERENCE WITH PROPOSED WORK

PART 1 GENERAL

1.01 RELATED WORK

A. Documents affecting work of this Section include, but are not necessarily limited to, General Conditions, Supplementary Conditions, and Sections in Division 1 of these Specifications.

1.02 CONDITION OF EXISTING FACILITIES

- A. In general, poor physical condition of existing facilities shall not be an acceptable basis for claiming additional compensation.
 - 1. The Contractor shall take all prudent steps to make himself aware of the physical condition of the existing facilities expected to be encountered, and to adjust his operations accordingly.

PART 2 PRODUCTS (not applicable)

PART 3 EXECUTION

3.01 INTERFERENCE COSTS AND CLAIMS

- A. Claims for the costs of protecting, repairing, and/or replacing facilities which interfere will only be considered when the Engineer determines that:
 - 1. The facility is not shown on the Drawings.
 - 2. The facility is shown but the facility is found in a location substantially different from the location shown.
 - 3. The Contractor has necessarily incurred additional cost because of the interference
- B. Where facilities are shown on the Drawings to interfere, the Contractor is required to maintain facilities in operation in their existing locations.
 - 1. Such interferences and the protection and repair of such facilities shall not constitute the basis of an approvable claim.
 - 2. The cost to maintain such facilities in operation in their existing location shall be included by the Contractor in his bid.

DRAWINGS

PART 1 GENERAL

1.01 DESCRIPTION

- A. The Contract Drawings may be modified by addenda and shall be issued for construction purposes.
 - 1. These Drawings may be supplemented or superseded by such additional general and detail drawings as may be necessary and desirable as the work progresses.
 - 2. The Drawings issued for construction at that time or after the signing of the Contract Documents shall become the Contract Drawings.

B. Dimensions:

- 1. Except where noted, the Drawings are made to scale, but all working dimensions shall be taken from the figured dimensions or by actual measurements at the work, and in no case by scaling the prints.
- 2. The Contractor shall study and compare all Drawings and verify all figures before laying out or constructing the work and shall be responsible for any and all errors in the Contract work which might have been avoided thereby.
- 3. The Contractor shall take all measurements of existing established conditions notwithstanding the figured dimensions on the Drawings.
- 4. When figured dimensions are not in agreement with the Contractor's measurements, the Engineer shall be immediately notified and the Engineer will promptly adjust the same.
- 5. Whether or not an error is believed to exist, deviations from the Drawings and the dimensions given thereon shall be made only after approval in writing is obtained from the Engineer.

C. Diagrammatic Drawings:

- 1. Plans or Drawings where the work is shown diagrammatically indicate approved working systems. Every piece of material, fittings, fixtures or small equipment is not shown, nor every difficulty or interference that may be encountered to carry out the true intent and purpose of the Contract Documents.
- 2. All necessary parts to make complete, approved working systems or installation shall be included as if detailed on these Drawings.
- 3. The location of pipe lines and appurtenances shown on the Drawings, unless exactly dimensioned, shall be considered as approximate only.
- 4. The Contractor shall adjust the position of the pipe lines and appurtenances in accordance with good working practices to meet interferences, provide proper clearance and provide proper access space for operation and maintenance.

D. Typical Details:

- 1. Where shown on the Drawings, typical details shall apply to each and every item of the Contract work where such items are incorporated and the detail is applicable.
- 2. Unless noted otherwise, such typical details shall be applicable in full.
- E. Copies of Drawings Furnished:

- 1. The Engineer shall furnish the Contractor, without charge, up to six copies of the Drawings and Specifications for execution of the Contract work.
- 2. Additional copies will be furnished at the Contractor's expense when requested, except that any copies of available plans and specifications returned from the bidders in good condition will be furnished to the Contractor without charge.
- 3. All Drawings and Specifications are the property of the Owner.
- 4. The Contractor shall return all copies if so requested.

PART 2 PRODUCTS (Not Applicable)

PART 3 EXECUTION

3.01 EXISTING AND ADJACENT CONDITIONS

- A. Wherever existing conditions or construction not required as part of the work of the Contract are shown, they are so shown as a source of information only. The Engineer, while believing such information is substantially correct, assumes no responsibility thereof.
 - 1. Before starting any work that might be affected by such existing construction or conditions, the Contractor shall have made himself familiar with all conditions affecting the nature and manner of performing the work, and shall not be entitled to any extra compensation for any work or expense arising from or caused by his neglect to have verified all existing conditions and requirements.

3.02 DISCREPANCIES

A. If the Contractor during the progress of the work, discovers any discrepancies between the Drawings and the Specifications, any errors or omissions on the Drawings, or any discrepancies between the physical condition of the Work and the Drawings, then the Contractor shall immediately notify the Engineer, who will promptly adjust the same. Any work performed after such discovery without the approval of the Engineer, shall be at the risk and expense of the Contractor.

MEASUREMENT AND PAYMENT

PART 1 GENERAL

1.01 DESCRIPTION

- A. The following sub-sections describe the measurement of and payment for the Work to be done under the items listed in the Form for General Bid.
- B. Each lump sum price stated in the Form for General Bid constitutes full compensation as herein specified for each item of work completed in accordance with the Contract Documents, including cleaning up.
- C. The Contractor shall carefully acquaint himself with all work associated with each payment item and shall have no claim for his unfamiliarity with the requirements of various items.

1.02 RELATED WORK SPECIFIED ELSEWHERE

A.	Section 00300	Form for General Bid
B.	Section 00305	Form for Sub-Bid (Electrical)

1.03 PAYMENT ITEMS

- A. Item No. 1 Clean, Service, and Inspection of Heating System WWTP
- B. Item No. 2 Clean, Service, and Inspection of Heating System WTP
- C. Item No. 3 DPW Garage Heating System Improvements
- D. Item No. 4 Unit Heater
- E. Item No. 5 Cabinet Unit Heater
- F. Item No. 6 Hot Water Coils
- G. Item No. 7 Wall Mounted Thermostat
- H. Item No. 8 Air Handling Unit
- I. Item No. 9 Insulation
- J. Item No. 10 Supply/Return Piping
- K. Item No. 11 Work of the Sub-Bidders
- L. Item No. A1 Town Hall Heating and Ventilation System Improvements HP1, HP3, HP4, HP5
- M. Item No. A2 Work of the Sub-Bidders Town Hall Heating and Ventilation System Improvements HP1, HP3, HP4, HP5
- N. Item No. A3 Town Hall Heating System Improvements HP2
- O. Item No. A4 Work of the Sub-Bidders Town Hall Heating System Improvements HP2

PART 2 MEASUREMENT AND PAYMENT

2.01 GENERAL

- A. For accounting purposes, for the Engineer's convenience and as an aid in determining progress payments and price additions or deductions for Contract modifications, the Contractor shall furnish to the Engineer a schedule of values per Specification Section 01026 which shall be approved prior to the first application for payment.
- B. The price breakdown schedule shall apportion the total amount of the Contract Price for each separate item among the main features or costs that form the completed Work. The price breakdown shall be in sufficient detail to permit an analysis of all material, labor, equipment, subcontract and overhead costs, as well as profit, and shall cover all work involved for the properly completed item and feature listed.
- C. Any amount claimed for subcontracts shall be supported by a similar schedule of values with the total amount shown by this price under the Contract Price stated in the Form for General Bid.

2.02 ITEM NO. 1 – CLEAN, SERVICE, AND INSPECTION OF HEATING SYSTEM - WWTP

A. The lump sum price for Item No. 1 shall constitute full compensation for furnishing all labor, materials, tools and equipment necessary to clean, service and inspect the WWTP heating system, complete, as required by the Contract Documents. Work shall encompass all work shown on associated plans other than that covered by Item 2 thru 11. Item No. 1 shall include any other work which is not specified or shown, but is necessary to complete the Work. Payment of the lump sum will be based on physical progress for each activity in accordance with the approved Schedule of Values.

2.03 ITEM NO. 2 – CLEAN, SERVICE, AND INSPECTION OF HEATING SYSTEM – WTP

A. The lump sum price for Item No. 2 shall constitute full compensation for furnishing all labor, materials, tools and equipment necessary to clean, service and inspect the WTP heating system, complete, as required by the Contract Documents. Work shall encompass all work shown on associated plans other than that covered by Item 1 and 3 thru 11. Item No. 2 shall include any other work which is not specified or shown, but is necessary to complete the Work. Payment of the lump sum will be based on physical progress for each activity in accordance with the approved Schedule of Values.

2.04 ITEM NO. 3 - DPW GARAGE HEATING SYSTEM IMPROVEMENTS

A. The lump sum price for the DPW Garage Heating System Improvements shall constitute full compensation for furnishing all labor, materials, tools and equipment necessary for all Work, complete, as required by the Contract Documents. Work shall encompass all work shown on associated plans other than that covered by Item 1,2 and 4 thru 11. Item No. 3 shall include any other work which is not specified or shown, but is necessary to complete the Work. Payment of the lump sum will be based on physical progress for each activity in accordance with the approved Schedule of Values.

2.05 ITEM NO. 4 - UNIT HEATER

A. Payment shall be made at the unit bid price per each under Bid Item No. 4 in the Bid Form. Payment shall constitute full compensation for furnishing all labor, materials, tools and equipment necessary for the installation of specified unit heaters, complete, as

required by the Contract Documents. Shall include any other work which is not specified or shown but is necessary to complete the work.

2.06 ITEM NO. 5 - CABINET UNIT HEATER

A. Payment shall be made at the unit bid price per each under Bid Item No. 5 in the Bid Form. Payment shall constitute full compensation for furnishing all labor, materials, tools and equipment necessary for the installation of specified cabinet unit heaters, complete, as required by the Contract Documents. Shall include any other work which is not specified or shown but is necessary to complete the work.

2.07 ITEM NO. 6 - HOT WATER COILS

A. Payment shall be made at the unit bid price per each under Bid Item No. 6 in the Bid Form. Payment shall constitute full compensation for furnishing all labor, materials, tools and equipment necessary for the installation of specified Hot Water Coils, complete, as required by the Contract Documents. Shall include any other work which is not specified or shown but is necessary to complete the work.

2.08 ITEM NO. 7 - WALL MOUNTED THERMOSTAT

A. Payment shall be made at the unit bid price per each under Bid Item No. 7 in the Bid Form. Payment shall constitute full compensation for furnishing all labor, materials, tools and equipment necessary for the installation of specified wall mounted thermostats, complete, as required by the Contract Documents. Shall include any other work which is not specified or shown but is necessary to complete the work.

2.09 ITEM NO. 8 - AIR HANDLING UNIT

A. Payment shall be made at the unit bid price per each under Bid Item No. 8 in the Bid Form. Payment shall constitute full compensation for furnishing all labor, materials, tools and equipment necessary for the installation of specified air handling unit, complete, as required by the Contract Documents. Shall include any other work which is not specified or shown but is necessary to complete the work.

2.10 ITEM NO. 9 - INSULATION

A. Payment shall be made at the unit bid price per linear foot measured under Bid Item No. 9 in the Bid Form. Payment shall constitute full compensation for furnishing all labor, materials, tools and equipment necessary for the installation of insulation, complete, as required by the Contract Documents. Shall include any other work which is not specified or shown but is necessary to complete the work.

2.11 ITEM NO. 10 - SUPPLY/RETURN PIPING

A. Payment shall be made at the unit bid price per linear foot measured under Bid Item No. 10 in the Bid Form. Payment shall constitute full compensation for furnishing all labor, materials, tools and equipment necessary for the installation of hot water supply and return piping, complete, as required by the Contract Documents. Shall include any other work which is not specified or shown but is necessary to complete the work.

2.12 ITEM NO. 11 – WORK OF THE SUB-BIDDERS

A. Payment shall be made at the lump sum price for the subdivisions of Item Bid Item No. 11 in the Bid Form. Payment shall constitute full compensation for furnishing all labor, materials, tools and equipment necessary to provide that portion of the Work required by Division 16 – Electrical of the Contract Documents.

2.13 ITEM NO. A1 – TOWN HALL HEATING AND VENTILATION SYSTEM IMPROVEMENTS – HP1, HP3, HP4, HP5

A. The lump sum price for Item No. A1 shall constitute full compensation for furnishing all labor, materials, tools and equipment necessary for Town Hall heating system improvements including work associated with units HP1, HP3, HP4, and HP5 and ventilation system improvements, complete, as required by the Contract Documents. Item No. A1 shall include any other work which is not specified or shown, but is necessary to complete the Work. Payment of the lump sum will be based on physical progress for each activity in accordance with the approved Schedule of Values.

2.14 ITEM NO. A2 – WORK OF THE SUB-BIDDERS - TOWN HALL HEATING AND VENTILATION SYSTEM IMPROVEMENTS – HP1, HP3, HP4, HP5

B. Payment shall be made at the lump sum price for the subdivisions of Item Bid Item No. A2 in the Bid Form. Payment shall constitute full compensation for furnishing all labor, materials, tools and equipment necessary to provide that portion of the Work required by Division 16 – Electrical of the Contract Documents.

2.15 ITEM NO. A3 – TOWN HALL HEATING SYSTEM IMPROVEMENTS – HP2

B. The lump sum price for Item No. A3 shall constitute full compensation for furnishing all labor, materials, tools and equipment necessary for Town Hall heating system improvements associated with unit HP2, complete, as required by the Contract Documents. Item No. A3 shall include any other work which is not specified or shown, but is necessary to complete the Work. Payment of the lump sum will be based on physical progress for each activity in accordance with the approved Schedule of Values.

2.16 ITEM NO. A4 – WORK OF THE SUB-BIDDERS - TOWN HALL HEATING SYSTEM IMPROVEMENTS – HP2

C. Payment shall be made at the lump sum price for the subdivisions of Item Bid Item No. A4 in the Bid Form. Payment shall constitute full compensation for furnishing all labor, materials, tools and equipment necessary to provide that portion of the Work required by Division 16 – Electrical of the Contract Documents.

PART 3 EXECUTION (Not Applicable)

SCHEDULE OF VALUES

PART 1 GENERAL

1.01 DESCRIPTION

A. Work Included: Provide a detailed breakdown of the agreed Contract Sum showing values allocated to each of the various parts of the Work, as specified herein and in other provisions of the Contract Documents.

1.02 RELATED WORK

A. Documents affecting work of this Section include, but are not necessarily limited to, General Conditions, Supplementary Conditions, and Sections in Division 1 of these Specifications.

1.03 GENERAL

- A. For accounting purposes for the Engineer's convenience and as an aid in determining progress payments and price additions or deductions for Contract modifications, the Contractor shall furnish to the Engineer a schedule of values which shall be approved.
 - 1. The schedule of values shall apportion the total amount of the Contract price(s) for each separate item among the main features or costs that form the completed Work.
 - 2. The price breakdown shall be in sufficient detail to permit an analysis of all material, labor, equipment, subcontract and overhead costs, as well as profit, and shall cover all work involved for the properly completed item and feature listed.
 - 3. Any amount claimed for subcontracts shall be supported by a similar schedule of values with the total amount shown by this price under the Contract price stated in the bid form.

1.04 SUBMITTALS

- A. Prior to first application for payment, submit a proposed Schedule of Values to the Engineer.
 - 1. Meet with the Engineer and determine additional data, if any, required to be submitted.
 - 2. Secure the Engineer's approval of the Schedule of Values prior to submitting first application for payment.

PART 2 PRODUCTS (Not Applicable)

PART 3 EXECUTION (Not Applicable)

APPLICATION FOR PAYMENT

PART 1 GENERAL

1.01 DESCRIPTION

A. Work Included: Comply with procedures described in this Section when applying for progress payment and final payment under this Contract.

1.02 RELATED WORK

- A. Documents affecting work of this Section include, but are not necessarily limited to, General Conditions, Supplementary Conditions, and Sections in Division 1 of these specifications.
- B. Progress payments are described in the General Conditions.
- C. Payments upon Substantial Completion and Completion of the Work are described in the General Conditions.

1.03 QUALITY ASSURANCE

- A. Prior to start of construction, secure the Engineer's approval of the Schedule of Values required to be submitted under Section 01026, Schedule of Values.
 - 1. During progress of the Work, modify the Schedule of Values as approved by the Engineer to reflect changes in the Contract Sum due to change orders or other modifications to the Contract.
 - 2. Base requests for payment on the approved Schedule of Values.

1.04 SUBMITTALS

- A. Informal Submittal: Unless otherwise directed by the Engineer;
 - 1. Make an informal submittal of Request for Payment by filling in, with erasable pencil, pertinent portions of AIA Document G702, "Application and Certificate for Payment", plus continuation sheet or sheets.
 - 2. Make this preliminary submittal to the Engineer at the end of each month.
 - 3. Revise the informal submittal of Request for Payment as agreed, between both parties, initialing all copies.
- B Formal Submittal: Unless otherwise directed by the Engineer;
 - 1. Make formal submittal of Request for Payment by filling in the agreed data, by typewriter or neat lettering in ink, on AIA Document G702, "Application and Certificate for Payment", plus continuation sheet or sheets.
 - 2. Sign and notarize the Application and Certificate for Payment.
 - 3. Submit the original of the Application and Certificate for Payment, plus six (6) identical copies of the continuation sheet or sheets, to the Engineer.

- 4. The Engineer shall compare the formal submittal with the approved informal submittal and when approved, shall sign the Application and Certificate of Payment, will make required copies and will distribute:
 - a. Two copies to Contractor
 - b. Two copies to Owner
 - c. Two copies to Engineer's file.
- PART 2 PRODUCTS (Not Applicable).
- PART 3 EXECUTION (Not Applicable).

CUTTING AND PATCHING

PART 1 GENERAL

1.01 SUMMARY

- A. This Section establishes general requirements pertaining to cutting (including excavating), fitting, and patching of the work required to:
 - 1. Make the several parts fit properly;
 - 2. Uncover work to provide for installing, inspecting, or both, of ill-times work;
 - 3. Remove and replace work not conforming to requirements of the Contract Documents; and
 - 4. Remove and replace defective work.

B. Related work:

- 1. Documents affecting work of this Section include, but are not necessarily limited to, General Conditions and Sections in Division 1 of these Specifications.
- 2. In addition to other requirements specified, upon the Engineer's request uncover work to provide for the inspection by the Engineer of covered work, and remove samples of installed materials for testing.
- 3. Do not cut or alter work performed under separate contracts without the Engineer's written permission.
- 4. Cutting and patching required for the installation of new work in conformance with the contract documents shall be the responsibility of the contractor performing the installation of the related work.
 - a. Large penetrations through concrete slabs/walls or through precast planks shall be coordinated with the General Contractor.
 - b. Large penetrations through masonry walls shall be coordinated with the contractor performing the masonry work.

1.02 QUALITY ASSURANCE

A. Use adequate numbers of skilled workmen who are thoroughly trained and experienced in the necessary crafts and who are completely familiar with the specified requirements and the methods needed for proper performance of the work of this section.

1.03 SUBMITTALS

- A. Request for Engineer's consent:
 - 1. Prior to cutting which effects structural safety, submit written request to the Engineer for permission to proceed with cutting.
 - 2. Should conditions of the work, or schedule, indicate a required change of materials or methods for cutting and patching, so notify the Engineer and secure his written permission and the required Change Order prior to proceeding.

B. Notices to the Engineer:

- 1. Prior to cutting and patching performed pursuant to the Engineer's instructions, submit cost estimate to the Engineer. Secure the Engineer's approval of cost estimates and type of reimbursement before proceeding with cutting and patching.
- 2. Submit written notice to the Engineer designating the time the Work will be uncovered, to provide for the Engineer's observation.

PART 2 PRODUCTS

2.01 MATERIALS

A. For replacement of items removed, use materials complying with pertinent Sections of these Specifications.

PART 3 EXECUTION

3.01 SURFACE CONDITIONS

- A. Inspection:
 - 1. Inspect existing conditions, including elements subject to movement or damage during cutting, excavating, patching, and backfilling.
 - 2. After uncovering the work, inspect conditions affecting installation of new work.

B. Discrepancies:

1. If uncovered conditions are not as anticipated, immediately notify the Engineer and secure needed directions.

3.02 PAYMENT FOR COSTS

- A. The Owner will reimburse the Contractor for cutting and patching performed pursuant to a written Change Order, after claim for such reimbursement is submitted by the Contractor.
- B. Perform other cutting and patching needed to comply with the Contract Documents at no additional cost to the Owner.

FIELD ENGINEERING

PART 1 GENERAL

1.01 DESCRIPTION

- A. Work included: Provide such field engineering services as are required for proper completion of the work including, but not necessarily limited to:
 - 1. Establishing and maintaining lines and levels.
 - 2. Structural design of shores, forms, and similar items provided by the Contractor as part of his means and methods of construction.

1.02 RELATED WORK

- A. Documents affecting work of this section include, but are not necessarily limited to, General Conditions, Supplementary Conditions, and Sections in Division 1 of these Specifications.
- B. Additional requirements for field engineering may also be described in other Sections of these Specifications.

1.03 QUALITY ASSURANCE

A. Use adequate numbers of skilled workmen who are thoroughly trained and experienced in the necessary crafts and who are completely familiar with the specified requirements and the methods needed for the proper performance of the work of this Section.

1.04 PROCEDURES

- A. In addition to procedures directed by the Contractor for proper performance of the Contractor's responsibilities:
 - 1. Preserve permanent reference points during progress of the work.
 - 2. Verification of all reference points.
 - a. If a discrepancy is found, promptly notify the Engineer.

PART 2 PRODUCTS (Not Applicable)

PART 3 EXECUTION (Not Applicable)

ABBREVIATIONS

PART 1 GENERAL

1.01 DESCRIPTION

A. Listing of Abbreviations: The listing of abbreviations in this Specification Section represent the Standard Organization named.

B. Related Work:

- Documents affecting work of this section include, but are not necessarily limited to, General Conditions, Supplementary Conditions, and Sections in Division 1 of these Specifications.
- 2. All related Specification Sections shall be used in conjunction with this Section.

1.02 QUALITY ASSURANCE

- A. For products or workmanship specified by association, trade, or Federal Standards, comply with requirements of the Standard, except when more stringent requirements are specified or are required by applicable codes.
- B. Conform to reference standard by date of issue current on date for receiving bids.

1.03 LISTING OF STANDARD ORGANIZATIONS AND THEIR ABBREVIATIONS

AA Aluminum Association

AAN American Association of Nurserymen

AASHTO American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials

ACI American Concrete Institute
ACPA American Concrete Pipe Institute

ADC Air Diffusion Council
AGA American Gas Association

AGCA Associated General Contractors of America AHDGA American Hot Dip Galvanizers Association

AI Asphalt Institute

AIA American Institute of Architects

AISC American Institute of Steel Constructors

AISI American Iron and Steel Institute
ANSI American National Standards Institute
APA American Plywood Association

API American Petroleum Institute

ASCE American Society of Civil Engineers

ASHRAE American Society of Heating, Refrigerating, and Air Conditioning Engineers

ASME American Society of Mechanical Engineers
ASTM American Society of Testing and Materials
AWPA American Wood Preservers Association

AWS American Welding Society

AWWA American Water Works Association

BIA Brick Institute of America

CRSI Concrete Reinforcing Steel Institute
CSA Canadian Standards Association

DCAM Comm. of Massachusetts Division of Capital Asset Management

DEP Department of Environmental Protection

DHI Door and Hardware Institute

DIPRA Ductile Iron Pipe Research Association

EJCDC Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee

EPA Environmental Protection Agency

FM Factory Mutual Fed. Spec. Federal Specification HI Hydraulic Institute

IEEE Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers

ISA Instrument Society of America
ISO International Standards Organization
MIA Masonry Institute of America

MIL. Military Specification

MSBC Massachusetts State Building Code

MSS Manufacturers Standardization Society of the Valve and Fitting Industry

NAAMM National Association of Architectural Metal Manufacturers

NCMA National Concrete Masonry Association

NEC National Electrical Code

NEMA National Electrical Manufacturers Association

NFPA National Fire Protection Association NRCA National Roofing Contractors Association

NSPC National Standard Plumbing Code

OSHA Occupational Safety and Health Administration

PCA Portland Cement Association PCI Prestressed Concrete Institute

PPI Plastic Pipe Institute

PS Product Standards of the National Bureau of Standards

SDI Steel Door Institute

SIGMA Sealed Insulating Glass Manufacturers Association

SMACNA Sheet Metal and Air Conditioning Contractors National Association

SPI Society of the Plastics Industry
SSPC Steel Structures Painting Council

TCA Tile Council of America
TPI Truss Plate Institute
UL Underwriters Laboratories

PART 2 PRODUCTS (Not Applicable)

PART 3 EXECUTION (Not Applicable)

SPECIAL PROJECT PROCEDURES

PART 1 GENERAL

1.01 DESCRIPTION

- A. The work of this section consists of special project procedures during construction including:
 - 1. General Sequence of Work to be Performed
 - 2. Contractor's Emergency Service
 - 3. Compliance with Reduction of Lead in Drinking Water Act and Section 1417 of the Safe Drinking Water Act (SDWA)
 - 4. Site Access
 - 5. Maintaining Operation During Construction
 - 6. Hours of Operation
 - 7. Disposal of Construction Debris

PART 2 PRODUCTS (Not Applicable)

PART 3 EXECUTION

3.01 GENERAL SEQUENCE OF WORK TO BE PERFORMED:

- A. The general sequence of work shall be as follows:
 - 1. General construction of the heating system repairs for the Wastewater Treatment Facility (WWTF)
 - 2. General construction of the heating system repairs for the Water Treatment Facility (WTF).
 - 3. General construction of the heating system repairs for the DPW Garage.
 - 4. Town Hall heating and ventilation repairs included as an additive alternative which may be accepted depending on funds available.
- B. The work listed above may be performed concurrently however priority should be given in the order provided, with WWTP being the top priority followed by the WTP and DPW.

3.02 CONTRACTOR'S EMERGENCY SERVICE

- A. Any contractor whose place of business is located beyond the vicinity of the site of work and who does not maintain local headquarters 24 hours a day must make satisfactory arrangements with the Owner to service emergencies or complaints which may occur at night, over the week-end, or when the job is shut down.
 - 1. If he does not, the Owner may make arrangements, and the cost will be charged to the Contractor.
 - 2. Before the final estimate is certified for payment, the Contractor shall make similar arrangements to cover the guarantee period.

3.03 COMPLIANCE WITH REDUCTION OF LEAD IN DRINKING WATER ACT AND SECTION 1417 OF THE SAFE DRINKING WATER ACT (SDWA)

- A. All pipes, pipe fittings, plumbing fittings and fixtures must meet the requirements of the 2011 Reduction of Lead in Drinking Water Act and amendments to SDWA Section 1417 for potable water use.
- B. Certification of compliance shall be provided for all applicable materials herein.

3.04 SITE ACCESS

A. Access to the site will be limited, Contractor shall coordinate with the Town for access.

3.05 MAINTAINING OPERATION DURING CONSTRUCTION

A. The work of the Contractor shall not interfere with the daily operation of the DPW garage, water treatment plant, wastewater treatment plant or compliance with discharge limits. The Contractor may not take any of the system's components off-line without permission from the Owner or Engineer.

3.06 HOURS OF OPERATION

- A. Unless otherwise approved by the Owner, operation of all machinery and equipment (including but not limited lifts, generators, compressors, pipe welding equipment, and power hand tools) associated with the work shall be limited to the working hours of 7:00 AM to 3:30 PM.
- B. If the contractor elects to work more than (8) hours in one day, or more than forty (40) hours in one week, they shall obtain approval from the Owner, as well as, assume all such costs and will not be reimbursed under any bid item.

3.07 DISPOSAL OF CONSTRUCTION DEBRIS

- A. All construction debris shall be disposed legally by the Contractor at no expense to the Owner.
- PART 2 PRODUCTS (Not Applicable)
- PART 3 EXECUTION (Not Applicable)

PROJECT MEETINGS

PART 1 GENERAL

1.01 DESCRIPTION

- A. Preconstruction Conference:
 - 1. The Contractor shall not commence work until a conference has been held at which representatives of the Contractor, Engineer, and Owner are present. The preconstruction conference will be arranged by the Engineer.
 - 2. The sequence of construction will be established during the preconstruction conference.
- B. Progress Meetings:
 - 1. The Contractor shall be available for progress meetings on site during construction every two weeks, or as determined by the Engineer/Owner, dependent on the status of the project.
- PART 2 PRODUCTS (Not Applicable)
- PART 3 EXECUTION (Not Applicable)

SUBMITTALS

PART 1 GENERAL

1.01 DESCRIPTION

A. Work Included: Make submittals required by the Contract Documents, and revise and resubmit as necessary to establish compliance with the specified requirements.

1.02 RELATED WORK

- A. Documents affecting work of this Section include, but are not necessarily limited to, General Conditions, Supplementary Conditions, and Sections in Division 1 of these Specifications.
 - 1. Individual requirements for submittals also may be described in pertinent Sections of these Specifications.

B. Work Not Included:

- 1. Submittals which are not required shall not be reviewed by the Engineer.
- 2. The Contractor may require his subcontractors to provide drawings, setting diagrams and similar information to help coordinate the Work, but such data shall remain between the Contractor and his subcontractors and will not be reviewed by the Engineer unless specifically called for within the Contract Documents.

1.03 SHOP DRAWINGS AND SAMPLES

- A. The Contractor shall submit to the Engineer for review six (6) clearly legible copies of all shop drawings, catalog cuts, setting schedules and such other drawings as may be necessary for the prosecution of the work in the shop and in the field as required by the Contract Documents.
 - 1. Submittals which are incomplete or difficult to read shall be rejected.
 - 2. Deviations from the Contract Documents shall be called to the attention of the Engineer at the time of the first submission of shop drawings and other drawings for consideration.
 - 3. The Engineer's review of any drawings shall not release the Contractor from responsibility for such deviations.
 - 4. Shop drawings shall be submitted with such promptness as to cause no delay in his work or the work of any other Contractor.
 - 5. Schedules for reinforcing steel shall receive the Contractor's immediate attention, upon award of Contract.
- B. When submitted for the Engineers' review, all shop drawings shall bear the Contractor's certification that he has reviewed, checked and approved the shop drawings, that they are in compliance with the requirements of the Contract Documents, and that he has verified all field measurements and construction criteria, materials, catalog numbers and similar data.

- C. All samples called for in the Specifications or required by the Engineer shall be furnished by the Contractor and shall be submitted to the Engineer for his review.
 - 1. Samples shall be furnished so as not to delay fabrication, and to allow the Engineer reasonable time for the consideration of the samples submitted.
- D. Checking of submittals is only for general conformance with the design concept of the project and general compliance with the information given in the Contract Documents.
 - 1. Any action shown is subject to the requirements of the Contract Documents.
 - 2. Contractor is responsible for: dimensions which shall be confirmed and correlated at the job site; fabrication processes and techniques of construction; coordination of his work with that of all other trades; and the satisfactory performance of his work.
- E. The Contractor may only proceed with fabrication and construction for items on returned submittals marked "No Exception Taken" or "Make Corrections as Noted."
 - 1. Resubmit submittals if marked "Rejected", "Revise and Resubmit" or "Submit Specified Item".
- F. The Contractor shall furnish such samples of material as may be required for examination and test.
 - 1. All samples of materials for tests shall be taken according to ASTM Specifications or as provided in the Contract Documents.
- PART 2 PRODUCTS (Not Applicable)
- PART 3 EXECUTION (Not Applicable)

CONSTRUCTION SCHEDULES

PART 1 GENERAL

1.01 SUMMARY

A. To assure adequate planning and execution of the work so that the Work is completed within the number of calendar days allowed in the Contract, and to assist the Engineer in appraising the reasonableness of the proposed schedule and in evaluating progress of the Work, prepare and maintain the schedules and reports described in this Section.

1.02 RELATED WORK

A. Documents affecting the work of this Section include, but are not necessarily limited to, General Conditions, Supplementary Conditions, and Sections in Division 1 of these Specifications.

B. Definitions:

1. "Day," as used throughout the Contract unless otherwise stated, means "calendar day."

1.03 QUALITY ASSURANCE

- A. Employ a scheduler who is thoroughly trained and experienced in compiling construction schedule data and in preparing and issuing periodic reports as required by this Section.
- B. Perform data preparation, analysis, charting and updating in accordance with standards approved by the Engineer.
- C. Reliance upon the approved schedule:
 - 1. The construction schedule as approved by the Engineer shall be an integral part of the Contract and shall establish interim completion dates for the various activities under the Contract.
 - 2. Should any activity not be completed within 15 days after the stated scheduled date, the Engineer may request the reason for the delay in schedule from the Contractor. The Contractor shall supply the requested information and the steps which he intends to take to get back on schedule.
 - 3. It is expressly understood and agreed that failure by the Engineer to exercise the option either to order the Contractor to expedite an activity or to expedite the activity by other means shall not be considered to set a precedent for any other activities.

1.04 SUBMITTALS

A. Comply with pertinent provisions of Section 01300.

- B. Preliminary Analysis: Within ten (10) calendar days after the Contractor has received the Owner's Notice to Proceed, submit four (4) prints of a preliminary construction schedule to the Owner and Engineer.
- C. Construction Schedule: Within thirty (30) calendar days after the Contractor has received the Owner's Notice to Proceed, submit a Critical Path Method (CPM) network and a computer-generated print out of a construction schedule prepared in accordance with Part 2 of this Section to the Owner and Engineer.
- D. Periodic Reports: See Paragraph 2.02.B of this Section.

PART 2 PRODUCTS

2.01 CONSTRUCTION ANALYSIS

- A. Supplemental to the critical path schedule, the Contractor shall provide a detailed work schedule, projected at least one month in advance. The implementation of the work schedule and the coordination required shall constitute the basic agenda of the coordination and planning meetings.
- B. The order of new construction shall be discussed with the Engineer well in advance of the contemplated construction and the intended schedule shall meet with his approval. The Contractor, prior to starting work, shall submit to the Engineer a written description of the methods he plans to use in doing the work, including any necessary plans depicting the proposed details as well as a schedule of expected dates for beginning and completing the various buildings, structures and appurtenances which make up the work. Work shall not commence on a given portion of the project until the schedule for that portion (and preferably the entire schedule) has been approved by the Engineer. The Contractor shall be required to update this schedule periodically as necessary.
- C. A guideline CPM network shall be submitted for approval to include the following items: A feasible plan to complete the project within the time specified in this contract; Mandatory milestone dates (milestones shall be designated in the guideline CPM network by asterisks); Calendar dates will be substituted when the construction start date is established.

2.02 CONTRACTOR'S CONSTRUCTION SCHEDULE

- A. This schedule shall include a Critical Path Network and a computer-generated print out. The schedule shall account for all subcontracts in addition to the work of the Contractor.
- B. The network shall be provided in the form of a time scaled schedule. The computer print out shall include as a minimum, the earliest starting, earliest finish, latest starting, and latest finish dates, and the total float for each activity. The Contractor shall update (monitor) and run the schedule at least monthly and shall submit to the Engineer both the network and computer print out, both in duplicate, at the same time the pay estimate is prepared. The schedule shall contain all of the items of the periodic estimate and pay schedule.

PART 3 EXECUTION

3.01 SCHEDULE AND UPDATES

- A. The monthly schedule update (monitoring) shall include the following items.
 - 1. Network: Activities that are completed or in process are to be identified on the network by contrasting heavy lines. Each activity and work done should be proportional to the percentage of progress achieved to date.
 - 2. Computer print out: The percentage progress status of each activity shall be shown on the computer print out. The percentage progress status will be used to support the Contractor's periodic pay estimate. Actual start and completion dates are to be included in the computer print out. All activities started and in process should be flagged in the computer print out.
 - 3. The Engineer reserves the right to modify any schedule as required to meet the prevailing conditions. Review of the work schedules by the Engineer shall not relieve the Contractor of responsibilities regarding specified project completion times and liquidated damages.

SECTION 01505

MOBILIZATION

PART 1 GENERAL

1.01 DESCRIPTION

A. Work Includes: The transportation and storage of all equipment and materials necessary to the Work and the field offices.

B RELATED WORK

1. Documents affecting work of this Section include, but are not necessarily limited to, General Conditions, Supplementary Conditions, and Sections in Division 1 thru Division 16 of these Specifications.

PART 2 MATERIALS (Not Applicable)

PART 3 EXECUTION

3.01 STORAGE AREA

- A. It shall be the Contractor's sole responsibility to procure and maintain a suitable storage area for tools, materials, and equipment necessary to perform the work.
 - 1. The storage area obtained by the Contractor shall not obstruct or interfere with pedestrian or vehicular movement, and shall not occupy any space within the public right-of-way, except with specific permission from the Owner.
 - 2. The storage area shall be kept neat at all times.
 - 3. The Owner shall not be a party to negotiations related to acquisition of areas for storage or cleanup of the same (unless the storage area is on Owner's property), but reserves the right to inspect such area(s) for compliance with Owner regulatory requirements.
 - 4. Contractor shall not use storage area for bulk storage of hazardous materials (e.g., gasoline, solvents, oil).

3.02 FIELD OFFICE

- A. Contractors Field Office: Maintain a temporary field office near the Work for use during the period of construction at which readily accessible copies of all Contract Documents and approved shop drawings shall be kept.
 - 1. The office shall be located where it will not interfere with the progress of the work.

3.03 EQUIPMENT

A. Contractor shall transport all equipment to the site, assemble the equipment as needed to proceed with the work and maintain the equipment as needed during the work.

SECTION 01610

PRODUCT HANDLING

PART 1 GENERAL

1.01 DESCRIPTION

A. Work included: Protect products scheduled for use in the Work by means including, but not necessarily limited to, those described in this Section.

1.02 QUALITY ASSURANCE

A. Include within the Contractor's quality assurance program such procedures as are required to assure full protection of work and materials.

1.03 MANUFACTURER'S RECOMMENDATIONS

A. Comply with manufacturers' recommendations on product handling, storage, and protection.

1.04 PACKAGING

- A. Deliver products to the job site in their manufacturer's original container(s), with labels intact and legible.
 - 1. Maintain packaged materials with seals unbroken and labels intact until time of use
 - 2. Promptly remove damaged material and unsuitable items from the job site, and promptly replace with material meeting the specified requirements, at no additional cost to the Owner.
- B. The Engineer may reject as non-complying such material and products that do not bear identification satisfactory to the Engineer as to manufacturer, grade, quality and other pertinent information.

1.05 PROTECTION

- A. Mechanical equipment subject to damage by the atmosphere if stored outdoors, shall be stored in a building with a controlled environment. The building may be a temporary structure on the site or a building off the site.
- B. PVC pipe shall be covered to protect it from UV degradation.

1.06 REPAIRS AND REPLACEMENTS

A. In event of damage, promptly make replacements and repairs to the approval of the Engineer at no additional cost to the Owner.

B. Additional time required to secure replacements and to make repairs will not be considered by the Engineer to justify an extension in the Contract Time of Completion.

SECTION 01700

CONTRACT CLOSEOUT

PART 1 GENERAL

1.01 DESCRIPTION

A. The work of this Section consists of procedures and requirements for contract closeout, such as cleaning, restoration of project site to original condition, inspections, and guarantees.

PART 2 MATERIALS (Not Applicable)

PART 3 EXECUTION

3.01 CLEANING UP

- A. During its progress, the work and the adjacent areas affected thereby shall be kept cleaned up and all rubbish, surplus materials, and unneeded construction equipment shall be removed and all damage repaired so that the Owner will be inconvenienced as little as possible.
- B. On or before the completion of the work, the Contractor shall, unless otherwise especially directed or permitted in writing, remove all rubbish from any grounds which he has occupied; and shall leave the roads and all parts of the premises and adjacent property affected by his operation in a neat and satisfactory condition.
- C. Unless otherwise specifically directed or permitted in writing, the Contractor shall perform the following tasks:
 - 1. Tear down and remove all temporary buildings and structures built by him.
 - 2. Remove all temporary works, tools, and machinery or other construction equipment furnished by him.
 - 3. Remove all rubbish from any grounds which he has occupied.

3.02 FINAL INSPECTION

A. At completion of all work, the Owner and Engineer, along with the General Contractor and each of the subcontractors shall conduct a final inspection jointly for "punch list" purposes and to determine the exact status of the project before final acceptance.

3.03 GUARANTEES

- A. The Contractor shall take notice of special guarantees required in the technical Sections of these Specifications.
 - 1. If, in the opinion of the Owner, any item requires excessive maintenance during guarantee periods, the item shall be considered defective and the Contractor shall correct the defects.

2. All defects so corrected shall be at the expense of the Contractor.

SECTION 01730

OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE DATA

PART 1 GENERAL

1.01 SCOPE OF WORK

A. This section includes procedural requirements for compiling and submitting operation and maintenance data required to complete the project.

1.02 RELATED WORK

A. Documents affecting work of this Section include, but are not necessarily limited to, General Conditions, Supplementary Conditions, and Sections in Division 1 of these Specifications.

1.03 SERVICES OF MANUFACTURER'S REPRESENTATIVE

- A. Equipment furnished under Division 15 shall include the cost of a competent representative of the manufacturers of all equipment to supervise the installation, adjustment and testing of the equipment and to instruct Owner's operating personnel on operation and maintenance. This supervision may be divided into two or more time periods as required by the installation program or as directed by Engineer.
- B. See the detailed specifications for additional requirements for furnishing the services of manufacturer's representatives.
- C. A certificate in the form attached to this Section, from the manufacturer and signed by Owner's representative stating that the installation of equipment is satisfactory, that the unit has been satisfactorily tested, is ready for operation and that the operating personnel have been suitably instructed in the operation, lubrication and care of the unit shall be submitted for each piece of equipment indicated above.
- D. All equipment furnished under other Divisions, furnish the services of accrediated representatives of the manufacturer only when some evident malfunction or over-heating makes such services necessary in the opinion of Engineer.

1.04 OPERATING MANUALS

A. One draft and three final complete sets of operation and maintenance instructions covering all equipment furnished under Division 15 shall be delivered directly to the office of Engineer. The manual for each piece of equipment shall be a separate document with the following requirements:

Contents:

- a. Table of contents and index
- b. Brief description of each system and components
- c. Starting and stopping procedures
- d. Special operating instructions

- e. Routine maintenance procedures
- f. Manufacturer's printed operating and maintenance instructions, parts list, illustrations and diagrams
- g. One copy of each wiring diagram
- h. One copy of each approved shop drawing and each Contractor's coordinating layout drawings
- i. List of spare parts, manufacturer's price, and recommended quantity
- j. Name, address and telephone numbers of local service representatives.

Material:

- a. Originals or first generation, clear dry copy reproductions of all text.
- b. Loose leaf on 60 lb., punched paper
- c. Holes reinforced with plastic cloth or metal
- d. Page size, 8-1/2" by 11"
- e. Diagrams, illustrations, and attached foldouts as required, of original quality, reproduced by dry copy method
- f. Covers: oil, moisture, and wear resistant 9-inch by 12-inch size
- B. The manuals shall be customized in that all data that does not pertain to the equipment furnished shall be either deleted or crossed out.
 - 1. Parts manuals shall be modified to reflect only those parts or optional equipment pertaining to the equipment furnished.
 - 2. Copies of all required labor and material warranties/guarantees shall be bound in each manual.
- C. All operations and maintenance manuals for equipment of the same type shall be bound in a single manual, independent if equipment has been furnished by various suppliers.

1.05 CONTENTS, EACH VOLUME

- A. Table of Contents: Provide title of project, names, addresses and telephone numbers of Engineer, subconsultants and Contractor with name of responsible parties; schedule of products and systems, indexed to content of the volume.
- B. For Each Product or System: List names, addresses and telephone numbers of Subcontractors and suppliers; including local source of supplies and replacement parts.
- C. Product Data: Mark each sheet to clearly identify specific products and component parts and data applicable to installation. Delete inapplicable information.
- D. Drawings: Supplement product data to illustrate relations of component parts of equipment and systems, to show control and flow diagrams. Do not use Project Record Documents as maintenance drawings.
- E. Type Text: As required to supplement product data. Provide logical sequence of instructions for each procedure, incorporating manufacturer's instructions specified.
- F. Warranties and Bonds are to be as specified in these Specifications.

1.06 MANUAL FOR MATERIALS AND FINISHES

- A. Building Products, Applied Materials and Finishes: Include product data, with catalog number, size, composition and color and texture designations. Provide information for re-ordering custom manufactured products.
- B. Instructions for Care and Maintenance: Include manufacturer's recommendations for cleaning agents and methods, precautions against detrimental agents and methods and recommended schedule for cleaning and maintenance.
- C. Moisture Protection and Weather Exposed Products: Include product data listing, applicable reference standards, chemical composition, and details of installation. Provide recommendations for inspections, maintenance, and repair.
- D. Additional Requirements: As specified in individual product specifications.

1.07 MANUAL FOR EQUIPMENT AND SYSTEMS

- A. For each Item of Equipment and Each System provide the following:
 - 1. Overview of system and description of unit or system and component parts. Identify function, normal operating characteristics and limiting conditions. Include performance curves, with engineering data and tests and complete nomenclature and commercial number of replaceable parts.
 - 2. Panelboard Circuit Directories including electrical service characteristics, controls and communications and color coded wiring diagrams as installed.
 - 3. Operating Procedures: Include start-up, break-in and routine normal operating instructions and sequences; regulations, control, stopping, shut-down and emergency instructions; and summer, winter and any special operating instructions
 - 4. Maintenance Requirements:
 - a. Routine procedures and guide for trouble-shooting; disassembly, repair and reassemble instructions; and alignment, adjusting, balancing and checking instructions.
 - b. Servicing and lubrication schedule and list of lubricants required.
 - c. Manufacturer's printed operation and maintenance instructions.
 - d. Sequence of operation by controls manufacturer.
 - e. Original manufacturer's parts list, illustrations, assembly drawings and diagrams required for maintenance.
 - 5. Control diagrams by controls manufacturer as installed.
 - 6. Contractor's coordination drawings, with color coded piping diagrams as installed.
 - 7. Charts of valve tag numbers, with location and function of each valve, keyed to flow and control diagrams.
 - 8. List of original manufacturer's spare parts, current prices and recommended quantities to be maintained in storage.
 - 9. Test and balancing reports as specified.
 - 10. Additional Requirements: As specified in individual product specification.

1.08 INSTRUCTION OF OWNER PERSONNEL

A. Before final inspection, instruct Owner's designated personnel in operation, adjustment and maintenance of products, equipment and systems, at agreed upon times.

- B. For equipment requiring seasonal operation, perform instructions for other seasons within six months.
- C. Use operation and maintenance manuals as basis for instruction. Review contents of manual with personnel in detail to explain all aspects of operation and maintenance.
- D. Prepare and insert additional data in Operation and Maintenance Manual when need for such data becomes apparent during instruction.
- PART 2 PRODUCTS (not applicable)
- PART 3 EXECUTION (not applicable)

EQUIPMENT MANUFACTURER'S CERTIFICATE OF INSTALLATION TESTING AND INSTRUCTION

Owner:	
Project:	
Contract No.:	
T&H No.:	
EQUIPMENT SPECIFICATION SECTION	
EQUIPMENT DESCRIPTION	
Ι	, Authorized representative of
(Print Name)	
installed for the subject project has been installed tested, is/are ready for operation, and that Owner	in a satisfactory manner, has/have been satisfactorily assigned operating personnel have been suitably of the units on Date: Time:
OWNER'S ACKNOWLEDGMENT	OF MANUFACTURER'S INSTRUCTION
I/We the undersigned, authorized representative of Operating Personnel have received classroom and	of the and/or Plant I hands on instruction on the operation, lubrication, and reprepared to assume normal operational responsibility Date: Date: Date:

INDEX

DIVISION 15 MECHANICAL

SECTION	SUBJECT	PAGES
15500	Heating, Ventilating and Air Conditioning	15500-1 thru 15500-12

SECTION 15500 HEATING. VENTILATING AND AIR CONDITIONING

PART 1 GENERAL

1.01 DESCRIPTION

- A. The work under this Section includes furnishing and installation of all materials and services required to complete the work under this Section. Such work may include, but is not limited to the following:
 - 1. Exhaust fans
 - 2. Louvers/Dampers and damper operators.
 - 3. Gas detectors, CO & NO2 sensors.
 - 4. Hot Water Unit Heaters,
 - 5. Electric Unit Heaters,
 - 6. Variable Refrigerant Flow System

1.02 RELATED WORK IN OTHER SECTIONS

A. Documents affecting the work of this Section include, but are not necessarily limited to, General Conditions, Supplementary Conditions and Sections in Division 1 of these Specifications.

1 03 COMPLIANCES

- A. All work shall conform to State and Local regulations, National Fire Protection Association Standards, National Building Code, Underwriters Laboratory, Inc. requirements and all authorities having jurisdiction.
- B. This Contractor must comply with all the laws of the State of Massachusetts and the Owner, including the building laws pertaining to the safety of the public and employees. Obtain all permits, comply with the inspecting authorities and authorities having jurisdiction at no additional cost to the Owner. Pay all taxes, legal fees for same, obtain all approvals and certificates of inspection. Give due and proper notice to all officials having jurisdiction in the various departments, as may be needed, and in general, take complete charge of, and responsibility for all legal requirements of this work.

1.04 SUBMITTALS

- A. Six copies of shop drawings shall be submitted for each item installed under this section in accordance with the General Conditions as supplemented. The review of shop drawings shall not relieve the Contractor of responsibility for deviation from the contract drawings or specifications unless he has, in writing, called the attention of the design engineer to such deviation prior to the bidding, nor shall it relieve Contractor from responsibility of errors or omissions in such drawings. Shop drawings shall include motor data sheets, wiring diagrams, exploded view diagrams, complete dimensional drawings, and any manufacturer's literature with all references to other models deleted from the text.
- B. Six copies of operation and maintenance manuals shall be submitted for each piece of equipment furnished herein.

1.05 GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

- A. The entire work provided in this section of the specifications shall be constructed and finished in every respect in workmanlike and substantial manner, according to the contract drawings and this specification, ready for continuous and trouble free operation, meeting the approval of the Owner.
- B. It is not intended that the drawing shows every pipe, offset, fittings or appliance, or exact location of piping, diffusers, registers and equipment. The Contractor shall furnish and install such parts as may be necessary to complete the systems in accordance with the best practice in this trade and to the satisfaction of the design engineer. Exact location of diffusers, registers and all other equipment shall be determined in the field at no additional cost to the Owner

1 06 STANDARDS

- A. The following standards shall form a part of this specification as referenced:
 - 1. Air Moving and Conditioning Association (AMCA):
 - a. Publication 99 Standards and recommended Practices of Air Moving Devices
 - b. Standard 210 Test Code for Air Moving Devices.
 - 2. Sheet Metal and Air Conditioning Contractors' National Association
 - a. HVAC Ductwork Construction.

PART 2 PRODUCTS (Refer to Drawings)

2.01 GENERAL

A. All heating and cooling systems shall be provided with automatic day and night (seven day programmed) temperature controls. All unit heaters shall be provided with an option to operate without the controls (i.e., manual).

2.02 FANS

- A. Roof Fans
 - 1. Furnish and install Roof Fans where shown on the schedule and drawings. Fan as manufactured by Greenheck or approved equal.
 - 2. Fan shall be manufactured at an ISO 9001 certified facility, listed by Underwriters Laboratories (UL 705) and shall bear the AMCA Certified Ratings Seal for Sound and Air Performance.
 - 3. All motors shall be provided with adjustable rails or bases and roof belt drive. Motor sheaves shall be adjustable to provide not less than 20 percent speed variation. Sheaves shall be of the synchronized adjustment type.
 - 4. All Fans and motors shall have permanently lubricated bearings.

2.04 LOUVER/DAMPER

A. Combination Louver-Damper shall be furnished and installed where shown on the schedule and drawings. Louver-Damper as manufactured by Greenheck Model ECD-401 or approved equal.

2 09 UNIT HEATERS

A. Electric Unit Heaters

1. Furnish and install Electric Unit Heaters where shown on the schedule and drawings. Electric Unit Heater as manufactured by Qmark Model or approved equal. Heater shall meet all UL, NEC and OSHA requirements.

B. Hot Water Unit Heaters

- 1. Furnish and install Hot Water Unit Heaters where shown on the schedule and drawings. Heater shall meet all UL, NEC and OSHA requirements.
 - a. Hot Water Unit Heaters in the Water Treatment Plant shall be as manufactured by Sterling or approved equal.
 - b. Hot Water Unit Heaters in the Wastewater Treatment Plant shall be as manufactured by Sterling or approved equal.

2.10 GAS DETECTION AND CONTROL SYSTEM

A. Furnish and install Gas Detection and Control System where shown on the schedule and drawings. Gas Detection and control system as manufactured by Toxalert Model GVU-6.

2.11 SHEET METAL

A. All ductwork shall be constructed of galvanized steel in accordance with Section 1, Basic Duct Construction, of the HVAC Duct Construction Standards.

PART 3 EXECUTION (Refer to Drawings)

3.01 INSTALLATION

- A. Install items in strict accordance with the manufacturer's recommendations and with all applicable regulations, at no additional cost to the Owner.
- D. Insulated ductwork, supply and return air registers, shall be installed in strict accordance with the HVAC Duct Construction Standards and best practice in the trade.
- E. Thermostat shall be securely attached to a suitable base mounted on the wall or other building surface, as approved. Thermostats shall be located where shown, if not shown, where it will respond to the average temperature in the room. Thermostat shall be mounted 60-inches above the floor, and shall not be mounted on an outside wall, if other locations are possible. If mounted on an outside wall, an insulating type base shall be provided.

3 02 GUARANTEE

- A. After the completion of the installation, contractor shall adjust and check all devices furnished under this contract. He shall place them in complete operating condition subject to the approval of the engineer.
- B. The control system herein specified, shall be free from defects in workmanship and material under normal use and intended service.

C. If within two (2) years from the date of acceptance, any device herein described is found to be defective in workmanship and/or material, it will be adjusted, repaired or replaced free of charge.

PART 4 VARIABLE REFRIGERANT FLOW

- 4.1 INTERIOR MITSUBISHI HVAC CONTROL PANEL AND REFRIGERATION LEAK DETECTION SYSTEM CONTROL PANEL OR APPROVED EQUAL
 - A. Installation location ground floor mechanical room. Exact location TBD.
 - B. Interior BC Boxes: Interior BC Boxes to be located in a conditioned space above the ceiling when possible to allow easy service access and limit noise to occupied spaces. Use Hallways, Exits, and Garage area for BC box locations. Full flow Bi-directional R410A Ball valves with 0 pressure drop, rated for 700 psi, and a service port built into valve body to be installed on every port of BC box. Condensate Drain line must be protected from freezing temperatures. All Refrigeration connections to be insulated to prevent condensation. Follow manufactures installation recommendations. Building owner/engineer to approve equipment locations prior to installation.
 - C. Refrigerant Leak Detection Systems: Arrangement of systems indicated on drawings is diagrammatic, site conditions and manufactures recommended installation requirements shall determine the actual arrangement of systems. Splicing of sensor tubing not allowed. Sensor tubing specification attached. All 16 Leak Sensors zones to be evenly distributed on each floor, with one zone at each BC box, and at floor level when possible. Each Sensor tubing run to be tagged at either end with zone number and length of tubing. Laminated floor plan map showing all zones and locations to be mounted at control panel and included with as built documentation.
 - D. Refrigerant Piping and Insulation: Arrangement of systems indicated on drawings is diagrammatic, site conditions and manufactures recommended installation requirements shall determine the actual arrangement of systems. All Refrigerant piping on exterior of build or in a non-conditioned space will have 1 ½ thick insulation and white colored PVC wrap. It will be supported mechanically to meet all codes and industry guidelines. Minimum height of 8 ft above grade when passing over pedestrian walk area or service area. All Interior refrigeration pipe and fittings to be insulated to meet current code and prevent any condensation. All interior refrigerant line set piping to be labeled at either end with zone port #, room #, and exact length of line set to the inch. All Interior refrigeration lines to be grouped and secured together as much as possible. Install as close as possible to ceiling above drop ceiling to avoid damage and mechanically supported to prevent sagging or stress. Install expansion loops every 32 ft when applicable on horizontal piping to prevent pipe stress. Nitrogen purging 2-3 psi is mandatory during all Refrigerant pipe brazing. All Refrigerant piping stock on job site to be capped prior to installation. Follow manufactures guide lines for pressure testing entire refrigeration system on every floor to 600 psi for a minimum of 36 hours. After pressure testing is complete perform triple evacuation to 500 microns then perform rise test per manufactures guidelines with Engineer must be present for all three tests on all systems. Use only commercial liquid leak detector when pressure checking exterior joints.

- E. Condensate Plumbing: All condensate plumbing to be installed, supported, and insulated per manufactures guidelines and local plumbing codes. Insulation required to prevent condensation.
- F. Additional Mitsubishi requirements:
 - 1. HVAC Guide Specifications Multi Indoor Unit, Variable Refrigerant Flow; R2-Series;

4.02 – DECENTRALIZED HVAC EQUIPMENT

A. Part 1 – General

1. System Description: The variable capacity, heat pump heat recovery air conditioning system shall be a Mitsubishi Electric CITY MULTI VRF (Variable Refrigerant Flow) zoning system or approved equal.

2. Quality Assurance

- a. The units shall be listed by Electrical Testing Laboratories (ETL) and bear the ETL label.
- b. All wiring shall be in accordance with the National Electrical Code (N.E.C.).
- c. The units shall be manufactured in a facility registered to ISO 9001 and ISO14001 which is a set of standards applying to environmental protection set by the International Standard Organization (ISO).
- d. All units must meet or exceed the 2010 Federal minimum efficiency requirements and the ASHRAE 90.1 efficiency requirements for VRF systems. Efficiency shall be published in accordance with the Air-Conditioning, Heating, and Refrigeration Institute (AHRI) Standard 1230.
 - e. A full charge of R-410A for the condensing unit only shall be provided in the condensing unit.

3. Delivery, Storage and Handling

a. Unit shall be stored and handled according to the manufacturer's recommendation.

4. Controls

- a. The control system shall consist of a low voltage communication network of unitary built-in controllers with on-board communications and a web-based operator interface. A web controller with a network interface card shall gather data from this system and generate web pages accessible through a conventional web browser on each PC connected to the network. Operators shall be able to perform all normal operator functions through the web browser interface.
- b. System controls and control components shall be installed in accordance with the manufacturer's written installation instructions.

- c. Furnish energy conservation features such as optimal start, night setback, request-based logic, and demand level adjustment of overall system capacity as specified in the sequence.
- d. System shall provide direct and reverse-acting on and off algorithms based on an input condition or group conditions to cycle a binary output or multiple binary outputs.
- e. Provide capability for future system expansion to include monitoring and use of occupant card access, lighting control and general equipment control
- f. System shall be capable of email generation for remote alarm annunciation.
- g. Control system start-up shall be a required service to be completed by the manufacturer or a duly authorized, competent representative that has been factory trained in Mitsubishi Electric controls system configuration and operation. The representative shall provide proof of certification for Mitsubishi Electric Controls Applications Training indicating successful completion of no more than two (2) years prior to system installation. This certification shall be included as part of the equipment and/or controls submittals. This service shall be equipment and system count dependent and shall be a minimum of two (2) eight (8) hour periods to be completed during normal working hours.

B. WARRANTY

1. The CITY MULTI (or approved equal) units shall be covered by the manufacturer's limited warranty for a period of one (1) year parts and seven (7) year compressor to the original owner from date of installation.

If the systems are:

- a) designed by a certified CITY MULTI Diamond Designer using Diamond System Builder,
- b) installed by a contractor that has successfully completed the Mitsubishi Electric three-day service course, AND
- c) verified with required materials submitted to and approved by the Mitsubishi Electric Service Department, which include:
 - As built Diamond System Builder file,
 - A one (1) hour Maintenance Tool record with system information, in Ordinary Control Mode (not initial),
 - Outdoor and Indoor unit dip switch settings
 - Outdoor unit(s) function settings,

then the units shall be covered by an extended manufacturer's limited warranty for a period of ten (10) years to the original owner from date of installation.

2. In addition, the compressor shall have a manufacturer's limited warranty for a period of ten (10) years to the original owner from date of installation.

If, during this period, any part should fail to function properly due to defects in workmanship or material, it shall be replaced or repaired at the discretion of the manufacturer. This Factory warranty shall not include labor.

- 3. Manufacturer shall have a minimum of thirty-three (33) years of HVAC experience in the U.S. market.
- 4. All manufacturer technical and service manuals must be readily available for download by any local contractor should emergency service be required. Registering and sign-in requirements which may delay emergency service reference are not allowed.
- 5. The CITY MULTI VRF system or approved equal shall be installed by a contractor with extensive CITY MULTI install and service training. The mandatory contractor service and install training should be performed by the manufacturer.

C. PRODUCTS

- 1. L-Generation R2-SerieS Outdoor Unit or approved equal.
 - a. General: The R2-Series PURY outdoor unit shall be used specifically with CITY MULTI VRF or approved equal components. The PURY outdoor units shall be equipped with multiple circuit boards that interface to the M-NET controls system and shall perform all functions necessary for operation. Each outdoor unit module shall be completely factory assembled, piped and wired and run tested at the factory.
 - a. The model nomenclature and unit requirements are shown below. All units requiring a factory supplied twinning kits shall be piped together in the field, without the need for equalizing line(s). If an alternate manufacturer is selected, any additional material, cost, and labor to install additional lines shall be incurred by the contractor.
 - b. Outdoor unit shall have a sound rating no higher than 61 dB(A) individually or 64 dB(A) twinned. Units shall have a sound rating no higher than 51 dB(A) individually or 54 dB(A) twinned while in night mode operation. If an alternate manufacturer is selected, any additional material, cost, and labor to meet published sound levels shall be incurred by the contractor.
 - c. Both refrigerant lines from the outdoor unit to the BC (Branch Circuit) Controller (Single or Main) shall be insulated in accordance with the installation manual.
 - d. The outdoor unit shall have the capability of installing the main refrigerant piping through the bottom of the unit.
 - e. There shall be no more than 3 branch circuit controllers connected to any one outdoor unit.
 - f. Outdoor unit shall be able to connect to up to 50 indoor units depending upon model.
 - g. The outdoor unit shall have an accumulator with refrigerant level sensors and controls.
 - h. The outdoor unit shall have a high-pressure safety switch, overcurrent protection, crankcase heater and DC bus protection.

- i. The outdoor unit shall have the ability to operate with a maximum height difference of 164 feet and have total refrigerant tubing length of 1804-3100 feet. The greatest length is not to exceed 541 feet between outdoor unit and the indoor units without the need for line size changes or traps.
- j. The outdoor unit shall be capable of operating in heating mode down to -4°F ambient temperatures or cooling mode down to 23°F ambient temperatures, without additional low ambient controls.
- k. The outdoor unit shall be capable of operating in cooling mode down to -10°F with optional manufacturer supplied low ambient kit.
- Manufacturer supplied low ambient kit shall be provided with predesigned control box rated for outdoor installation and capable of controlling kit operation automatically in all outdoor unit operation modes.
- m. Manufacturer supplied low ambient kit shall be listed by Electrical Laboratories (ETL) and bear the ETL label.
- n. Manufacturer supplied low ambient kit shall be factory tested in low ambient temperature chamber to ensure operation. Factory performance testing data shall be available when requested.
- o. The outdoor unit shall have a high efficiency oil separator plus additional logic controls to ensure adequate oil volume in the compressor is maintained.
- p. Unit must defrost all circuits simultaneously in order to resume full heating more quickly. Partial defrost which may extend "no or reduced heating" periods shall not be allowed.
- 2. Unit Cabinet: The casing(s) shall be fabricated of galvanized steel, bonderized and finished. Units cabinets shall be able to withstand 960 hours per ASTM B117 criteria for seacoast protected models (–BS models)

3 Fans:

- a. Each outdoor unit module shall be furnished with one direct drive, variable speed propeller type fan. The fan shall be factory set for operation under 0 in. WG external static pressure, but capable of normal operation under a maximum of 0.24 in. WG external static pressure via dipswitch.
- b. All fan motors shall have inherent protection, have permanently lubricated bearings, and be completely variable speed.
- c. All fan motors shall be mounted for quiet operation.
- d. All fans shall be provided with a raised guard to prevent contact with moving parts.
- e. The outdoor unit shall have vertical discharge airflow.

4. Refrigerant

- a. R410A refrigerant shall be required for PURY-P-T/Y(S)KLU outdoor unit systems.
- b. Polyol ester (POE) oil shall be required. Prior to bidding, manufacturers using alternate oil types shall submit material safety data sheets (MSDS) and comparison of hygroscopic properties for alternate oil with list of

local suppliers stocking alternate oil for approval at least two weeks prior to bidding.

5. Coil:

- a. The outdoor HexicoilTM heat exchanger shall be of zinc coated aluminum construction with turbulating flat tube construction.
- b. The coil fins shall have a factory applied corrosion resistant blue-fin finish.
- c. A stainless-steel pipe connects the aluminum coil to copper piping.
- d. The coil shall be protected with an integral metal guard.
- e. Refrigerant flow from the outdoor unit shall be controlled by means of an inverter driven compressor.
- f. The outdoor coil shall include 4 circuits with two position valves for each circuit, except for the last stage.

6. Compressor:

- a. Each outdoor unit module shall be equipped with one inverter driven scroll hermetic compressor. Non-inverter-driven compressors, which cause inrush current (demand charges) and require larger wire sizing, shall not be allowed.
- b. A crankcase heater(s) shall be factory mounted on the compressor(s).
- c. The outdoor unit compressor shall have an inverter to modulate capacity. The capacity shall be completely variable with a turndown of 15%-5% of rated capacity, depending upon unit size.
- d. The compressor will be equipped with an internal thermal overload.
- e. The compressor shall be mounted to avoid the transmission of vibration.
- f. Field-installed oil equalization lines between modules are not allowed. Prior to bidding, manufacturers requiring equalization must submit oil line sizing calculations specific to each system and module placement for this project.
- D. CONTROLS: The outdoor unit shall have the capability of up to 8 levels of demand control for each refrigerant system.

E. ELECTRICAL:

- 1. The outdoor unit electrical power shall be 208/230 volts, 3-phase, 60 hertz.
- 2. The outdoor unit shall be capable of satisfactory operation within voltage limits of 187-228 volts (208V/60Hz), 207-253V (230V/60Hz).
- 3. The outdoor unit shall be controlled by integral microprocessors.
- 4. The control circuit between the indoor units, BC Controller and the outdoor unit shall be 24VDC completed using a 2-conductor, twisted pair shielded cable to provide total integration of the system.

F. BS COATING:

1. The outdoor unit shall be coated with the Seacoast Protection Coating (Bermuda Special – BS coating).

- 2. The outdoor unit shall be tested in compliance with ISO9277 such that no unusual rust shall develop after 960 hours of salt spray testing.
- 3. The outdoor unit must not be installed in a location that is subject to direct sea winds.
- 4. The outdoor unit shall be open to the elements such that rain will wash away salt residue.
- 5. The outdoor unit shall be installed in such a way as to achieve optimal drainage.
- 6. The outdoor unit shall be washed periodically to remove salt residue.
- 7. The panels on the outdoor unit should be scratch free. If a scratch occurs the salt spray protection is compromised, and the panel should be replaced immediately.
- 8. The outdoor unit shall be inspected regularly, and parts shall be painted or replaced as necessary.

E. BRANCH CIRCUIT (BC) CONTROLLERS FOR R2-SERIES SYSTEMS

- 1. General
 - b. The BC (Branch Circuit) Controllers shall include multiple branches to allow simultaneous heating and cooling by allowing either hot gas refrigerant to flow to indoor unit(s) for heating or subcooled liquid refrigerant to flow to indoor unit(s) for cooling. Refrigerant used for cooling must always be subcooled for optimal indoor unit LEV performance; alternate branch devices with no sub cooling risk bubbles in liquid supplied to LEV and are not allowed.
 - c. The BC (Branch Circuit) Controllers shall be specifically used with R410A R2-Series systems. These units shall be equipped with a circuit board that interfaces to the M-NET controls system and shall perform all functions necessary for operation. The unit shall have a galvanized steel finish. The BC Controller shall be completely factory assembled, piped and wired. Each unit shall be run tested at the factory. This unit shall be mounted indoors, with access and service clearance provided for each controller. The sum of connected capacity of all indoor air handlers shall range from 50% to 150% of rated capacity. The BC Controller shall be suitable for use in plenums in accordance with UL1995 ed 4.

2. BC Unit Cabinet:

- a. The casing shall be fabricated of galvanized steel.
- b. Each cabinet shall house a liquid-gas separator and multiple refrigeration control valves.
- c. The unit shall house two tube-in-tube heat exchangers.

3. Refrigerant

a. R410A refrigerant shall be required.

- b. Refrigerant Branches -All BC Controller refrigerant pipe connections shall be brazed or flared.
- c. Refrigerant valves:
 - The unit shall be furnished with multiple branch circuits which can individually accommodate up to 54,000 BTUH and up to three indoor units. Branches may be twinned to allow more than 54,000 BTUH.
 - Each branch shall have multiple two-position valves to control refrigerant flow.
 - Service shut-off valves shall be field-provided/installed for each branch to allow service to any indoor unit without field interruption to overall system operation.
 - Linear electronic expansion valves shall be used to control the variable refrigerant flow.
- d. Integral Drain Pan: An Integral resin drain pan and drain shall be provided

d, Electrical:

- a. The unit electrical power shall be 208/230 volts, 1 phase, 60 Hertz
- b. The unit shall be capable of satisfactory operation within voltage limits of 187-228 (208V/60Hz) or 207-253 (230/60Hz).
- c. The BC Controller shall be controlled by integral microprocessors
- d. The control circuit between the indoor units and outdoor units shall be 24VDC completed using a 2-conductor, twisted pair shielded cable to provide total integration of the system.

E. EXECUTION.

- 1. Installation: Rig and install in full accordance with manufacturer's requirements, project drawings, and contract documents. Refer to the manufacturer's installation manual for full requirements.
- 2. Location: Locate indoor and outdoor units as indicated on drawings. Provide service clearance per manufacturer's installation manual. Adjust and level outdoor units on support structure. For climates that experience snowfall, mount the outdoor unit a minimum of 12" above the average snowfall line. In climates where this height requirement proves unfeasible, the outdoor units may be installed at the average snowfall line provided **regular snow removal** in the area surrounding the units keeps the snow line below the bottom of the units.

3. Components / Piping:

- a. Installing contractor shall provide and install all accessories and piping for a fully operational system. Refer to manufacturer's installation manual for full instructions.
- b. Traps, filter driers, and sight glasses are NOT to be installed on the refrigerant piping or condensate lines.
- c. Standard ACR fittings rated for use with R410A are to be used for all connections. Proprietary manufacturer-specific appurtenances are not allowed.

- d. Refrigerant pipe for CITY MULTI or approved equal shall be made of phosphorus deoxidized copper and has two types.
 - ACR "Annealed": Soft copper pipe, can be easily bent with human's hand.
 - ACR "Drawn Temper": Hard copper pipe (Straight pipe), being stronger than Type-O pipe of the same radical thickness.
- 4. The maximum operation pressure of R410A air conditioner is 4.30 MPa [623psi] The refrigerant piping should ensure the safety under the maximum operation pressure. Refer to recommend piping specifications in Mitsubishi Electric's engineering manual. Pipes of radical thickness 0.7mm or less shall not be used. Flare connections and compression fittings not allowed.
- 5. Insulation:Interior Refrigerant lines, as well as any interior valves, shall be insulated end to end with ½" closed-cell pipe insulation for piping up to 1"in diameter, or ¾" for piping 1-1/8" and larger, with a thermal conductivity no greater than 0.27 BTU-in/hr sq.ft °F. If state or local codes require insulation other than that specified above, the greater insulation shall be used. Exterior piping shall be insulated with 1 ½ thick closed cell pipe insulation with white PVC wrap.
- 6. Electrical: Installing contractor shall coordinate electrical requirements and connections for all power feeds with electrical contractor. Refer to Division 26 (Master Format 2004) or Division Section 16 (Master Format 1995) for additional information.
- 7. Third Party Controls: Installing contractor shall coordinate all BAS/BMS control requirements and connections with controls contractor.

INDEX

DIVISION 16 ELECTRICAL

SECTION	SUBJECT	PAGES
16000	Electrical Filed Sub-Bids	16000-1
16050	General Requirements for Electrical Work	16050-1 thru 16050-9
16100	Grounding Equipment	16100-1 thru 16100-4
16150	Raceway and Fittings	16150-1 thru 16150-8
16200	600 Volt Wire	16200-1 thru 16200-3
16420	Panelboards	16420-1 thru 16420-3
16460	Motor Controllers	16460-1 thru 16460-4
16480	Safety Switches	16480-1 thru 16480-2

SECTION 16000

ELECTRICAL FILED SUB-BIDS

PART 1 GENERAL

1.01 ELECTRICAL FILED SUB-BID

- A. The work of the following sections requires a filed sub-bid in accordance with M.G.L. C.149, S.44A through 44H, inclusive, as amended. These sections will be covered under a single filed sub-bid for the Electrical category of work.
 - 1. All Sections listed for Division 16.
- B. Reference Drawings: The work of this Section is shown on the following Drawings:
 - 1. E1.0 through E1.4
- C. Requirements of Submitting Sub-bids:
 - Sub-bids for work under this Section shall comply with the requirements of M.G.L. C.149, S.44D and 44F; shall be filed in a form furnished by the Awarding Authority, in a sealed envelope, at the time and place stipulated in the Advertisement for Bids and Information for Bidders; and shall be accompanied by a Bid Deposit in the amount of five percent of the sub-bid price complying with the requirements of M.G.L. C.149, S.44B(2). The following should appear on the upper left-hand corner of the envelope:

SUB-BIDDER: Contractor Name

SUB-BID FOR: Electrical

PROJECT: Heating System Replacement Project

Contract No. 2018-5

PART 2 PRODUCTS (Not Used)

PART 3 EXECUTION (Not Used)

SECTION 16050

GENERAL REQUIREMENTS FOR ELECTRICAL WORK

PART 1 GENERAL

1.01 GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

A. Definition of Work

1. Conditions of the Contract, Specifications, Change Orders, Addenda and Drawings apply to work of this section.

B. Provisions

1. As used in this section, "provide" means "furnish and install", "furnish" means "to purchase and deliver to the project site complete with every necessary appurtenance and support and to store in a secure area in accordance with manufacturers instructions", and "install" means "to unload at the delivery point at the site or retrieve from storage, move to point of installation and perform every operation necessary to establish secure mounting and correct operation at the proper location in the project".

C. Existing Site Conditions – Responsibilities Prior to Bid

1. Before submitting a bid, the Electrical Subcontractor shall visit and carefully examine site to identify existing conditions and difficulties that may affect the work of this Section. No extra payment will be allowed for additional work caused by unfamiliarity with site conditions.

D. Existing Site Conditions – Responsibilities Prior to Starting Work

1. Before starting work in a particular area of the project, the Electrical Subcontractor shall examine the conditions under which work must be performed including preparatory work performed under other Sections of the Contract, or by the Owner and report conditions which might adversely affect the work in writing to the Engineer. Do not proceed with work until defects have been corrected and conditions are satisfactory. Commencement of work shall be construed as complete acceptance of existing conditions and preparatory work.

1.02 APPLICABLE CODES AND STANDARDS

A. Work

1. All work shall be in accordance with the laws, rules, codes, and regulations set forth by Local, State, and Federal authorities having jurisdiction. All products and materials shall be manufactured, installed and tested as specified, but not limited to the latest accepted edition of the following codes, standards and regulations:

NFPA	National Fire Protection Association
OSHA	Occupational Safety and Health Act
NEC	National Electrical Code (NFPA 70)
UL	Underwriters Laboratory
NESC	National Electrical Safety Code

FM	Factory Mutual Association
IBC	International Building Code
Local AHJ	Local and State building, electrical, fire and health department and public safety codes agencies.

B. Code Conflicts

1. When requirements cited in this Paragraph conflict with each other or with Contract Documents, the most stringent requirements shall govern conduct of work. The Engineer may relax this requirement when such relaxation does not violate the ruling of authorities that have jurisdiction. Approval for such relaxation shall be obtained in writing. Should the Electrical Subcontractor perform any work that does not comply with the requirements of the applicable building codes, state laws, and industry standards, he shall bear all costs arising in correcting these deficiencies.

1.03 CONTRACT DOCUMENTS

A. Work to be Provided

1. Work to be provided under this division is shown on the electrical drawings listed in Division 1, General Requirements and in these Contract Specifications.

B. Coordination of Work

1. The listing of electrical drawings does not limit the responsibility of determining the full extent of work that is required by these contract documents. The Electrical Subcontractor shall refer to the drawings and other specification sections included in the complete Contract Package, that indicate types of construction with which work of this section must be coordinated. The General Contractor shall coordinate the work of all trades including that of the electrical contractor, with all other subcontractors to determine whether there will be any interference with the electrical work. If the Electrical Subcontractor fails to check with the General Contractor and the electrical work is later found to interfere with the work of other subcontractors, then he shall make necessary changes, without additional cost to the Owner, to eliminate such interference.

C. Intent of Design

1. Drawings are diagrammatic and indicate the general arrangement of systems and work to be included in the Contract. Information and components shown on riser diagrams or called for in the specifications but not shown on plans, and vice versa, shall apply and shall be provided as though required expressly by both. The contract documents are not intended to indicate and specify each component required, but do require that the components and materials be provided for a complete and operational installation.

D. Discrepancies in Documents

1. Each bidder shall be responsible for examining the drawings and specifications carefully before submitting his bid, with particular attention to errors, omissions, conflicts with provisions of laws and codes imposed by authorities having jurisdiction, conflicts between portions of drawings, or between drawings and specifications, and ambiguous definition of the extent of coverage in the contract. Any such discrepancy discovered shall be brought to the immediate attention of the Engineer for correction. Should any of the aforementioned errors, omissions, conflicts or ambiguities exist in either or both the drawings and specifications, the Electrical Subcontractor shall have the same explained and adjusted in writing before signing the contract or proceeding with work. Failure to notify the Engineer in writing of such irregularities prior to signing the Contract will cause the Engineer's interpretation of the Con-

tract Documents to be final. No additional compensation will be approved because of discrepancies thus resolved.

E. Conflicts with Codes and Regulations

1. The drawings and these specifications are intended to comply with all the above mentioned Codes, Rules and Regulations. If discrepancies occur, the Electrical Subcontractor shall immediately notify the Engineer in writing of said discrepancies and apply for an interpretation and, unless and interpretation is offered in writing by the Engineer prior to the execution of the contract, the applicable rules and regulations shall be complied with as a part of the contract.

PART 2 SCOPE OF WORK

2.01 GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

A. General Scope

1. The work to be accomplished under these specifications includes providing all labor, materials, equipment, consumable items, supervision, administrative tasks, tests and documentation required to install complete and fully operational electrical systems as described herein and shown on the Drawings.

B. Administrative Responsibilities

1. The Electrical Subcontractor shall file plans, obtain permits and licenses, pay fees and obtain necessary inspections and approvals from authorities that have jurisdiction, as required to perform work in accordance with all legal requirements.

C. Coordination with Local Utility Companies

1. The Electrical Subcontractor shall coordinate with the local Power, Telephone, and Cable System Utilities. The Electrical Subcontractor shall be responsible for paying any Utility charges and excess costs. The Electrical Subcontractor shall perform all work in accordance with utility company requirements.

2.02 WORK TO BE PROVIDED UNDER THIS DIVISION

A. General Scope

- 1. The Work shall be complete from point of service to each outlet or device with all accessory construction and materials required to make each item of equipment or system complete and ready for operation. The work shall include but not be limited to the following. The Electrical Subcontractor shall provide:
- a. **Service Entrance:** Intent is to upgrade the existing 400 Amp, 120/208V Electrical Service fed from the transformers installed in the vault to 800 Amps. We have coordinated with National Grid and their intent is to change out these transformer with larger transformers. Contractor will have to coordinate all work with National Grid when dealing with the vault and furnish all materials and equipment in compliance with their requirements.
- b. **Utility Metering:** Intent is that metering equipment will be upgraded. Provide new CT cabinet and meter if required by National Grid.
- c. **Grounding System:** Upgrade existing grounding system and furnish all equipment and interconnection wiring required for a complete installation.

- d. **Power Distribution Systems:** Provide additional power and lighting distribution systems including service panelboards, transformers, overcurrent devices, raceway, cable and wire as required and shown on the drawings. Intent is to reuse existing equipment in areas being renovated unless noted otherwise.
- e. **Feeder and Branch Circuit Wiring:** Provide feeder and branch circuits and devices for power to equipment and convenience receptacles. This includes branch wiring to system control panels furnished under other sections.
- f. **Motor Circuit Wiring:** Provide all motor wiring, safety disconnects, and motor starters unless integral with equipment.
- g. **Control Wiring:** Provide control wiring not provided by Division 230000.
- h. **Supports and Fittings:** Provide all support material and hardware for raceway, cable tray and electrical equipment.
- i. **Terminations:** Provide terminations of all cable and wire unless otherwise noted.
- j. **Penetrations:** Provide all building wall, floor and roof penetrations for raceway and cable tray where not provided by the General Contractor.
- k. Other Items Furnished By Others: Install the following equipment furnished by others:
 - 1. Motors
 - 2. Control Panels

2.03 WORK NOT INCLUDED UNDER THIS DIVISION

- A. Related Work Included in Other Sections
 - 1. The following work is not included in this Section and shall be performed under other sections:
 - a. Excavation and backfill.
 - b. Concrete work, including concrete housekeeping pads and other pads and blocks for vibrating and rotating equipment.
 - c. Cutting and patching of masonry, concrete, tile, and other parts of structure, with the exception of drilling for hangers and providing holes and openings in metal decks. The Electrical Subcontractor shall identify locations of penetrations, excavations, structural supports, etc. required for the completion of the Work of this Section to the General Contractor in a timely manner.
 - d. Installation of access panels in ceilings and wall construction.
 - e. Painting, except as specified herein.
 - f. Temporary water, heat, gas and sanitary facilities for use during construction and testing.

- g. Outdoor air intake or exhaust louvers.
- h. Cathodic anti-corrosion protection for buried piping and tanks.
- i. Control wiring specifically indicated as part of Division 15.

2.04 GENERAL EQUIPMENT AND MATERIALS REQUIREMENTS

A. General Requirements

All equipment and materials shall be new and of the quality specified. All materials shall be free from defects at the time of installation. Materials or equipment damaged in shipment or otherwise damaged during construction shall not be repaired at the jobsite, but shall be replaced with new materials.

B. Representation of Equipment

All equipment installed on this project shall have local representation, local factory authorized service and a local stock of repair parts.

C. Warranties

No equipment or material shall be installed in such a manner as to void a manufacturer's warranty. The Electrical Subcontractor shall notify the Engineer of any discrepancies between the Contract Documents and manufacturer's recommendations prior to execution of the work. Refer to Division 1, General Requirements for Warranty Requirements.

2.05 SHOP DRAWINGS

A. General Requirements

1. After the Contract is awarded, but prior to proceeding with the Work, the Electrical Subcontractor shall obtain complete shop drawings, product data and samples from manufacturers, suppliers, vendors, and Subcontractors for all materials and equipment specified herein, and submit data and details of such materials and equipment for review by the Engineer. [Submission of such items shall follow the guidelines set in the General Section of the Specification Document.] Prior to submission of the shop drawings, product data and samples to the Engineer, the Electrical Subcontractor shall review and certify that the shop drawings, product data and samples are in compliance with the Contract Documents. Further, the Electrical Subcontractor shall check all materials and equipment after their arrival on the jobsite and verify their compliance with the Contract Documents. A minimum period of ten working days, exclusive of transmittal time will be required in the Engineer's office each time shop drawings, product data and/or samples are submitted or resubmitted for review. This time period shall be considered by the Electrical Subcontractor when scheduling his Work.

B. Information to be included in Submittal

1. The shop drawing submittal shall include all data necessary for interpretation as well as manufacturer's name and catalog number. Sizes, capacities, colors, etc., specified on the drawings shall be specifically noted or marked on the shop drawings.

C. Information Not to be included in Submittal

1. Submittals shall contain only information specific to systems, equipment and materials required by Contract Documents for this Project. Do not submit catalogs that describe products, models, options or accessories, other than those required, unless irrelevant information is marked out or

unless relevant information is highlighted clearly. Marks on submittals, whether by Contractor, Subcontractor, manufacturer, etc., shall not be made in red ink. Red is reserved for review process.

D. Responsibility of Submitted Equipment

 The Engineer's review of such drawings shall not relieve the Subcontractor of responsibility for deviations from the Contract, Drawings or Specifications, unless he has in writing called the attention of the Engineer to such deviations at the time of the submission. The Engineer's review shall not relieve the Electrical Subcontractor from responsibility for errors or omissions in such drawings.

E. Proposal of Other Equipment

1. If the Electrical Subcontractor proposes an item of equipment other than that specified or detailed on the drawings which requires any redesign of the wiring or any other part of the mechanical, electrical or architectural layout, the required changes shall be made at the expense of the trade furnishing the changed equipment at no cost to the Owner.

F. Substitution of Equipment of Equal Quality

1. Manufacturer's names are listed herein and on the drawings to establish a standard for quality and design. Where one manufacturer's name is mentioned, products of other manufacturers will be acceptable if, in the opinion of the Engineer the substitute material is of quality equal to or better than that of the material specified. Where two or more manufacturer's names are specified, material shall be by one of the named manufacturers only.

2.6 EQUIPMENT MANUALS

A. General Requirements

 The Electrical Subcontractor shall provide three copies of operations and maintenance manuals for all items. These manuals shall be packaged with additional information including equipment cur sheets and as-built wiring diagrams. Manuals shall contain names and addresses of manufacturers and local representatives who stock or furnish repair parts for items or equipment.

B. Schedule

1. Deliver manuals no less than 30 days prior to acceptance of equipment to permit Owner's personnel to become familiar with equipment and operation prior to acceptance.

C. Instruction of Owner's Operating Personnel

1. Upon completion of installation or when Owner accepts portions of building and equipment for operational use, instruct the Owner's operating personnel in any and all parts of various systems. Such instructions shall cover period of control such as will take mechanical equipment through complete cycle. Make adjustments under actual operating conditions.

2.07 RECORD DRAWINGS

A. General Requirements

 As work progresses, and for duration of the Contract, the Electrical Subcontractor shall maintain a complete and separate set of prints of Contract Drawings at job site at all times and record work completed and all changes from original Contract. Drawings shall clearly and accurately include work installed as a modification or added to the original design. At completion of work and prior to final request for payment, the Electrical Subcontractor shall submit a complete set of reproducible record drawings showing all systems as actually installed.

PART 3 EXECUTION

3.01 WIRING METHODS

A. Requirements

Unless otherwise noted all wiring shall be installed in raceway as follows:

- a. Power Distribution Outdoors: All conduit installed outdoors, all risers between floors and conduit exposed to physical damage shall be rigid steel, rigid aluminum or intermediate metal conduit. Wiring installed underground shall be installed in rigid non-metallic, PVC conduit and as per the Contract Drawings.
- b. **Power Distribution Indoors:** Main Service Conductors shall be in galvanized rigid steel. All other exposed power distribution wiring including wiring from the main switchgear to the panelboards as well as all wiring between panelboards shall be installed in electrical metallic tubing (EMT). All other indoor wiring including feeders and branch circuits shall be allowed to be furnished in properly supported MC cable assembly.

B. Underground Wiring Methods

a. Wiring under 600 volts, including site lighting branch circuits and other conduits not required to be concrete encased shall be in direct buried Schedule 40 PVC conduits.

3.02 WORK IN EXISTING FACILITIES

A. Requirements

1. All construction activities shall be conducted with minimal disruption to the Owner's operation. Power outages, bus tie-ins, service change overs and the like shall be scheduled in writing with the Owner.

3.03 EQUIPMENT ARRANGEMENT AND ACCESS

A. Location of Equipment

Locate all equipment which must be serviced, operated or maintained in fully accessible
positions. Minor deviations from the drawings may be made to allow for better accessibility at
no additional cost to the Owner, but changes shall not be made without review by the
Engineer. Minimum clearances in front of or around equipment shall conform to the latest
applicable code requirements.

B. Arrangement of Equipment

1. The size of equipment shown on the drawings is based on the dimensions of a particular manufacturer. Where other manufacturers are acceptable, it is the responsibility of the Electrical Subcontractor to determine if the equipment he proposed to furnish will fit the space

available. Layout drawings shall be prepared by the Subcontractor when required by the Engineer or Owner to indicate a suitable arrangement.

3.04 EQUIPMENT LABELING

A. Panelboards

1. All panelboards, cabinets and other specified equipment shall be labeled with engraved laminated plastic plates, minimum 3/4" high with 3/8" engraved letters. Punch tapes with mastic backings are not acceptable.

B. Starters and Disconnect Switches

1. All starters, disconnect switches and other specified equipment shall be marked with engraved laminated plastic plates, minimum 1/2" high with 1/4" engraved letters. Where individual switches or circuit breakers in power or distribution panelboards do not have cardholders, they shall be marked with 1/2" high labels.

C. Empty Conduits

1. All empty conduits shall have labels tied to the pull string at each end of each empty conduit, marked as to identification of each end. Junction boxes with circuits provided for future use shall be labeled with appropriate circuit designation.

D. Panelboard Directories

1. Cardholders for panelboards shall be filled out with typewritten identification of each circuit, except that the word "spare" shall be written in soft pencil to identify all circuit breakers installed that are not used.

3.05 TEMPORARY LIGHT AND POWER

A. Requirements

1. The Electrical Subcontractor shall provide a temporary service to the new construction area as required to provide electric light and power while the building is under construction and until the permanent feeders have been installed, tested and accepted by the Owner. Install and maintain a feeder or feeders of sufficient capacity for the requirements of each area. The Electrical Subcontractor shall furnish, install and remove the temporary electrical power and lighting systems and pay for all labor, materials, and equipment required therefore. All such temporary electrical work shall meet the requirements of the National Electrical Code, the local utility company, and OSHA.

B. Equipment Provided by Others

1. The General Contractor and all subcontractors, individually, shall furnish all extension cords, portable lights and lamps therefore, sockets, motors, and accessories as required for their work.

C. Reimbursable Items

- 1. The General Contractor and all subcontractors shall reimburse the Electrical Subcontractor for the following:
 - a. Any temporary wiring of a special nature, other than that specified above, required for their work.

D. Removal of Equipment and Wiring

All temporary wiring, service equipment, and accessories thereto shall be removed by the Electrical Subcontractor when directed by the General Contractor.

SECTION 16100

GROUNDING EQUIPMENT

PART 1 GENERAL

1.01 GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

A. Provisions

The provisions of Section 16050, General Requirements for Electrical Work apply to the work of this section.

B. Installation Compliance

The intent of design is to upgrade the grounding electrode system to meet the new service size requirement, and to bond all existing and new equipment as required to this system. Contractor shall provide any additional equipment including grounding electrodes, electrode conductors, bonding jumpers, equipment grounding conductors, connections and other materials as may be required to form a complete grounding system meeting current requirements,. The completed system provided shall meet the requirements of the National Electrical Code and the interpretation of the Local Authority Having Jurisdiction.

1.02 APPLICABLE CODES AND STANDARDS

A. Products

Products shall comply with the following codes and standards and shall be UL-listed and labeled:

NFPA 70	National Electrical Code
UL 467	Grounding and Bonding Equipment

1.03 SUBMITTALS REQUIRED

A. Equipment Data Sheets

Data sheets for chemical grounding systems, exothermal connection methods, and associated wiring as required.

1.04 MANUFACTURERS

A. Products shall be of firms regularly engaged in manufacture of grounding equipment.

2.01 GENERAL

A. Requirements

Provide all equipment, components and parts required to for a complete and operable system.

2.02 GROUND RODS

A. Requirements

Ground rods shall be ³/₄-inch copper clad steel construction furnished in 10 foot lengths.

2.03 CONDUCTORS

A. Bare Grounding Conductors

Bare grounding conductors shall be soft drawn stranded copper, sized in accordance with NEC Article 250 unless otherwise noted on the Drawings.

B. Insulated Grounding Conductors

Insulated grounding conductors shall be stranded copper with Type TW, THW or THHN/THWN insulation. Grounding conductor shall be provided with green insulation for identification purposes.

2.04 CONNECTIONS

A. Welded Connections

Welded connections shall be exothermic reaction type, as manufactured by Cadweld, or approved equal. The contractor shall provide all molds, crucibles, weld metal, and any necessary materials or equipment required to make connections using this process.

B. Compression Connections

Compression lugs shall be short barrel, one-hole compression type for conductors #2/0 AWG and smaller and long barrel, two-hole compression type for conductors #3/0 AWG and larger.

2.05 GROUNDING BAR

A. Requirements

Provide a wall-mounted copper grounding bar, mounted 6 inches above finished floor. Grounding bar shall be connected directly to the grounding grid.

PART 3 EXECUTION

3.01 GROUNDING ELECTRODE SYSTEM

A. Requirements

Grounding electrodes of the types shown on the Contract Drawings and as required by NEC shall be provided. Additional electrodes shall be provided if required by the local Authority Having Jurisdiction. All electrodes shall be bonded together to form the grounding electrode system.

B. Installation of Ground Rods

Ground rods shall be driven vertically with the upper end of the rod not less than 2-1/2 feet below finished grade. When conditions require, ground rods may be driven at an angle not to exceed 45 degrees from vertical, with the driven end facing outside of the grounding ring.

C. Installation of Grounding Ring Conductors

Grounding ring conductors shall be bare copper, sized as shown on the Contract Drawings and installed at a minimum depth of 2-1/2 feet below finished grade. Conductors encased in concrete footings, in or under floor slabs, and in duct banks shall be bare copper, sized as shown on the Contract Drawings. All connections made below grade or encased in concrete shall be exothermic weld type.

D. Connection to Structural Steel

Grounding grid conductors shall be connected to building structural steel as required by the NEC this shall include a connection to reinforcing steel in a minimum of one concrete footing of the new addition. All connections to building steel shall be exothermic weld type.

E. Grounding Electrode Conductors

The electrical service and all separately derived systems shall be grounded in accordance with NEC Article 250. The grounding electrode conductor shall be copper, sized in accordance with Article 250 of the NEC or as shown on the Drawings.

3.02 EQUIPMENT GROUNDING SYSTEMS

A. Requirements

A separate, insulated copper conductor, with green colored insulation, shall be provided in all raceways and with every feeder, branch and control circuit, in addition to the grounded metallic conduit system. The equipment grounding conductor shall be grounded at both ends.

B. Connection of Equipment Grounding Conductors

Connections to equipment grounding busses shall use compression type termination lugs bolted to a clean, dry surface on the bus, free from any contaminates which may hinder the electrical continuity of the connection. The contractor shall provide any additional hardware and all drilling and tapping that may be required for this connection.

3.03 ADDITIONAL BONDING REQUIREMENTS

A. Grounding of Raceway Systems

All metallic raceways shall be electrically continuous and bonded to the grounding system.

B. Bonding of Electrical Equipment Busses

All switchgear, switchboard and motor control center grounding busses shall be connected to the grounding electrode system at both ends. Bonding conductor shall be equal to that sized for the feeder to the equipment as shown on the Contract Drawings.

C. Bonding of Other Systems

Interior metal water, gas and sprinkler piping shall be bonded as required by Article 250 of the NEC. The points of attachment of these bonding conductors shall be located in readily accessible locations.

RACEWAY AND FITTINGS

PART 1 GENERAL

1.01 GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

A. Provisions

Provisions of Section 16050, General Requirements for Electrical Work apply to the work of this Section.

1.02 APPLICABLE CODES AND STANDARDS

A. Products

Products shall comply with the following codes and standards and shall be UL-listed and labeled:

ANSI C80.1	Standard for Rigid Steel Conduit
ANSI C80.3	Standard for Electrical Metallic Tubing
ANSI C80.6	Standard for Intermediate Metal Conduit
UL 1	Flexible Metal Conduit
UL 6	Rigid Metal Conduit
UL 360	Liquid Tight Flexible Steel Conduit
UL 514B	Fittings for Conduit and Outlet Boxes
UL797	Electrical Metallic Tubing
UL870	Wireways, Auxilliary Gutters and Associated Fittings
UL1242	Intermediate Metal Conduit

1.03 SUBMITTALS REQUIRED

A. Manufacturers' product data sheets

1.04 MANUFACTURERS

- A. In compliance with the Specification Requirements:
 - Allied Tube and Conduit (Conduit)
 - Wheatland (Conduit)
 - Thomas and Betts (Fittings)
 - Appleton (Fittings)
 - Crouse Hindes/Cooper (Fittings)
 - OZ Gedney (Fittings)
 - Killark (Fittings)
 - AFC Cable Systems (MC/LFMC)

- Southwire (MC/LFMC)
- Other manufacturers listed in the specification descriptions
- Approved equals

2.01 CONDUIT

A. Galvanized Rigid Steel Conduit (GRS)

Rigid steel conduit shall be manufactured from mild steel tube with a uniform protective coating of hot dipped zinc galvanizing inside and outside, including all threads. The conduit shall be furnished in nominal 10-foot lengths, with both ends threaded and furnished with a galvanized coupling on one end and a plastic thread protector on the other end.

B. Rigid Aluminium Conduit

Rigid aluminum conduit, couplings and elbows shall be manufactured of a suitable copper-free aluminum alloy. Conduit lengths shall be seamless throughout and shall have hard, smooth and gum-free interior coatings to facilitate the pulling-in of conductors. It shall be furnished in nominal 10-foot lengths, with both ends threaded and a coupling applied to one end of each length. Threads on the coupling end shall be coated with a special lubricant so that the coupling may be removed without difficulty. Threads on the end opposite the coupling shall be protected from damaged by a plastic cap.

C. Intermediate Metal Conduit (IMC)

Intermediate metal conduit shall be of steel piping with a uniform protective coating of hot dipped zinc galvanizing on the outside of the conduit, including all threads. The conduit shall be furnished in nominal 10-foot lengths, both ends threaded furnished with a galvanized coupling on one end and a plastic thread protector on the other end.

D. Electrical Metallic Tubing (EMT)

Electrical metallic tubing shall be constructed of zinc coated steel with an interior coating of lacquer or enamel to permit easier wire pulling.

E. Liquid Tight Flexible Metal Conduit (LFMC)

Liquid tight flexible conduit shall be constructed with a flexible core of galvanized steel and an oil and sunlight resistant PVC jacket to form a liquid tight raceway. The overall jacket shall be wrinklefree and suitable for use in temperatures from -25°C to +80°C.

F.Flexible Metal Conduit (MC)

Flexible metal conduit shall have an outer armor constructed of be hot dipped galvanized interlocked strip steel.

2.02 CONDUIT FITTINGS

A. Bushings

1. Insulated Bushings

Insulated bushings for conduit sizes 1-1/4 inches and larger shall have metal bodies and threads, with molded-on high impact phenolic thermosetting insulation to prevent conductor insulation damage. Bushings shall be Type "IBC" insulated bushings as manufactured by OZ Gedney or an approved equal. Insulated bushings for conduit sizes 1 inch and smaller may be of plastic, OZ Gedney Type "A", or an approved equal.

2. Insulated Grounding Bushings

Insulated grounding bushings shall be similar to the insulated bushings described above, except they shall have set screws to lock the bushings on the conduits and shall have mechanical type lugs attached. The lugs shall be sized to accept the ground wire sizes as set forth in the latest edition of the National Electrical Code, but in no case smaller than No. 8 AWG wire. Grounding bushings shall be Type "BLG" as manufactured by OZ Gedney or an approved equal.

3. Male Bushings

Male bushings shall be Thomas and Betts Corporation insulated throat chase nipples, or a product of equal construction. Bushings used only to pass conductors through metal partitions, etc. shall be OZ Gedney, Type "ABB".

4. Male Bushings

Bushings for use with EMT shall be OZ Gedney type "SBT" or approved equals.

B. Conduit Bodies

Conduit bodies for use with aluminum conduit shall be of copper free aluminum alloy. Those for use with steel conduit may be of galvanized, or cadmium plated cast iron, or of copper free aluminum alloy. All conduit fittings shall be provided with neoprene gaskets and sheet metal covers, except that cast covers shall be used for sized 1-1/2 inches and larger. Rigid conduit connections shall be threaded and EMT connections shall be set screw type. Cover screws shall be captive. All conduit fittings shall be as manufactured by Crouse Hinds, Appleton, Killark or approved equal.

C. Hubs

Water-tight conduit connections are required on all NEMA 3R, 4, and 4X enclosures and all electrical equipment located outdoors or in damp or wet areas. Where hubs or water-tight threaded connections are not provided as part of the enclosure, water-tight hubs shall be Myers "Scrutite", or approved equal. All other terminations shall be double locknut and bushing.

D. Fittings

Fittings for use with liquid-tight flexible conduit shall be zinc plated malleable iron Crouse Hinds type "CGB" or approved equal.

E. Locknuts

Locknuts shall be hot dipped galvanized steel or malleable iron. Standard locknuts shall be used for connections to NEMA 1 enclosures. Sealing locknuts with integral gasket shall be used for connections to NEMA 12 enclosures.

2.03 JUNCTION BOXES

A. Pull and Junction Boxes

Pull and junction boxes shall be of code gauge metal with continuously welded joints or of cast metal if called for on the Drawings. All junction boxes shall have gasketed screw covers. Boxes for use with aluminum conduits shall be of aluminum. Sheet steel boxes shall be galvanized after fabrications. Screws for galvanized steel box covers shall be made of brass. Screws for aluminum box cover shall be stainless steel.

B. Boxes Installed in Concrete

Boxes installed in concrete shall be cast iron alloy or copper free aluminum.

C. Rating of Boxes

Unless otherwise shown on drawings, all boxes installed indoors shall be rated NEMA 1 and all boxes installed outdoors shall be rated NEMA 3R. Boxes located in fire walls, exterior walls, and at the ceiling of the top floor shall be sealed with UL approved fire sealant material to maintain the rating of the separation as well as providing air sealing to maintain the buildings thermal envelope. Boxes located on opposing sides of rated walls i.e. unit separations, must be at least 24" apart or treated with putty pads per IBC.

2.04 OUTLET BOXES

A. Outlet Boxes for Concealed Work

Outlet boxes for concealed work shall be pressed steel boxes, galvanized and not less than #12 gauge. Each ceiling outlet designated for a lighting fixture shall have a fixture support secured in place with bolts and nuts. Ceiling boxes shall be octagonal with lugs and screws for back plates.

B. Outlet Boxes Installed Outdoors

Outlet boxes installed outdoors, in concrete or exposed, shall be cast iron alloy or copper free aluminum with gasketed covers.

C. Outlet Box Accessories

Provide outlet box accessories as required for each installation, including box supports, mounting ears and brackets, wallboard hangers, box extension rings, fixture studs, cable clamps and metal straps for supporting outlet boxes, which are compatible with outlet boxes being used and to fulfill installation requirements for individual wiring situations.

2.05 WIREWAY

A. Wireway

Wireway shall be lay-in type, code gauge steel with dark gray epoxy paint finish inside and out.

B. Covers

Covers shall be hinged with captive screw fasteners for NEMA 1 & NEMA 3R wireway and gasketed quick release latch covers for NEMA 12 wireway.

2.06 SUPPORTS

A. Sizing

The Electrical Subcontractor shall size and provide all supports necessary for the installation of all raceway.

B. Channel Framing

Channel framing shall be manufactured by Unistrut, Kindort, B-Line or approved equal.

C. Indoor Locations

In dry, non-corrosive areas, channel framing and angle shall be galvanized steel or aluminum and all nuts, bolts and hardware shall be carbon steel, cadmium plated or hot dipped galvanized. Ream clamps shall be galvanized steel or malleable iron.

D. Outdoor, Wet or Damp Locations

In outdoor, wet or damp areas channel framing and angle shall be aluminum or 304 stainless steel and nuts, bolts and hardware shall be 304 stainless steel. Beam clamps shall be hot dipped galvanized steel or malleable iron.

E. Corrosive Locations

In corrosive areas, channel framing shall be 316 stainless steel, PVC coated steel or PVC coated aluminum. Nuts, bolts and hardware shall be 316 stainless steel. Beam clamps shall be PVC coated.

F.Supports

Supports shall be sized with a minimum safety factor of four or 200 lbs. whichever is greater.

PART 3 EXECUTION

3.01 GENERAL

A. Requirements

See Specification Section 16050 Subsection 3.1 for Wiring Methods.

3.02 INSTALLATION

A. Conduit, EMT, Boxes and Enclosures

Conduit, EMT, boxes & enclosures shall be installed so that they are mechanically secure, electrically continuous and neat in appearance.

B. Exposed Runs

Exposed runs shall be installed to conform to the shape of the surface over which they are run. Where they are run over a plane surface, they shall be straight and true. All exposed conduits shall be run parallel and perpendicular to building column lines and walls. Diagonal runs will not be permitted. Conduit runs in groups shall be supported by means of common members made of channel framing. Group mounting is not required where the group consists of only two conduits. Machine bolts with expansion shields shall be used when fastening to solid masonry or concrete. Toggle bolts shall be used to fasten to hollow masonry.

C. Spacing

Unless otherwise approved, spacing between conduit supports shall not exceed ten feet. Conduits shall not be supported from structural members marked "Removable" on the structural drawings. Conduit hangers and supports shall be fastened to buildings and structural members only and not to any equipment or piping. Separate conduits a minimum of 6" from flues, steam and hot water lines. Install conduit above mechanical piping wherever possible.

D. Conduit Supports

All conduit supports other than structural members shall be galvanized. The use of perforated strap or plumber straps will not be permitted.

Conduit up to 1-1/2 inches may be supported by one-hole malleable iron straps with clamp backs. Conduit 2 inches and larger shall be supported by two-hole straps.

E. Conduit Run Lengths

Conduit runs shall not exceed 100 feet between boxes, fittings or devices.

PVC conduits run above grade shall be sufficiently supported to prevent sagging.

MC cables shall be neatly bundled and tie wrapped and sufficiently supported.

F. Use of Expansion Joints

All conduit crossing building or structure expansion joints shall be provided with approved expansion fittings.

3.02 BENDS

A. Field Bends

Field bends shall be made with approved bending tools. All field-formed bends shall be of maximum radius permitted by the design and construction conditions.

B. Exposed Conduit Changing Direction

Where a group of exposed conduits change direction, the bends shall have a common center in order to maintain the uniformity and neat appearance of the group, having regard for the minimum bending radius of the largest conduit in the group.

C. General

Bends shall be uniform radius and free from cracks, crimps or other damage to the conduit or its coating and shall not unduly flatten the conduit section.

3.04 JOINTS AND TERMINATIONS

A. Joints in Rigid Conduit

All joints in rigid conduit shall be threaded, using standard couplings. The use of running threads, threadless or split couplings is prohibited. When reaming out of conduit ends to remove burrs and rough edges, care shall be exercised to avoid excessive reaming which results in the weakening of the conduit wall at the end.

B. Tightening of Joints

All joints shall be made up wrench tight and with a minimum of wrench work in order to avoid wrench cuts.

C. Cut Threads

All cut threads shall be thoroughly painted with a coating of a rust inhibiting primer.

D. EMT Couplings and Fittings

EMT couplings and fittings shall be compression type on conduits up to 1-1/4 inch and double set screw type for conduits 1-1/2 inch and larger.

E. Conduit Terminations

All conduit terminations in panels, enclosures, outlet boxes and equipment shall be provided with bushings.

3.05 FLEXIBLE CONDUIT

A. Terminations

Flexible conduit shall be use to terminate all, lighting, motors, unit lanterns, transformers, pilot devices and vibrating equipment.

B. Liquitite Flexible Conduit

Liquitite flexible conduit and fitting shall be used outdoors and in all damp or wet areas, or where exposed to grease or oil.

C. Connections to Lighting Fixtures

Connections to lighting fixtures (lighting whips) shall be maximum length of 6 feet. All other flexible connections shall be maximum 24 inches.

3.06 PENETRATIONS

A. Penetrations through Slabs, Walls, Roofs

All penetrations through concrete slabs, masonry walls or roofs shall be provided with sleeves.

B. Sleeves

All sleeves shall be sealed to maintain the integrity of the structure. Fire resistant walls and floors shall be sealed with approved material, and shall maintain the original fire rating. All seals below grade shall be watertight, O.Z./Gedney type WSK or approved equal.

600 VOLT WIRE

PART 1 GENERAL

1.01 GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

A. Provisions

The provisions of Section 16050, General Requirements for Electrical Work apply to the work of this section.

1.02 APPLICABLE CODES AND STANDARDS

A. Products

1. Products shall comply with the following codes and standards and shall be UL-listed and labeled:

ASTM B-3	Soft or Annealed Copper Wire
ASTM B-8	Concentric Lay Stranded Copper Conductors
NEMA WC-5	Thermoplastic Insulated Wire and Cable for the Transmission and Distribution of Electrical Energy.
NEMA WC-7	Cross-Linked Thermosetting Polyethylene Insulated Wire for the Transmission and Distribution of Electrical Energy
UL 44	Rubber Insulated Wires and Cables
UL 62	Flexible Cord and Fixture Wire
UL 83	Thermoplastic Insulated Wires and Cables

1.03 SUBMITTALS REQUIRED

A. Data Sheets

1. Manufacturer's product data sheets.

1.04 MANUFACTURERS

- A. Subject to compliance with the Specification Requirements:
 - Anixter
 - General Cable
 - Rome Cable
 - Approved Equal

2.01 GENERAL

A. Conductors

1. All conductors shall be annealed copper in accordance with ASTM B-3.

B. Jacket

- 1. The jacket of all wire shall be printed with the following information:
- Manufacturer
- Size
- Insulation type
- Maximum voltage
- UL label

C. Insulation

1. All insulation shall be rated 600 for volts.

2.02 POWER WIRING

A. Feeders and Motor Branch Circuits

Feeders and motor branch circuits shall be type THHN/THWN.

B. Desciption

All power wiring shall be stranded, Class B strand in accordance with ASTM B-8, minimum size #12 AWG.

2.03 LIGHTING AND RECEPTACLE BRANCH CIRCUITS

A. Description

1. All lighting and convenience receptacle branch circuit wiring shall be in type MC cable assemblies, minimum size #12 AWG.

2.04 CONTROL WIRING

A. Description

1. Wiring for control circuits shall be THHN/THWN stranded, with Class B strand in accordance with ASTM B-8, minimum size #14 AWG.

2.05 FIXTURE WIRE

A. Description

1. Where high temperature fixture wire is required it shall be silicone rubber type SF-2.

PART 3 EXECUTION

3.01 General

A. Installation

1. All wire shall be installed in accordance with Section 16050, Part 3.1 Wiring Methods.

PANELBOARDS

PART 1 GENERAL

1.01 GENERAL REQUIREMENT

A. Provisions

The provisions of Section 16050, General Requirements for Electrical Work apply to the work of this section.

1.02 APPLICABLE CODES AND STANDARDS

A. Products

1. Products shall comply with the following codes and standards and shall be UL-listed and labeled:

NEMA 250	Enclosures for Electrical Equipment
NEMA AB-1	Molded Case Circuit Breakers
NEMA KS-1	Enclosed Switches
NEMA PB-1	Panelboards
UL 50	Enclosures for Electrical Equipment
UL 67	Panelboards
UL 98	Enclosed and Deadfront Switches
UL 489	Molded Case Circuit Breakers and Circuit Breaker Enclosures
UL 943	Ground Fault Circuit Interrupters

1.03 SUBMITTALS REQUIRED

- A. Manufacturer's product data sheets.
- B. Circuit breaker schedules.

1.04 MANUFACTURERS

- A. Subject to compliance with the specification requirements:
 - Square D
 - Cutler Hammer
 - General Electric

2.01 GENERAL

A. Panelboards

Panelboards, including lighting and appliance panelboards and power distribution panelboards, shall be of the sizes, rating and arrangement shown on the drawings.

B. Overcurrent Devices

Panelboards shall be provided complete with all overcurrent devices, accessories and trim.

C. Safety Barriers

All panelboards shall be provided with safety barriers for dead front construction.

D. Short Circuit Ratings

The required short circuit ratings of assembled panelboards are shown on the Drawings. The short circuit rating of every overcurrent device in the panel shall meet or exceed the panel rating. Unless otherwise noted on the Drawings, series rated combinations will not be permitted.

2.02 CABINETS

A. Boxes

Boxes shall be code gauge galvanized sheet steel.

B. Trim

Trim shall be code gauge steel, ANSI-61 gray finish with stainless steel flush type lock/latch handle. All locks shall be keyed alike.

C. Surface Mounted Panels

Trim for surface mounted panels shall be door-in-door construction such that the gutter space may be exposed by a hinged door.

D. Frames

Directory frames shall be metal frame with plastic covers.

2.03 BUS

A. Bus Work

All bus work shall be 750 amp/sq.in. aluminum.

B. Neutral Buses

Unless otherwise noted on the drawings, neutral busses shall be 100% rated with adequate connections for all outgoing neutral conductors.

C. Panelboards

Panelboards shall be provided with aluminum ground busses.

D. Connection

Bus shall be designed for sequence phase connection to allow the installation of one, two or three pole branch circuit breakers in any position.

2.03 OVERCURRENT DEVICES

A. Device Type

Overcurrent devices shall be trip-free molded case, bolt-on, thermal magnetic circuit breakers.

B. Main Circuit Breakers

Main circuit breakers shall be individually mounted and bolted to bus assembly. Back-fed branch mounted circuit breakers are prohibited.

C. Circuit Breakers Frontfaces

Front faces of all circuit breakers shall be flush. Trip indication shall be clearly shown by the handle position between the ON and OFF positions.

D. Ground Fault Circuit Breakers

Ground fault circuit breakers shall be provided as required on the Contract Drawings and shall require no more panel space than standard breakers.

E. Switching Lighting Circuit Breakers

Where circuit breakers are used for switching of lighting, circuits type "SWD" circuit breakers shall be provided.

F. Connections

All connections shall be rated for 75°C copper conductors.

PART 3 EXECUTION

3.01 GENERAL

A. Installation

Panelboards shall be installed in accordance with Manufacturer's Instructions. Panelboard mounting heights shall be mounted so the highest breaker switch device does not exceed 48" of the finished floor.

MOTOR CONTROLLERS

PART 1 GENERAL

1.01 GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

A. Provisions

- 1. The provisions of Section 16050, General Requirements for Electrical Work apply to the work of this section.
- B. The work of this section includes locally installed, enclosed combination magnetic motor starters and manual motor starters.

1.02 APPLICABLE CODES AND STANDARDS

A. Products

1. Products shall comply with the following codes and standards and shall be UL-listed and labeled:

NEMA ICS-2	Industrial Control Devices, Controllers and Assemblies.
NEMA ICS-6	Enclosures for Industrial Controls and Systems
UL 508	Industrial Control Equipment.

1.03 SUBMITTALS REQUIRED

- A. Manufacturer's product data sheets.
- B. Dimensioned Outline Drawings.
- C. Control wiring diagrams.

1.04 MANUFACTURERS

- A. Subject to compliance with the specification requirements:
 - Square D
 - Cutler Hammer
 - General Electric
 - Siemens

2.01 MAGNETIC MOTOR STARTERS

A. Full Voltage Type Non-Reversing Type (FVNR)

1. Unless otherwise noted, magnetic motor starters shall be NEMA rated full voltage non-reversing type. Minimum starter size shall be NEMA 1.

B. Full Voltage Reversing Type (FVR)

1.Provide FVR starters as required by the Contract Drawings. FVR starters shall be provided with electrical interlock and integral time delay transition between forward and reverse rotation. Starters shall be electrically and mechanically interlocked to prevent both starters being energized simultaneously. Minimum starter size shall be NEMA 1.

C. Two-Speed Starters (2S)

1. Provide 2S starters as required by the Contract Drawings. 2S starters shall be provided with integral time delay transition between fast and slow speeds. Starters shall be electrically and mechanically interlocked to prevent both starters being energized simultaneously. Minimum starter size shall be NEMA 1.

2.02 ITEMS COMMON TO ALL MOTOR STARTERS

A. Enclosure

1. All components including the disconnecting means shall be installed in a single enclosure rated NEMA 1 for indoor locations and NEMA 3R for wet, damp and outdoor locations.

B. Disconnecting Means

1. The disconnecting means shall be circuit breaker type, non-fused or fused as shown on the Contract Drawings and provided with an external operating handle which is interlocked to prevent opening the door when the handle is in the ON position and prevent closing the disconnect when the door is opened. The interlock shall be provided with an external mechanism capable of overriding the interlock. The handle shall be capable of being padlocked in the OFF position.

C. Circuit Breakers

1. Circuit breakers shall be adjustable magnetic trip, motor circuit protector type.

D. Short Circuit Rating

1. The short circuit rating of the assembly shall be as shown on the Contract Drawings, but not less than the rating of the upstream breaker.

E. Transformer

1. Each motor starter shall be provided with a control power transformer to provide 120 VAC control power. The transformer shall be provided with two primary fuses and one secondary fuse. The transformer shall be provided with a minimum of 100VA of spare capacity.

F. Overload Relays

1. Overload relays shall be three-pole, trip free, manually reset Class 20, bimetallic, ambient compensated type with an external reset mechanism.

G. Contactor Coils

1. Contactor coils shall be provided with surge suppressors.

H. Auxiliary Contacts

1. Sufficient auxiliary contacts shall be provided for all interlocks. A minimum of one normally open and one normally closed spare contacts shall be provided.

I. Door-Mounted Pilot Devices

1. A HAND-OFF-AUTO maintained contact selector switch, red RUN and green READY pilot lights shall be provided on each enclosure. All door mounted pilot devices shall be heavy-duty, oil tight type. Pilot lights shall be transformer type.

J. Control Wiring

1. All control wiring shall be brought to terminal blocks for connection of field cabling. Minimum wire size shall be #12 AWG.

K. Connections

1. Connections for motor leads shall be suitable for copper conductors applied at their 75°C rating.

2.03 MANUAL MOTOR STARTERS

A. Single Phase Fractional HP Manual Motor Starters

1. Single phase fractional HP manual motor starters shall be toggle operated, enclosed, one or two pole switches as required by the installation.

B. Enclosure

1. The enclosure shall be NEMA 1 for indoor locations and NEMA 3R for outdoor, wet and damp locations. A handle guard shall be provided to allow the toggle operator to be padlocked in the OFF position.

C. Overloads

1. Starters shall be provided with trip free melting alloy thermal overloads.

PART 3 EXECUTION

3.01 GENERAL

A. Installation: Equipment shall be installed in accordance with manufacturer's instructions.

B. Overload Heater Elements

1. The Contractor shall verify motor nameplate amperes and motor service factors and shall provide all overload heater elements and fuses. Overload heater elements shall be sized in accordance with motor nameplate characteristics.

C. Auxiliary Contacts

1. The Contractor shall verify and provide the proper number of auxiliary contacts required by equipment provided by others, for control and interlocking of equipment specified in other Divisions of this Specification. Coordinate these requirements with Division 15 Controls Contractor.

SAFETY SWITCHES

PART 1 GENERAL

1.01 GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

A. Provisions

1. The provisions of Section 16050, General Requirements for Electrical Work apply to the work of this section.

1.02 APPLICABLE CODES AND STANDARDS

A. Products

1. Products shall comply with the following codes and standards and shall be UL-listed and labeled:

NEMA KS-1	Enclosed Switches
UL 98	Enclosed and Deadfront Switches

1.03 SUBMITTALS REQUIRED

A. Manufacturer's product data sheets.

1.04 MANUFACTURERS

- A. Subject to compliance with the specification requirements:
 - General Electric
 - Square D
 - Siemens
 - Cutler Hammer

PART 2 PRODUCTS

2.01 GENERAL

A. Description

1. Safety switches shall be 240 VAC, NEMA heavy duty, horsepower rated visible blade type. Switches shall be non-fused or fused as indicated on the drawings. Lugs shall be front removable and UL listed for copper conductors. All current carrying parts shall be plated to resist corrosion.

B. Switch Operating Mechanism

1. The switch operating mechanism shall be spring activated quick make - quick break, such that during the normal operation of the switch, the operation of the contacts shall not be capable of being restrained by the operating handle after the closing or opening operation of the contacts has been started.

C. External Operating Handle

1. The external operating handle shall be an integral part of the box and not the cover. The operating handle shall also indicate the switch position, ON in the up position, OFF in the down position and be capable of being padlocked in the OFF position. An interlock shall be provided to prevent opening the cover when the switch is ON and prevent closing the switch contacts when the cover is opened. This interlock mechanism shall be provided with an externally operated override.

D. Arc Suppressors and Line Terminal Shields

1. Switches shall be provided with arc suppressors and line terminal shields. Arc suppressors shall be removable if necessary to facilitate access to line side lugs.

E. Number of Switched Poles

1. Single speed motors shall be provided with three pole switches. Two speed motors shall be provided with six pole switches.

F. Ground Kit

1. Switches shall be provided with a factory supplied ground kit.

G. Fused Switches

1. Fused switches shall be provided with class H or K fuses.

H. Short Circuit Rating

1. The UL Listed short circuit current rating of the switches shall be 10KAIC when used with Class H or K fuses.

I. Enclosures

1. Safety switches installed indoors shall be provided with NEMA 1 enclosures. Safety switches installed outdoors or in wet areas shall be provided with NEMA 3R enclosures.

PART 3 EXECUTION

3.01 GENERAL

A. Installation

1. Safety Switches shall be installed in accordance with Manufacturer's Instructions.